De Novo Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis in Intestinal Lipid Metabolism and Disease

by

John Paul Kennelly

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Nutrition and Metabolism

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

University of Alberta

© John Paul Kennelly, 2018

<u>Abstract</u>

Phosphatidylcholine (PC), the most abundant phospholipid in eukaryotic cells, is an important component of cellular membranes and lipoprotein particles. The enzyme CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase (CT) regulates *de novo* PC synthesis in response to changes in membrane lipid composition in all nucleated mammalian cells. The aim of this thesis was to determine the role that CT α plays in metabolic function and immune function in the murine intestinal epithelium.

Mice with intestinal epithelial cell-specific deletion of $CT\alpha$ ($CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice) were generated. When fed a chow diet, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice showed normal lipid absorption after an oil gavage despite a ~30% decrease in small intestinal PC concentrations relative to control mice. These data suggest that biliary PC can fully support chylomicron output under these conditions. However, when acutely fed a high-fat diet, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice showed impaired intestinal fatty acid and cholesterol uptake from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes, resulting in lower postprandial plasma triglyceride concentrations. Impaired intestinal fatty acid uptake in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice was linked to disruption of intestinal membrane lipid transporters (*Cd36, Slc27a4* and *Npc111*) and higher postprandial plasma Glucagon-like Peptide 1 and Peptide YY. Unexpectedly, there was a shift in expression of bile acid transporters to the proximal small intestine of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, which was associated with enhanced biliary bile acid, PC and cholesterol output relative to control mice.

Gene expression profiling of small intestinal epithelial cells showed induction of transcripts linked to cellular proliferation and inflammation in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to control mice. Colonic inflammation after loss of intestinal epithelial cell $CT\alpha$ was linked to increased intestinal permeability (as assessed by Fluorescein Isothiocyanate-Dextran gavage), invasion of the intestinal epithelium by microbes, and enhanced inflammatory cytokine secretion. Impaired intestinal barrier function in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice was mechanistically linked to induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress and depletion of goblet cells. Antibiotics and 4-phenylbutyric acid both partially ameliorated inflammatory cytokine secretion in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, suggesting that microbes and endoplasmic reticulum stress are key drivers of the inflammatory phenotype in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. In further support of a role for *de novo* PC synthesis in colonic barrier function, feeding C57BL/6J mice a choline-deficient diet increased their susceptibility to *Citrobacter rodentium*-induced colitis relative to mice fed sufficient dietary choline.

In conclusion, *de novo* PC synthesis in the small intestinal epithelium is required for dietary lipid absorption under certain dietary conditions, and the re-acylation of biliary lyso-PC cannot compensate for loss of CT α under these conditions. Furthermore, CT α activity prevents invasion of the intestinal epithelium by microbes. Accordingly, disruption of CT α in intestinal epithelial cells induces spontaneous colitis in mice. Finally, an adequate supply of dietary choline, the essential nutritional substrate for CT α , is an important factor in protecting the colon from *Citrobacter rodentium*-induced inflammation.

Preface

This thesis is original work by John Paul Kennelly. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta's Institutional Animal Care Committee and is listed as '*Dietary determinants of metabolic disorders*' with protocol number AUP00000175, July 2009. The contributions made by the candidate, John P. Kennelly, and the co-authors of these studies, are described below.

A modified version of Chapter 1 has been published as J.N. van der Veen, J. P. Kennelly, S. Wan, J. E. Vance, D. E. Vance, and R. L. Jacobs. 2017. *The critical role of phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine metabolism in health and disease*. Biochim Biophys Acta 1859: 1558-1572. J. P. Kennelly, J.N van der Veen and S. Wan contributed equally to this work and shared first authorship. J. E Vance, D. E Vance and R.L Jacobs wrote and edited the manuscript.

Chapter 3 has been published as J.P. Kennelly, J.N. van der Veen, R.C. Nelson, K. Leonard, R. Havinga, J. Buteau, F. Kuipers, and R.L. Jacobs. 2018. *Intestinal De Novo Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis is Required for Dietary Lipid Absorption and Metabolic Homeostasis*. JLR (1695-1708). J. P. Kennelly and R.L Jacobs designed experiments, interpreted data, and wrote the manuscript. J.N van der Veen , J. Buteau and F. Kuipers designed experiments and interpreted data. J.P.

Kennelly, J.N. van der Veen, R.C. Nelson, K. Leonard and R. Havinga performed experiments.

Chapter 4 is in preparation for publication as J.P. Kennelly, J.N. van der Veen, R.C. Nelson, J. Buteau and R.L. Jacobs. *Spontaneous colitis in mice with intestinal epithelial cell-specific disruption of the phospholipid synthetic enzyme CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase-α*. J. P. Kennelly and R.L. Jacobs designed experiments, interpreted data, and wrote the manuscript. J.N. van der Veen, R.C. Nelson and J. Buteau designed experiments and interpreted data. J.P. Kennelly, J.N. van der Veen, and R.C. Nelson performed experiments. Chapter 5 is in preparation for publication as T. Ju, J.P. Kennelly, R.L. Jacobs and B.P. Willing. *Insufficient dietary choline aggravates disease severity in a mouse model of Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis.* T. Ju and J.P. Kennelly contributed equally to this work. T. Ju and J.P. Kennelly designed and performed experiments, interpreted data, and wrote the manuscript. R.L. Jacobs and B.P. Willing. designed experiments, interpreted data and edited the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. René Jacobs, for providing me with an exciting project, outstanding mentorship and a supportive lab environment.

I am also grateful to my supervisory committee, Dr. Richard Lehner and Dr. Donna Vine, for excellent mentorship and important contributions towards my project.

I would like to recognize the excellent scientific support that I have received from Dr. Jelske van der Veen, Randy Nelson, Kelly-Ann Leonard, Nicole Coursen, Susanne Lingrell, Audric Moses, Amy Barr, Priscilla Gao, Wayne Wang, Dr. Kunimasa Suzuki and Rongjia Liu.

I extend my thanks to Alberta Innovates and the Alberta Diabetes Institute for financial support during my program.

I thank Stan, Bernie, John and Louise for support in pursuing graduate studies.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: Introduction and literature review

1.1 Phospholipid metabolism	1
1.1.1 Overview of phospholipids	1
1.1.2 PC biosynthesis by the CDP-choline pathway	2
1.1.3 PC biosynthesis by phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase	5
1.1.4 Phospholipid remodeling by Lands' cycle	6
1.1.5 PE biosynthesis	7
1.2 The subcellular roles of phosphatidylcholine	9
1.2.1 Phospholipids control de novo lipogenesis via regulation of sterol regulatory element-bind	ling
proteins (SREBPs)	9
1.2.2 Phospholipids in mitochondria	12
1.2.3 Phospholipids and lipid droplet formation	14
1.2.4 Phospholipids and very-low density lipoprotein (VLDL) secretion	.17
1.2.5 Phospholipid remodeling and VLDL secretion	
1.3 The physiological roles of PC and PE synthesis in mammals	.21
1.3.1 Phospholipids in the liver	21
1.3.2 Phospholipids in skeletal muscle	.22
1.4 Overview of the intestinal epithelium	23
1.4.1 Intestinal epithelial cell types	
1.5 Overview of chylomicron formation and secretion	.29
1.5.1 Dietary lipid digestion by lipases	
1.5.2 Intestinal fatty acid uptake: A role for phospholipid remodeling	32
1.5.3 Intestinal cholesterol uptake	34
1.5.4 Intestinal fatty acid transport	35
1.5.5 Intestinal TG synthesis	35
1.5.6 Chylomicron formation at the ER of enterocytes	
1.5.7 Chylomicron secretion into the lymphatics	.38
1.5.8 Lipid droplet formation in enterocytes	39
1.5.9 Nutritional and hormonal factors that influence chylomicron production	.40
1.5.10 Biliary secretions and lipid absorption	.40
1.6 The intestinal mucosal barrier in health and disease	.42
1.6.1 Phospholipids and intestinal barrier function	.44
1.6.2 The Citrobacter rodentium model of colitis	.44
1.7 References	45

CHAPTER 2: Research plan

2.1 Rationale	67
2.2 Objectives and hypotheses	69
2.3 Chapter format	
2.4 References	71

CHAPTER 3: Intestinal *De Novo* Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis is Required for Dietary Lipid Absorption and Metabolic Homeostasis

3.1	Introduction		73
-----	--------------	--	----

2.234 (1.1 1) 75
3.2 Materials and Methods
3.2.1 Generation of mice with intestine-specific deletion of <i>Pcyt1a</i> 75
3.2.2 Microscopy77
3.2.3 mRNA isolation and quantification by PCR77
3.2.4 Fatty acid absorption
3.2.5 Cholesterol absorption
3.2.6 Gallbladder cannulations and bile measurements
3.2.7 Plasma, tissue, and fecal lipid analysis
3.2.8 Measurement of intestinal CT activity
3.2.9 Plasma metabolite measurements
3.2.10 Statistics
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Intestinal PC concentrations are reduced in CTaIKO mice fed a chow diet, but fat absorption
capacity is unaltered
3.3.2 Hight fat diet feeding initially induces rapid weight loss, while chronic HFD feeding reduces
weight gain, in mice lacking intestinal de novo PC synthesis
3.3.3 Loss of intestinal CTa reduces chylomicron lipidation during HFD feeding90
3.3.4 Loss of intestinal CTa impairs fatty acid uptake from the intestinal lumen into
enterocytes
3.3.5 Loss of intestinal CTα impairs intestinal cholesterol absorption94
3.3.6 Impaired lipid absorption in CTaIKO mice is linked to reduced expression of plasma
membrane lipid transporters
3.3.7 Loss of intestinal CTa enhances postprandial enteroendocrine hormone secretion
3.3.8 Loss of intestinal CTa alters enterohepatic circulation of bile acids and increases biliary PC
secretion into the intestinal lumen
3.4 Discussion103
3.5 Conclusions
3.6 References

CHAPTER 4: Spontaneous colitis in mice with intestinal epithelial cell-specific disruption of the phospholipid synthetic enzyme CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase-α

····· P·····P·························	
4.1 Introduction	110
4.2 Materials and Methods	111
4.2.1 Mice	111
4.2.2 Microscopy	113
4.2.3 mRNA isolation and quantification by PCR	
4.2.4 Cytokine analysis	116
4.2.5 Lipid measurements	116
4.2.6 Plasma metabolite measurements	116
4.2.7 Intestinal permeability assay	116
4.2.8 IEC Microarray data acquisition and analysis	
4.2.9 Statistics	
4.3 Results	118
4.3.1 Hyperproliferation of the crypt compartment and activation of the immune syst	stem in the
small intestines of mice lacking de novo PC synthesis in IECs	118

4.3.2 Spontaneous colitis in mice lacking CTα in IECs121
4.3.3 Loss of mucus granules and ultrastructural damage to theca in goblet cells of mice lacking
de novo PC synthesis124
4.3.4 Increased intestinal permeability and microbial invasion of the colonic epithelium in
response to loss of de novo PC synthesis in IECs127
4.3.5 Antibiotics partially ameliorate colonic inflammatory cytokine secretion but do not reverse
loss of goblet cells or colitis in CTaIKO mice129
4.3.6 CHOP is induced in the colon in response to loss of IEC de novo PC synthesis133
4.3.7 Administration of the chemical chaperone 4-phenylbutyrate normalizes colon mass and
reduces inflammatory tone in the colons of CTaIKO mice135
4.4 Discussion
4.5 Conclusions
4.6 References

CHAPTER 5: Insufficient dietary choline aggravates disease severity in a mouse model of *Citrobacter rodentium*-induced colitis

5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Materials and Methods	.150
5.2.1 Mice	.150
5.2.2 Bacterial strains	
5.2.3 Microbial composition analysis	.152
5.2.4 mRNA isolation and quantification by PCR	.152
5.2.5 Microscopy	.152
5.2.6 Measurement of colonic cytokines and chemokines	
5.2.7 Lipid measurements	.153
5.2.8 Statistical analysis and visualization	.153
5.3 Results	
5.3.1 Insufficient dietary choline exacerbates the severity of C. rodentium-induced colitis	.154
5.3.2 Mice fed a choline deficient diet have enhanced production of proinflammatory cytok	tines
and chemokines in response to C. rodentium	159
5.3.3 Insufficient dietary choline reduces PC concentrations in the colon following C. roden	tium
infection	
5.3.4 Changes to dietary choline levels did not alter overall gut microbial structure	
5.3.5 Dietary choline levels altered the relative abundance of certain bacterial taxonomies	.164
5.4 Discussion	.166
5.5 Conclusions	.169
5.6 References	.169
CHAPTER 6: Overall discussion	17
6.1 Overall discussion	.1/

REFERENCES	187
0.4 References	104
6.4 References	
6.3 Future experiments	
6.2.Conclusions	
6.1 Overall discussion	

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Composition of high fat diet
Table 3.2: qPCR primer sets used in Chapter 3
Table 4.1: qPCR primer sets used in Chapter 4114
Table 4.2: Complete blood cell count data of control mice and CTα ^{IKO} mice122
Table 4.3: Colonic cytokines and chemokines in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with and without antibiotics
Table 4.4: Colonic cytokines and chemokines in control mice and CTα ^{IKO} mice with and without PBA
Table 5.1: Composition of the experimental diets with varying levels of choline
Table 5.2: Colonic cytokine/chemokine levels seven days post Citrobacter rodentium infection
Table 5.3: Phospholipid concentrations in liver and small intestine 4 weeks after dietary treatment (non-infection)
Table 5.4: Relative abundance of bacterial taxonomies altered by dietary choline levels(Summarized down to the genus level)

Appendix

Appendix 1: Gene symbol, description, fold change and ANOVA P Value for genes found to be changed in the small intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to control mice by microarray......216

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Biosynthetic pathways for phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) in mammalian cells
Figure 1.2: Lands' cycle of phospholipid remodeling7
Figure 1.3: Cholesterol-regulated SREBP processing compared to phospholipid-regulated SREBP processing. Cholesterol-regulated SREBP processing
Figure 1.4: PC and the formation of cytosolic lipid droplets and VLDL particles15
Figure 1.5: Intestinal epithelial cell types and their major functions
Figure 1.6: Intestinal epithelial cells derive PC from the CDP-choline pathway, from luminal sources (diet and bile) or from circulating lipoproteins
Figure 1.7: Intestinal lipid uptake and metabolism
Figure 3.1: Generation of $Pcyt1a^{\text{LoxP/LoxP}}$;villin-CreER ^{T2} (CT α^{IKO}) mice, $Pcyt1a^{\text{LoxP/WT}}$;villin-CreER ^{T2} mice (CT α^{HET}) and $Pcyt1a^{\text{LoxP/LoxP}}$ (Floxed control) mice
Figure 3.2: Metabolic characterization of mice with a heterozygous deletion of intestinal CTα fed either a chow diet or a high fat diet
Figure 3.3: Intestinal PC concentrations are reduced in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a chow diet, but fat absorption capacity is unaltered
Figure 3.4: HFD feeding initially induces rapid weight loss, while chronic HFD feeding reduces weight gain, in CTα ^{IKO} mice
Figure 3.5: $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a HFD have impaired intestinal TG secretion after a meal91
Figure 3.6: CTα ^{IKO} mice fed a HFD have impaired passage of fatty acids from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes
Figure 3.7: Loss of intestinal CTα reduces dietary cholesterol absorption
Figure 3.8: CTα ^{IKO} mice do not have damage to the brush border membrane or changes to relative abundance of jejunal PC molecular species but do have reduced jejunal expression of genes encoding proteins involved in lipid uptake
Figure 3.9: CTα ^{IKO} mice have enhanced GLP-1, PYY and FGF21 secretion after a high-fat meal
Figure 3.10: Lower plasma TG concentrations and higher plasma GLP-1 after a meal does not occur in $CT\alpha^{HET}$ mice, suggesting that the villin-Cre promoter does not drive this phenotype100
Figure 3.11: Loss of intestinal CTα enhances biliary bile acid secretion102
Figure 4.1: Lower expression of $Pcyt1a$ in the small intestine and colon of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls is associated with transient body weight loss

Figure 4.2: Hyperproliferation of the crypt compartment and activation of the immune system in the small intestines of mice lacking <i>de novo</i> PC synthesis in intestinal epithelial cells
Figure 4.3: Spontaneous colitis in mice lacking CTα in intestinal epithelial cells
Figure 4.4: Loss of mucus granules and ultrastructural damage to theca in goblet cells of mice lacking <i>de novo</i> PC synthesis in intestinal epithelial cells
Figure 4.5: Increased intestinal permeability and microbial invasion of the colonic epithelium in response to loss of <i>de novo</i> PC synthesis in intestinal epithelial cells
Figure 4.6: Antibiotics ameliorate colonic inflammatory cytokine secretion but do not reverse loss of goblet cells or colitis in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice
Figure 4.7: CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein homologous protein (CHOP) is induced in the colon in response to disruption of intestinal epithelial cell CTα
Figure 4.8: Administration of the chemical chaperone 4-phenylbutyrate normalizes colon mass and reduces inflammatory tone in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice
Figure 5.1: Insufficient dietary choline impairs the ability of mice to defend against <i>Citrobacter- rodentium</i> induced colitis
Figure 5.2: Insufficient dietary choline increases colonic damage relative to mice fed sufficient or excess dietary choline in response to <i>Citrobacter-rodentium</i> infection
Figure 5.3. Correlation between colonic C. rodentium load with MCP-1, Eotaxin-1, and MIP-2 expression levels. 161
Figure 5.4. Colonic PC and PE concentration without <i>C. rodentium</i> infection162
Figure 5.5: Dietary choline deficiency induces changes to specific gut microbes but does not alter overall gut microbial structure compared to sufficient or excess dietary choline
Figure 6.1 Consequences of loss of <i>de novo</i> PC synthesis in the small intestinal epithelium
Figure 6.2 Consequences of loss of de novo PC synthesis in the colon

List of abbreviations

AdoMet - S-adenosylmethionine AA – amino acid Apo – apolipoprotein ATP - adenosine triphosphate CD36 - cluster of differentiation 36 CDP - cytidine diphosphate CEPT - CDP-choline:1,2-diacylglycerol choline/ethanolamine phosphotransferase CK - choline kinase CPT - CDP-choline:1,2-diacylglycerol cholinephosphotransferase CT - CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase CTP - cytidine triphosphate DAVID - Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery DG – diacylglycerol EK - ethanolamine kinase ET - CTP:phosphoethanolamine cytidylyltransferase ER – endoplasmic reticulum FA – fatty acid FATP4 – fatty acid transport protein 4 FABP6 – fatty acid binding protein 6 FGF21 - Fibroblast-like growth factor 21 FPLC - fast protein liquid chromatography GLP-1 - glucagon-like peptide 1 H&E - hematoxylin and eosin HFD - high fat diet IEC – intestinal epithelial cell LPCAT - lyso-PC acyltransferase MAM - mitochondria-associated membranes MTP- microsomal triacylglycerol transfer protein TG – triglyceride PC - phosphatidylcholine PE – phosphatidylethanolamine PEMT - phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase PS – phosphatidylserine PSD - phosphatidylserine decarboxylase PYY - peptide tyrosine tyrosine SREBP - sterol regulatory element-binding proteins TG – triglyceride UC – ulcerative colitis

VLDL - very low-density lipoprotein

<u>CHAPTER 1:</u> Introduction and literature review

A modified version of this chapter has been published as van der Veen, J. N., J. P. Kennelly, S. Wan, J. E. Vance, D. E. Vance, and R. L. Jacobs. 2017. *The critical role of phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine metabolism in health and disease*. Biochim Biophys Acta 1859: 1558-1572.

1.1 Phospholipid metabolism

1.1.1 Overview of phospholipids

Phosphatidylcholine (PC) is the most abundant phospholipid of all mammalian cell types and subcellular organelles. In general, PC comprises 40-50% of total cellular phospholipids, although different cell types, individual organelles and even the two leaflets of organelle membranes contain distinct phospholipid compositions (Verkleij et al., 1973). The second most abundant phospholipid in mammalian membranes is phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), which is enriched in mitochondrial inner membranes (~40% of total phospholipids) compared to other organelles (15–25% of total phospholipids). PC and PE can contain acyl-, ether-, or vinyl-ether bonds at the sn-1 position and are thus sub-classified into diacyl, alkylacyl or alkenylacyl phospholipids, respectively (Yamashita et al., 2014). Most PC and PE (~95-100%) in rat and human liver is diacylated (Diagne et al., 1984). Furthermore, an enormous diversity of PC and PE molecular species is present in mammalian cells since the acyl-chain constituents of PC and PE can be remodeled by the action of phospholipases and lysophospholipid acyltransferases [(LANDS, 1958, Hishikawa et al., 2008, Yamashita et al., 1997) reviewed in (Hishikawa et al., 2014)]. In the 1950s, Eugene Kennedy and co-workers performed groundbreaking research that established the general outline of many phospholipid biosynthetic pathways (Kennedy and Weiss,

1956). A key, unexpected, finding was that a substrate for the biosynthesis of PC and PE was CTP, rather than ATP (Kennedy and Weiss, 1956). This was the first report that high-energy compounds, other than ATP, could be used for activation of metabolites. It is unlikely that Kennedy and colleagues would have predicted the broad impact that alterations in PC and PE metabolism would have on disease processes.

The overall aim of this thesis is to investigate the physiological role of *de novo* PC synthesis in dietary lipid uptake and intestinal barrier function. Our results show that *de novo* PC synthesis is involved in maintaining many important aspects of intestinal physiology including lipid uptake, normal enterohepatic circulation of bile, enteroendocrine hormone secretion, and intestinal immune homeostasis by mechanisms that involve both the small and large intestine. This chapter will first introduce literature on the molecular and cell biology of phospholipids, and current understanding of the role of phospholipids in mammalian physiology. This chapter will then introduce relevant concepts in intestinal physiology, intestinal lipid metabolism, and intestinal barrier function.

1.1.2 PC biosynthesis by the CDP-choline pathway

In all nucleated mammalian cells PC is synthesized by the CDP-choline pathway (**Figure 1.1**), also called the Kennedy pathway (Kennedy and Weiss, 1956). Choline enters the cell via three classes of choline transporters: the high-affinity transporter (CHT1), the intermediate-affinity transporters (CTL family) and the low-affinity organic cation transporters (OCT family) [(Meyer et al., 1982, Hegazy and Schwenk, 1984) and reviewed in (Traiffort et al., 2013)]. Upon entering the cell, choline is rapidly phosphorylated by ATP to phosphocholine via the cytosolic enzyme choline kinase (CK) encoded by two distinct genes *Chka* and *Chkb* from which CK α and CK β , respectively, are derived [(Wittenberg and Kornberg, 1953, Tadokoro et al., 1985) and reviewed

in (Aoyama et al., 2004)]. The second reaction of the CDP-choline pathway for PC synthesis is the conversion of CTP and phosphocholine to CDP-choline via the enzyme CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase (CT) (Figure 1.1). Two isoforms of CT have been identified in mice - CTα, which is encoded by the *Pcyt1a* gene, and CTβ, which is the product of the *Pcyt1b* gene (Lykidis et al., 1998, Kalmar et al., 1990). CTα is ubiquitously expressed in mammalian tissues whereas CTβ is most highly expressed in the brain (Lykidis et al., 1999, Karim et al., 2003). CTα contains a nuclear localization signal and resides primarily in the nucleus (Wang et al., 1993b, Northwood et al., 1999, Gehrig and Ridgway, 2011, Aitchison et al., 2015, Wang et al., 1993a). In contrast, CTβ lacks a nuclear localization signal and, consequently, is exclusively extra-nuclear. Both CT isoforms are amphipathic proteins that can associate reversibly with membranes, particularly those enriched in diacylglycerol (DG) and fatty acids; reviewed in (Cornell and Northwood, 2000, Cornell and Ridgway, 2015). In addition, the association of $CT\alpha$ with membranes results in dephosphorylation of the protein thereby increasing its enzymatic activity (Houweling et al., 1994, Chong et al., 2014, Pelech and Vance, 1984). Thus, upon translocation to membranes (Pelech et al., 1983, Cornell and Vance, 1987, Johnson et al., 2003), CTa becomes activated [reviewed in (Cornell and Northwood, 2000, Cornell and Ridgway, 2015, Pelech and Vance, 1984)]. The reaction catalyzed by CT is, under most metabolic conditions, the rate-limiting reaction for PC synthesis via the CDP-choline pathway (Choy et al., 1979). The final reaction in the CDP-choline pathway is catalyzed by the integral membrane protein CDP-choline:1,2-diacylglycerol cholinephosphotransferase (CPT) and the dual-specificity protein, CDP-choline:1,2diacylglycerol choline/ethanolamine phosphotransferase (CEPT) (Henneberry and McMaster, 1999, Henneberry et al., 2000, Van Golde et al., 1971). These proteins are tightly embedded in the



Figure 1.1 Biosynthetic pathways for phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) in mammalian cells. In the CDP-choline pathway, choline enters the cell and is rapidly phosphorylated to phosphocholine by the cytosolic enzyme choline kinase (CK). In the rate-limiting step of the pathway, phosphocholine is converted to CDP-choline by CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase (CT), an amphitropic enzyme that is activated when bound to membranes. In the final step of the CDP-choline pathway, phosphocholine is transferred from CDP-choline to diacylglycerol (DG) by the integral ER membrane proteins, CDP-choline:1,2-diacylglycerol cholinephosphotransferase (CPT) or CDP-choline:1,2-diacylglycerol choline/ethanolamine phosphotransferase (CEPT), to produce PC. In the other PC biosynthetic pathway, PE is converted to PC by three successive methylation reactions catalyzed by phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase (PEMT) using S-adenosylmethionine as the methyl-group donor. PEMT activity is only quantitatively important in hepatocytes of mammals. PE is made by two spatially-separated biosynthetic pathways. In the CDP-ethanolamine pathway, which parallels the CDP-choline pathway for PC synthesis, ethanolamine is phosphorylated to phosphoethanolamine by the cytosolic enzyme ethanolamine kinase (EK). Another cytosolic protein, CTP:phosphoethanolamine cytidylyltransferase (ET) converts phosphoethanolamine and CTP to CDP-ethanolamine. The final step in the pathway is catalyzed by the ER integral membrane CEPT which transfers phosphoethanolamine to DG to generate PE in the ER. The alternative pathway for PE synthesis, the phosphatidylserine (PS) decarboxylase (PSD) pathway occurs only in mitochondrial inner membranes. PS is imported from its site of synthesis in the ER/MAM to mitochondrial inner membranes where PSD converts PS to PE.

endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane (Van Golde et al., 1971, Vance and Vance, 1988, Henneberry et al., 2002) and transfer phosphocholine from CDP-choline to DG thereby generating PC; some CPT activity also resides in Golgi membranes (Henneberry et al., 2002)(**Figure 1.1**).

1.1.3 PC biosynthesis by phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase

In addition to the CDP-choline pathway for PC synthesis, which is ubiquitously expressed in all nucleated mammalian cells, the liver also utilizes an additional pathway for PC synthesis [(Bremer and Greenberg, 1959, Bremer et al., 1960); reviewed in (Vance, 2014a)]. In this pathway, PE is methylated to PC via three sequential methylation reactions in which S-adenosylmethionine (AdoMet) is the methyl group donor (Bremer et al., 1960, Bremer and Greenberg, 1961)(Figure **1.1**). The enzyme phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase (PEMT) catalyzes all three methylation reactions [(Bremer and Greenberg, 1959, Bremer et al., 1960, Bremer and Greenberg, 1961) reviewed in (Vance, 2014a, Vance, 2013)]. Although the liver is the only mammalian tissue that contains significant PEMT protein or activity (Bremer and Greenberg, 1961, Ridgway and Vance, 1988), a small amount of PEMT activity (less than 1% of that in liver) has been reported in adipocytes during differentiation (Cole and Vance, 2010, Hörl et al., 2011). In rodents, approximately 30% of PC biosynthesized in the liver is derived from the PEMT pathway with the remaining 70% of PC being generated by the CDP-choline pathway (DeLong et al., 1999). PEMT is a small (~20 kDa) integral ER membrane protein (Ridgway and Vance, 1987) that is highly enriched in specialized ER-mitochondria membrane contact sites called "mitochondria-associated membranes" (MAM). MAM consist of a specific domain of the ER that transiently forms contact sites with mitochondrial outer membranes, (Vance, 1990, Cui et al., 1993) and have been implicated in the import of some phospholipids, particularly phosphatidylserine (PS), into mitochondria (Cui et al., 1993, Vance, 2014b).

1.1.4 Phospholipid remodeling by Lands' cycle

In most mammalian cells under steady-state conditions, phospholipids contain a saturated fatty acid at the *sn*-1 position and an unsaturated fatty acid at the *sn*-2 position (Hanahan et al., 1960). This divergence in the acyl chain content of the *sn*-1 and *sn*-2 position of phospholipids is primarily achieved through a remodeling process that occurs after *de novo* synthesis (LANDS, 1958, Lands, 1960). During the phospholipid remodeling process, termed Land's Cycle (**Figure 1.2**), phospholipase enzymes hydrolyze a fatty acid from the *sn*-2 position of the phospholipid before lyso-phospholipid acyltransferase enzymes catalyze the esterification of a fatty acyl CoA onto the vacant *sn*-2 position (King, 1931, Epstein and Shapiro, 1959, LANDS, 1958, Lands, 1960) (**Figure 1.2**). Land's cycle ensures diversity of phospholipid species in cells and facilitates tissue-specific phospholipid requirements (e.g. a high proportion dipalmitoyl-PC in lung)(Huang, 2001, Harayama et al., 2014). Lyso-PC acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3) is the predominant LPCAT in the liver and intestine and plays an important role in lipoprotein metabolism (discussed below).



Figure 1.2 Lands' cycle of phospholipid remodeling. After *de novo* synthesis, phospholipids can be remodeled by Land's cycle. During this process, a phospholipase enzyme hydrolyzes a fatty acid from the *sn*-2 position of the phospholipid before a lyso-phospholipid acyltransferase enzyme catalyzes the esterification of a fatty acyl CoA onto the vacant *sn*-2 position of the phospholipid. Lands' cycle ensures that phospholipids in most mammalian cell types typically contain a saturated fatty acid at the *sn*-1 position and an unsaturated fatty acid at the *sn*-2 position.

1.1.5 PE biosynthesis

The two major pathways utilized by mammalian cells for the biosynthesis of PE are the CDP-ethanolamine pathway (Kennedy and Weiss, 1956) and the phosphatidylserine decarboxylase (PSD) pathway (Percy et al., 1983, Zborowski et al., 1983, Bremer et al., 1960)(**Figure 1.1**). The PE derived from these two pathways is synthesized in two spatially separated organelles: the ER and mitochondria, respectively. Small amounts of PE can also be synthesized by a base-exchange reaction in the ER, catalyzed by phosphatidylserine synthase-2, in which the serine residue of PS is exchanged for ethanolamine (Sundler et al., 1974, Bjerve, 1984). The reactions of the CDP-ethanolamine pathway for PE synthesis parallel those of the CDP-choline pathway for PC synthesis (Kennedy and Weiss, 1956). Ethanolamine is imported into the cell via transporters that are incompletely defined. The ethanolamine is subsequently phosphorylated by two cytosolic, ethanolamine-specific kinases that are particularly abundant in the liver and reproductive tissues (Lykidis et al., 2001, Tian et al., 2006, Gustin et al., 2008)

(Figure 1.1). The second reaction of the CDP-ethanolamine pathway is catalyzed by the cytosolic enzyme CTP:phosphoethanolamine cytidylyltransferase (ET), which is encoded by the Pcyt2 gene (Nakashima et al., 1997, Poloumienko et al., 2004)(Figure 1.1). This enzyme converts CTP and phosphoethanolamine to CDP-ethanolamine and pyrophosphate and is normally the rate-limiting enzyme of the pathway (Sundler and Akesson, 1975, Sundler, 1975, Tijburg et al., 1987). The ET protein contains two similar catalytic motifs, both of which are required for activity (Nakashima et al., 1997, Tie and Bakovic, 2007); however, unlike CT, ET activity is not regulated by reversible binding to membranes. The final step of this pathway for PE synthesis is mediated by CEPT and, alternatively, by CDP-ethanolamine:1,2-ethanolaminephosphotransferase (Henneberry and McMaster, 1999, Horibata and Hirabayashi, 2007)(Figure 1.1). These enzymes are integral membrane proteins of the ER and convert CDP-ethanolamine and DG to PE (Figure 1.1). The other major pathway for PE synthesis in mammalian cells is the PSD pathway that operates exclusively on the outer aspect of mitochondrial inner membranes (Percy et al., 1983, Zborowski et al., 1983). The substrate for the decarboxylase is PS that is made by two PS synthases, PSS1 and PSS2, which are restricted to ER membranes (HUBSCHER et al., 1959, Suzuki and Kanfer, 1985, Kuge et al., 1997). These two PS synthases are highly enriched in the MAM (Stone and Vance, 2000). The translocation of PS from the ER/MAM to the site of PSD in mitochondrial inner membranes is ATP-dependent and is the rate-limiting step for PE synthesis via this route (Shiao et al., 1995, Voelker, 1989). PS-derived PE can be rapidly exported, by unknown mechanisms, from mitochondria to other cellular organelles, such as the ER and plasma membrane (Shiao et al., 1995, Vance et al., 1991, Kainu et al., 2013). However, the PE that is present in mitochondrial membranes is preferentially derived in situ from PSD rather than from the CDP-ethanolamine pathway in the ER (Shiao et al., 1995). Thus, the pools of PE made by the two spatially separated pathways (in the ER from CDP-ethanolamine and in mitochondria from PSD) are mainly compartmentalized. This conclusion is supported by experiments in knockout mice in which genetic elimination of either PE biosynthetic pathway is embryonically lethal despite normal, or enhanced, operation of the other pathway (Steenbergen et al., 2005, Fullerton et al., 2007, Leonardi et al., 2009).

1.2 The subcellular roles of PC and PE synthesis

1.2.1 Phospholipids control *de novo* lipogenesis via regulation of sterol regulatory elementbinding proteins (SREBPs)

The SREBPs are master regulators of de novo lipid synthesis in mammalian cells [(Rajavashisth et al., 1989, Briggs et al., 1993) and reviewed in (Brown and Goldstein, 1997)]. SREBP-1a and -1c preferentially regulate the expression of genes involved in fatty acid, phospholipid and TG synthesis, whereas SREBP-2 preferentially regulates expression of genes involved in cholesterol synthesis (Horton et al., 2002). The processing of SREBP-2 into its mature, active form is regulated by cholesterol levels in the ER [(Wang et al., 1994) and reviewed in [(Horton et al., 2002, Brown and Goldstein, 1997)]. SREBP-1 processing is regulated by insulin (Browning and Horton, 2004) and there is also evidence that ER phospholipid composition influences SREBP-1 processing (Dobrosotskaya et al., 2002, Seegmiller et al., 2002, Lim et al., 2011, Walker et al., 2011, Rong et al., 2017)(Figure 1.3). In Drosophila melanogaster, PE is the most abundant phospholipid in membranes (50% of total phospholipids). In this organism, processing of SREBP is inhibited by PE in a feedback manner. For example, when the level of PE was increased in Drosophila S2 cells, maturation and activation of SREBP-1 were inhibited. Furthermore, low PE levels in hearts of the Drosophila easily shocked mutants which lacked ethanolamine kinase, stimulated the SREBP pathway (Lim et al., 2011). Thus, PE appears to be a major regulator of the SREBP pathway in Drosophila. Regulation of SREBPs by phospholipids is not restricted to Drosophila. For example, in both Caenorhabditis elegans and mammalian cells (in which PC is the major phospholipid), PC inhibited SREBP-1 processing (Walker et al., 2011). In C. elegans, reducing PC synthesis by inhibition of the CDP-choline pathway, the PEMT pathway or the production of AdoMet, increased the processing and maturation of SBP-1 (the C. elegans ortholog of SREBP) and increased expression of its target genes. Similarly, when PC synthesis was attenuated in human hepatoma cells (by small interfering RNAs directed against one of $CT\alpha$, CEPT, or PEMT) mature SREBP-1 accumulated in the nucleus (Walker et al., 2011). Moreover, in mouse livers that lacked CTa, PC levels were reduced leading to increased maturation of SREBP-1 and increased expression of lipogenic genes (Walker et al., 2011). The mechanism by which low PC levels activate SREBP-1 involves inactivation of ADP ribosylation factor-1 (Smulan et al., 2016), which mis-localizes the site 1 protease and site 2 protease to the ER from the Golgi, thereby promoting ectopic proteolytic cleavage and activation of SREBP-1c. Disruption of Golgi function could also affect important cellular processes including Golgi-to-plasma membrane secretory pathways; however, these processes were not investigated. Additionally, lipin1, a phosphatidic acid phosphatase that generates DG, has been implicated in the activation of SREBP-1 in response to low PC levels (Smulan et al., 2016). Consequently, depletion of lipin1 restored the activation of SREBP-1 caused by low levels of PC. Thus, the lipogenic program mediated by the SREBPs appears to be activated when the balance among PC, DG and phosphatidic acid in the ER is disturbed (Smulan et al., 2016). The PC molecular species composition of the ER in hepatocytes also influences SREBP-1c processing in mice (Rong et al., 2017)(Figure 1.3). Liver X receptor (LXR)-mediated induction of LPCAT3 promoted SREBP-1c processing by promoting production of PC containing polyunsaturated fatty acids (Rong et al.,

2017). Furthermore, delivery of exogenous polyunsaturated PC species to the ER promoted SREBP-1c processing. Conversely, loss of LPCAT3 reduced the maturation of SREBP-1c (Rong et al., 2017). Thus, PC acyl chain composition, in addition to PC mass, influences SREBP-1c processing in the mammalian liver (**Figure 1.3**).



Figure 1.3. Cholesterol-regulated SREBP processing compared to phospholipid-regulated SREBP processing. Cholesterol-regulated SREBP processing: When ER cholesterol levels are high, Insulin-induced gene-1 and -2 (INSIG-1 and -2) bind to SREBP cleavage-activating protein (SCAP) to prevent SREBP from traveling to the Golgi for processing. When ER cholesterol levels drop below a threshold of ~5% total (molar) ER lipids (Radhakrishnan, Cell Metabolism, 2008), SCAP escorts SREBP to the Golgi by COPII-mediated vesicle transport. In the Golgi, Site-1-Protease (S1P) and Site-2-Protease (S2P) free the basic-helix-loop-helix leucine zipper (bHLH) active transcription factor domain of SREBP from the regulatory (Reg.) domain, allowing it to enter the nucleus to promote the transcription of cholesterogenic genes. **Phospholipid-regulated SREBP processing:** Changes to the phospholipid composition of the ER influences SREBP-1c processing. Liver X receptor (LXR)-mediated induction of LPCAT3 promotes SREBP-1c processing the abundance of PC species containing polyunsaturated fatty acids. Furthermore, reducing the PC content of the ER mis-localizes S1P and S2P from the Golgi to the ER, inducing constitutive SREBP-1c processing. Diagram adapted from Walker et al., Cell, 2011.

1.2.2 Phospholipids in mitochondria

Mitochondrial dysfunction has been implicated in the development of cardiovascular disease (Ren et al., 2010), type 2 diabetes (Supale et al., 2012), neurodegenerative diseases (Johri and Beal, 2012) and cancer progression (Baysal et al., 2000). The majority of ATP in mammalian cells is generated in mitochondria by oxidative phosphorylation via multimeric protein complexes (complexes I to IV) of the electron transport chain [reviewed in (Dudkina et al., 2011)]. Mitochondrial lipids define the physical properties of mitochondrial membranes and might, therefore, be expected to regulate the activities of proteins of the electron transport chain as well as ATP production [(Baker et al., 2016); reviewed in (Calzada et al., 2016)]. Indeed, a role for mitochondrial phospholipids in multiple key mitochondrial functions including programmed cell death (Choi et al., 2007), autophagy (Fadok et al., 2001, Hailey et al., 2010) and mitochondrial fusion (Steenbergen et al., 2005, Tasseva et al., 2013) has been proposed. For example, a reduced mitochondrial content of the non-bilayer-forming phospholipid cardiolipin (which normally comprises $\sim 10\%$ of mitochondrial phospholipids) disrupts the super-complexes of the respiratory chain that are embedded in the mitochondrial inner membrane (Pfeiffer et al., 2003, Zhang et al., 2005). Moreover, reduction in the mass of cardiolipin and specific cardiolipin molecular species underlies the cardiomyopathy in Barth syndrome [(Vreken et al., 2000, McKenzie et al., 2006); reviewed in (Hauff and Hatch, 2006)]. Although mitochondrial membranes consist of a wide variety of different lipids, the two most abundant phospholipids of mitochondria of mammalian cells are PC and PE, with PE being highly enriched in mitochondrial inner membranes (~40% of total phospholipids) compared to other organelle membranes (15-25% of total phospholipids). As discussed above, the majority of mitochondrial PE in mammalian cells is made in situ in mitochondria via PSD, with only a small fraction of mitochondrial PE being imported from the

ER (Shiao et al., 1995, Kainu et al., 2012, Birner et al., 2001). The importance of the mitochondrial synthesis of PE was highlighted when PE production via the mitochondrial enzyme PSD was globally eliminated in mice (Steenbergen et al., 2005). The Pisd-/- mice died during embryonic development (around day e9.5) and the embryos exhibited profound defects in mitochondrial morphology, including extensive mitochondrial fragmentation, even when PE production in the ER by the CDP-ethanolamine pathway was active. Moreover, whole-body elimination of the CDPethanolamine pathway (by genetic disruption of the Pcyt2 gene encoding ET) was also embryonic lethal (Fullerton et al., 2007, Leonardi et al., 2009). Consequently, both major pathways for PE biosynthesis are required for viability/development of mice. Although the complete elimination of PSD activity caused embryonic lethality, heterozygous Pisd^{+/-} mice with 50% reduction of PSD activity did not exhibit any obviously deleterious phenotype (Steenbergen et al., 2005). Therefore, the cause of lethality in the Pisd^{-/-} mice was investigated in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells in which PSD expression was reduced by ~85% using RNA interference (Tasseva et al., 2013). When the PE content of mitochondria, but not of whole cells, was decreased by $\sim 20\%$, the PC/PE molar ratio of mitochondria was correspondingly increased, and cell survival and growth were severely impaired. In addition, oxygen consumption, cellular ATP levels and the rate of ATP production were markedly reduced, consistent with defects in complexes I and IV of the electron transport chain. Furthermore, mitochondria in the PSD-deficient cells were extensively fragmented and mitochondrial ultrastructure was grossly aberrant (Tasseva et al., 2013). Thus, even a modest decrease in mitochondrial content of the non-bilayer-forming phospholipid PE (corresponding to ~30% increase in the PC/PE molar ratio) profoundly impaired mitochondrial dynamics and functions. In contrast to the increased molar ratio of PC/PE in mitochondria of PSD-deficient cells (Tasseva et al., 2013), elimination of PEMT in mice decreased the molar ratio of PC/PE in liver

by 35% (to 1.17 from 1.81); in livers of $Pemt^{-/-}$ mice, the amount of mitochondrial PC was 19.4% lower than in $Pemt^{+/+}$ mice, whereas the level of PE (a substrate for PEMT) was 18.6% higher (van der Veen et al., 2014). In addition, the mitochondria in livers of mice lacking PEMT were smaller and more elongated than those of $Pemt^{+/+}$ mice. Interestingly, PEMT deficiency greatly attenuated the rate of hepatic glucose production from pyruvate (van der Veen et al., 2014). In addition, the lack of PEMT, and the corresponding increase in mitochondrial PE content, as well as the decrease in the PC/PE molar ratio, stimulated mitochondrial respiration and activities of proteins of the electron transport chain. Furthermore, the level of ATP in hepatocytes from $Pemt^{-/-}$ mice was double that in $Pemt^{+/+}$ hepatocytes. Indeed, a clear positive correlation was observed between the amount of mitochondrial PE and the ATP content of the hepatocytes (van der Veen et al., 2014). Thus, these experiments demonstrate that the mitochondrial PE content and/or the molar ratio of PC/PE can modulate key mitochondrial functions such as energy production.

1.2.3 Phospholipids and lipid droplet formation

Excess intracellular fatty acids are incorporated into TGs and stored in cytosolic lipid droplets to prevent lipotoxicity (Listenberger et al., 2003)(**Figure 1.4**). The neutral lipids in the lipid droplet core are surrounded by a monolayer of phospholipids [reviewed in (Pol et al., 2014)]. Inhibition of PC biosynthesis during conditions that promote TG storage increases the size of the lipid droplets because the ratio of surface area (amount of phospholipid) to volume (TG) of larger droplets is less than that of smaller droplets (Aitchison et al., 2015, Guo et al., 2008, Krahmer et al., 2011). Additionally, an increase in the relative amount of PE on the surface of lipid droplets can promote fusion of smaller droplets into larger ones (Krahmer et al., 2011).



Figure 1.4. PC and the formation of cytosolic lipid droplets and VLDL particles. Excess intracellular fatty acids are funneled into TGs in the ER membrane before budding from the ER to form cytosolic lipid droplets. These droplets also store cholesterol esters (CE) and fat-soluble vitamin esters (VE). The size of cytosolic lipid droplets depends on factors including the relative abundance of PC on the surface of the ER and/or on the droplet. Adequate PC supply and/or low ER surface tension allows budding of small lipid droplets in mammalian cells (Ben M'barek et al., Dev Cell, 2017). Conversely, an increase in the relative amount of PE on the surface of lipid droplets can promote fusion of smaller droplets into larger ones. To form VLDL particles in the lumen of the ER, ApoB is first translated by ERbound ribosomes and translocated into the lumen of the ER (Step 1). Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) transfers lipids from the ER to the nascent ApoB, forming a nascent particle (Step 2). There is evidence that phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) transfers phospholipids to ApoB particles in the ER lumen (Manchekar et al. JLR, 2015). The nascent ApoB particle may be further lipidated, possibly by merging with an ApoB-free droplet in the ER lumen (Step 3.). If there are insufficient lipids available for the lipidation of ApoB, there will be impaired translocation or misfolding of ApoB, resulting in its degradation by ER-associated co-translational degradation and the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (Step 4). Some PC for lipid droplet and VLDL formation is provided by PEMT, which converts PE to PC by three successive methylation reactions using S-adenosylmethionine (AdoMet) as the methyl-group donor. Alternatively, dietary choline is converted to PC by the CDP-choline pathway. PC on the surface of the ER can be remodeled by Lands' cycle to alter ER membrane fluidity and lipid loading to droplets.

Furthermore, addition of PC to the surface of expanding lipid droplets reduced the relative abundance of PE on the droplet and thereby prevented droplet coalescence (Krahmer et al., 2011). Krahmer et al. showed that CT is recruited to lipid droplets upon lipid loading of Drosophila Schneider 2 (S2) cells (Krahmer et al., 2011). The targeting of CT to lipid droplets increased cellular PC levels and promoted the formation of lipid droplets and the storage of TG. Nevertheless, since the final step of PC synthesis via the CDP-choline pathway is catalyzed by the ER integral membrane proteins CPT/CEPT, PC must be made on the ER membrane bilayer, not on the monolayer surrounding the lipid droplets. Adipocytes are specialized cells that store excess energy as TG in lipid droplets. During differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells into adipocytes, the requirement for PC is increased and CTa expression is strongly stimulated to facilitate the expansion of lipid droplets (Aitchison et al., 2015). In mammalian 3T3-L1 cells, however, unlike S2 insect cells, CTa does not associate with lipid droplets, but shuttles from the nucleoplasm to the nuclear envelope and cytoplasmic membranes (Aitchison et al., 2015). The difference between the subcellular localization of CT in insect and mammalian cells might be due to the large difference in relative abundance of PC and PE in the two cell types. In insect cells the cellular PC/PE molar ratio is 1/3 whereas in mammalian cells the PC/PE ratio is 3. Interestingly, during differentiation of 3T3-L1 fibroblasts into adipocytes, a process that involves storage of TG in lipid droplets, PEMT expression is strongly induced (Cole and Vance, 2010). In concert with increased PEMT expression during the differentiation period, levels of mRNAs encoding PS synthase-1 and PSD were increased, suggesting a tight regulation of phospholipid biosynthetic pathways during adipocyte differentiation and lipid droplet expansion (Hörl et al., 2011). As was the case for $CT\alpha$ in insect cells, a small portion of PEMT was localized to a region of the ER close to the periphery of lipid droplets, possibly as a mechanism for promoting localized PC synthesis for lipid droplet

formation (Hörl et al., 2011). Similarly, since PEMT contains four putative transmembrane domains, integration of PEMT into a lipid bilayer, rather than association with the monolayer surface of the droplet, would be required for enzymatic activity (Shields et al., 2003). Nevertheless, this juxtaposition of PEMT with lipid droplets seems to be important for both the formation and stability of lipid droplets in adipocytes, despite the very small amount of PEMT in adipocytes. For example, knock-down of PEMT in 3T3-L1 adipocytes increased basal hydrolysis of TG (Hörl et al., 2011). Moreover, adipocytes from Pemt^{-/-} mice appeared to be resistant to diet-induced hypertrophy: when *Pemt^{-/-}* mice were fed a high-fat diet, their adipocytes were smaller in diameter than those of *Pemt*^{+/+} mice, although factors extrinsic to the adipocyte likely contribute to this effect (Jacobs et al., 2010). However, PEMT deficiency in mice did not impair adipocyte differentiation or lipolysis, but marginally reduced de novo lipogenesis in white adipose tissue (Gao et al., 2015). Intriguingly, a recent study showed that single nucleotide polymorphisms in the PEMT gene correlate with the percentage of body fat mass in humans (Sharma et al., 2013). High levels of *PEMT* and *PCYT1A* mRNA in adipose tissue were positively correlated with fat mass and waist-hip ratio, underscoring a role for PC biosynthesis in lipid droplet formation and/or adipocyte differentiation.

1.2.4 Phospholipids and very-low density lipoprotein (VLDL) secretion

Lipoprotein particles consist of a monolayer of phospholipids and cholesterol surrounding a neutral lipid core of triacylglycerols (TG), cholesteryl esters and vitamin esters. Other lipid species such as DG and sphingolipids can be present at relatively low concentrations on lipoproteins (Ståhlman et al., 2012). In humans, the assembly of TG-rich VLDL particles in the liver requires apolipoprotein (Apo) B100, whereas assembly of the TG-rich chylomicrons in the intestine depends on ApoB48. In addition to ApoB, PC is required for assembly and secretion of VLDLs (Yao and Vance, 1988). It has been estimated that PC comprises 60–80% of the phospholipids on the surface of ApoB-containing lipoproteins (Skipski et al., 1967, Agren et al., 2005).

In the liver, assembly of a VLDL particle starts when ApoB is co-translationally translocated into the ER lumen where it is associates with phospholipids, cholesterol, cholesteryl esters and TG (Alexander et al., 1976, Pullinger et al., 1989, Dixon et al., 1991, Jamil et al., 1995) (Figure 1.4). Microsomal triacylglycerol transfer protein (MTP) facilitates the translocation of ApoB into the ER lumen by loading it with lipids derived from membranes of the ER (Wetterau et al., 1992, Benoist and Grand-Perret, 1997, Gordon et al., 1996). Although MTP prefers binding TG and cholesteryl esters, it also has phospholipid transfer activity (Jamil et al., 1995). Another ER luminal protein, the phospholipid transfer protein, is also involved in transferring phospholipids to ApoB in the early stages of lipoprotein assembly (Figure 1.4). The nascent TGpoor, ApoB-containing particle is further lipidated, likely by merging with an ApoB-free particle in the ER lumen (Alexander et al., 1976, Borén et al., 1994, Gordon et al., 1996) (Figure 1.4). Insufficient availability of lipids for the initial lipidation of ApoB100 leads to diminished translocation or misfolding of ApoB100, resulting in degradation of ApoB100 via ER-associated co-translational degradation and the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (Benoist and Grand-Perret, 1997, Fisher et al., 1997) (Figure 1.4). Interestingly, poorly-lipidated intestine-derived ApoB48 does not undergo post-translational degradation to the same extent as poorly lipidated ApoB100 and is instead secreted as a TG-poor ApoB48-contaning particle (Liao and Chan, 2000). Low PC levels, or a low PC/PE molar ratio, in the ER membrane causes degradation of the nascent VLDL (Verkade et al., 1993). Thus, the availability and transfer of lipids to ApoB is crucial for successful secretion of VLDL.

PC was first linked to hepatic lipid accumulation in the 1930s when Best and Huntsman showed that rats supplemented with dietary choline or PC had lower liver fat content compared to control rats receiving no additional choline source (Best and Huntsman, 1932, Best et al., 1932). Subsequently, a choline-deficient diet was shown to induce hepatic steatosis in humans (Zeisel et al., 1991, Buchman et al., 1995), at least partly due to impaired VLDL secretion (Yao and Vance, 1990). Mechanistic studies in rat hepatocytes incubated with methionine- and/or choline-deficient medium, which limited substrate availability for both PC biosynthetic pathways, impaired the secretion of ApoB and lipids associated with VLDL (Yao and Vance, 1990, Verkade et al., 1993, Fast and Vance, 1995). The choline-deficient medium resulted in the production of abnormal, PCdeficient VLDL particles that were degraded intracellularly (Verkade et al., 1993). More recently, the consequence of reduced PC biosynthesis on VLDL secretion was directly investigated in mouse models that lacked either PEMT or CTa specifically in the liver. The fasting concentrations of TG and ApoB100 in plasma of liver-specific CTa knockout mice were 50% lower than in control mice due to impaired VLDL secretion (Jacobs et al., 2004). Similarly, hepatocytes from mice lacking PEMT secreted 50% and 70% less TG and ApoB100, respectively, than did wildtype hepatocytes (Noga et al., 2002). In addition, plasma from fasted Pemt^{-/-} mice fed a high fat/high cholesterol diet for 3 weeks contained less TG and ApoB100 compared to control mice, due to reduced VLDL secretion (Noga and Vance, 2003). Moreover, the rate of secretion of VLDL-TG was 70% lower in *Pemt^{-/-}* mice fed a high-fat diet than in *Pemt^{+/+}* mice fed the same diet (van der Veen et al., 2016) Together, these studies clearly show that hepatic PC biosynthesis by both pathways for PC biosynthesis is independently required for normal VLDL secretion. Conversely, increasing hepatic PC biosynthesis stimulates the production of VLDL particles (Martinez-Una et al., 2013). Mice lacking glycine N-methyltransferase (GNMT) have 50-fold elevated hepatic

AdoMet levels (Martinez-Una et al., 2013), leading to increased flux through the PEMT pathway and increased VLDL secretion (Martinez-Una et al., 2013, Martinez-Una et al., 2015).

1.2.5 Phospholipid remodeling and VLDL secretion

In addition to *de novo* PC synthesis, PC remodeling in hepatocytes influences VLDL secretion (**Figure 1.4**). The enzyme LPCAT3 can remodel PC so that polyunsaturated fatty acids, mainly arachidonate and linolenate, are incorporated into the *sn*-2 position (Hishikawa et al., 2008, Zhao et al., 2008b). Deletion of hepatic LPCAT3 lowers the amount of arachidonoyl acyl-chains in PC and impairs VLDL lipidation and secretion, resulting in hepatic TG accumulation (Rong et al., 2015, Hashidate-Yoshida et al., 2015). Phospholipids containing polyunsaturated fatty acids (Rawicz et al., 2000). Therefore, incorporation of polyunsaturated fatty acids into membranes might be necessary to establish a suitable ER membrane microenvironment for the transfer of lipids from the ER membrane to ApoB (Rong et al., 2015, Hashidate-Yoshida et al., 2015). These observations indicate that the acyl-chain composition of hepatic PC can modulate VLDL secretion.

1.3 The physiological roles of PC and PE synthesis in mammals

Phospholipid biosynthetic enzyme activity and phospholipid acyl chain composition vary among tissues, reflecting tissue-specific phospholipid requirements (Harayama et al., 2014, Hanahan et al., 1960). For example, saturated dipalmitoyl-PC is a major component of pulmonary surfactant, which reduces lung alveolar surface tension and prevents alveolar collapse upon expiration, particularly in new-born infant mice (Tian et al., 2007, Bridges et al., 2010). Reducing levels of dipalmitoyl PC in lung surfactant by deletion of the PC remodeling enzyme LPCAT1 caused respiratory failure in neonatal mice, suggesting that there is a specific requirement for dipalmitoyl PC for lung function (Bridges et al., 2010). Other mouse models have been generated to determine the function of PC in various cell types. For example, an inability to synthesize PC by the CDP-choline pathway rendered macrophages susceptible to cholesterol-induced death (Zhang et al., 2000). Global deletion of CT β resulted in gonadal dysfunction and reduced reproductive capacity in mice (Jackowski et al., 2004). In addition, neuronal branching in CT β deficient mice was impaired (Strakova et al., 2011). In the following section, the role of phospholipids in relevant aspects of liver and muscle physiology will be highlighted.

1.3.1 Phospholipids in the liver

Mice with liver-specific deletion of CT α have mild steatosis and lower fasting plasma TG concentrations compared to floxed control mice when fed a chow diet (Jacobs et al., 2004). However, when fed a high fat diet, liver-specific CT α knockout mice experience massive liver fat accumulation that progresses to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (Ling et al., 2012, Niebergall et al., 2011). Hepatic TG accumulation in liver-specific CT α knockout mice fed a high fat diet is at least partly due to impaired VLDL secretion (Jacobs et al., 2004), although constitutive activation of SREBP-1c or conversion of excess DG to TG might also contribute (Walker et al., 2011). Two

patients with bi-allelic loss-of-function mutations in *PCYT1A*, the gene encoding CT α , have been identified (Payne et al., 2014). In these patients, PC synthesis by the CDP-choline pathway was reduced and was associated with severe fatty liver (Payne et al., 2014), consistent with findings from liver-specific CT α knockout mice.

Like liver-specific CTα knockout mice, PEMT knockout mice develop steatosis that progresses to severe non-alcoholic steatohepatitis when fed a high fat diet (van der Veen et al., 2016, Jacobs et al., 2010, Ling et al., 2012). Therefore, both pathways for hepatic PC synthesis are independently required to prevent non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in the setting of a high fat diet. When PEMT knockout mice are fed a choline-deficient diet (which reduces PC production *via* the CDP-choline pathway), hepatic PC concentrations are reduced by ~50% and liver failure occurs within 3 days (Li et al., 2006). A large proportion of hepatic PC is lost during biliary secretion via the multiple drug-resistant protein 2 (MDR2). Therefore, it was hypothesized that reducing biliary PC secretion might prevent liver failure in PEMT knockout mice fed a choline-deficient diet (Li et al., 2006). In contrast to PEMT knockout mice, PEMT/MDR2 double-knockout mice fed a choline-deficient diet did not suffer liver failure and survived beyond 3 months (Li et al., 2006). These data show that biliary PC secretion makes a major contribution to hepatic PC homeostasis.

1.3.2 Phospholipids in skeletal muscle

Skeletal muscle is the major contributor to insulin-stimulated glucose disposal, making it an important player in whole body energy homeostasis (O'Neill et al., 2013). Studies using mice with skeletal muscle-specific disruption of genes that encode enzymes involved in phospholipid synthesis have recently helped to elucidate some of the mechanisms by which changes in skeletal muscle phospholipids influence insulin sensitivity. It is likely that unbalanced synthesis of muscle PC and PE influences muscle insulin sensitivity by disrupting cellular calcium homeostasis (Funai et al., 2013, Funai et al., 2016). The molar ratio of PC/PE in the sarcoplasmic reticulum influences the activity of SERCA, a key player in skeletal muscle contraction (Gustavsson et al., 2011). Mice with muscle-specific deletion of CEPT1, the enzyme that catalyzes the terminal reactions in the CDP-choline and CDP-ethanolamine pathways for PC and PE synthesis, respectively, contained lower sarcoplasmic reticulum concentrations of PE (but not PC) in muscle, thereby increasing the PC/PE ratio by approximately 60% (Funai et al., 2016). Similarly, inhibition of fatty acid synthase in skeletal muscle reduced sarcoplasmic reticulum PE levels and increased the sarcoplasmic reticulum PC/PE molar ratio by approximately 60% (Funai et al., 2013). Increased sarcoplasmic reticulum PC/PE ratio in each of these models was associated with impaired SERCA-mediated calcium uptake, and muscle weakness (Funai et al., 2013, Funai et al., 2016).

1.4 Overview of the intestinal epithelium

The mammalian small intestine must balance nutrient uptake with the ability to prevent passage of luminal antigens to host tissues. These diverse requirements are fulfilled by four different intestinal epithelial cell types (**Figure 1.5**): enterocytes (termed colonocytes in the colon), enteroendocrine cells, goblet cells, and Paneth cells. Most intestinal epithelial cells turn over every 3-5 days owing to the harsh intestinal environment, making it important to tightly regulate intestinal stem cell proliferation and differentiation to prevent cancer development (Potten et al., 1992). The submucosal crypts contain a bank of leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor 5 (LGR5+) proliferative stem cells that divide asymmetrically to produce one daughter cell (which will differentiate into one of the four intestinal epithelial cell types) and one stem cell (which remains undifferentiated and multipotent) (Barker et al., 2007). Daughter cells undergo multiple rounds of cell division while migrating up the villi, so that the tips of most villi contain mature post-mitotic intestinal epithelial cells (Potten et al., 1992, Katz et al., 2002). The
homeodomain transcription factor caudal type homeobox 2 (CDX2) is critical for intestinal development and maintenance of intestinal identity (Silberg et al., 2002, Liu et al., 2007, Gao et al., 2009). Loss of CDX2 in adult mice causes failure of intestinal epithelial cells to differentiate (Gao et al., 2009), and ectopic expression of CDX2 in the stomach or esophagus activates an intestine-specific gene expression program (Silberg et al., 2002, Liu et al., 2007). CDX2 partners with the transcription factors GATA Binding Protein 4 to control crypt cell proliferation, and with Hepatocyte nuclear factor 4- α to maintain normal intestinal lipid absorption (San Roman et al., 2015).



Figure 1.5. Intestinal epithelial cell types and their major functions. <u>Enterocytes</u> comprise ~80% of intestinal epithelial cells and primarily function to absorb nutrients (fatty acids (FAs), glucose and amino acids (AA)) from the intestinal lumen. The uptake of amino acids and glucose is mediated by transporters, while fatty acid uptake might be transport-mediated under certain conditions but appears to occur primarily by passive diffusion. Glucose and amino acids are transported into venous circulation. Fatty acids can be transiently stored as TGs in lipid droplets before being transferred to chylomicrons for secretion into the lymphatics. In addition to absorbing nutrients, enterocytes can secrete a variety of antimicrobial molecules. Microbes in the intestinal lumen interact with <u>Paneth cells</u> to promote the secretion of antimicrobial peptides including lysozyme, REGIIIγ REGIIIβ, phospholipase A2 (PLA2), defensins, and deleted in malignant brain tumors 1 (DMBT1). <u>Goblet cells</u> contain large, cytoplasmic mucus granules which are secreted into the intestinal lumen to form a protective mucus barrier. <u>Enteroendocrine cells</u> secrete various hormones including glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY) in response to luminal nutrients to assist with nutrient disposal, gut motility and appetite. The electron micrographs in this diagram are from mice on a C57B6/J background and were obtained by J.P.K.

Cell fate decisions in the intestinal epithelium are coordinated by the transcription factors Neurogenic locus notch homolog protein 1 (Notch1) and Atonal homolog 1 (Atoh1; also known as Math1), and their downstream effectors (Fre et al., 2005, Yang et al., 2001). Notch1 signaling drives epithelial cells towards absorptive enterocytes, and inhibition of Notch1 results in most intestinal epithelial cells differentiating into secretory goblet cells (Fre et al., 2005, Jensen et al., 2000, van Es et al., 2005). Notch1 positive cells typically also contain Hes family bHLH transcription factor 1 (Hes1), a transcriptional repressor that prevents commitment to the secretory cell lineage (Jensen et al., 2000). Conversely, progenitors in which the transcription factor Atoh1 is induced are committed to the secretory cell lineage which includes goblet cells, Paneth cells and enteroendocrine cells (Yang et al., 2001). The transcriptional repressor growth factor independent 1 transcriptional repressor (Gfi1) acts downstream of Atoh1 to assist the differentiation and development of goblet cells and Paneth cells (Shroyer et al., 2005). The transcription factor (Spdef) function downstream of Gfi1 to control the development and maturation of goblet cells (Katz et al., 2002, Noah et al., 2010, Gregorieff et al., 2009).

1.4.1 Intestinal epithelial cell types

1.4.1.1 Enterocytes and colonocytes

Enterocytes account for ~80% of total intestinal epithelial cells (Chang and Leblond, 1971, Cheng and Leblond, 1974). They are highly polarized columnar cells with an apical membrane containing microvilli to increase the absorptive area and a basolateral membrane across which nutrients diffuse or are actively transported before entering the blood or lymphatics (**Figure 1.5**). The major function of enterocytes is to absorb nutrients and to secrete various factors that protect the intestinal epithelium against damage by luminal antigens. Enterocytes in the proximal small intestine and distal small intestine have distinct transcriptional signatures. For example, genes involved in lipid and carbohydrate absorption are more abundantly expressed in the duodenum and jejunum while genes involved in bile acid uptake are more abundantly expressed in the ileum.

Colonocytes specialize in the absorption of water, short-chain fatty acids and sodium (Chang and Leblond, 1971).

1.4.1.2 Enteroendocrine cells

Enteroendocrine cells comprise ~1% of total cells in the intestinal epithelium and secrete a variety of hormones that regulate many physiological processes including nutrient disposal, gut motility and appetite [(Kreymann et al., 1987, Turton et al., 1996) and reviewed in (Baggio and Drucker, 2007)] (Figure 1.5). Types of enteroendocrine cells in the small intestine include L, D, I, K and enterochromaffin cells. The ability of gut-derived factors to enhance glucose-stimulated insulin secretion is termed the incretin effect (Labarre, 1932). Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), a product of the proglucagon gene, is secreted from enteroendocrine L cells located predominantly in the ileum and colon in response to nutrients (Mojsov et al., 1987, Kreymann et al., 1987) The major physiological role of GLP-1 is to promote glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (Kreymann et al., 1987, Mojsov et al., 1987). Peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY) is co-secreted with GLP-1 from L cells. Like GLP-1, circulating PYY concentrations rise 15 minutes after a meal due to neural responses (mediated by the vagus nerve), peak at 90 minutes as nutrients directly interact with L cells, and remain elevated compared to the fasting state for up to 6 hours (Adrian et al., 1985). PYY3-36, the major form found in circulation following a meal, influences appetite by directly interacting with neural circuits that regulate appetite, and can also influence gut motility (Batterham et al., 2002, Batterham et al., 2003). Glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2) is secreted in equimolar concentrations to GLP-1 from L cells and functions to promote intestinal lipid uptake (Hsieh et al., 2009). Importantly, fatty acids can directly interact with G-protein coupled receptors on L cells to promote hormone secretion (Hirasawa et al., 2005). Therefore, humans and mice that experience fat malabsorption in the proximal small intestine typically have enhanced postprandial

secretion of enteroendocrine hormones as higher concentrations of fatty acids interact with L cells of the distal intestine (Damci et al., 2004, Ables et al., 2012, Wang et al., 2016, Yen et al., 2009). D cells, located predominantly in the stomach and small intestine, secrete somatostatin to reduce gastric acid secretion from parietal cells through inhibition of histamine and gastrin release (Hökfelt et al., 1976, Larsson et al., 1979). Enterochromaffin cells primarily secrete 5-hydroxytryptamine, a promoter of intestinal motility (BULBRING and CREMA, 1959). K cells are the major source of circulating glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP), the first incretin hormone identified, which promotes glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (Brown et al., 1975, Lauritsen et al., 1980). I cells secrete cholecystokinin (CCK) to slow gastric emptying and induce satiety (Whited et al., 2006).

1.4.1.3 Paneth cells

Paneth cells lie at the base of the crypts and play an important role in innate immunity by secreting a variety of antimicrobial peptides (Vaishnava et al., 2008)(**Figure 1.5**). Paneth cells (which are easily identified by histology due to their large eosinophilic granules) have a slow turnover rate of approximately 20 days compared to other epithelial cell types which turnover every 3-5 days (Cheng and Leblond, 1974). Commensal microbes have been shown to interact with the myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (Myd88) receptor on Paneth cells to control the secretion of antibacterial molecules including lysozyme, REGIII γ , phospholipase A2, defensins and DMBT1 (Deleted in malignant brain tumors 1) (Ayabe et al., 2000, Hooper et al., 2003, Cash et al., 2006, Vaishnava et al., 2008). Due to their role in shaping the gut flora, there has been increasing interest in Paneth cells in the context of inflammatory bowel diseases (Bevins and Salzman, 2011).

1.4.1.4 Goblet cells

Goblet cells comprise about 5% of epithelial cells in the small intestine and about 16% in the colon (Chang and Leblond, 1971, Cheng and Leblond, 1974). Goblet cells can be readily identified by histology due to their large, cytoplasmic mucus granules (**Figure 1.5**). These mucus granules are secreted into the intestinal lumen to form a polymeric gel-like mucus layer that ranges from 50-500 µm (Johansson and Hansson, 2016). Goblet cells produce Mucin 2 (MUC2), a heavily N-glycosylated polymeric protein that forms the scaffold for the components of mucus (Velcich et al., 2002). In the small intestine, goblet cells are more abundant in the crypts than on the villi. Furthermore, the mucus layer in the small intestine is thin and discontinuous relative to the colon, and so the small intestinal epithelium is more reliant on secreted antimicrobial peptides to protect against microbial damage than the colon (Johansson et al., 2008). The mucus layer in the colon consists of a sterile inner layer and a loose outer that limit microbial interaction with the epithelium (Johansson et al., 2008).

1.5 Overview of chylomicron formation and secretion

Most dietary lipids are in the form of TGs, with proportionally smaller contributions from cholesterol esters, vitamin esters and unesterified cholesterol (Abumrad and Davidson, 2012, Cordain et al., 2005). Dietary TGs are initially hydrolyzed to monoglycerides and fatty acids in the intestinal lumen by lipases before being taken up by the enterocyte by passive diffusion or by protein-mediated transport (discussed below). Fatty acids and monoglycerides are then transported to the ER where they are re-acylated in TG, packaged into chylomicron particles with ApoB48, and then secreted across the basolateral membrane into the lymphatics. Intestinal epithelial cells can derive PC from local *de novo* synthesis, diet, bile, or circulating lipoproteins (**Figure 1.6**). PC delivered to the intestinal lumen in the diet or in bile is first hydrolyzed to lyso-PC and fatty acids

by phospholipase A2 before crossing into enterocytes (**Figure 1.6**). This lyso-PC can be reacylated into PC by LPCAT enzymes on the ER for use in lipid droplet and chylomicron formation (**Figure 1.6**). Alternatively, PC can be produced from dietary choline by the CDP-choline pathway and remodeled by LPCAT3 (**Figure 1.6**). The following section will the major steps involved in dietary lipid absorption including digestion of luminal lipids by lipases, passage of lipids from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes, chylomicron formation at the ER, and basolateral chylomicron secretion.



Figure 1.6. Intestinal epithelial cells derive PC from the CDP-choline pathway, from luminal sources (diet and bile) or from circulating lipoproteins. PC delivered to the intestinal lumen in the diet or in bile is first hydrolyzed to lyso-PC and fatty acids by phospholipase A2 before crossing into enterocytes. This lyso-PC can be re-acylated into PC by the LPCAT enzymes on the ER for use in lipid droplet and chylomicron formation. Alternatively, PC can be produced from dietary choline by the CDP-choline pathway. PC on ER membranes can be remodeled by Lands' cycle, which involves de-acylation by phospholipase A2 and subsequent re-acylation by LPCAT3 to increase the abundance of PC containing polyunsaturated fatty acids. There is a lack of literature on the mechanisms involved in intestinal PC uptake from circulating lipoproteins.

1.5.1 Dietary lipid digestion by lipases

Neutral lipid digestion and absorption is facilitated by the action of lipases (Blackfan and Wolbach, 1933, Ross, 1955)(Figure 1.7). Gastric lipase and lingual lipase (pre-duodenal lipases) are most active under acidic conditions (optimal pH 4-6) and make a relatively minor contribution to fat digestion (<20%) (Liao et al., 1984). Pre-duodenal lipases preferentially hydrolyze the *sn*-3 position of TGs and prefer short- and medium-chain TGs (Liao et al., 1984). The duodenal lipases (including pancreatic TG lipase, pancreatic TG lipase related protein 2, and cholesterol ester lipase) are activated at neutral pH (Giller et al., 1992, Lopez-Candales et al., 1993). Pancreatic TG lipase and pancreatic TG lipase related protein 2 require the co-factor co-lipase for activity and preferentially hydrolyze TG at the sn-1 and sn-3 position (Borgstrom and Erlanson, 1971, Giller et al., 1992, Paltauf et al., 1974). Pancreatic TG lipase is important for dietary TG and cholesterol absorption, especially in the setting of high fat/high cholesterol feeding (Figarella et al., 1980, Gilham et al., 2007). Pancreatic TG lipase related protein 2 is important for fat absorption during the perinatal period (Giller et al., 1992, Xiao et al., 2011). Cholesterol ester lipase is required for the hydrolysis and absorption of cholesterol esters but not for retinyl esters (Weng et al., 1999, Lopez-Candales et al., 1993). On the other hand, inactivating pancreatic TG lipase reduced retinyl ester absorption by ~45%, implicating pancreatic TG lipase in vitamin A absorption (Gilham et al., 2007).



Figure 1.7. Intestinal lipid uptake and metabolism. Dietary TGs are initially hydrolyzed to monoglycerides and fatty acids in the intestinal lumen by lipases before being taken up by the enterocyte by passive diffusion or by proteinmediated transport (**Process 1**). Proteins that have been implicated in fatty acid uptake include CD36 and FATP4. These fatty acids are then transported to the ER by fatty acid binding protein 1 or 2 (FABP1 or FABP2) where they can be re-acylated into TGs by monoacylglycerol acyltransferase (MGAT) 2 and diacylglycerol acyltransferase (DGAT) 1 or 2. TG can also be formed in intestinal epithelial cells via glucose (**Process 2**). This pathway involves metabolism of glucose to glycerol-3-phosphate (G-3-P). Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (GPAT) and 1-acyl glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (AGPAT) enzymes sequentially esterify G-3-P with acyl-CoAs to form phosphatidic acid (PA). Lipin (also called phosphatidic acid phosphohydrolase) generates DG from PA before DGAT generates TG. Cholesterol esters (CE) in the intestinal lumen are hydrolyzed by lipases (**Process 3**). Cholesterol can then be taken up by the enterocyte by passive diffusion or by Niemann-Pick C1–like 1 (NPC111) before being esterified to cholesterol esters by acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase 2 (ACAT2). TG, CE and unesterified cholesterol can be transferred to ApoB48 by MTP to form chylomicrons.

1.5.2 Intestinal fatty acid uptake: A role for phospholipid remodeling

There has been a long-running debate whether intestinal fatty acid uptake occurs primarily by passive diffusion or protein-mediated transport (Tso et al., 2004, Abumrad and Davidson, 2012)(**Figure 1.7**). It was reported that fatty acid uptake is a saturable process and that competition for uptake exists between fatty acid species, suggesting that the process might be carrier-mediated (Ho and Storch, 2001, Murota and Storch, 2005). Several apical membrane proteins that might mediate fatty acid uptake have been identified, including cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36) and fatty acid transport protein 4 (FATP4). However, deletion of either CD36 or FATP4 does not substantially impair fatty acid uptake from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes (Goudriaan et al., 2002, Nauli et al., 2006, Drover et al., 2005, Shim et al., 2009). Instead, CD36 might play a role in chylomicron formation after fatty acid uptake by enterocytes or in the clearance of chylomicrons from circulation (Drover et al., 2005).

Data from cell culture models which shows that fatty acid uptake is protease-resistant and temperature independent supports a role for passive diffusion (Chow and Hollander, 1979, Ling et al., 1989, Trotter et al., 1996). Strong *in vivo* support for a predominant role for passive diffusion comes from mice with intestine-specific deletion of the phospholipid remodeling enzyme LPCAT3 (Wang et al., 2016). These mice have lower concentrations of arachidonate- and linolenate-containing PC species in intestinal epithelial cells, thereby reducing membrane fluidity, fatty acid uptake and chylomicron secretion (Wang et al., 2016). Importantly, providing polyunsaturated PC to LPCAT3-deficient intestines increases fatty acid uptake at both 37 °C and 4 °C, strongly suggesting that membrane fluidity is a determinant of intestinal fatty acid uptake capacity (Wang et al., 2016).

Altering the phospholipid composition of intestinal epithelial cells by deletion of LPCAT3 has profound effects on whole-body energy metabolism. Impaired fatty acid uptake in the proximal small intestine has been shown to enhance release of GLP-1 and PYY because higher concentrations of fatty acids reach L-cells of the distal intestine (Ables et al., 2012, Cummings and Overduin, 2007). Accordingly, in adult mice lacking intestinal LPCAT3, postprandial GLP-1 and

PYY secretion is enhanced and food intake is markedly reduced when the mice are fed a high fat diet (containing 40%-60% of total kilocalories as fat), leading to rapid weight loss and morbidity within days of initiation of fat feeding (Wang et al., 2016). When the fat content of the diet is reduced to 30% of total kilocalories, a metabolically favorable phenotype was induced, with diminished diet-induced weight gain and lower levels of plasma lipids due to impaired intestinal fatty acid absorption (Wang et al., 2016). Interestingly, a different group linked impaired intestinal fatty acid uptake in LPCAT3-deficient mice to lower abundance of brush border CD36 and FATP4; however, they did not asses membrane biophysical properties in the mice (Li et al., 2015). Therefore, the phospholipid composition of the intestinal brush-border membrane influences longchain fatty acid uptake and availability of lipids for assembly of TG-rich chylomicrons through effects on membrane biophysical properties and membrane protein stability (Li et al., 2015, Wang et al., 2016). The role of de novo PC synthesis in maintaining fatty acid uptake in the small intestine is poorly understood. However, rat dams that were fed a diet deficient in choline had a lower molar ratio of PC/PE in the small intestine relative to dams fed a choline-sufficient diet (da Silva et al., 2015). This alteration in intestinal phospholipid concentrations was associated with delayed chylomicron secretion after a fat challenge and lower fasting plasma lipids compared to controls (da Silva et al., 2015).

1.5.3 Intestinal cholesterol uptake

While intestinal fatty acid absorption is highly efficient (95-100%), intestinal cholesterol absorption is typically about 50% efficient and varies widely (20-80%) (Sudhop et al., 2002, Voshol et al., 2000). The membrane transporter Nieman Pick C1-like 1 (NPC1L1) plays a central role in intestinal cholesterol absorption (**Figure 1.7**). Deletion of the gene encoding NPC1L1 reduces cholesterol absorption by ~70% (Altmann et al., 2004), while administration of a NPC1L1

inhibitor to humans reduces cholesterol uptake by ~50% (Sudhop et al., 2002). Biliary cholesterol secretion is a well-established contributor to whole-body cholesterol balance. Recently, a pathway involving cholesterol excretion from venous circulation, through the enterocyte and into the intestinal lumen, termed trans-intestinal cholesterol efflux has been described in mice and humans (Kruit et al., 2005, Jakulj et al., 2016).

1.5.4 Intestinal fatty acid transport

After apical uptake, fatty acids are transported to the ER by fatty acid binding protein 1 and 2 (for example FABP1 and FABP2) where they are mainly re-acylated to TGs by the monoacylglycerol acyltransferase 2 (MGAT2) and diacylglycerol acyltransferase 1 or 2 (DGAT1 or DGAT2) enzymes at the ER (Thumser and Storch, 2000, Yen and Farese, 2003, Buhman et al., 2002)(**Figure 1.7**). Alternatively, DG could be funneled into phospholipid synthesis and used for the formation of lipid droplets and chylomicrons (**Figure 1.7**). Fatty acids are also taken into enterocytes through the basolateral membrane, and there is evidence that these fatty acids are preferentially shuttled into phospholipid synthesis (Storch et al., 2008).

1.5.5 Intestinal TG synthesis

The two pathways for TG formation in enterocytes are the MGAT2 pathway and the glycerol-3-phosphosphate (G-3-P) pathway, which converge on the production of DG (**Figure 1.7**). The MGAT pathway directly produces DG by the re-acylation of *sn*-2 monoacylglycerol (**Figure 1.7**). The glycerol-3-phosphosphate pathway produces DG by the sequential acylation of G-3-P (a product of glycolysis) by glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (GPAT) and 1-acyl-glycerol-3-phosphate (AGPAT), and the removal of the phosphate group by phosphatidic acid phosphohydrolase (also called LIPIN) (**Figure 1.7**). In most tissues that synthesize TG, the G-3-P

pathway predominates; however, the re-acylation of monoacylglycerol predominates in the intestine when dietary fat content is high, accounting for approximately 80% of TG produced under these conditions (Kern and Borgström, 1965, Johnston et al., 1967, CLARK and HUBSCHER, 1961, CLARK and HUEBSCHER, 1960, Kayden et al., 1967, Kennedy, 1957)

Mice deficient in GPAT3 have impaired chylomicron secretion after a large bolus of olive oil, suggesting that the G-3-P pathway plays a role in chylomicron secretion in the setting of high dietary fat intake (Khatun et al., 2016). Intestine-specific deletion of MGAT2 does not reduce total dietary fat uptake (as indicated by normal fecal fat balance compared to control mice) but does shift fat absorption to the distal small intestine and delays entry of dietary TGs into circulation (Yen et al., 2009). A recent study suggested that ER-associated degradation (ERAD; a protein degradation system required for protein quality control) plays a role in dietary fat absorption by controlling the intestinal protein abundance of GPAT3, MGAT2 and DGAT2 (although as discussed below DGAT2 has not thus far been implicated in dietary fat absorption due to the perinatal death of the DGAT2-deficient mice, the low abundance of DGAT2 in the mouse intestine, and the absence of intestinal DGAT2 in the human intestine). Whole-body or intestinespecific deletion of Axin Interactor Dorsalization Associated (AIDA), which serves as a factor required for the activity of the ERAD-associated E3-ligase HMG-CoA reductase degradation protein 1 (HRD1), increased fat absorption and adiposity in mice (Luo et al., 2018).

DGAT1 is the major DGAT in the murine intestine, as DGAT1-deficient mice have 90% lower DGAT activity compared to control mice (Buhman et al., 2002). DGAT1 inhibition reduces diet-induced obesity, improves insulin sensitivity, and protects against fatty liver in mice DGAT1 (Ables et al., 2012, Cao et al., 2011, Zhao et al., 2008a, Smith et al., 2000). These metabolic benefits appear to be mediated by delayed dietary fat absorption and enhanced secretion of

enteroendocrine hormones following a meal (Liu et al., 2013). However, the favorable effects of DGAT1 inhibitors in humans (which include blunted intestinal TG secretion following a meal, delayed gastric emptying, enhanced GLP-1 secretion and improved insulin sensitivity) have been offset by severe gastrointestinal problems, precluding their widespread clinical use (Denison et al., 2014). Mice deficient in DGAT2 die during the perinatal period due to dehydration caused by skin abnormalities (Stone et al., 2004). There is no DGAT2 activity in the human intestine, and humans with a null mutation in DGAT1 experience severe diarrhea (Haas et al., 2012).

1.5.6 Chylomicron formation at the ER of enterocytes

Secretion of poorly lipidated ApoB48-contaning particles occurs in the fasting state (Guo et al., 2005). When dietary fat is consumed, both the neutral lipid content of ApoB48-contaning particles and the total number of particles secreted increases relative to the fasting state (Otokozawa et al., 2009). MTP transfers TG, cholesterol ester and phospholipids to ApoB48 in the ER lumen, forming a primordial ApoB-containing particle (Wetterau et al., 1992, Cartwright and Higgins, 2001). Loss of intestinal MTP or ApoB in mice or humans causes severe dietary fat malabsorption (Xie et al., 2006, Young et al., 1995). The primordial lipoprotein particle subsequently fuses with an ApoB-free lipid droplet in the ER lumen to form a pre-chylomicron (Cartwright and Higgins, 2001). ApoA-IV, an apolipoprotein that increases the lipid storage capacity of chylomicrons and clearance rates from circulation (but is not required for intestinal chylomicron secretion), also associates with the pre-chylomicron in the ER lumen (Kohan et al., 2013, Kohan et al., 2012).

The acyl chain composition of phospholipids in the ER of enterocytes, as in hepatocytes, might influence the assembly of TG-rich chylomicron particles (Rong et al., 2015, Hashidate-Yoshida et al., 2015). In contrast to adult intestine-specific LPCAT3-deficient mice, fatty acid uptake is not impaired in global LPCAT3-deficient mice during the perinatal period (Hashidate-Yoshida et al., 2015, Rong et al., 2015). Instead, LPCAT3-deficient mice accumulate TG in enterocytes, suggesting that chylomicron secretion, rather than intestinal lipid uptake, is defective in the knockout mice. The reason for this developmental difference is not clear. However, based on experiments with global LPCAT3-deficient mice, Hashidate-Yoshida et al. suggested that appropriate ER membrane fluidity provided by LPCAT3 allows formation of TG-rich domains in the ER bilayer and an efficient transfer of lipids to nascent ApoB-containing chylomicron particles by MTP (Hashidate-Yoshida et al., 2015).

1.5.7 Chylomicron secretion into the lymphatics

Mature chylomicron particles are exocytosed across the basolateral membrane of the enterocyte into the lamina propria and enter the lymphatics through lacteals, specialized lymphatic capillaries located at the core of each intestinal villus. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C) and Delta-like 4 (DLL4) are involved in formation of the lacteals, and deletion of the genes encoding VEGF-C and DLL4 reduces dietary lipid absorption and high fat diet-induced weight gain in mice (Nurmi et al., 2015, Bernier-Latmani et al., 2015). It has recently been shown that the passage of chylomicrons into lacteals is controlled by VEGF-A signaling (Zhang et al., 2018). In this model, the proteins Neuropilin-1 (NRP1) and Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 (VEGFR1) act as double decoy receptors (located on blood endothelial cells neighboring lymphatic endothelial cells) which dampen VEGF-A signaling and prevent the closure of junctions between lymphatic endothelial cells (i.e. transition from button-like junctions to zipper-like junctions) to allow chylomicron passage into lacteals (Zhang et al., 2018). Accordingly, deletion of NRP1 and VEGFR1 results in closure of the lymphatics and protection from diet-induced obesity in mice (Zhang et al., 2018). After travelling through the mesenteric lymphatic

vessels, chylomicrons are drained into the thoracic duct before entering venous circulation at the left subclavian vein.

1.5.8 Lipid droplet formation in enterocytes

In addition to secreting chylomicrons, enterocytes store dietary lipids in cytosolic lipid droplets that act as a reservoir to sustain chylomicron secretion (Mattes, 2002). Cytosolic lipid droplets might be an important source of chylomicron lipids, as blocking lipid droplet mobilization in intestinal epithelial cells impairs intestinal lipid secretion (Xie et al., 2014). Current evidence suggests that, as TG is synthesized in the folds of the ER, a lens of neutral lipid forms and eventually buds off from the ER into the cytosol to form a cytosolic lipid droplet. This budding process may be mediated by changes to the surface tension on the ER, changes to the phospholipid content of the ER, or by proteins that have yet to be identified (Ben M'barek et al., 2017)(Figure 1.4). Neutral lipids of cytoplasmic lipid droplets can be mobilized by lipolysis or lipophagy, and both processes have been implicated in intestinal fat absorption. Mice with intestinal deletion of the lipid droplet-associated proteins, ATGL, CIDEB, PLIN2 or ABHD5, show changes to fat absorption (Frank et al., 2015, Obrowsky et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2014, Xie et al., 2014). Intestine specific deletion of ATGL causes neutral lipid accumulation in enterocytes, suggesting that ATGL might play a role in liberating fatty acids from the cytosolic pool of enterocyte lipid droplets (Obrowsky et al., 2013). Interestingly, ATGL-deficient mice were also reported to have higher fecal fat content compared to control mice despite normal total fat absorption (Obrowsky et al., 2013). The reason for discrepancy in fat balance is not clear. Intestine-specific deletion of ABHD5 increases fecal fat content and reduces chylomicron secretion following an oral lipid bolus compared to control mice (Xie et al., 2014). Furthermore, deletion of CIDEB reduced the rate of intestinal TG secretion following an oral bolus of olive oil while overexpression of CIDEB in the

intestinal epithelial cell line Caco2 promoted TG secretion (Zhang et al., 2014). Both mice and humans deficient in lysosomal acid lipase (LAL) accumulate neutral lipids in enterocytes, implicating lipophagy in intestinal neutral lipid turnover (Du et al., 2001, Porto, 2014).

1.5.9 Nutritional and hormonal factors that influence chylomicron production

Dietary glucose and fructose intake promotes chylomicron secretion in humans (Xiao et al., 2013). Furthermore, high levels of free fatty acids in circulation promote chylomicron secretion (Duez et al., 2008). Chylomicron secretion is blunted by insulin in postprandial and hyperinsulinemic states (Pavlic et al., 2010). On the other hand, people with insulin resistance have enhanced intestinal TG and ApoB48 secretion relative to metabolically healthy individuals (Hogue et al., 2007, Duez et al., 2006, Shojaee-Moradie et al., 2013). Hyperglycemia induced by intravenous glucose infusions in healthy humans also stimulated chylomicron secretion, and so elevated circulating glucose concentrations in the setting of metabolic syndrome might contribute to hyperlipidemia (Xiao et al., 2016). GLP-1 receptor agonism (Xiao et al., 2012), and the DPP4 inhibitor sitagliptin (Xiao et al., 2014) reduce postprandial intestinal TG secretion in humans, which might be linked to delayed gastric emptying or enhanced postprandial insulin secretion.

1.5.10. Biliary secretions and lipid absorption

PC synthesized in the liver is secreted into bile by a PC-specific flippase, the multiple drugresistant protein-2 (MDR2), along with bile acids and cholesterol (Voshol et al., 2000). Biliary PC is hydrolyzed by phospholipase A2 to lyso-PC and fatty acids before being absorbed across the intestinal brush border membrane (Voshol et al., 2000). Mdr2^{-/-} mice, and rats with bile duct fistulas, have impaired intestinal TG secretion after a fat challenge, highlighting the importance of bile-derived PC for chylomicron secretion (Voshol et al., 2000, Morgan and Borgström, 1969). It has been proposed that biliary lyso-PC is involved in chylomicron formation at the ER of enterocytes by activating protein kinase Cz (Siddiqi and Mansbach, 2015). This kinase stimulates formation of pre-chylomicron transport vesicles that move from the ER to the Golgi prior to secretion of chylomicrons from the cell (Siddiqi and Mansbach, 2015). Therefore, liver-derived PC plays a role in intestinal fatty acid uptake and chylomicron secretion.

Primary bile acids are synthesized in the liver from cholesterol, stored in the gallbladder, and released into the intestinal lumen to solubilize lipids (Bloch et al., 1943, Kuipers et al., 2014). Primary bile acids are typically conjugated to glycine or taurine and can undergo modifications in the small intestine by microbes to become secondary bile acids (Huijghebaert and Hofmann, 1986). CCK-mediated gallbladder contraction in response to food intake releases millimolar concentrations of bile acids into the intestinal lumen where they help to form lipid micelles for the activation of intestinal lipases (Morgan and Borgström, 1969). In the absence of bile acids, fatty acid absorption is shifted from the proximal small intestine to the ileum (Morgan and Borgström, 1969). Bile acids are particularly important for cholesterol uptake, and patients with genetic defects that impair bile acid synthesis absorb only 20% of total cholesterol delivered to the intestine (Woollett et al., 2006). Conversely, delivery of cholic acid to the intestinal lumen enhances cholesterol uptake (Woollett et al., 2006, Woollett et al., 2004).

Bile acids in the distal intestine can interact with TGR5 on the apical surface of L cells to enhance the secretion of GLP-1 (Thomas et al., 2009). Bile acid uptake into enterocytes takes place in the ileum and is mediated by apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter (ASBT; *Slc10a2*)(Lazaridis et al., 1997). The intracellular movement of bile acids in enterocytes is mediated by fatty acid transport protein 6 (FABP6) (Nakahara et al., 2005). Bile acids can bind the nuclear receptor farnesoid X receptor (FXR) in enterocytes to promote secretion of the hormone fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19; termed Fgf15 in rodents) into portal circulation to mediate feedback inhibition of hepatic bile acid synthesis (Inagaki et al., 2005). FGF19 travels to the liver where it represses the rate limiting enzyme in the conversion of cholesterol to chenodeoxycholic acid and cholic acid, cholesterol 7- α -monooxygenase (CYP7A1), after interacting with the fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4) (Inagaki et al., 2005). In addition to FGF19, bile acids regulate feedback inhibition of bile acid synthesis via hepatic FXR (Makishima et al., 1999). When bile acids bind to FXR in the liver, the small heterodimer partner (SHP or NR0B2), a transcriptional repressor of CYP7A1, is induced (Holt et al., 2003). Some bile acids in portal circulation escape hepatic uptake, enter systemic circulation, and activate FXR or TGR5 signaling pathways (Watanabe et al., 2006).

1.6 The intestinal mucosal barrier in health and disease

Clearly, the intestine must balance the capacity to absorb nutrients with the ability to protect the intestinal epithelium from potentially harmful luminal contents. The intestinal epithelium consists of a layer of columnar epithelial cells which is covered by a viscous, lubricated mucus barrier that protects against microbes and debris present in the lumen [reviewed in (Johansson and Hansson, 2016)]. Most of the components of mucus are produced in goblet cells. Polymers of the heavily N-glycosylated mucin proteins (primarily MUC2 in the colon) form the basic mucus scaffold which also contains many antimicrobial molecules, trefoil factors and phospholipids which are derived from intestinal epithelial cells (Velcich et al., 2002, Mashimo et al., 1996, Braun et al., 2009). The mucus layer in the small intestine is a single, loosely adherent layer (making the small intestine more reliant on antimicrobial peptides than the large intestine) while the colonic mucus layer consists of an sterile inner layer with a loosely adherent outer layer (Johansson et al., 2008). Defects in mucosal barrier function (e.g. compromised mucus integrity

or impaired secretion of protective factors like Trefoil factor 3) are linked to the development of chronic intestinal inflammation (Mashimo et al., 1996, Van der Sluis et al., 2006).

Inflammatory bowel disease, comprising Chron's disease and ulcerative colitis (UC), are chronic inflammatory conditions of the gastrointestinal tract (Khor et al., 2011). UC is largely restricted to the colon and terminal ileum while Chron's disease can occur anywhere along the gastrointestinal tract (Khor et al., 2011). Furthermore, UC is characterized by apparent loss of goblet cell mucus granules upon histological assessment of the colonic epithelium, while this is not a feature of Chron's disease (McCormick et al., 1990, Pullan et al., 1994, Strugala et al., 2008). Environmental factors are thought to play a greater role in UC compared to Chron's disease, as monozygotic twins have a concordance rate of 10-15% for UC while concordance rates rise to 30-35% for Chron's disease (Spehlmann et al., 2008). Humans genetic studies have identified pathways involved in intestinal barrier function, microbial defense, innate immune response, epithelial restitution, autophagy, ER stress, and various metabolic pathways in the pathogenesis of IBD [reviewed in (Khor et al., 2011)].

The major mucus glycoprotein MUC2 is critical for intestinal barrier function (Van der Sluis et al., 2006, Velcich et al., 2002). Mice with a deletion of the gene that encodes MUC2 have impaired mucus integrity, increased microbial interaction with the intestinal epithelium, UC and colorectal tumors (Velcich et al., 2002, Van der Sluis et al., 2006). Folding of MUC2 at the ER of goblet cells is highly demanding and makes goblet cells more susceptible to protein misfolding-induced ER-stress than other intestinal epithelial cell types (Heazlewood et al., 2008). For example, missense mutations in the gene encoding MUC2 that increase protein misfolding have been shown to promote ER stress and colitis in mice and might also contribute to human UC (Heazlewood et al., 2008). Furthermore, loss of the ER proteins ER-to-nucleus signaling 2 (ERN2;

IRE1β) and anterior gradient protein 2 homologue (Agr2) result in impaired MUC2 secretion and increased susceptibility to colitis in mice (Park et al., 2009, Bertolotti et al., 2001). Additionally, impaired O-glycosylation of MUC2 cause spontaneous colitis in mice (An et al., 2007, Fu et al., 2011a). Patients with UC have a thinner mucus layer compared to controls without UC, and defective MUC2 O-glycosylation has been reported in some patients with UC (Fu et al., 2011a, Johansson et al., 2014).

1.6.1 Phospholipids and intestinal barrier function

PC is also present in the intestinal mucus layer, and patients with UC have lower levels of mucus PC relative to healthy controls (Ehehalt et al., 2004, Braun et al., 2009). Lower mucus layer hydrophobicity due to lower mucus PC content, and increased interaction of microbes with intestinal epithelial cells, might contribute to a chronically elevated inflammatory response in UC (Braun et al., 2009). Whether lower PC levels in the mucus layer of UC patients is the result of impaired PC synthesis and/or secretion, or increased catabolism of PC, has not yet been established. Nonetheless, providing UC patients with PC in a delayed-release capsule has shown clinical promise in alleviating the disease (Stremmel et al., 2005, Stremmel et al., 2007, Karner et al., 2014). A central aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of *de novo* PC in intestinal barrier function and immune homeostasis.

1.6.2 The Citrobacter rodentium model of colitis

Citrobacter rodentium is a murine attaching-effacing pathogen that is widely used to study how the mammalian immune system recognizes and eliminates pathogens from the colonic epithelium (Mundy et al., 2005, Brennan et al., 1965). Importantly, oral administration of *Citrobacter rodentium* to mice induces pathological features comparable to those seen in UC (Mundy et al., 2005, Wlodarska et al., 2011, Wiles et al., 2004). Therefore, the *Citrobacter rodentium* model has been used to uncover several mechanisms by which environmental factors (including antibiotics and diet) and genetic factors that susceptibility to colonic damage (Wlodarska et al., 2011, Lebeis et al., 2007, Metidji et al., 2018). Interestingly, interaction of *Citrobacter rodentium* with intestinal epithelial cells activates SREBP-2 and cholesterol synthesis, demonstrating that bacterial interaction with the intestinal epithelium can alter intestinal lipid homeostasis (Berger et al., 2017). A key aim of this thesis was to investigate how dietary choline availability influences murine susceptibility to *Citrobacter rodentium*-induced colitis.

1.7 References

- Ables, G. P., Yang, K. J., Vogel, S., Hernandez-Ono, A., Yu, S., Yuen, J. J., Birtles, S., Buckett, L. K., Turnbull, A. V., Goldberg, I. J., Blaner, W. S., Huang, L. S. & Ginsberg, H. N. 2012. Intestinal Dgat1 Deficiency Reduces Postprandial Triglyceride And Retinyl Ester Excursions By Inhibiting Chylomicron Secretion And Delaying Gastric Emptying. J Lipid Res, 53, 2364-79.
- Abumrad, N. A. & Davidson, N. O. 2012. Role Of The Gut In Lipid Homeostasis. *Physiol Rev*, 92, 1061-85.
- Adrian, T. E., Ferri, G. L., Bacarese-Hamilton, A. J., Fuessl, H. S., Polak, J. M. & Bloom, S. R. 1985. Human Distribution And Release Of A Putative New Gut Hormone, Peptide Yy. *Gastroenterology*, 89, 1070-7.
- Agren, J. J., Kurvinen, J. P. & Kuksis, A. 2005. Isolation Of Very Low Density Lipoprotein Phospholipids Enriched In Ethanolamine Phospholipids From Rats Injected With Triton Wr 1339. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1734, 34-43.
- Aitchison, A. J., Arsenault, D. J. & Ridgway, N. D. 2015. Nuclear-Localized Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase A Regulates Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Required For Lipid Droplet Biogenesis. *Mol Biol Cell*, 26, 2927-38.
- Alexander, C. A., Hamilton, R. L. & Havel, R. J. 1976. Subcellular Localization Of B Apoprotein Of Plasma Lipoproteins In Rat Liver. *The Journal Of Cell Biology*, 69, 241-263.
- Altmann, S. W., Davis, H. R., Zhu, L. J., Yao, X., Hoos, L. M., Tetzloff, G., Iyer, S. P., Maguire, M., Golovko, A., Zeng, M., Wang, L., Murgolo, N. & Graziano, M. P. 2004. Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 Protein Is Critical For Intestinal Cholesterol Absorption. *Science*, 303, 1201-4.
- An, G., Wei, B., Xia, B., Mcdaniel, J. M., Ju, T., Cummings, R. D., Braun, J. & Xia, L. 2007. Increased Susceptibility To Colitis And Colorectal Tumors In Mice Lacking Core 3-Derived O-Glycans. J Exp Med, 204, 1417-29.
- Aoyama, C., Liao, H. & Ishidate, K. 2004. Structure And Function Of Choline Kinase Isoforms In Mammalian Cells. *Prog Lipid Res*, 43, 266-81.

- Ayabe, T., Satchell, D. P., Wilson, C. L., Parks, W. C., Selsted, M. E. & Ouellette, A. J. 2000. Secretion Of Microbicidal Alpha-Defensins By Intestinal Paneth Cells In Response To Bacteria. *Nat Immunol*, 1, 113-8.
- Baggio, L. L. & Drucker, D. J. 2007. Biology Of Incretins: Glp-1 And Gip. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 2131-57.
- Baker, C. D., Basu Ball, W., Pryce, E. N. & Gohil, V. M. 2016. Specific Requirements Of Nonbilayer Phospholipids In Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain Function And Formation. *Mol Biol Cell*, 27, 2161-71.
- Barker, N., Van Es, J. H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., Van Den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., Haegebarth, A., Korving, J., Begthel, H., Peters, P. J. & Clevers, H. 2007. Identification Of Stem Cells In Small Intestine And Colon By Marker Gene Lgr5. *Nature*, 449, 1003-7.
- Batterham, R. L., Cohen, M. A., Ellis, S. M., Le Roux, C. W., Withers, D. J., Frost, G. S., Ghatei, M. A. & Bloom, S. R. 2003. Inhibition Of Food Intake In Obese Subjects By Peptide Yy3-36. N Engl J Med, 349, 941-8.
- Batterham, R. L., Cowley, M. A., Small, C. J., Herzog, H., Cohen, M. A., Dakin, C. L., Wren, A. M., Brynes, A. E., Low, M. J., Ghatei, M. A., Cone, R. D. & Bloom, S. R. 2002. Gut Hormone Pyy(3-36) Physiologically Inhibits Food Intake. *Nature*, 418, 650-4.
- Baysal, B. E., Ferrell, R. E., Willett-Brozick, J. E., Lawrence, E. C., Myssiorek, D., Bosch, A., Van Der Mey, A., Taschner, P. E., Rubinstein, W. S., Myers, E. N., Richard, C. W., 3rd, Cornelisse, C. J., Devilee, P. & Devlin, B. 2000. Mutations In Sdhd, A Mitochondrial Complex Ii Gene, In Hereditary Paraganglioma. *Science*, 287, 848-51.
- Ben M'barek, K., Ajjaji, D., Chorlay, A., Vanni, S., Forêt, L. & Thiam, A. R. 2017. Er Membrane Phospholipids And Surface Tension Control Cellular Lipid Droplet Formation. *Dev Cell*, 41, 591-604.E7.
- Benoist, F. & Grand-Perret, T. 1997. Co-Translational Degradation Of Apolipoprotein B100 By The Proteasome Is Prevented By Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein: Synchronized Translation Studies On Hepg2 Cells Treated With An Inhibitor Of Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 20435-20442.
- Berger, C. N., Crepin, V. F., Roumeliotis, T. I., Wright, J. C., Carson, D., Pevsner-Fischer, M., Furniss, R. C. D., Dougan, G., Dori-Bachash, M., Yu, L., Clements, A., Collins, J. W., Elinav, E., Larrouy-Maumus, G. J., Choudhary, J. S. & Frankel, G. 2017. Citrobacter Rodentium Subverts Atp Flux And Cholesterol Homeostasis In Intestinal Epithelial Cells In Vivo. *Cell Metab*, 26, 738-752.E6.
- Bernier-Latmani, J., Cisarovsky, C., Demir, C. S., Bruand, M., Jaquet, M., Davanture, S.,
 Ragusa, S., Siegert, S., Dormond, O., Benedito, R., Radtke, F., Luther, S. A. & Petrova,
 T. V. 2015. Dll4 Promotes Continuous Adult Intestinal Lacteal Regeneration And Dietary
 Fat Transport. J Clin Invest, 125, 4572-86.
- Bertolotti, A., Wang, X., Novoa, I., Jungreis, R., Schlessinger, K., Cho, J. H., West, A. B. & Ron, D. 2001. Increased Sensitivity To Dextran Sodium Sulfate Colitis In Ire1beta-Deficient Mice. *J Clin Invest*, 107, 585-93.
- Best, C. H., Hershey, J. M. & Huntsman, M. E. 1932. The Effect Of Lecithine On Fat Deposition In The Liver Of The Normal Rat. *J Physiol*, 75, 56-66.
- Best, C. H. & Huntsman, M. E. 1932. The Effects Of The Components Of Lecithine Upon Deposition Of Fat In The Liver. *Journal Of Physiology-London*, 75, 405-412.

- Bevins, C. L. & Salzman, N. H. 2011. Paneth Cells, Antimicrobial Peptides And Maintenance Of Intestinal Homeostasis. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 9, 356-68.
- Birner, R., Burgermeister, M., Schneiter, R. & Daum, G. 2001. Roles Of Phosphatidylethanolamine And Of Its Several Biosynthetic Pathways In Saccharomyces Cerevisiae. *Mol Biol Cell*, 12, 997-1007.
- Bjerve, K. S. 1984. Phospholipid Substrate-Specificity Of The L-Serine Base-Exchange Enzyme In Rat Liver Microsomal Fraction. *Biochem J*, 219, 781-4.
- Blackfan, K. D. & Wolbach, S. B. 1933. Vitamin A Deficiency In Infants. *The Journal Of Pediatrics*, 3, 679-706.
- Bloch, K., Berg, B. N. & Rittenberg, D. 1943. The Biological Conversion Of Cholesterol To Cholic Acid. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 149, 511-517.
- Borén, J., Rustaeus, S. & Olofsson, S. O. 1994. Studies On The Assembly Of Apolipoprotein B-100- And B-48-Containing Very Low Density Lipoproteins In Mca-Rh7777 Cells. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 25879-88.
- Borgstrom, B. & Erlanson, C. 1971. Pancreatic Juice Co-Lipase: Physiological Importance. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 242, 509-13.
- Braun, A., Treede, I., Gotthardt, D., Tietje, A., Zahn, A., Ruhwald, R., Schoenfeld, U., Welsch, T., Kienle, P., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Fuellekrug, J., Stremmel, W. & Ehehalt, R. 2009. Alterations Of Phospholipid Concentration And Species Composition Of The Intestinal Mucus Barrier In Ulcerative Colitis: A Clue To Pathogenesis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 15, 1705-20.
- Bremer, J., Figard, P. H. & Greenberg, D. M. 1960. The Biosynthesis Of Choline And Its Relation To Phospholipid Metabolism. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 43, 477-488.
- Bremer, J. & Greenberg, D. M. 1959. Mono- And Dimethylethanolamine Isolated From Rat-Liver Phospholipids. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 35, 287-8.
- Bremer, J. & Greenberg, D. M. 1961. Methyl Transfering Enzyme System Of Microsomes In The Biosynthesis Of Lecithin (Phosphatidylcholine). *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 46, 205-216.
- Brennan, P. C., Fritz, T. E., Flynn, R. J. & Poole, C. M. 1965. Citrobacter Freundii Associated With Diarrhea In A Laboratory Mice. *Lab Anim Care*, 15, 266-75.
- Bridges, J. P., Ikegami, M., Brilli, L. L., Chen, X., Mason, R. J. & Shannon, J. M. 2010. Lpcat1 Regulates Surfactant Phospholipid Synthesis And Is Required For Transitioning To Air Breathing In Mice. J Clin Invest, 120, 1736-48.
- Briggs, M. R., Yokoyama, C., Wang, X., Brown, M. S. & Goldstein, J. L. 1993. Nuclear Protein That Binds Sterol Regulatory Element Of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Promoter. I. Identification Of The Protein And Delineation Of Its Target Nucleotide Sequence. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 268, 14490-14496.
- Brown, J. C., Dryburgh, J. R., Ross, S. A. & Dupré, J. 1975. Identification And Actions Of Gastric Inhibitory Polypeptide. *Recent Prog Horm Res*, 31, 487-532.
- Brown, M. S. & Goldstein, J. L. 1997. The Srebp Pathway: Regulation Of Cholesterol Metabolism By Proteolysis Of A Membrane-Bound Transcription Factor. *Cell*, 89, 331-40.
- Browning, J. D. & Horton, J. D. 2004. Molecular Mediators Of Hepatic Steatosis And Liver Injury. *J Clin Invest*, 114, 147-52.
- Buchman, A. L., Dubin, M. D., Moukarzel, A. A., Jenden, D. J., Roch, M., Rice, K. M., Gornbein, J. & Ament, M. E. 1995. Choline Deficiency: A Cause Of Hepatic Steatosis

During Parenteral Nutrition That Can Be Reversed With Intravenous Choline Supplementation. *Hepatology*, 22, 1399-403.

- Buhman, K. K., Smith, S. J., Stone, S. J., Repa, J. J., Wong, J. S., Knapp, F. F., Burri, B. J., Hamilton, R. L., Abumrad, N. A. & Farese, R. V. 2002. Dgat1 Is Not Essential For Intestinal Triacylglycerol Absorption Or Chylomicron Synthesis. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 25474-9.
- Bulbring, E. & Crema, A. 1959. The Action Of 5-Hydroxytryptamine, 5-Hydroxytryptophan And Reserpine On Intestinal Peristalsis In Anaesthetized Guinea-Pigs. J Physiol, 146, 29-53.
- Calzada, E., Onguka, O. & Claypool, S. M. 2016. Phosphatidylethanolamine Metabolism In Health And Disease. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol*, 321, 29-88.
- Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Peng, H., Huang, X., Stahler, S., Suri, V., Qadri, A., Gareski, T., Jones, J., Hahm, S., Perreault, M., Mckew, J., Shi, M., Xu, X., Tobin, J. F. & Gimeno, R. E. 2011. Targeting Acyl-Coa:Diacylglycerol Acyltransferase 1 (Dgat1) With Small Molecule Inhibitors For The Treatment Of Metabolic Diseases. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 41838-51.
- Cartwright, I. J. & Higgins, J. A. 2001. Direct Evidence For A Two-Step Assembly Of Apob48-Containing Lipoproteins In The Lumen Of The Smooth Endoplasmic Reticulum Of Rabbit Enterocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 48048-57.
- Cash, H. L., Whitham, C. V., Behrendt, C. L. & Hooper, L. V. 2006. Symbiotic Bacteria Direct Expression Of An Intestinal Bactericidal Lectin. *Science*, 313, 1126-30.
- Chang, W. W. & Leblond, C. P. 1971. Renewal Of The Epithelium In The Descending Colon Of The Mouse. I. Presence Of Three Cell Populations: Vacuolated-Columnar, Mucous And Argentaffin. Am J Anat, 131, 73-99.
- Cheng, H. & Leblond, C. P. 1974. Origin, Differentiation And Renewal Of The Four Main Epithelial Cell Types In The Mouse Small Intestine V. Unitarian Theory Of The Origin Of The Four Epithelial Cell Types. *American Journal Of Anatomy*, 141, 537-561.
- Choi, S. Y., Gonzalvez, F., Jenkins, G. M., Slomianny, C., Chretien, D., Arnoult, D., Petit, P. X.
 & Frohman, M. A. 2007. Cardiolipin Deficiency Releases Cytochrome C From The Inner Mitochondrial Membrane And Accelerates Stimuli-Elicited Apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*, 14, 597-606.
- Chong, S. S., Taneva, S. G., Lee, J. M. & Cornell, R. B. 2014. The Curvature Sensitivity Of A Membrane-Binding Amphipathic Helix Can Be Modulated By The Charge On A Flanking Region. *Biochemistry*, 53, 450-61.
- Chow, S. L. & Hollander, D. 1979. Linoleic Acid Absorption In The Unanesthetized Rat: Mechanism Of Transport And Influence Of Luminal Factors On Absorption. *Lipids*, 14, 378-85.
- Choy, P. C., Farren, S. B. & Vance, D. E. 1979. Lipid Requirements For The Aggregation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase In Rat Liver Cytosol. Can J Biochem, 57, 605-12.
- Clark, B. & Hubscher, G. 1961. Biosynthesis Of Glycerides In Subcellular Fractions Of Intestinal Mucosa. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 46, 479-94.
- Clark, B. & Huebscher, G. 1960. Biosynthesis Of Glycerides In The Mucosa Of The Small Intestine. *Nature*, 185, 35-7.
- Cole, L. K. & Vance, D. E. 2010. A Role For Sp1 In Transcriptional Regulation Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase In Liver And 3t3-L1 Adipocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 285, 11880-91.

- Cordain, L., Eaton, S. B., Sebastian, A., Mann, N., Lindeberg, S., Watkins, B. A., O'keefe, J. H.
 & Brand-Miller, J. 2005. Origins And Evolution Of The Western Diet: Health Implications For The 21st Century. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 81, 341-54.
- Cornell, R. & Vance, D. E. 1987. Translocation Of Ctp: Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase From Cytosol To Membranes In Hela Cells: Stimulation By Fatty Acid, Fatty Alcohol, Mono- And Diacylglycerol. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 919, 26-36.
- Cornell, R. B. & Northwood, I. C. 2000. Regulation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase By Amphitropism And Relocalization. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 25, 441-7.
- Cornell, R. B. & Ridgway, N. D. 2015. Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase: Function, Regulation, And Structure Of An Amphitropic Enzyme Required For Membrane Biogenesis. *Prog Lipid Res*, 59, 147-71.
- Cui, Z., Vance, J. E., Chen, M. H., Voelker, D. R. & Vance, D. E. 1993. Cloning And Expression Of A Novel Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. A Specific Biochemical And Cytological Marker For A Unique Membrane Fraction In Rat Liver. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 16655-63.
- Cummings, D. E. & Overduin, J. 2007. Gastrointestinal Regulation Of Food Intake. *J Clin Invest*, 117, 13-23.
- Da Silva, R. P., Kelly, K. B., Lewis, E. D., Leonard, K. A., Goruk, S., Curtis, J. M., Vine, D. F., Proctor, S. D., Field, C. J. & Jacobs, R. L. 2015. Choline Deficiency Impairs Intestinal Lipid Metabolism In The Lactating Rat. *J Nutr Biochem*, 26, 1077-83.
- Damci, T., Yalin, S., Balci, H., Osar, Z., Korugan, U., Ozyazar, M. & Ilkova, H. 2004. Orlistat Augments Postprandial Increases In Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 In Obese Type 2 Diabetic Patients. *Diabetes Care*, 27, 1077-80.
- Delong, C. J., Shen, Y. J., Thomas, M. J. & Cui, Z. 1999. Molecular Distinction Of Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Between The Cdp-Choline Pathway And Phosphatidylethanolamine Methylation Pathway. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 29683-8.
- Denison, H., Nilsson, C., Löfgren, L., Himmelmann, A., Mårtensson, G., Knutsson, M., Al-Shurbaji, A., Tornqvist, H. & Eriksson, J. W. 2014. Diacylglycerol Acyltransferase 1 Inhibition With Azd7687 Alters Lipid Handling And Hormone Secretion In The Gut With Intolerable Side Effects: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 16, 334-43.
- Diagne, A., Fauvel, J., Record, M., Chap, H. & Douste-Blazy, L. 1984. Studies On Ether Phospholipids. Ii. Comparative Composition Of Various Tissues From Human, Rat And Guinea Pig. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 793, 221-31.
- Dixon, J. L., Furukawa, S. & Ginsberg, H. N. 1991. Oleate Stimulates Secretion Of Apolipoprotein B-Containing Lipoproteins From Hep G2 Cells By Inhibiting Early Intracellular Degradation Of Apolipoprotein B. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 266, 5080-5086.
- Dobrosotskaya, I. Y., Seegmiller, A. C., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L. & Rawson, R. B. 2002. Regulation Of Srebp Processing And Membrane Lipid Production By Phospholipids In Drosophila. *Science*, 296, 879-83.
- Drover, V. A., Ajmal, M., Nassir, F., Davidson, N. O., Nauli, A. M., Sahoo, D., Tso, P. & Abumrad, N. A. 2005. Cd36 Deficiency Impairs Intestinal Lipid Secretion And Clearance Of Chylomicrons From The Blood. J Clin Invest, 115, 1290-7.

- Du, H., Heur, M., Duanmu, M., Grabowski, G. A., Hui, D. Y., Witte, D. P. & Mishra, J. 2001. Lysosomal Acid Lipase-Deficient Mice: Depletion Of White And Brown Fat, Severe Hepatosplenomegaly, And Shortened Life Span. J Lipid Res, 42, 489-500.
- Dudkina, N. V., Kudryashev, M., Stahlberg, H. & Boekema, E. J. 2011. Interaction Of Complexes I, Iii, And Iv Within The Bovine Respirasome By Single Particle Cryoelectron Tomography. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 15196-200.
- Duez, H., Lamarche, B., Uffelman, K. D., Valero, R., Cohn, J. S. & Lewis, G. F. 2006. Hyperinsulinemia Is Associated With Increased Production Rate Of Intestinal Apolipoprotein B-48-Containing Lipoproteins In Humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 26, 1357-63.
- Duez, H., Lamarche, B., Valéro, R., Pavlic, M., Proctor, S., Xiao, C., Szeto, L., Patterson, B. W. & Lewis, G. F. 2008. Both Intestinal And Hepatic Lipoprotein Production Are Stimulated By An Acute Elevation Of Plasma Free Fatty Acids In Humans. *Circulation*, 117, 2369-76.
- Ehehalt, R., Wagenblast, J., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Hinz, U., Merle, U. & Stremmel, W.
 2004. Phosphatidylcholine And Lysophosphatidylcholine In Intestinal Mucus Of
 Ulcerative Colitis Patients. A Quantitative Approach By Nanoelectrospray-Tandem Mass
 Spectrometry. Scand J Gastroenterol, 39, 737-42.
- Epstein, B. & Shapiro, B. 1959. Lecithinase And Lysolecithinase Of Intestinal Mucosa. *The Biochemical Journal*, 71, 615-619.
- Fadok, V. A., De Cathelineau, A., Daleke, D. L., Henson, P. M. & Bratton, D. L. 2001. Loss Of Phospholipid Asymmetry And Surface Exposure Of Phosphatidylserine Is Required For Phagocytosis Of Apoptotic Cells By Macrophages And Fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 1071-7.
- Fast, D. G. & Vance, D. E. 1995. Nascent Vldl Phospholipid Composition Is Altered When Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis Is Inhibited: Evidence For A Novel Mechanism That Regulates Vldl Secretion. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1258, 158-168.
- Figarella, C., Caro, A. D., Leupold, D. & Poley, J. R. 1980. Congenital Pancreatic Lipase Deficiency. *The Journal Of Pediatrics*, 96, 412-416.
- Fisher, E. A., Zhou, M., Mitchell, D. M., Wu, X., Omura, S., Wang, H., Goldberg, A. L. & Ginsberg, H. N. 1997. The Degradation Of Apolipoprotein B100 Is Mediated By The Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway And Involves Heat Shock Protein 70. J. Biol. Chem., 272, 20427-20434.
- Frank, D. N., Bales, E. S., Monks, J., Jackman, M. J., Maclean, P. S., Ir, D., Robertson, C. E., Orlicky, D. J. & Mcmanaman, J. L. 2015. Perilipin-2 Modulates Lipid Absorption And Microbiome Responses In The Mouse Intestine. *Plos One*, 10, E0131944.
- Fre, S., Huyghe, M., Mourikis, P., Robine, S., Louvard, D. & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. 2005. Notch Signals Control The Fate Of Immature Progenitor Cells In The Intestine. *Nature*, 435, 964-8.
- Fu, J., Wei, B., Wen, T., Johansson, M. E., Liu, X., Bradford, E., Thomsson, K. A., Mcgee, S., Mansour, L., Tong, M., Mcdaniel, J. M., Sferra, T. J., Turner, J. R., Chen, H., Hansson, G. C., Braun, J. & Xia, L. 2011. Loss Of Intestinal Core 1-Derived O-Glycans Causes Spontaneous Colitis In Mice. J Clin Invest, 121, 1657-66.
- Fullerton, M. D., Hakimuddin, F. & Bakovic, M. 2007. Developmental And Metabolic Effects Of Disruption Of The Mouse Ctp:Phosphoethanolamine Cytidylyltransferase Gene (Pcyt2). *Mol Cell Biol*, 27, 3327-36.

- Funai, K., Lodhi, I. J., Spears, L. D., Yin, L., Song, H., Klein, S. & Semenkovich, C. F. 2016. Skeletal Muscle Phospholipid Metabolism Regulates Insulin Sensitivity And Contractile Function. *Diabetes*, 65, 358-70.
- Funai, K., Song, H., Yin, L., Lodhi, I. J., Wei, X., Yoshino, J., Coleman, T. & Semenkovich, C. F. 2013. Muscle Lipogenesis Balances Insulin Sensitivity And Strength Through Calcium Signaling. J Clin Invest, 123, 1229-40.
- Gao, N., White, P. & Kaestner, K. H. 2009. Establishment Of Intestinal Identity And Epithelial-Mesenchymal Signaling By Cdx2. *Dev Cell*, 16, 588-99.
- Gao, X., Van Der Veen, J. N., Hermansson, M., Ordonez, M., Gomez-Munoz, A., Vance, D. E. & Jacobs, R. L. 2015. Decreased Lipogenesis In White Adipose Tissue Contributes To The Resistance To High Fat Diet-Induced Obesity In Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-Deficient Mice. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1851, 152-62.
- Gehrig, K. & Ridgway, N. D. 2011. Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase A (Cctα) And Lamins Alter Nuclear Membrane Structure Without Affecting Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1811, 377-85.
- Gilham, D., Labonté, E. D., Rojas, J. C., Jandacek, R. J., Howles, P. N. & Hui, D. Y. 2007. Carboxyl Ester Lipase Deficiency Exacerbates Dietary Lipid Absorption Abnormalities And Resistance To Diet-Induced Obesity In Pancreatic Triglyceride Lipase Knockout Mice. J Biol Chem, 282, 24642-9.
- Giller, T., Buchwald, P., Blum-Kaelin, D. & Hunziker, W. 1992. Two Novel Human Pancreatic Lipase Related Proteins, Hplrp1 And Hplrp2. Differences In Colipase Dependence And In Lipase Activity. *J Biol Chem*, 267, 16509-16.
- Gordon, D. A., Jamil, H., Gregg, R. E., Olofsson, S. O. & Boren, J. 1996. Inhibition Of The Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein Blocks The First Step Of Apolipoprotein B Lipoprotein Assembly But Not The Addition Of Bulk Core Lipids In The Second Step. J Biol Chem, 271, 33047-53.
- Goudriaan, J. R., Dahlmans, V. E. H., Febbraio, M., Teusink, B., Romijn, J. A., Havekes, L. M.
 & Voshol, P. J. 2002. Intestinal Lipid Absorption Is Not Affected In Cd36 Deficient Mice. *Molecular And Cellular Biochemistry*, 239, 199-202.
- Gregorieff, A., Stange, D. E., Kujala, P., Begthel, H., Van Den Born, M., Korving, J., Peters, P. J. & Clevers, H. 2009. The Ets-Domain Transcription Factor Spdef Promotes Maturation Of Goblet And Paneth Cells In The Intestinal Epithelium. *Gastroenterology*, 137, 1333-45.E1-3.
- Guo, Q., Avramoglu, R. K. & Adeli, K. 2005. Intestinal Assembly And Secretion Of Highly Dense/Lipid-Poor Apolipoprotein B48-Containing Lipoprotein Particles In The Fasting State: Evidence For Induction By Insulin Resistance And Exogenous Fatty Acids. *Metabolism*, 54, 689-97.
- Guo, Y., Walther, T. C., Rao, M., Stuurman, N., Goshima, G., Terayama, K., Wong, J. S., Vale, R. D., Walter, P. & Farese, R. V. 2008. Functional Genomic Screen Reveals Genes Involved In Lipid-Droplet Formation And Utilization. *Nature*, 453, 657-61.
- Gustavsson, M., Traaseth, N. J. & Veglia, G. 2011. Activating And Deactivating Roles Of Lipid Bilayers On The Ca(2+)-Atpase/Phospholamban Complex. *Biochemistry*, 50, 10367-74.
- Gustin, S. E., Western, P. S., Mcclive, P. J., Harley, V. R., Koopman, P. A. & Sinclair, A. H. 2008. Testis Development, Fertility, And Survival In Ethanolamine Kinase 2-Deficient Mice. *Endocrinology*, 149, 6176-86.

- Haas, J. T., Winter, H. S., Lim, E., Kirby, A., Blumenstiel, B., Defelice, M., Gabriel, S., Jalas, C., Branski, D., Grueter, C. A., Toporovski, M. S., Walther, T. C., Daly, M. J. & Farese, R. V. 2012. Dgat1 Mutation Is Linked To A Congenital Diarrheal Disorder. *J Clin Invest*, 122, 4680-4.
- Hailey, D. W., Rambold, A. S., Satpute-Krishnan, P., Mitra, K., Sougrat, R., Kim, P. K. & Lippincott-Schwartz, J. 2010. Mitochondria Supply Membranes For Autophagosome Biogenesis During Starvation. *Cell*, 141, 656-67.
- Hanahan, D. J., Watts, R. M. & Pappajohn, D. 1960. Some Chemical Characteristics Of The Lipids Of Human And Bovine Erythrocytes And Plasma. *Journal Of Lipid Research*, 1, 421-432.
- Harayama, T., Eto, M., Shindou, H., Kita, Y., Otsubo, E., Hishikawa, D., Ishii, S., Sakimura, K., Mishina, M. & Shimizu, T. 2014. Lysophospholipid Acyltransferases Mediate Phosphatidylcholine Diversification To Achieve The Physical Properties Required In Vivo. *Cell Metab*, 20, 295-305.
- Hashidate-Yoshida, T., Harayama, T., Hishikawa, D., Morimoto, R., Hamano, F., Tokuoka, S.
 M., Eto, M., Tamura-Nakano, M., Yanobu-Takanashi, R., Mukumoto, Y., Kiyonari, H., Okamura, T., Kita, Y., Shindou, H. & Shimizu, T. 2015. Fatty Acid Remodeling By Lpcat3 Enriches Arachidonate In Phospholipid Membranes And Regulates Triglyceride Transport. *Elife*, 4.
- Hauff, K. D. & Hatch, G. M. 2006. Cardiolipin Metabolism And Barth Syndrome. *Prog Lipid Res*, 45, 91-101.
- Heazlewood, C. K., Cook, M. C., Eri, R., Price, G. R., Tauro, S. B., Taupin, D., Thornton, D. J., Png, C. W., Crockford, T. L., Cornall, R. J., Adams, R., Kato, M., Nelms, K. A., Hong, N. A., Florin, T. H., Goodnow, C. C. & Mcguckin, M. A. 2008. Aberrant Mucin Assembly In Mice Causes Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress And Spontaneous Inflammation Resembling Ulcerative Colitis. *Plos Med*, 5, E54.
- Hegazy, E. & Schwenk, M. 1984. Choline Uptake By Isolated Enterocytes Of Guinea Pig. *The Journal Of Nutrition*, 114, 2217-2220.
- Henneberry, A. L. & Mcmaster, C. R. 1999. Cloning And Expression Of A Human Choline/Ethanolaminephosphotransferase: Synthesis Of Phosphatidylcholine And Phosphatidylethanolamine. *Biochem J*, 339 (Pt 2), 291-8.
- Henneberry, A. L., Wistow, G. & Mcmaster, C. R. 2000. Cloning, Genomic Organization, And Characterization Of A Human Cholinephosphotransferase. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 29808-15.
- Henneberry, A. L., Wright, M. M. & Mcmaster, C. R. 2002. The Major Sites Of Cellular Phospholipid Synthesis And Molecular Determinants Of Fatty Acid And Lipid Head Group Specificity. *Mol Biol Cell*, 13, 3148-61.
- Hirasawa, A., Tsumaya, K., Awaji, T., Katsuma, S., Adachi, T., Yamada, M., Sugimoto, Y., Miyazaki, S. & Tsujimoto, G. 2005. Free Fatty Acids Regulate Gut Incretin Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Secretion Through Gpr120. *Nat Med*, 11, 90-4.
- Hishikawa, D., Hashidate, T., Shimizu, T. & Shindou, H. 2014. Diversity And Function Of Membrane Glycerophospholipids Generated By The Remodeling Pathway In Mammalian Cells. *J Lipid Res*, 55, 799-807.
- Hishikawa, D., Shindou, H., Kobayashi, S., Nakanishi, H., Taguchi, R. & Shimizu, T. 2008. Discovery Of A Lysophospholipid Acyltransferase Family Essential For Membrane Asymmetry And Diversity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 2830-5.

- Ho, S. Y. & Storch, J. 2001. Common Mechanisms Of Monoacylglycerol And Fatty Acid Uptake By Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 281, C1106-17.
- Hogue, J. C., Lamarche, B., Tremblay, A. J., Bergeron, J., Gagné, C. & Couture, P. 2007. Evidence Of Increased Secretion Of Apolipoprotein B-48-Containing Lipoproteins In Subjects With Type 2 Diabetes. *J Lipid Res*, 48, 1336-42.
- Hökfelt, T., Elde, R., Johansson, O., Luft, R., Nilsson, G. & Arimura, A. 1976.
 Immunohistochemical Evidence For Separate Populations Of Somatostatin-Containing And Substance P-Containing Primary Afferent Neurons In The Rat. *Neuroscience*, 1, 131-6.
- Holt, J. A., Luo, G., Billin, A. N., Bisi, J., Mcneill, Y. Y., Kozarsky, K. F., Donahee, M., Wang, D. Y., Mansfield, T. A., Kliewer, S. A., Goodwin, B. & Jones, S. A. 2003. Definition Of A Novel Growth Factor-Dependent Signal Cascade For The Suppression Of Bile Acid Biosynthesis. *Genes Dev*, 17, 1581-91.
- Hooper, L. V., Stappenbeck, T. S., Hong, C. V. & Gordon, J. I. 2003. Angiogenins: A New Class Of Microbicidal Proteins Involved In Innate Immunity. *Nat Immunol*, 4, 269-73.
- Horibata, Y. & Hirabayashi, Y. 2007. Identification And Characterization Of Human Ethanolaminephosphotransferase1. *J Lipid Res*, 48, 503-8.
- Hörl, G., Wagner, A., Cole, L. K., Malli, R., Reicher, H., Kotzbeck, P., Köfeler, H., Höfler, G., Frank, S., Bogner-Strauss, J. G., Sattler, W., Vance, D. E. & Steyrer, E. 2011. Sequential Synthesis And Methylation Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Promote Lipid Droplet Biosynthesis And Stability In Tissue Culture And In Vivo. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 17338-50.
- Horton, J. D., Goldstein, J. L. & Brown, M. S. 2002. Srebps: Activators Of The Complete Program Of Cholesterol And Fatty Acid Synthesis In The Liver. J Clin Invest, 109, 1125-31.
- Houweling, M., Jamil, H., Hatch, G. M. & Vance, D. E. 1994. Dephosphorylation Of Ctp-Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Is Not Required For Binding To Membranes. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 7544-51.
- Hsieh, J., Longuet, C., Maida, A., Bahrami, J., Xu, E., Baker, C. L., Brubaker, P. L., Drucker, D. J. & Adeli, K. 2009. Glucagon-Like Peptide-2 Increases Intestinal Lipid Absorption And Chylomicron Production Via Cd36. *Gastroenterology*, 137, 997-1005, 1005.E1-4.
- Huang, C.-H. 2001. Mixed-Chain Phospholipids: Structures And Chain-Melting Behavior. *Lipids*, 36, 1077-1097.
- Hubscher, G., Dils, R. R. & Pover, W. F. 1959. Studies On The Biosynthesis Of Phosphatidyl Serine. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 36, 518-28.
- Huijghebaert, S. M. & Hofmann, A. F. 1986. Influence Of The Amino Acid Moiety On Deconjugation Of Bile Acid Amidates By Cholylglycine Hydrolase Or Human Fecal Cultures. *Journal Of Lipid Research*, 27, 742-52.
- Inagaki, T., Choi, M., Moschetta, A., Peng, L., Cummins, C. L., Mcdonald, J. G., Luo, G., Jones, S. A., Goodwin, B., Richardson, J. A., Gerard, R. D., Repa, J. J., Mangelsdorf, D. J. & Kliewer, S. A. 2005. Fibroblast Growth Factor 15 Functions As An Enterohepatic Signal To Regulate Bile Acid Homeostasis. *Cell Metab*, 2, 217-25.
- Jackowski, S., Rehg, J. E., Zhang, Y. M., Wang, J., Miller, K., Jackson, P. & Karim, M. A. 2004. Disruption Of Cetbeta2 Expression Leads To Gonadal Dysfunction. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 4720-33.

- Jacobs, R. L., Devlin, C., Tabas, I. & Vance, D. E. 2004. Targeted Deletion Of Hepatic Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha In Mice Decreases Plasma High Density And Very Low Density Lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 47402-10.
- Jacobs, R. L., Zhao, Y., Koonen, D. P., Sletten, T., Su, B., Lingrell, S., Cao, G., Peake, D. A., Kuo, M. S., Proctor, S. D., Kennedy, B. P., Dyck, J. R. & Vance, D. E. 2010. Impaired De Novo Choline Synthesis Explains Why Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-Deficient Mice Are Protected From Diet-Induced Obesity. *J Biol Chem*, 285, 22403-13.
- Jakulj, L., Van Dijk, T. H., De Boer, J. F., Kootte, R. S., Schonewille, M., Paalvast, Y., Boer, T., Bloks, V. W., Boverhof, R., Nieuwdorp, M., Beuers, U. H., Stroes, E. S. & Groen, A. K. 2016. Transintestinal Cholesterol Transport Is Active In Mice And Humans And Controls Ezetimibe-Induced Fecal Neutral Sterol Excretion. *Cell Metab*, 24, 783-794.
- Jamil, H., Dickson, J. K., Chu, C.-H., Lago, M. W., Rinehart, J. K., Biller, S. A., Gregg, R. E. & Wetterau, J. R. 1995. Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein: Specificity Of Lipid Binding And Transport. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 270, 6549-6554.
- Jensen, J., Pedersen, E. E., Galante, P., Hald, J., Heller, R. S., Ishibashi, M., Kageyama, R., Guillemot, F., Serup, P. & Madsen, O. D. 2000. Control Of Endodermal Endocrine Development By Hes-1. *Nat Genet*, 24, 36-44.
- Johansson, M. E., Gustafsson, J. K., Holmén-Larsson, J., Jabbar, K. S., Xia, L., Xu, H., Ghishan, F. K., Carvalho, F. A., Gewirtz, A. T., Sjövall, H. & Hansson, G. C. 2014. Bacteria Penetrate The Normally Impenetrable Inner Colon Mucus Layer In Both Murine Colitis Models And Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut*, 63, 281-91.
- Johansson, M. E. & Hansson, G. C. 2016. Immunological Aspects Of Intestinal Mucus And Mucins. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 16, 639-49.
- Johansson, M. E., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L. & Hansson, G. C. 2008. The Inner Of The Two Muc2 Mucin-Dependent Mucus Layers In Colon Is Devoid Of Bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 15064-9.
- Johnson, J. E., Xie, M., Singh, L. M., Edge, R. & Cornell, R. B. 2003. Both Acidic And Basic Amino Acids In An Amphitropic Enzyme, Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase, Dictate Its Selectivity For Anionic Membranes. J Biol Chem, 278, 514-22.
- Johnston, J. M., Rao, G. A. & Lowe, P. A. 1967. The Separation Of The Alpha-Glycerophosphate And Monoglyceride Pathways In The Intestinal Biosynthesis Of Triglycerides. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 137, 578-80.
- Johri, A. & Beal, M. F. 2012. Mitochondrial Dysfunction In Neurodegenerative Diseases. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 342, 619-30.
- Kainu, V., Hermansson, M., Hanninen, S., Hokynar, K. & Somerharju, P. 2012. Import Of Phosphatidylserine To And Export Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Molecular Species From Mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1831, 429-437.
- Kainu, V., Hermansson, M., Hänninen, S., Hokynar, K. & Somerharju, P. 2013. Import Of Phosphatidylserine To And Export Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Molecular Species From Mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1831, 429-37.
- Kalmar, G. B., Kay, R. J., Lachance, A., Aebersold, R. & Cornell, R. B. 1990. Cloning And Expression Of Rat Liver Ctp: Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase: An Amphipathic Protein That Controls Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, 87, 6029-6033.

- Karim, M., Jackson, P. & Jackowski, S. 2003. Gene Structure, Expression And Identification Of A New Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Beta Isoform. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1633, 1-12.
- Karner, M., Kocjan, A., Stein, J., Schreiber, S., Von Boyen, G., Uebel, P., Schmidt, C., Kupcinskas, L., Dina, I., Zuelch, F., Keilhauer, G. & Stremmel, W. 2014. First Multicenter Study Of Modified Release Phosphatidylcholine "Lt-02" In Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial In Mesalazine-Refractory Courses. Am J Gastroenterol, 109, 1041-51.
- Katz, J. P., Perreault, N., Goldstein, B. G., Lee, C. S., Labosky, P. A., Yang, V. W. & Kaestner, K. H. 2002. The Zinc-Finger Transcription Factor Klf4 Is Required For Terminal Differentiation Of Goblet Cells In The Colon. *Development*, 129, 2619-28.
- Kayden, H. J., Senior, J. R. & Mattson, F. H. 1967. The Monoglyceride Pathway Of Fat Absorption In Man. *J Clin Invest*, 46, 1695-703.
- Kennedy, E., P. 1957. Metabolism Of Lipides. Ann. Rev. Biochem., 26, 119-148.
- Kennedy, E., P. & Weiss, S., B. 1956. The Function Of Cytidine Coenzymes In The Biosynthesis Of Phospholipides. J. Biol. Chem., 222, 193-214.
- Kern, F. & Borgström, B. 1965. Quantitative Study Of The Pathways Of Triglyceride Synthesis By Hamster Intestinal Mucosa. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 98, 520-31.
- Khatun, I., Clark, R. W., Vera, N. B., Kou, K., Erion, D. M., Coskran, T., Bobrowski, W. F., Okerberg, C. & Goodwin, B. 2016. Characterization Of A Novel Intestinal Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase Pathway And Its Role In Lipid Homeostasis. *J Biol Chem*, 291, 2602-15.
- Khor, B., Gardet, A. & Xavier, R. J. 2011. Genetics And Pathogenesis Of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Nature*, 474, 307-17.
- King, E. J. 1931. The Enzymic Hydrolysis Of Lecithin. The Biochemical Journal, 25, 799-811.
- Kohan, A. B., Wang, F., Li, X., Bradshaw, S., Yang, Q., Caldwell, J. L., Bullock, T. M. & Tso,
 P. 2012. Apolipoprotein A-Iv Regulates Chylomicron Metabolism-Mechanism And
 Function. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 302, G628-36.
- Kohan, A. B., Wang, F., Li, X., Vandersall, A. E., Huesman, S., Xu, M., Yang, Q., Lou, D. & Tso, P. 2013. Is Apolipoprotein A-Iv Rate Limiting In The Intestinal Transport And Absorption Of Triglyceride? *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 304, G1128-35.
- Krahmer, N., Guo, Y., Wilfling, F., Hilger, M., Lingrell, S., Heger, K., Newman, H. W., Schmidt-Supprian, M., Vance, D. E., Mann, M., Farese, R. V. & Walther, T. C. 2011. Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis For Lipid Droplet Expansion Is Mediated By Localized Activation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. *Cell Metab*, 14, 504-15.
- Kreymann, B., Williams, G., Ghatei, M. A. & Bloom, S. R. 1987. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 7-36: A Physiological Incretin In Man. *Lancet*, 2, 1300-4.
- Kruit, J. K., Plösch, T., Havinga, R., Boverhof, R., Groot, P. H. E., Groen, A. K. & Kuipers, F. 2005. Increased Fecal Neutral Sterol Loss Upon Liver X Receptor Activation Is Independent Of Biliary Sterol Secretion In Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 128, 147-156.
- Kuge, O., Saito, K. & Nishijima, M. 1997. Cloning Of A Chinese Hamster Ovary (Cho) Cdna Encoding Phosphatidylserine Synthase (Pss) Ii, Overexpression Of Which Suppresses The Phosphatidylserine Biosynthetic Defect Of A Pss I-Lacking Mutant Of Cho-K1 Cells. J Biol Chem, 272, 19133-9.
- Kuipers, F., Bloks, V. W. & Groen, A. K. 2014. Beyond Intestinal Soap--Bile Acids In Metabolic Control. Nat Rev Endocrinol, 10, 488-98.

- Labarre, J. 1932. Sur Les Possibilites D'un Traitement Du Diabete Par I'incretine. *Bull Acad R Med Belg*, 12, 620-634.
- Lands, W. E. 1958. Metabolism Of Glycerolipides; A Comparison Of Lecithin And Triglyceride Synthesis. *J Biol Chem*, 231, 883-8.
- Lands, W. E. M. 1960. Metabolism Of Glycerolipids: Ii. The Enzymatic Acylation Of Lysolecithin. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 235, 2233-2237.
- Larsson, L. I., Goltermann, N., De Magistris, L., Rehfeld, J. F. & Schwartz, T. W. 1979. Somatostatin Cell Processes As Pathways For Paracrine Secretion. *Science*, 205, 1393-5.
- Lauritsen, K. B., Moody, A. J., Christensen, K. C. & Lindkaer Jensen, S. 1980. Gastric Inhibitory Polypeptide (Gip) And Insulin Release After Small-Bowel Resection In Man. *Scand J Gastroenterol*, 15, 833-40.
- Lazaridis, K. N., Pham, L., Tietz, P., Marinelli, R. A., Degroen, P. C., Levine, S., Dawson, P. A. & Larusso, N. F. 1997. Rat Cholangiocytes Absorb Bile Acids At Their Apical Domain Via The Ileal Sodium-Dependent Bile Acid Transporter. *J Clin Invest*, 100, 2714-21.
- Lebeis, S. L., Bommarius, B., Parkos, C. A., Sherman, M. A. & Kalman, D. 2007. Tlr Signaling Mediated By Myd88 Is Required For A Protective Innate Immune Response By Neutrophils To Citrobacter Rodentium. *J Immunol*, 179, 566-77.
- Leonardi, R., Frank, M. W., Jackson, P. D., Rock, C. O. & Jackowski, S. 2009. Elimination Of The Cdp-Ethanolamine Pathway Disrupts Hepatic Lipid Homeostasis. *J Biol Chem*, 284, 27077-89.
- Li, Z., Agellon, L. B., Allen, T. M., Umeda, M., Jewell, L., Mason, A. & Vance, D. E. 2006. The Ratio Of Phosphatidylcholine To Phosphatidylethanolamine Influences Membrane Integrity And Steatohepatitis. *Cell Metab*, 3, 321-31.
- Li, Z., Jiang, H., Ding, T., Lou, C., Bui, H. H., Kuo, M. S. & Jiang, X. C. 2015. Deficiency In Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase 3 Reduces Plasma Levels Of Lipids By Reducing Lipid Absorption In Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 149, 1519-29.
- Liao, T. H., Hamosh, P. & Hamosh, M. 1984. Fat Digestion By Lingual Lipase: Mechanism Of Lipolysis In The Stomach And Upper Small Intestine. *Pediatr Res,* 18, 402-9.
- Liao, W. & Chan, L. 2000. Apolipoprotein B, A Paradigm For Proteins Regulated By Intracellular Degradation, Does Not Undergo Intracellular Degradation In Caco2 Cells. J Biol Chem, 275, 3950-6.
- Lim, H. Y., Wang, W., Wessells, R. J., Ocorr, K. & Bodmer, R. 2011. Phospholipid Homeostasis Regulates Lipid Metabolism And Cardiac Function Through Srebp Signaling In Drosophila. *Genes Dev*, 25, 189-200.
- Ling, J., Chaba, T., Zhu, L. F., Jacobs, R. L. & Vance, D. E. 2012. Hepatic Ratio Of Phosphatidylcholine To Phosphatidylethanolamine Predicts Survival After Partial Hepatectomy In Mice. *Hepatology*, 55, 1094-102.
- Ling, K. Y., Lee, H. Y. & Hollander, D. 1989. Mechanisms Of Linoleic Acid Uptake By Rabbit Small Intestinal Brush Border Membrane Vesicles. *Lipids*, 24, 51-5.
- Listenberger, L. L., Han, X., Lewis, S. E., Cases, S., Farese, R. V., Jr., Ory, D. S. & Schaffer, J. E. 2003. Triglyceride Accumulation Protects Against Fatty Acid-Induced Lipotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 3077-82.
- Liu, J., Gorski, J. N., Gold, S. J., Chen, D., Chen, S., Forrest, G., Itoh, Y., Marsh, D. J., Mclaren, D. G., Shen, Z., Sonatore, L., Carballo-Jane, E., Craw, S., Guan, X., Karanam, B., Sakaki, J., Szeto, D., Tong, X., Xiao, J., Yoshimoto, R., Yu, H., Roddy, T. P., Balkovec, J. & Pinto, S. 2013. Pharmacological Inhibition Of Diacylglycerol Acyltransferase 1

Reduces Body Weight And Modulates Gut Peptide Release--Potential Insight Into Mechanism Of Action. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 21, 1406-15.

- Liu, T., Zhang, X., So, C. K., Wang, S., Wang, P., Yan, L., Myers, R., Chen, Z., Patterson, A. P., Yang, C. S. & Chen, X. 2007. Regulation Of Cdx2 Expression By Promoter Methylation, And Effects Of Cdx2 Transfection On Morphology And Gene Expression Of Human Esophageal Epithelial Cells. *Carcinogenesis*, 28, 488-96.
- Lopez-Candales, A., Bosner, M. S., Spilburg, C. A. & Lange, L. G. 1993. Cholesterol Transport Function Of Pancreatic Cholesterol Esterase: Directed Sterol Uptake And Esterification In Enterocytes. *Biochemistry*, 32, 12085-9.
- Luo, H., Jiang, M., Lian, G., Liu, Q., Shi, M., Li, T. Y., Song, L., Ye, J., He, Y., Yao, L., Zhang, C., Lin, Z. Z., Zhang, C. S., Zhao, T. J., Jia, W. P., Li, P., Lin, S. Y. & Lin, S. C. 2018. Aida Selectively Mediates Downregulation Of Fat Synthesis Enzymes By Erad To Retard Intestinal Fat Absorption And Prevent Obesity. *Cell Metab*, 27, 843-853.E6.
- Lykidis, A., Baburina, I. & Jackowski, S. 1999. Distribution Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase (Cct) Isoforms. Identification Of A New Cctbeta Splice Variant. J Biol Chem, 274, 26992-7001.
- Lykidis, A., Murti, K. G. & Jackowski, S. 1998. Cloning And Characterization Of A Second Human Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 273, 14022-14029.
- Lykidis, A., Wang, J., Karim, M. A. & Jackowski, S. 2001. Overexpression Of A Mammalian Ethanolamine-Specific Kinase Accelerates The Cdp-Ethanolamine Pathway. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 2174-9.
- Makishima, M., Okamoto, A. Y., Repa, J. J., Tu, H., Learned, R. M., Luk, A., Hull, M. V., Lustig, K. D., Mangelsdorf, D. J. & Shan, B. 1999. Identification Of A Nuclear Receptor For Bile Acids. *Science*, 284, 1362-5.
- Martinez-Una, M., Varela-Rey, M., Cano, A., Fernandez-Ares, L., Beraza, N., Aurrekoetxea, I., Martinez-Arranz, I., Garcia-Rodriguez, J. L., Buque, X., Mestre, D., Luka, Z., Wagner, C., Alonso, C., Finnell, R. H., Lu, S. C., Martinez-Chantar, M. L., Aspichueta, P. & Mato, J. M. 2013. Excess S-Adenosylmethionine Reroutes Phosphatidylethanolamine Towards Phosphatidylcholine And Triglyceride Synthesis. *Hepatology*.
- Martinez-Una, M., Varela-Rey, M., Mestre, D., Fernandez-Ares, L., Fresnedo, O., Fernandez-Ramos, D., Gutierrez-De Juan, V., Martin-Guerrero, I., Garcia-Orad, A., Luka, Z., Wagner, C., Lu, S. C., Garcia-Monzon, C., Finnell, R. H., Aurrekoetxea, I., Buque, X., Martinez-Chantar, M. L., Mato, J. M. & Aspichueta, P. 2015. S-Adenosylmethionine Increases Circulating Very-Low Density Lipoprotein Clearance In Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *J Hepatol*, 62, 673-81.
- Mashimo, H., Wu, D. C., Podolsky, D. K. & Fishman, M. C. 1996. Impaired Defense Of Intestinal Mucosa In Mice Lacking Intestinal Trefoil Factor. *Science*, 274, 262-5.
- Mattes, R. D. 2002. Oral Fat Exposure Increases The First Phase Triacylglycerol Concentration Due To Release Of Stored Lipid In Humans. *J Nutr*, 132, 3656-62.
- Mccormick, D. A., Horton, L. W. & Mee, A. S. 1990. Mucin Depletion In Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *J Clin Pathol*, 43, 143-6.
- Mckenzie, M., Lazarou, M., Thorburn, D. R. & Ryan, M. T. 2006. Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain Supercomplexes Are Destabilized In Barth Syndrome Patients. *J Mol Biol*, 361, 462-9.

- Metidji, A., Omenetti, S., Crotta, S., Li, Y., Nye, E., Ross, E., Li, V., Maradana, M. R., Schiering, C. & Stockinger, B. 2018. The Environmental Sensor Ahr Protects From Inflammatory Damage By Maintaining Intestinal Stem Cell Homeostasis And Barrier Integrity. *Immunity*, 49, 353-362.E5.
- Meyer, E. M., Jr., Engel, D. A. & Cooper, J. R. 1982. Acetylation And Phosphorylation Of Choline Following High Or Low Affinity Uptake By Rat Cortical Synaptosomes. *Neurochem Res*, 7, 749-59.
- Mojsov, S., Weir, G. C. & Habener, J. F. 1987. Insulinotropin: Glucagon-Like Peptide I (7-37) Co-Encoded In The Glucagon Gene Is A Potent Stimulator Of Insulin Release In The Perfused Rat Pancreas. *J Clin Invest*, 79, 616-9.
- Morgan, R. G. & Borgström, B. 1969. The Mechanism Of Fat Absorption In The Bile Fistula Rat. *Q J Exp Physiol Cogn Med Sci*, 54, 228-43.
- Mundy, R., Macdonald, T. T., Dougan, G., Frankel, G. & Wiles, S. 2005. Citrobacter Rodentium Of Mice And Man. *Cell Microbiol*, 7, 1697-706.
- Murota, K. & Storch, J. 2005. Uptake Of Micellar Long-Chain Fatty Acid And Sn-2-Monoacylglycerol Into Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cells Exhibits Characteristics Of Protein-Mediated Transport. *J Nutr*, 135, 1626-30.
- Nakahara, M., Furuya, N., Takagaki, K., Sugaya, T., Hirota, K., Fukamizu, A., Kanda, T., Fujii,
 H. & Sato, R. 2005. Ileal Bile Acid-Binding Protein, Functionally Associated With The
 Farnesoid X Receptor Or The Ileal Bile Acid Transporter, Regulates Bile Acid Activity
 In The Small Intestine. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 280, 42283-42289.
- Nakashima, A., Hosaka, K. & Nikawa, J. 1997. Cloning Of A Human Cdna For Ctp-Phosphoethanolamine Cytidylyltransferase By Complementation In Vivo Of A Yeast Mutant. *J Biol Chem*, 272, 9567-72.
- Nauli, A. M., Nassir, F., Zheng, S., Yang, Q., Lo, C. M., Vonlehmden, S. B., Lee, D., Jandacek, R. J., Abumrad, N. A. & Tso, P. 2006. Cd36 Is Important For Chylomicron Formation And Secretion And May Mediate Cholesterol Uptake In The Proximal Intestine. *Gastroenterology*, 131, 1197-207.
- Niebergall, L. J., Jacobs, R. L., Chaba, T. & Vance, D. E. 2011. Phosphatidylcholine Protects Against Steatosis In Mice But Not Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1811, 1177-85.
- Noah, T. K., Kazanjian, A., Whitsett, J. & Shroyer, N. F. 2010. Sam Pointed Domain Ets Factor (Spdef) Regulates Terminal Differentiation And Maturation Of Intestinal Goblet Cells. *Exp Cell Res*, 316, 452-65.
- Noga, A. A. & Vance, D. E. 2003. A Gender-Specific Role For Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-Derived Phosphatidylcholine In The Regulation Of Plasma High Density And Very Low Density Lipoproteins In Mice. J Biol Chem, 278, 21851-9.
- Noga, A. A., Zhao, Y. & Vance, D. E. 2002. An Unexpected Requirement For Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase In The Secretion Of Very Low Density Lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 42358-65.
- Northwood, I. C., Tong, A. H., Crawford, B., Drobnies, A. E. & Cornell, R. B. 1999. Shuttling Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Between The Nucleus And Endoplasmic Reticulum Accompanies The Wave Of Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis During The G(0) - G(1) Transition. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 26240-8.

- Nurmi, H., Saharinen, P., Zarkada, G., Zheng, W., Robciuc, M. R. & Alitalo, K. 2015. Vegf-C Is Required For Intestinal Lymphatic Vessel Maintenance And Lipid Absorption. *Embo Mol Med*, 7, 1418-25.
- O'neill, H. M., Holloway, G. P. & Steinberg, G. R. 2013. Ampk Regulation Of Fatty Acid Metabolism And Mitochondrial Biogenesis: Implications For Obesity. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 366, 135-51.
- Obrowsky, S., Chandak, P. G., Patankar, J. V., Povoden, S., Schlager, S., Kershaw, E. E., Bogner-Strauss, J. G., Hoefler, G., Levak-Frank, S. & Kratky, D. 2013. Adipose Triglyceride Lipase Is A Tg Hydrolase Of The Small Intestine And Regulates Intestinal Pparα Signaling. J Lipid Res, 54, 425-35.
- Otokozawa, S., Ai, M., Diffenderfer, M. R., Asztalos, B. F., Tanaka, A., Lamon-Fava, S. & Schaefer, E. J. 2009. Fasting And Postprandial Apolipoprotein B-48 Levels In Healthy, Obese, And Hyperlipidemic Subjects. *Metabolism*, 58, 1536-42.
- Paltauf, F., Esfandi, F. & Holasek, A. 1974. Stereospecificity Of Lipases. Enzymic Hydrolysis Of Enantiomeric Alkyl Diacylglycerols By Lipoprotein Lipase, Lingual Lipase And Pancreatic Lipase. *Febs Letters*, 40, 119-123.
- Park, S. W., Zhen, G., Verhaeghe, C., Nakagami, Y., Nguyenvu, L. T., Barczak, A. J., Killeen, N. & Erle, D. J. 2009. The Protein Disulfide Isomerase Agr2 Is Essential For Production Of Intestinal Mucus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 6950-5.
- Pavlic, M., Xiao, C., Szeto, L., Patterson, B. W. & Lewis, G. F. 2010. Insulin Acutely Inhibits Intestinal Lipoprotein Secretion In Humans In Part By Suppressing Plasma Free Fatty Acids. *Diabetes*, 59, 580-7.
- Payne, F., Lim, K., Girousse, A., Brown, R. J., Kory, N., Robbins, A., Xue, Y., Sleigh, A., Cochran, E., Adams, C., Dev Borman, A., Russel-Jones, D., Gorden, P., Semple, R. K., Saudek, V., O'rahilly, S., Walther, T. C., Barroso, I. & Savage, D. B. 2014. Mutations Disrupting The Kennedy Phosphatidylcholine Pathway In Humans With Congenital Lipodystrophy And Fatty Liver Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 8901-6.
- Pelech, S. L., Pritchard, P. H., Brindley, D. N. & Vance, D. E. 1983. Fatty Acids Promote Translocation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase To The Endoplasmic Reticulum And Stimulate Rat Hepatic Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis. *J Biol Chem*, 258, 6782-8.
- Pelech, S. L. & Vance, D. E. 1984. Regulation Of Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 779, 217-51.
- Percy, A. K., Moore, J. F., Carson, M. A. & Waechter, C. J. 1983. Characterization Of Brain Phosphatidylserine Decarboxylase: Localization In The Mitochondrial Inner Membrane. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 223, 484-94.
- Pfeiffer, K., Gohil, V., Stuart, R. A., Hunte, C., Brandt, U., Greenberg, M. L. & Schagger, H. 2003. Cardiolipin Stabilizes Respiratory Chain Supercomplexes. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 52873-80.
- Pol, A., Gross, S. P. & Parton, R. G. 2014. Review: Biogenesis Of The Multifunctional Lipid Droplet: Lipids, Proteins, And Sites. *J Cell Biol*, 204, 635-46.
- Poloumienko, A., Coté, A., Quee, A. T., Zhu, L. & Bakovic, M. 2004. Genomic Organization And Differential Splicing Of The Mouse And Human Pcyt2 Genes. *Gene*, 325, 145-55.
- Porto, A. F. 2014. Lysosomal Acid Lipase Deficiency: Diagnosis And Treatment Of Wolman And Cholesteryl Ester Storage Diseases. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev,* 12 Suppl 1, 125-32.
- Potten, C. S., Kellett, M., Roberts, S. A., Rew, D. A. & Wilson, G. D. 1992. Measurement Of In Vivo Proliferation In Human Colorectal Mucosa Using Bromodeoxyuridine. *Gut*, 33, 71-78.
- Pullan, R. D., Thomas, G. A., Rhodes, M., Newcombe, R. G., Williams, G. T., Allen, A. & Rhodes, J. 1994. Thickness Of Adherent Mucus Gel On Colonic Mucosa In Humans And Its Relevance To Colitis. *Gut*, 35, 353-9.
- Pullinger, C. R., North, J. D., Teng, B. B., Rifici, V. A., Ronhild De Brito, A. E. & Scott, J. 1989. The Apolipoprotein B Gene Is Constitutively Expressed In Hepg2 Cells: Regulation Of Secretion By Oleic Acid, Albumin, And Insulin, And Measurement Of The Mrna Half-Life. *Journal Of Lipid Research*, 30, 1065-77.
- Rajavashisth, T. B., Taylor, A. K., Andalibi, A., Svenson, K. L. & Lusis, A. J. 1989. Identification Of A Zinc Finger Protein That Binds To The Sterol Regulatory Element. *Science*, 245, 640-3.
- Rawicz, W., Olbrich, K. C., Mcintosh, T., Needham, D. & Evans, E. 2000. Effect Of Chain Length And Unsaturation On Elasticity Of Lipid Bilayers. *Biophys J*, 79, 328-39.
- Ren, J., Pulakat, L., Whaley-Connell, A. & Sowers, J. R. 2010. Mitochondrial Biogenesis In The Metabolic Syndrome And Cardiovascular Disease. *J Mol Med (Berl)*, 88, 993-1001.
- Ridgway, N. D. & Vance, D. E. 1987. Purification Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase From Rat Liver. *J Biol Chem*, 262, 17231-9.
- Ridgway, N. D. & Vance, D. E. 1988. Kinetic Mechanism Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. *J Biol Chem*, 263, 16864-71.
- Rong, X., Wang, B., Dunham, M. M., Hedde, P. N., Wong, J. S., Gratton, E., Young, S. G., Ford,
 D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2015. Lpcat3-Dependent Production Of Arachidonoyl
 Phospholipids Is A Key Determinant Of Triglyceride Secretion. *Elife*, 4.
- Rong, X., Wang, B., Palladino, E. N., De Aguiar Vallim, T. Q., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2017. Er Phospholipid Composition Modulates Lipogenesis During Feeding And In Obesity. J Clin Invest, 127, 3640-3651.
- Ross, C. A. 1955. Fat Absorption Studies In The Diagnosis And Treatment Of Pancreatic Fibrosis. *Archives Of Disease In Childhood*, 30, 316-321.
- San Roman, A. K., Aronson, B. E., Krasinski, S. D., Shivdasani, R. A. & Verzi, M. P. 2015. Transcription Factors Gata4 And Hnf4a Control Distinct Aspects Of Intestinal Homeostasis In Conjunction With Transcription Factor Cdx2. *J Biol Chem*, 290, 1850-60.
- Seegmiller, A. C., Dobrosotskaya, I., Goldstein, J. L., Ho, Y. K., Brown, M. S. & Rawson, R. B. 2002. The Srebp Pathway In Drosophila: Regulation By Palmitate, Not Sterols. *Dev Cell*, 2, 229-38.
- Sharma, N. K., Langberg, K. A., Mondal, A. K. & Das, S. K. 2013. Phospholipid Biosynthesis Genes And Susceptibility To Obesity: Analysis Of Expression And Polymorphisms. *Plos One*, 8, E65303.
- Shiao, Y. J., Lupo, G. & Vance, J. E. 1995. Evidence That Phosphatidylserine Is Imported Into Mitochondria Via A Mitochondria-Associated Membrane And That The Majority Of Mitochondrial Phosphatidylethanolamine Is Derived From Decarboxylation Of Phosphatidylserine. J Biol Chem, 270, 11190-8.
- Shields, D. J., Lehner, R., Agellon, L. B. & Vance, D. E. 2003. Membrane Topography Of Human Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 2956-62.

- Shim, J., Moulson, C. L., Newberry, E. P., Lin, M. H., Xie, Y., Kennedy, S. M., Miner, J. H. & Davidson, N. O. 2009. Fatty Acid Transport Protein 4 Is Dispensable For Intestinal Lipid Absorption In Mice. J Lipid Res, 50, 491-500.
- Shojaee-Moradie, F., Ma, Y., Lou, S., Hovorka, R. & Umpleby, A. M. 2013. Prandial Hypertriglyceridemia In Metabolic Syndrome Is Due To An Overproduction Of Both Chylomicron And Vldl Triacylglycerol. *Diabetes*, 62, 4063-9.
- Shroyer, N. F., Wallis, D., Venken, K. J., Bellen, H. J. & Zoghbi, H. Y. 2005. Gfi1 Functions Downstream Of Math1 To Control Intestinal Secretory Cell Subtype Allocation And Differentiation. *Genes Dev*, 19, 2412-7.
- Siddiqi, S. & Mansbach, C. M. 2015. Dietary And Biliary Phosphatidylcholine Activates Pkcζ In Rat Intestine. *J Lipid Res*, 56, 859-70.
- Silberg, D. G., Sullivan, J., Kang, E., Swain, G. P., Moffett, J., Sund, N. J., Sackett, S. D. & Kaestner, K. H. 2002. Cdx2 Ectopic Expression Induces Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia In Transgenic Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 122, 689-96.
- Skipski, V. P., Barclay, M., Barclay, R. K., Fetzer, V. A., Good, J. J. & Archibald, F. M. 1967. Lipid Composition Of Human Serum Lipoproteins. *Biochem J*, 104, 340-52.
- Smith, S. J., Cases, S., Jensen, D. R., Chen, H. C., Sande, E., Tow, B., Sanan, D. A., Raber, J., Eckel, R. H. & Farese, R. V. 2000. Obesity Resistance And Multiple Mechanisms Of Triglyceride Synthesis In Mice Lacking Dgat. *Nat Genet*, 25, 87-90.
- Smulan, L. J., Ding, W., Freinkman, E., Gujja, S., Edwards, Y. J. & Walker, A. K. 2016. Cholesterol-Independent Srebp-1 Maturation Is Linked To Arf1 Inactivation. *Cell Rep*, 16, 9-18.
- Spehlmann, M. E., Begun, A. Z., Burghardt, J., Lepage, P., Raedler, A. & Schreiber, S. 2008. Epidemiology Of Inflammatory Bowel Disease In A German Twin Cohort: Results Of A Nationwide Study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 14, 968-76.
- Ståhlman, M., Pham, H. T., Adiels, M., Mitchell, T. W., Blanksby, S. J., Fagerberg, B., Ekroos, K. & Borén, J. 2012. Clinical Dyslipidaemia Is Associated With Changes In The Lipid Composition And Inflammatory Properties Of Apolipoprotein-B-Containing Lipoproteins From Women With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 55, 1156-1166.
- Steenbergen, R., Nanowski, T. S., Beigneux, A., Kulinski, A., Young, S. G. & Vance, J. E. 2005. Disruption Of The Phosphatidylserine Decarboxylase Gene In Mice Causes Embryonic Lethality And Mitochondrial Defects. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 40032-40.
- Stone, S. J., Myers, H. M., Watkins, S. M., Brown, B. E., Feingold, K. R., Elias, P. M. & Farese, R. V. 2004. Lipopenia And Skin Barrier Abnormalities In Dgat2-Deficient Mice. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 11767-76.
- Stone, S. J. & Vance, J. E. 2000. Phosphatidylserine Synthase-1 And -2 Are Localized To Mitochondria-Associated Membranes. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 34534-40.
- Storch, J., Zhou, Y. X. & Lagakos, W. S. 2008. Metabolism Of Apical Versus Basolateral Sn-2-Monoacylglycerol And Fatty Acids In Rodent Small Intestine. *J Lipid Res*, 49, 1762-9.
- Strakova, J., Demizieux, L., Campenot, R. B., Vance, D. E. & Vance, J. E. 2011. Involvement Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase-B2 In Axonal Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis And Branching Of Neurons. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1811, 617-25.
- Stremmel, W., Ehehalt, R., Autschbach, F. & Karner, M. 2007. Phosphatidylcholine For Steroid-Refractory Chronic Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized Trial. Ann Intern Med, 147, 603-10.

- Stremmel, W., Merle, U., Zahn, A., Autschbach, F., Hinz, U. & Ehehalt, R. 2005. Retarded Release Phosphatidylcholine Benefits Patients With Chronic Active Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut*, 54, 966-71.
- Strugala, V., Dettmar, P. W. & Pearson, J. P. 2008. Thickness And Continuity Of The Adherent Colonic Mucus Barrier In Active And Quiescent Ulcerative Colitis And Crohn's Disease. *Int J Clin Pract*, 62, 762-9.
- Sudhop, T., Lütjohann, D., Kodal, A., Igel, M., Tribble, D. L., Shah, S., Perevozskaya, I. & Von Bergmann, K. 2002. Inhibition Of Intestinal Cholesterol Absorption By Ezetimibe In Humans. *Circulation*, 106, 1943-8.
- Sundler, R. 1975. Ethanolaminephosphate Cytidylyltransferase. Purification And Characterization Of The Enzyme From Rat Liver. *J Biol Chem*, 250, 8585-90.
- Sundler, R. & Akesson, B. 1975. Biosynthesis Of Phosphatidylethanolamines And Phosphatidylcholines From Ethanolamine And Choline In Rat Liver. *Biochem J*, 146, 309-15.
- Sundler, R., Akesson, B. & Nilsson, A. 1974. Quantitative Role Of Base Exchange In Phosphatidylethanolamine Synthesis In Isolated Rat Hepatocytes. *Febs Lett*, 43, 303-7.
- Supale, S., Li, N., Brun, T. & Maechler, P. 2012. Mitochondrial Dysfunction In Pancreatic Beta Cells. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 23, 477-87.
- Suzuki, T. T. & Kanfer, J. N. 1985. Purification And Properties Of An Ethanolamine-Serine Base Exchange Enzyme Of Rat Brain Microsomes. *J Biol Chem*, 260, 1394-9.
- Tadokoro, K., Ishidate, K. & Nakazawa, Y. 1985. Evidence For The Existence Of Isozymes Of Choline Kinase And Their Selective Induction In 3-Methylcholanthrene- Or Carbon Tetrachloride-Treated Rat Liver. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 835, 501-13.
- Tasseva, G., Bai, H. D., Davidescu, M., Haromy, A., Michelakis, E. & Vance, J. E. 2013. Phosphatidylethanolamine Deficiency In Mammalian Mitochondria Impairs Oxidative Phosphorylation And Alters Mitochondrial Morphology. *J Biol Chem*, 288, 4158-73.
- Thomas, C., Gioiello, A., Noriega, L., Strehle, A., Oury, J., Rizzo, G., Macchiarulo, A., Yamamoto, H., Mataki, C., Pruzanski, M., Pellicciari, R., Auwerx, J. & Schoonjans, K. 2009. Tgr5-Mediated Bile Acid Sensing Controls Glucose Homeostasis. *Cell Metab*, 10, 167-77.
- Thumser, A. E. A. & Storch, J. 2000. Liver And Intestinal Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins Obtain Fatty Acids From Phospholipid Membranes By Different Mechanisms. *Journal Of Lipid Research*, 41, 647-656.
- Tian, Y., Jackson, P., Gunter, C., Wang, J., Rock, C. O. & Jackowski, S. 2006. Placental Thrombosis And Spontaneous Fetal Death In Mice Deficient In Ethanolamine Kinase 2. J Biol Chem, 281, 28438-49.
- Tian, Y., Zhou, R., Rehg, J. E. & Jackowski, S. 2007. Role Of Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha In Lung Development. *Mol Cell Biol*, 27, 975-82.
- Tie, A. & Bakovic, M. 2007. Alternative Splicing Of Ctp:Phosphoethanolamine Cytidylyltransferase Produces Two Isoforms That Differ In Catalytic Properties. *J Lipid Res*, 48, 2172-81.
- Tijburg, L. B., Houweling, M., Geelen, J. H. & Van Golde, L. M. 1987. Stimulation Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Synthesis In Isolated Rat Hepatocytes By Phorbol 12-Myristate 13-Acetate. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 922, 184-90.
- Traiffort, E., O'regan, S. & Ruat, M. 2013. The Choline Transporter-Like Family Slc44: Properties And Roles In Human Diseases. *Mol Aspects Med*, 34, 646-54.

- Trotter, P. J., Ho, S. Y. & Storch, J. 1996. Fatty Acid Uptake By Caco-2 Human Intestinal Cells. *J Lipid Res*, 37, 336-46.
- Tso, P., Nauli, A. & Lo, C. M. 2004. Enterocyte Fatty Acid Uptake And Intestinal Fatty Acid-Binding Protein. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 32, 75-8.
- Turton, M. D., O'shea, D., Gunn, I., Beak, S. A., Edwards, C. M., Meeran, K., Choi, S. J., Taylor, G. M., Heath, M. M., Lambert, P. D., Wilding, J. P., Smith, D. M., Ghatei, M. A., Herbert, J. & Bloom, S. R. 1996. A Role For Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 In The Central Regulation Of Feeding. *Nature*, 379, 69-72.
- Vaishnava, S., Behrendt, C. L., Ismail, A. S., Eckmann, L. & Hooper, L. V. 2008. Paneth Cells Directly Sense Gut Commensals And Maintain Homeostasis At The Intestinal Host-Microbial Interface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 20858-63.
- Van Der Sluis, M., De Koning, B. A., De Bruijn, A. C., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J. P., Van Goudoever, J. B., Büller, H. A., Dekker, J., Van Seuningen, I., Renes, I. B. & Einerhand, A. W. 2006. Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating That Muc2 Is Critical For Colonic Protection. *Gastroenterology*, 131, 117-29.
- Van Der Veen, J. N., Lingrell, S., Da Silva, R. P., Jacobs, R. L. & Vance, D. E. 2014. The Concentration Of Phosphatidylethanolamine In Mitochondria Can Modulate Atp Production And Glucose Metabolism In Mice. *Diabetes*, 63, 2620-30.
- Van Der Veen, J. N., Lingrell, S., Gao, X., Quiroga, A. D., Takawale, A., Armstrong, E. A., Yager, J. Y., Kassiri, Z., Lehner, R., Vance, D. E. & Jacobs, R. L. 2016. Pioglitazone Attenuates Hepatic Inflammation And Fibrosis In Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-(Pemt) Deficient Mice. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, Ajpgi 00243 2015.
- Van Es, J. H., Van Gijn, M. E., Riccio, O., Van Den Born, M., Vooijs, M., Begthel, H., Cozijnsen, M., Robine, S., Winton, D. J., Radtke, F. & Clevers, H. 2005. Notch/Gamma-Secretase Inhibition Turns Proliferative Cells In Intestinal Crypts And Adenomas Into Goblet Cells. *Nature*, 435, 959-63.
- Van Golde, L. M., Fleischer, B. & Fleischer, S. 1971. Some Studies On The Metabolism Of Phospholipids In Golgi Complex From Bovine And Rat Liver In Comparison To Other Subcellular Fractions. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 249, 318-30.
- Vance, D. E. 2013. Physiological Roles Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1831, 626-32.
- Vance, D. E. 2014a. Phospholipid Methylation In Mammals: From Biochemistry To Physiological Function. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1838, 1477-87.
- Vance, J. E. 1990. Phospholipid Synthesis In A Membrane Fraction Associated With Mitochondria. *J Biol Chem*, 265, 7248-56.
- Vance, J. E. 2014b. Mam (Mitochondria-Associated Membranes) In Mammalian Cells: Lipids And Beyond. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1841, 595-609.
- Vance, J. E., Aasman, E. J. & Szarka, R. 1991. Brefeldin A Does Not Inhibit The Movement Of Phosphatidylethanolamine From Its Sites For Synthesis To The Cell Surface. *J Biol Chem*, 266, 8241-7.
- Vance, J. E. & Vance, D. E. 1988. Does Rat Liver Golgi Have The Capacity To Synthesize Phospholipids For Lipoprotein Secretion? *J Biol Chem*, 263, 5898-909.
- Velcich, A., Yang, W., Heyer, J., Fragale, A., Nicholas, C., Viani, S., Kucherlapati, R., Lipkin, M., Yang, K. & Augenlicht, L. 2002. Colorectal Cancer In Mice Genetically Deficient In The Mucin Muc2. *Science*, 295, 1726-9.

- Verkade, H. J., Fast, D. G., Rusiñol, A. E., Scraba, D. G. & Vance, D. E. 1993. Impaired Biosynthesis Of Phosphatidylcholine Causes A Decrease In The Number Of Very Low Density Lipoprotein Particles In The Golgi But Not In The Endoplasmic Reticulum Of Rat Liver. J. Biol. Chem., 268, 24990-24996.
- Verkleij, A. J., Zwaal, R. F., Roelofsen, B., Comfurius, P., Kastelijn, D. & Van Deenen, L. L. 1973. The Asymmetric Distribution Of Phospholipids In The Human Red Cell Membrane. A Combined Study Using Phospholipases And Freeze-Etch Electron Microscopy. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 323, 178-93.
- Voelker, D. R. 1989. Phosphatidylserine Translocation To The Mitochondrion Is An Atp-Dependent Process In Permeabilized Animal Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86, 9921-5.
- Voshol, P. J., Minich, D. M., Havinga, R., Elferink, R. P., Verkade, H. J., Groen, A. K. & Kuipers, F. 2000. Postprandial Chylomicron Formation And Fat Absorption In Multidrug Resistance Gene 2 P-Glycoprotein-Deficient Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 118, 173-82.
- Vreken, P., Valianpour, F., Nijtmans, L. G., Grivell, L. A., Plecko, B., Wanders, R. J. & Barth, P. G. 2000. Defective Remodeling Of Cardiolipin And Phosphatidylglycerol In Barth Syndrome. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 279, 378-82.
- Walker, A. K., Jacobs, R. L., Watts, J. L., Rottiers, V., Jiang, K., Finnegan, D. M., Shioda, T., Hansen, M., Yang, F., Niebergall, L. J., Vance, D. E., Tzoneva, M., Hart, A. C. & Naar, A. M. 2011. A Conserved Srebp-1/Phosphatidylcholine Feedback Circuit Regulates Lipogenesis In Metazoans. *Cell*, 147, 840-52.
- Wang, B., Rong, X., Duerr, M. A., Hermanson, D. J., Hedde, P. N., Wong, J. S., Vallim, T. Q., Cravatt, B. F., Gratton, E., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2016. Intestinal Phospholipid Remodeling Is Required For Dietary-Lipid Uptake And Survival On A High-Fat Diet. *Cell Metab*, 23, 492-504.
- Wang, X., Sato, R., Brown, M. S., Hua, X. & Goldstein, J. L. 1994. Srebp-1, A Membrane-Bound Transcription Factor Released By Sterol-Regulated Proteolysis. *Cell*, 77, 53-62.
- Wang, Y., Macdonald, J. I. & Kent, C. 1993a. Regulation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase In Hela Cells. Effect Of Oleate On Phosphorylation And Intracellular Localization. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 5512-8.
- Wang, Y., Sweitzer, T. D., Weinhold, P. A. & Kent, C. 1993b. Nuclear Localization Of Soluble Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 5899-904.
- Watanabe, M., Houten, S. M., Mataki, C., Christoffolete, M. A., Kim, B. W., Sato, H., Messaddeq, N., Harney, J. W., Ezaki, O., Kodama, T., Schoonjans, K., Bianco, A. C. & Auwerx, J. 2006. Bile Acids Induce Energy Expenditure By Promoting Intracellular Thyroid Hormone Activation. *Nature*, 439, 484-9.
- Weng, W., Li, L., Van Bennekum, A. M., Potter, S. H., Harrison, E. H., Blaner, W. S., Breslow, J. L. & Fisher, E. A. 1999. Intestinal Absorption Of Dietary Cholesteryl Ester Is Decreased But Retinyl Ester Absorption Is Normal In Carboxyl Ester Lipase Knockout Mice. *Biochemistry*, 38, 4143-9.
- Wetterau, Aggerbeck, L., Bouma, M., Eisenberg, C., Munck, A., Hermier, M., Schmitz, J., Gay, G., Rader, D. & Gregg, R. 1992. Absence Of Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein In Individuals With Abetalipoproteinemia. *Science*, 258, 999-1001.
- Whited, K. L., Thao, D., Lloyd, K. C., Kopin, A. S. & Raybould, H. E. 2006. Targeted Disruption Of The Murine Cck1 Receptor Gene Reduces Intestinal Lipid-Induced

Feedback Inhibition Of Gastric Function. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 291, G156-62.

- Wiles, S., Clare, S., Harker, J., Huett, A., Young, D., Dougan, G. & Frankel, G. 2004. Organ Specificity, Colonization And Clearance Dynamics In Vivo Following Oral Challenges With The Murine Pathogen Citrobacter Rodentium. *Cell Microbiol*, 6, 963-72.
- Wittenberg, J. & Kornberg, A. 1953. Choline Phosphokinase. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 202, 431-444.
- Wlodarska, M., Willing, B., Keeney, K. M., Menendez, A., Bergstrom, K. S., Gill, N., Russell, S. L., Vallance, B. A. & Finlay, B. B. 2011. Antibiotic Treatment Alters The Colonic Mucus Layer And Predisposes The Host To Exacerbated Citrobacter Rodentium-Induced Colitis. *Infect Immun*, 79, 1536-45.
- Woollett, L. A., Buckley, D. D., Yao, L., Jones, P. J., Granholm, N. A., Tolley, E. A., Tso, P. & Heubi, J. E. 2004. Cholic Acid Supplementation Enhances Cholesterol Absorption In Humans. *Gastroenterology*, 126, 724-31.
- Woollett, L. A., Wang, Y., Buckley, D. D., Yao, L., Chin, S., Granholm, N., Jones, P. J., Setchell, K. D., Tso, P. & Heubi, J. E. 2006. Micellar Solubilisation Of Cholesterol Is Essential For Absorption In Humans. *Gut*, 55, 197-204.
- Xiao, C., Bandsma, R. H., Dash, S., Szeto, L. & Lewis, G. F. 2012. Exenatide, A Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist, Acutely Inhibits Intestinal Lipoprotein Production In Healthy Humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 32, 1513-9.
- Xiao, C., Dash, S., Morgantini, C. & Lewis, G. F. 2013. Novel Role Of Enteral Monosaccharides In Intestinal Lipoprotein Production In Healthy Humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 33, 1056-62.
- Xiao, C., Dash, S., Morgantini, C. & Lewis, G. F. 2016. Intravenous Glucose Acutely Stimulates Intestinal Lipoprotein Secretion In Healthy Humans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 36, 1457-63.
- Xiao, C., Dash, S., Morgantini, C., Patterson, B. W. & Lewis, G. F. 2014. Sitagliptin, A Dpp-4 Inhibitor, Acutely Inhibits Intestinal Lipoprotein Particle Secretion In Healthy Humans. *Diabetes*, 63, 2394-401.
- Xiao, X., Mukherjee, A., Ross, L. E. & Lowe, M. E. 2011. Pancreatic Lipase-Related Protein-2 (Plrp2) Can Contribute To Dietary Fat Digestion In Human Newborns. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 26353-63.
- Xie, P., Guo, F., Ma, Y., Zhu, H., Wang, F., Xue, B., Shi, H., Yang, J. & Yu, L. 2014. Intestinal Cgi-58 Deficiency Reduces Postprandial Lipid Absorption. *Plos One*, 9, E91652.
- Xie, Y., Newberry, E. P., Young, S. G., Robine, S., Hamilton, R. L., Wong, J. S., Luo, J., Kennedy, S. & Davidson, N. O. 2006. Compensatory Increase In Hepatic Lipogenesis In Mice With Conditional Intestine-Specific Mttp Deficiency. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 4075-86.
- Yamashita, A., Hayashi, Y., Nemoto-Sasaki, Y., Ito, M., Oka, S., Tanikawa, T., Waku, K. & Sugiura, T. 2014. Acyltransferases And Transacylases That Determine The Fatty Acid Composition Of Glycerolipids And The Metabolism Of Bioactive Lipid Mediators In Mammalian Cells And Model Organisms. *Prog Lipid Res*, 53, 18-81.
- Yamashita, A., Sugiura, T. & Waku, K. 1997. Acyltransferases And Transacylases Involved In Fatty Acid Remodeling Of Phospholipids And Metabolism Of Bioactive Lipids In Mammalian Cells. J Biochem, 122, 1-16.
- Yang, Q., Bermingham, N. A., Finegold, M. J. & Zoghbi, H. Y. 2001. Requirement Of Math1 For Secretory Cell Lineage Commitment In The Mouse Intestine. *Science*, 294, 2155-8.

- Yao, Z. & Vance, D. E. 1988. The Active Synthesis Of Phosphatidylcholine Is Required For Very Low Density Lipoprotein Secretion From Rat Hepatocytes. J. Biol. Chem., 263, 2998-3004.
- Yao, Z. M. & Vance, D. E. 1990. Reduction In Vldl, But Not Hdl, In Plasma Of Rats Deficient In Choline. *Biochem Cell Biol*, 68, 552-8.
- Yen, C. L., Cheong, M. L., Grueter, C., Zhou, P., Moriwaki, J., Wong, J. S., Hubbard, B., Marmor, S. & Farese, R. V. 2009. Deficiency Of The Intestinal Enzyme Acyl Coa:Monoacylglycerol Acyltransferase-2 Protects Mice From Metabolic Disorders Induced By High-Fat Feeding. *Nat Med*, 15, 442-6.
- Yen, C. L. & Farese, R. V., Jr. 2003. Mgat2, A Monoacylglycerol Acyltransferase Expressed In The Small Intestine. J Biol Chem, 278, 18532-7.
- Young, S. G., Cham, C. M., Pitas, R. E., Burri, B. J., Connolly, A., Flynn, L., Pappu, A. S., Wong, J. S., Hamilton, R. L. & Farese, R. V. 1995. A Genetic Model For Absent Chylomicron Formation: Mice Producing Apolipoprotein B In The Liver, But Not In The Intestine. J Clin Invest, 96, 2932-46.
- Zborowski, J., Dygas, A. & Wojtczak, L. 1983. Phosphatidylserine Decarboxylase Is Located On The External Side Of The Inner Mitochondrial Membrane. *Febs Lett*, 157, 179-82.
- Zeisel, S. H., Da Costa, K. A., Franklin, P. D., Alexander, E. A., Lamont, J. T., Sheard, N. F. & Beiser, A. 1991. Choline, An Essential Nutrient For Humans. *Faseb J*, 5, 2093-8.
- Zhang, D., Tang, W., Yao, P. M., Yang, C., Xie, B., Jackowski, S. & Tabas, I. 2000.
 Macrophages Deficient In Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase-Alpha Are Viable
 Under Normal Culture Conditions But Are Highly Susceptible To Free Cholesterol Induced Death. Molecular Genetic Evidence That The Induction Of Phosphatidylcholine
 Biosynthesis In Free Cholesterol-Loaded Macrophages Is An Adaptive Response. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 35368-76.
- Zhang, F., Zarkada, G., Han, J., Li, J., Dubrac, A., Ola, R., Genet, G., Boyé, K., Michon, P., Künzel, S. E., Camporez, J. P., Singh, A. K., Fong, G. H., Simons, M., Tso, P., Fernández-Hernando, C., Shulman, G. I., Sessa, W. C. & Eichmann, A. 2018. Lacteal Junction Zippering Protects Against Diet-Induced Obesity. *Science*, 361, 599-603.
- Zhang, L. J., Wang, C., Yuan, Y., Wang, H., Wu, J., Liu, F., Li, L., Gao, X., Zhao, Y. L., Hu, P. Z., Li, P. & Ye, J. 2014. Cideb Facilitates The Lipidation Of Chylomicrons In The Small Intestine. *J Lipid Res*, 55, 1279-87.
- Zhang, M., Mileykovskaya, E. & Dowhan, W. 2005. Cardiolipin Is Essential For Organization Of Complexes Iii And Iv Into A Supercomplex In Intact Yeast Mitochondria. J Biol Chem, 280, 29403-8.
- Zhao, G., Souers, A. J., Voorbach, M., Falls, H. D., Droz, B., Brodjian, S., Lau, Y. Y., Iyengar, R. R., Gao, J., Judd, A. S., Wagaw, S. H., Ravn, M. M., Engstrom, K. M., Lynch, J. K., Mulhern, M. M., Freeman, J., Dayton, B. D., Wang, X., Grihalde, N., Fry, D., Beno, D. W., Marsh, K. C., Su, Z., Diaz, G. J., Collins, C. A., Sham, H., Reilly, R. M., Brune, M. E. & Kym, P. R. 2008a. Validation Of Diacyl Glycerolacyltransferase I As A Novel Target For The Treatment Of Obesity And Dyslipidemia Using A Potent And Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor. *J Med Chem*, 51, 380-3.
- Zhao, Y., Chen, Y. Q., Bonacci, T. M., Bredt, D. S., Li, S., Bensch, W. R., Moller, D. E., Kowala, M., Konrad, R. J. & Cao, G. 2008b. Identification And Characterization Of A Major Liver Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 8258-65.

CHAPTER 2: Research plan

2.1 Rationale

Phosphatidylcholine (PC) is the primary phospholipid in mammalian cell membranes (Keenan and Morré, 1970). The activity of the enzyme CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase (CT) is rate-limiting in the CDP-choline pathway for de novo PC synthesis in all nucleated mammalian cells under most conditions (Kennedy and Weiss, 1956, Sundler et al., 1972, Paddon and Vance, 1980)(Figure 1.1). Consistent with a critical role for membrane biogenesis during development, global deletion of *Pcvt1a* (the gene encoding $CT\alpha$) is embryonically lethal in mice (Wang et al., 2005). Mouse models with tissue-specific deletion of $CT\alpha$ have revealed important roles for de novo PC synthesis in mammalian physiology and regulation of lipid homeostasis. In hepatocytes, PC produced by the CDP-choline pathway and the PEMT pathway are independently required for VLDL secretion (Noga et al., 2002, Jacobs et al., 2004, Jacobs et al., 2008). Furthermore, disruption of hepatic PC homeostasis is linked to liver inflammation and fibrosis in humans and mice, reflecting the essential role of PC supply for membrane integrity (Li et al., 2006). In macrophages, impaired de novo PC synthesis increases susceptibility to cholesterolinduced death (Zhang et al., 2000). Humans with biallelic loss-of-function mutations in Pcvtla have lipodystrophy, suggesting that de novo PC synthesis plays a role in adipose tissue lipid storage (Payne et al., 2014). Maintaining lipid homeostasis and membrane integrity is likely to be especially important in the intestinal epithelium, a monolayer of selectively permeable cells that controls nutrient uptake in the face of constant immunological challenges from various luminal antigens. However, the role of de novo PC synthesis in intestinal epithelial cells has not be investigated.

Dietary and biliary PC delivered to the small intestinal lumen is hydrolyzed to lyso-PC and unesterified fatty acids by phospholipase A2 (Nilsson, 1968, Parthasarathy et al., 1974). Mice with genetic ablation of ATP-binding cassette sub-family B member 4 are unable to secrete PC into bile and have impaired chylomicron output, suggesting that biliary PC is required for chylomicron formation (Voshol et al., 2000). Intestine-specific deletion of lyso-PC acyltransferase 3 in mice results in lower abundance of PC species containing polyunsaturated fatty acids in the intestinal epithelium, which is associated with impaired fatty acid uptake (Wang et al., 2016, Li et al., 2015). Taken together, these results show that biliary PC supply and phospholipid remodeling play important roles in dietary lipid absorption. Whether *de novo* PC synthesis plays a similarly important role in intestinal lipid metabolism remains unknown.

In addition to its role in nutrient absorption, the intestinal epithelium serves as a crucial barrier against antigens in the intestinal lumen. The mucosal barrier consists of a hydrated mucus layer, plasma membranes of epithelial cells, tight junctions between cells, and a variety of secreted antimicrobial molecules (Turner, 2009). Inflammatory bowel diseases arise when defects in the mucosal barrier allow antigens in the intestinal lumen to interact with the immune system underlying the intestinal epithelium (Khor et al., 2011). PC is abundant in both the mucus layer and membranes of the intestinal epithelium (Ehehalt et al., 2004). Patients with ulcerative colitis have lower PC concentrations in the mucus layer of their distal intestines relative to controls without ulcerative colitis (Braun et al., 2009, Ehehalt et al., 2004). Furthermore, PC delivery to the distal intestine of ulcerative colitis patients has been shown to reduce markers of disease severity (Stremmel et al., 2005, Stremmel et al., 2007, Karner et al., 2014). However, the role that *de novo* PC synthesis plays in mucosal barrier function *in vivo* has not been investigated.

2.2 Objectives and hypotheses

The overall objective of this research was to determine the role of *de novo* PC synthesis in intestinal lipid metabolism and mucosal barrier function. The specific aims of this research were:

- 1. To generate a mouse model with intestine-specific deletion of $CT\alpha$ using tamoxifeninducible Cre-Lox recombination ($CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice). We initially hypothesized that these mice would have impaired intestinal viability due to the purported role for PC in cellular proliferation.
- To determine the role of *de novo* PC synthesis in intestinal TG uptake and secretion. We hypothesized that CTα^{IKO} mice would have impaired intestinal TG secretion due to inadequate PC supply for assembly of the lipoprotein phospholipid monolayer (Chapter 3). Gene expression microarray analysis of intestinal epithelial cells isolated from control mice and CTα^{IKO} mice showed that loss of intestinal CTα induces a robust immune response. Based on these data, we generated the following aims and objectives:
- 3. To determine whether $CT\alpha$ activity is involved in intestinal barrier function and innate immune responses in the gut. We hypothesized that impaired intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis increases exposure of the intestinal epithelium to luminal antigens due to lower mucus PC concentrations and impaired intestinal barrier function. (Chapter 4).
- 4. To determine whether insufficient dietary choline, a key dietary substrate for *de novo* PC synthesis, increases susceptibility to colitis induced by *Citrobacter rodentium*, a murine attaching-effacing pathogen (Chapter 5).

2.3 Chapter format

Chapter 3 reports that loss of intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis impairs dietary lipid uptake in the setting of a high fat diet (HFD), but not a chow diet. Fat malabsorption after loss of intestinal CT α is linked to enhanced postprandial enteroendocrine hormone secretion and reduced adiposity. Furthermore, we report an unexpected crosstalk between the intestine and liver that that is modulated by impaired intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis: biliary bile acid and lipid secretion is enhanced in CT α^{IKO} mice due to augmented proximal intestine bile acid uptake and accelerated enterohepatic bile acid cycling. Our study shows that the intestine has a specific requirement for *de novo* PC synthesis and that the re-acylation of biliary lyso-PC is insufficient to maintain intestinal metabolic function in the setting of a HFD.

Chapter 4 reports that *de novo* PC synthesis in the intestinal epithelium protects against intestinal injury in mice. Loss of intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis results in rapid and spontaneous colitis with hyperproliferation of intestinal epithelial cells. Colitis development in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is linked to induction of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in intestinal epithelial cells, impaired goblet cell maturation, and damage to the mucus barrier. Our results suggest that $CT\alpha$ activity in intestinal epithelial cells is important for maintaining gut barrier integrity.

Chapter 5 reports that mice fed insufficient dietary choline develop more severe colitis following *Citrobacter rodentium* infection compared with mice fed normal or high levels of choline. There was more severe loss of goblet cells and enhanced production of proinflammatory cytokines in the colons of mice fed insufficient dietary choline than mice fed adequate levels of choline. Our study shows that dietary choline supply is an important for maintaining goblet cell abundance in the setting of intestinal inflammation in mice.

2.4 References

- Braun, A., Treede, I., Gotthardt, D., Tietje, A., Zahn, A., Ruhwald, R., Schoenfeld, U., Welsch, T., Kienle, P., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Fuellekrug, J., Stremmel, W. & Ehehalt, R. 2009. Alterations Of Phospholipid Concentration And Species Composition Of The Intestinal Mucus Barrier In Ulcerative Colitis: A Clue To Pathogenesis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 15, 1705-20.
- Ehehalt, R., Wagenblast, J., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Hinz, U., Merle, U. & Stremmel, W. 2004. Phosphatidylcholine And Lysophosphatidylcholine In Intestinal Mucus Of Ulcerative Colitis Patients. A Quantitative Approach By Nanoelectrospray-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Scand J Gastroenterol*, 39, 737-42.
- Jacobs, R. L., Devlin, C., Tabas, I. & Vance, D. E. 2004. Targeted Deletion Of Hepatic Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha In Mice Decreases Plasma High Density And Very Low Density Lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 47402-10.
- Jacobs, R. L., Lingrell, S., Zhao, Y., Francis, G. A. & Vance, D. E. 2008. Hepatic Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase-Alpha Is A Critical Predictor Of Plasma High Density Lipoprotein And Very Low Density Lipoprotein. J Biol Chem, 283, 2147-55.
- Karner, M., Kocjan, A., Stein, J., Schreiber, S., Von Boyen, G., Uebel, P., Schmidt, C., Kupcinskas, L., Dina, I., Zuelch, F., Keilhauer, G. & Stremmel, W. 2014. First Multicenter Study Of Modified Release Phosphatidylcholine "Lt-02" In Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial In Mesalazine-Refractory Courses. Am J Gastroenterol, 109, 1041-51.
- Keenan, T. W. & Morré, D. J. 1970. Phospholipid Class And Fatty Acid Composition Of Golgi Apparatus Isolated From Rat Liver And Comparison With Other Cell Fractions. *Biochemistry*, 9, 19-25.
- Kennedy, E., P. & Weiss, S., B. 1956. The Function Of Cytidine Coenzymes In The Biosynthesis Of Phospholipides. J. Biol. Chem., 222, 193-214.
- Khor, B., Gardet, A. & Xavier, R. J. 2011. Genetics And Pathogenesis Of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Nature*, 474, 307-17.
- Li, Z., Agellon, L. B., Allen, T. M., Umeda, M., Jewell, L., Mason, A. & Vance, D. E. 2006. The Ratio Of Phosphatidylcholine To Phosphatidylethanolamine Influences Membrane Integrity And Steatohepatitis. *Cell Metab*, 3, 321-31.
- Li, Z., Jiang, H., Ding, T., Lou, C., Bui, H. H., Kuo, M. S. & Jiang, X. C. 2015. Deficiency In Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase 3 Reduces Plasma Levels Of Lipids By Reducing Lipid Absorption In Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 149, 1519-29.
- Nilsson, A. 1968. Intestinal Absorption Of Lecithin And Lysolecithin By Lymph Fistula Rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 152, 379-90.
- Noga, A. A., Zhao, Y. & Vance, D. E. 2002. An Unexpected Requirement For Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase In The Secretion Of Very Low Density Lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 42358-65.
- Paddon, H. B. & Vance, D. E. 1980. Tetradecanoyl-Phorbol Acetate Stimulates Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis In Hela Cells By An Increase In The Rate Of The Reaction Catalyzed By Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 620, 636-40.
- Parthasarathy, S., Subbaiah, P. V. & Ganguly, J. 1974. The Mechanism Of Intestinal Absorption Of Phosphatidylcholine In Rats. *Biochem J*, 140, 503-8.

- Payne, F., Lim, K., Girousse, A., Brown, R. J., Kory, N., Robbins, A., Xue, Y., Sleigh, A., Cochran, E., Adams, C., Dev Borman, A., Russel-Jones, D., Gorden, P., Semple, R. K., Saudek, V., O'rahilly, S., Walther, T. C., Barroso, I. & Savage, D. B. 2014. Mutations Disrupting The Kennedy Phosphatidylcholine Pathway In Humans With Congenital Lipodystrophy And Fatty Liver Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 8901-6.
- Stremmel, W., Ehehalt, R., Autschbach, F. & Karner, M. 2007. Phosphatidylcholine For Steroid-Refractory Chronic Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized Trial. Ann Intern Med, 147, 603-10.
- Stremmel, W., Merle, U., Zahn, A., Autschbach, F., Hinz, U. & Ehehalt, R. 2005. Retarded Release Phosphatidylcholine Benefits Patients With Chronic Active Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut*, 54, 966-71.
- Sundler, R., Arvidson, G. & Akesson, B. 1972. Pathways For The Incorporation Of Choline Into Rat Liver Phosphatidylcholines In Vivo. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 280, 559-68.
- Turner, J. R. 2009. Intestinal Mucosal Barrier Function In Health And Disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9, 799-809.
- Voshol, P. J., Minich, D. M., Havinga, R., Elferink, R. P., Verkade, H. J., Groen, A. K. & Kuipers, F. 2000. Postprandial Chylomicron Formation And Fat Absorption In Multidrug Resistance Gene 2 P-Glycoprotein-Deficient Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 118, 173-82.
- Wang, B., Rong, X., Duerr, M. A., Hermanson, D. J., Hedde, P. N., Wong, J. S., Vallim, T. Q., Cravatt, B. F., Gratton, E., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2016. Intestinal Phospholipid Remodeling Is Required For Dietary-Lipid Uptake And Survival On A High-Fat Diet. *Cell Metab*, 23, 492-504.
- Wang, L., Magdaleno, S., Tabas, I. & Jackowski, S. 2005. Early Embryonic Lethality In Mice With Targeted Deletion Of The Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha Gene (Pcyt1a). *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 3357-63.
- Zhang, D., Tang, W., Yao, P. M., Yang, C., Xie, B., Jackowski, S. & Tabas, I. 2000. Macrophages Deficient In Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase-Alpha Are Viable Under Normal Culture Conditions But Are Highly Susceptible To Free Cholesterol-Induced Death. Molecular Genetic Evidence That The Induction Of Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis In Free Cholesterol-Loaded Macrophages Is An Adaptive Response. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 35368-76.

<u>CHAPTER 3:</u> Intestinal *De Novo* Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis is Required for Dietary Lipid Absorption and Metabolic Homeostasis

A version of this chapter has been published as J.P. Kennelly, J.N. van der Veen, R.C. Nelson, K. Leonard, R. Havinga, J. Buteau, F. Kuipers, and R.L. Jacobs. 2018. *Intestinal De Novo Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis is Required for Dietary Lipid Absorption and Metabolic Homeostasis*. JLR (1695-1708).

3.1 Introduction

Phospholipids form the matrix of biological membranes, provide precursors for a variety of signaling molecules, and allow assembly and secretion of lipoproteins (van der Veen et al., 2017). Phosphatidylcholine (PC) is the primary phospholipid in eukaryotic cells (van der Veen et al., 2017). The amphitropic enzyme CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase (CT) regulates *de novo* PC synthesis in response to changes in membrane lipid composition in all nucleated mammalian cells (Cornell and Ridgway, 2015). Global deletion of CT α (encoded by *Pcyt1a*) is embryonic lethal in mice, reflecting the essential role of membrane biogenesis during development (Wang et al., 2005). Mice lacking CT α in the liver have impaired very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) secretion and accumulate neutral lipids in hepatocytes (Jacobs et al., 2004) despite the presence of a second route for hepatic PC synthesis *via* the methylation of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) by phosphatidylethanolamine-N-methyltransferase (PEMT). Similarly, CT α cannot compensate for the loss of PEMT in generating PC for VLDL assembly (Noga et al., 2002).

Intestinal PC can be derived from the diet, bile, circulating lipoproteins, and from local *de novo* synthesis. Dietary and biliary PC is hydrolyzed in the intestinal lumen by phospholipase A2 to lyso-PC and fatty acids before being absorbed into enterocytes, delivered to the endoplasmic reticulum, and re-acylated into PC by lyso-PC acyltransferase (LPCAT) enzymes (Nilsson, 1968, Parthasarathy et al., 1974). Mice lacking hepatic Abcb4, which is required for PC secretion into bile, have normal passage of fatty acids from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes but have impaired chylomicron assembly and secretion, highlighting the importance of biliary PC for chylomicron output (Voshol et al., 2000). Furthermore, loss of intestinal Lpcat3, which incorporates polyunsaturated fatty acids into PC, impairs dietary lipid absorption despite maintenance of total intestinal PC mass (Li et al., 2015, Wang et al., 2016). Conversely, increasing the delivery of PC to the intestinal lumen promotes chylomicron secretion (Tso et al., 1981). Therefore, while the re-acylation of lyso-PC derived from the intestinal lumen is important for chylomicron production, the precise contribution that intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis makes to this process is unknown.

In the present study we hypothesized that loss of intestinal CT α activity would cause TG accumulation in enterocytes due to insufficient supply of PC for chylomicron assembly. However, we unexpectedly found that loss of intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis impairs passage of fatty acids from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes in the setting of a high fat diet (HFD), but not a chow diet. Fat malabsorption is linked to the repression of genes involved in fatty acid uptake, enhanced postprandial enteroendocrine hormone secretion, and reduced adiposity. Furthermore, we show that loss of intestinal CT α promotes biliary bile acid and lipid secretion by accelerating enterohepatic bile acid cycling. Our data provide evidence of a specific requirement for intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis in the maintenance of intestinal metabolic functions and show that the reacylation of lyso-PC from extra-intestinal sources is insufficient to maintain metabolic function during HFD feeding.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Generation of mice with intestine-specific deletion of Pcytla

Mice carrying a floxed Pcytla locus (Pcytla^{LoxP/LoxP}) on a C57BL/6J background were crossed with mice expressing a tamoxifen-inducible Cre-recombinase transgene under the control of a villin promoter (villin-CreER^{T2}) (el Marjou et al., 2004) to generate *Pcvt1a*^{LoxP/WT};villin-CreER^{T2} mice (with the capacity to induce a heterozygous deletion of intestinal CTa after tamoxifen treatment). Subsequent cross-breeding of Pcvt1a^{LoxP/WT};villin-CreER^{T2} mice resulted in the generation of *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/LoxP};villin-CreER^{T2} mice (with the capacity to induce a homozygous deletion of intestinal CTa after tamoxifen treatment). Genomic DNA was extracted from tail biopsies with a DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Oiagen, UK). PCR products were identified on a 3% agarose gel (floxed *Pcvt1a* band) or a 1.5% agarose gel (Villin Cre-inducible band). Cre was induced in 8-12-week-old male or female mice by intraperitoneal injection of tamoxifen (1mg/day in sunflower oil for 5 days; Sigma, St. Louis, MO), while tamoxifen-treated Pcvtla^{LoxP/LoxP} mice were used as controls. Mice were fed a chow diet (5001, Lab Diet, St. Louis, MO) or a semipurified HFD containing 40% kilocalories as fat (Table 3.1). Mice were housed in a temperaturecontrolled room with 12-h light/dark cycle and free access to food and water. Samples were collected after a 10-h fast or after overnight fasting followed by 2-h re-feeding, unless otherwise stated. Small intestines were excised, flushed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, St. Louis, MO), and kept on ice. The small intestine was divided into 3 portions of length ratio 1:3:2 (corresponding to duodenum: jejunum: ileum) before jejunum sections were fixed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin for histology. Epithelial cells were collected in liquid nitrogen after segments were opened longitudinally. The University of Alberta's Institutional Animal Care Committee approved all animal procedures,

Improvidential270Casein ¹ (g)170Sucrose ² (g)195Cellulose ¹ (g)80AlN-93-VX Vitamin Mix ¹ (g)50Calcium Phosphate Dibasic ² (g)3.4myo-Inositiol ² (g)6.3L-cysteine ² (g)1.8Choline Bitartrate ² (g)4.2Vegetable Oil ³ (g)22Corn Oil ⁴ (g)10Lard ⁵ (g)1.5DHAsco ⁶ (g)1.5Arasco ⁶ (g)1.5Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 1.10C16:021.01C16:021.01C16:021.01C16:021.02C18:012.28C18:012.28C18:037.0518:2n-622.95C20:00.33C18:3n-31.64C20:10.05C22:00.0620:4n-60.3122:6n-30.32***<	Ingredients		
Corn Starch ¹ (g)170Sucrose ² (g)195Cellulose ¹ (g)80AIN-93-VX Vitamin Mix ¹ (g)9Bernhart-Tomarelli Mineral Mix ¹ (g)50Calcium Phosphate Dibasic ² (g)3.4myo-Inositiol ² (g)6.3L-cysteine ² (g)1.8Choline Bitartrate ² (g)4.2Vegetable Oil ³ (g)32Corn Oil ⁴ (g)10Lard ⁵ (g)155DHAsco ⁶ (g)1.5Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids)?1.10C16:021.01C16:1n-91.73C18:012.28C18:1n-937.0518:2n-622.95C20:00.33C18:3n-31.64C20:10.05C20:2n-60.4420:3n-60.33C22:00.0620:4n-60.3122:6n-30.32** ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)		270	
Sucrose² (g)195Cellulose¹ (g)80AIN-93-VX Vitamin Mix¹ (g)90Bernhart-Tomarelli Mineral Mix¹ (g)50Calcium Phosphate Dibasic² (g)3.4myo-Inositiol² (g)6.3L-cysteine² (g)1.8Choline Bitartrate² (g)4.2Vegetable Oil³ (g)32Corn Oil⁴ (g)10Lard⁵ (g)1.5DHAsco⁶ (g)1.5Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids)²1.10C16:021.01C16:1n-91.73C18:012.28C18:1n-937.0518:2n-622.95C20:00.33C18:3n-31.64C20:10.05C20:2n-60.4420:3n-60.31C2:00.33C18:00.3122:00.0620:4n-60.3122:00.32'I Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA)³Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA)********************************** <td></td> <td></td>			
Cellulose ¹ (g) 80 AIN-93-VX Vitamin Mix ¹ (g) 19 Bernhart-Tomarelli Mineral Mix ¹ (g) 50 Calcium Phosphate Dibasic ² (g) 3.4 myo-Inositiol ² (g) 6.3 L-cysteine ² (g) 1.8 Choline Bitartrate ² (g) 4.2 Vegetable Oil ³ (g) 32 Corn Oil ⁴ (g) 10 Lard ⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C2:0 0.03 C2:0 0.03 C2:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 0.31 C2:0 0.33 C2:0 0.33 C2:0 0.33 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td></t<>			
AIN-93-VX Vitamin Mix¹ (g) 19 Bernhart-Tomarelli Mineral Mix¹ (g) 50 Calcium Phosphate Dibasic² (g) 3.4 myo-Inositiol² (g) 6.3 L-cysteine² (g) 1.8 Choline Bitartrate² (g) 4.2 Vegetable Oil³ (g) 32 Corn Oil⁴ (g) 10 Lard⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids)² 10 C14:0 1.10 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C22:0 0.06 20:3n-6 0.33 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 C2:0-1 0.32 C2:0-1 0.32 C2:0-3 0.32 C2:0-3 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td></t<>			
Bernhart-Tomarelli Mineral Mix1 (g)50Calcium Phosphate Dibasic2 (g)3.4myo-Inositiol2 (g)6.3L-cysteine2 (g)1.8Choline Bitartrate2 (g)4.2Vegetable Oil3 (g)32Corn Oil4 (g)10Lard5 (g)155DHAsco6 (g)1.5Arasco6 (g)1.5Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids)71.10C14:01.10C16:021.01C16:1n-91.73C18:012.28C18:1n-937.0518:2n-622.95C20:00.33C18:3n-31.64C20:10.05C20:2n-60.0420:3n-60.03C22:00.0620:4n-60.3122:6n-30.32"1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)*************************** <td c<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></td>	<td></td> <td></td>		
Calcium Phosphate Dibasic ² (g) 3.4 myo-Inositiol ² (g) 6.3 L-cysteine ² (g) 1.8 Choline Bitartrate ² (g) 4.2 Vegetable Oil ³ (g) 32 Corn Oil ⁴ (g) 10 Lard ⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 1.10 C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.03 C22:20 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 3 ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) <			
myo-Inositiol ² (g) 6.3 L-cysteine ² (g) 1.8 Choline Bitartrate ² (g) 4.2 Vegetable Oil ³ (g) 32 Corn Oil ⁴ (g) 10 Lard ⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 1.10 C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.33 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 T Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) - ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago,	5		
L-cysteine² (g)1.8Choline Bitartrate² (g)4.2Vegetable Oil³ (g)32Corn Oil⁴ (g)10Lard⁵ (g)155DHAsco⁶ (g)1.5Arasco⁶ (g)1.5Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids)²1.10C14:01.10C16:021.01C16:1n-91.73C18:012.28C18:1n-937.0518:2n-622.95C20:00.33C18:3n-31.64C20:10.05C20:2n-60.0320:3n-60.3122:6n-30.32**¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA)³Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA)⁴Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA)⁶DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)⁶DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)			
Choline Bitartrate ² (g) 4.2 Vegetable Oil ³ (g) 32 Corn Oil ⁴ (g) 10 Lard ⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 1.10 C14:0 1.10 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.33 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 Vertable (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 3 2 Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 3 Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 4 Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)			
Vegetable Oil ³ (g) 32 Corn Oil ⁴ (g) 10 Lard ⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 110 C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.33 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 T Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)			
Corn Oil ⁴ (g) 10 Lard ⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 1.0 C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.31 C2:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 V V ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 32 ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 32 ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) 5 ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)		4.2	
Lard ⁵ (g) 155 DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ 1.0 C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) * ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) * ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	Vegetable Oil ³ (g)	32	
DHAsco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ I C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.33 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 3 ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) 5 ⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) 6 ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	Corn Oil ⁴ (g)	10	
Arasco ⁶ (g) 1.5 Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ I C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 * * ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) * ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) * ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) * ⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) * ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands) *	Lard ⁵ (g)	155	
Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷ I.10 C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 * * 1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * * * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * * * Gada ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) * * * * * * * * * * <td< td=""><td>DHAsco⁶ (g)</td><td>1.5</td></td<>	DHAsco ⁶ (g)	1.5	
C14:0 1.10 C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 * * 1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) * * * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * * * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * <td>Arasco⁶ (g)</td> <td>1.5</td>	Arasco ⁶ (g)	1.5	
C16:0 21.01 C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 2 Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) 5 TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) 6 DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	Fatty acid composition (g/100g of total fatty acids) ⁷		
C16:1n-9 1.73 C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 * 1 1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) * 2 3 Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) * 4 * 3 * 4 * 5 Tender Flake (Chicago, IL, USA) * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 * 5 <td>C14:0</td> <td>1.10</td>	C14:0	1.10	
C18:0 12.28 C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 * * 1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) * * * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * * * Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * </td <td>C16:0</td> <td>21.01</td>	C16:0	21.01	
C18:1n-9 37.05 18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 2 Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 Grisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) 5 TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) 6 DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	C16:1n-9	1.73	
18:2n-6 22.95 C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 1 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 2 Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 Grisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) 5 TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) 6 DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	C18:0	12.28	
C20:0 0.33 C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)	C18:1n-9	37.05	
C18:3n-3 1.64 C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 ***********************************	18:2n-6	22.95	
C20:1 0.05 C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 ***********************************			
C20:2n-6 0.44 20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 0.32 ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) 3 ³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) 4 ⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) 5 ⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) 6 ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands) 1			
20:3n-6 0.03 C22:0 0.06 20:4n-6 0.31 22:6n-3 0.32 ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) 0.32 ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA)			
C22:00.0620:4n-60.3122:6n-30.321Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)2Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA)3Grisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA)4Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA)5TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA)6DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)			
20:4n-60.3122:6n-30.321 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)2 Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA)3 Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA)4 Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA)5 TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA)6 DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)			
22:6n-30.321 Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)2 Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA)3Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA)4Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA)5TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA)6DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)			
 ¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA) ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) ³Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) ⁴Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) ⁶DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands) 			
 ² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA) ³Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) ⁴Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) ⁶DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands) 	22:60-3	0.32	
 ³Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA) ⁴Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) ⁶DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands) 	¹ Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)		
 ⁴Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA) ⁵TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) ⁶DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands) 	² Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA)		
⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA) ⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	³ Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA)		
⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	⁴ Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA)		
⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)	⁵ TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA)		
⁷ Determined by gas-liquid chromatography	⁶ DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)		

which were in accordance with guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

3.2.3 Microscopy

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue slices (5µm thick) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and visualized with a light microscope. For electron microscopy, 2cm jejunal rings were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). Sections were cryo-sectioned with an ultramicrotome (Ultracut E, Reichert-Jung) equipped with an FC4D attachment, and images were obtained using a Philips 410 transmission electron microscope.

3.2.3 mRNA isolation and quantification by PCR

Total RNA was isolated from intestinal scrapings or liver using Trizol (Invitrogen, CA, USA). RNA was reversed-transcribed using Superscript II (Invitrogen, CA, USA). Quantitative PCR was run on an Applied Biosystems StepOne Plus for 40 cycles using a Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, MA, USA), in triplicate. Relative mRNA expression was normalized to cyclophilin. Quantitation was performed using the standard curves method. Primer sequences are listed in Table 3.2.

Gene	Forward sequence	Reverse sequence
Pcyt1a	GCT AAA GTC AAT TCG AGG AA	CAT AGG GCT TAC TAA AGT CAA CT
Mogat2	TAC AGC TTT GGC CTC ATG C	AGG GCT GTG GTG TCA TCT G
Dgat2	GGC TAC GTT GGC TGG TAA CTT	TTC AGG GTG ACT GCG TTC TT
Abhd5	ATC TTT GGA GCC CGA TCC T	CTT CTG GCT GAT CTG CAT ACA C
Cidec	GGG TCA CAG CTT GGA GGA	CTC CAC GAT TGT GCC ATC T
Mttp	ATA CAT GCA AAA TTG AGC GGT CT	CCT GGT CTC TTC TGC AAG CAC
Арос3	AGG AGT CCG ATA TAG CTG TGG T	TGC TCC AGT AGC CTT TCA GG
Lpcat3	GGC CTC TCA ATT GCT TAT TTC A	AGC ACG ACA CAT AGC AAG GA
Lpcat4	GGC CTC CAG AGG GTT AAG TT	AAA AGC TAG AAG TAC TCG GAT TGG
Cd36	TGG CTA AAT GAG ACT GGG ACC	ACA TCA CCA CTC CAA TCC CAA G
Slc27a4	GAA GGG GGA CCA AGC CTA	AGT TCC TGG CAC CTC AAC AC
Fabp6	GGC AAA GAA TGT GAA ATG CAG	CCG AAG TCT GGT GAT AGT TGG
Slc10a2	AGC TGG TCA ACC CTG GTA CA	GGG GGA GAA GGA GAG CTG
Slc51a	GCT GCC CAC CTC TCA TAC TT	GAA GAA GGC GTA CTG GAA AGG
Slc51b	GAG CAT CCT GGC AAA CAG A	TGC AGG TCT TCT GGT GTT TCT
Nr0b2	CGA TCC TCT TCA ACC CAG AT	AGC CTC CTG TTG CAG GTG T
Cyp7a1	ACA CCA TTC CTG CAA CCT TC	TCT TGG CCA GCA CTC TGT AA
Cyp8b1	GCA GCA CTG AAT ACC CAT CC	TCT GAG AGC TGG GGA GAG G
Cyp27a1	CTT TCC TGA GCT GCT TTT GG	CAC CAG TCA CTT CCT TGT GC

3.2.4 Fatty acid absorption

Intestinal fatty acid absorption was quantified as described previously (Yen et al., 2009), with modifications. Briefly, male control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were fasted for 4 h before receiving an oral gavage of 150µL of olive oil containing 5µCi [³H]-labelled triolein. Blood was collected at 30-, 60-, 90- and 120-mins post-gavage. At 120 mins post-gavage, the small intestine was excised, flushed with 40ml PBS containing 0.5mM sodium taurocholate and cut into 2cm segments. Segments were dissolved in 1N NaOH for 3 days at 60°C. Plasma and tissue [³H]-label was measured by liquid scintillation counting (Beckman Coulter Inc, CA). For poloxamer studies, mice were fasted for 10 h before receiving an intraperitoneal injection of Poloxamer-407 (1g/kg; Sigma, MO, USA) and an oral gavage of 150µL olive oil. Blood was collected before, and every hour for 4 h after the oil challenge. Plasma TG concentrations were assessed using a commercially available kit (Sekisui Diagnostics, MA). To visualize intestinal lipid droplets after a fat challenge, 4-h fasted female mice were gavaged (7.5 μ L/g mouse) with olive oil containing 20% Bodipy 500/510 C1, C12 (D3823, Invitrogen, CA, USA). Sections of the proximal small intestine were embedded in optimum cutting temperature (OCT) and sliced on cryostat at -20 degrees Celsius. Slides were mounted with Prolong Diamond Antifade Mountant containing DAPI (P36962, Invitrogen, CA, USA) before images were obtained with a fluorescence microscope (Olympus, Markham, ON) equipped with Suveyor and ImagePro Plus software.

3.2.5 Cholesterol absorption

Individually-housed male control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice received an oral dose of [³H]-cholesterol (2 μ Ci) with 6mg unlabeled cholesterol in 150 μ L of olive oil, and an intravenous injection of [¹⁴C]-cholesterol (1 μ Ci) mixed in Intralipid[®]. Blood and feces were collected at 24, 48 and 72 h after cholesterol administration. Blood was centrifuged at 3000g for 10 minutes and plasma was

collected. Plasma [³H]-label and [¹⁴C]-label was measured by liquid scintillation counting (Beckman Coulter Inc, CA). The [³H]-label and [¹⁴C]-label in fecal neutral sterol and fecal bile salt (aqueous) fractions were measured by liquid scintillation counting (Beckman Coulter Inc, CA) after separation of the fractions by the method of Folch (FOLCH et al., 1957).

3.2.6 Gallbladder cannulations and bile measurements

For gallbladder cannulations, male mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of ketamine (100mg/kg)/ xylazine (10mg/kg). Gallbladders were cannulated with silastic tubing (Dow Corning, MI; internal diameter 0.5mm) after ligation of the common bile duct beside the duodenum. Mice were placed in a humidified incubator and bile was collected for 30 mins in preweighed vials. Bile acid species composition (including taurohyodeoxycholic acid (THDCA), tauro- β -muricholic acid (TB-MCA), tauro- α -muricholic acid (TA-MCA), β -muricholic acid (β -MCA), taurodeoxycholic acid (TDCA), taurochenodeoxycholic acid (TCDCA), taurocholic acid (TCA), tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA) and cholic acid (CA)) was determined by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) as described previously (Alnouti et al., 2008). The hydrophobicity of bile acids was determined according to the method of Heuman (Heuman, 1989). Biliary lipids were extracted by the method of Folch (FOLCH et al., 1957). Biliary phospholipid concentrations were assessed by phosphorous assay, as described previously (Zhou and Arthur, 1992). Biliary cholesterol concentrations were measured with a commercially available kit (WAKO Chemicals, USA). Biliary secretion rates were calculated by multiplying biliary bile acid, phospholipid, or cholesterol concentrations by bile flow (µL/min). Bile acid concentrations in feces and plasma were determined by enzymatic fluorometric assay (Mashige et al., 1976).

3.2.7 Plasma, tissue, and fecal lipid analysis

Plasma TG (Sekisui Diagnostics, MA, USA), cholesterol (Wako Chemicals, USA) and nonesterified fatty acids (Wako Chemicals, USA) were measured with commercially available kits. Lipoprotein fractions were separated from pooled plasma samples (5 mice per group) by size exclusion fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) before measuring TG and cholesterol concentrations by commercially-available kits (Lipidomics Core Facility, University of Alberta). Total protein concentrations of tissue homogenates were determined by bicinchoninic acid assay before tissue lipids were extracted from homogenates (1mg/ml) by the method of Folch (FOLCH et al., 1957). PC and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) were separated by thin layer chromatography using the solvent system chloroform: methanol: acetic acid: water (50:30:8:4). Bands were visualized after exposure to iodine and measured by phosphorous assay, as described previously (Zhou and Arthur, 1992). Intestinal TG concentrations were measured using a commercially available kit (Sekisui Diagnostics, MA, USA). The relative abundance of PC species in jejunal epithelial cells was measured by mass spectrometry at The Metabolomics Innovation Centre, University of Alberta. To analyze the fatty acid composition of intestinal PC, lipids were extracted from intestinal scrapings and separated by thin-layer chromatography as described above. PC bands were recovered from the plates and converted to fatty acid methyl esters by incubation with 2 ml of hexane (Sigma Aldrich, 293253) and 1.5ml boron trifluoride (Sigma-Aldrich, B1252) in methanol for 1 h at 110 °C. Fatty acid methyl esters were then analyzed by gas-liquid chromatography (results are shown as the percentage of total fatty acids measured). Intestinal nonesterified cholesterol and cholesterol esters were measured by gas-liquid chromatography with flame ionization detection (GC-FID) after derivatization with bis(trimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide and adjustment of peaks with the internal standard tridecanoin, as described previously (Myher and Kuksis, 1984). Fecal samples (50mg) were dried and ground to a powder before extraction of lipids by the method of Folch (FOLCH et al., 1957). Non-esterified fatty acid and cholesterol concentrations in feces of female mice collected over 72 h were determined with commercially available kits (Wako Chemicals, USA).

3.2.8 Measurement of intestinal CT activity

Intestinal CTα activity was determined by measuring the conversion of [³H]phosphocholine into [³H]CDP-choline, as described previously (Jacobs et al., 2004).

3.2.9 Plasma biochemical measurements

Blood glucose was measured from the tail vein with a glucometer (Accu-chek, Roche, Switzerland) after a 10-h fast, after 2 h re-feeding or after 2 h re-feeding followed by an oral gavage of glucose (2mg/g body weight). Blood was collected by cardiac puncture in tubes containing EDTA, dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitor (EMD Millipore, MA, USA) and Complete[®] general protease inhibitor (Sigma, MO, USA) before being centrifuged at 3000g for 10 minutes to obtain plasma. Plasma insulin (Meso Scale Diagnostics, MD, USA), leptin (Meso Scale Diagnostics, MD, USA), active GLP-1 (EMD Millipore, MA, USA), PYY (Crystal Chem IL, USA), and FGF21 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plasma (4µL) was resolved on a sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel (5% gel for ApoB and 10% for ApoA1). Proteins were transferred to a to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane and probed with either anti-Apolipoprotein B (dilution 1:7500, AB742; Chemicon, MA, USA) or Anti-Apolipoprotein A1 (dilution 1:2000; K23001R, BioDesign/Meridian). ApoB and ApoA1 were run on separate gels. Immunoreactive proteins were detected with Enhanced ChemiLuminescence (ECL; Amersham, GE Healthcare, UK), and blots were imaged with a ChemiDoc MP Imager, (Bio-rad Laboratories, CA, USA).

3.2.10 Statistics

Data are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean using Graphpad Prism 7 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA); p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Student's t-test was used to compare two independent groups. A one-way ANOVA was used when comparing 3 groups with one experimental outcome. A two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test was used to determine the effect of genotype and time on an experimental outcome.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Intestinal PC concentrations are reduced in $CT\alpha$ ^{IKO} mice fed a chow diet, but fat absorption capacity is unaltered.

Induction of Cre recombinase with tamoxifen in $Pcyt1a^{\text{LoxP/LoxP}}$;villin-CreER^{T2} mice (herein referred to as CTa^{IKO} mice) reduced Pcyt1a mRNA abundance and CTa enzyme activity in the jejunum and ileum by >90% compared to tamoxifen-treated $Pcyt1a^{\text{LoxP/LoxP}}$ control mice (Figure 3.1A-3.1C). Pcyt1a mRNA remained repressed in the intestines of CTa^{IKO} mice for at least 50 days following Cre induction (Figure 3.1D). Characterization of mice with a heterozygous deletion of intestinal CTa fed either a chow diet (Figure 3.2A-3.2E) or a HFD (Figure 3.2F-3.2J) revealed no differences in body weight, blood glucose, plasma lipids, or fat absorption after an oral lipid bolus despite a ~50% decrease in intestinal Pcyt1a mRNA abundance compared to control mice (Figure 3.1E).



Figure 3.1. Generation of $Pcyt1a^{LoxP/LoxP}$;villin-CreER^{T2} (CT a^{IKO}) mice, $Pcyt1a^{LoxP/WT}$;villin-CreER^{T2} mice (CT a^{HET}) and $Pcyt1a^{LoxP/LoxP}$ (Floxed control) mice. (A) Pcyt1a mRNA abundance, and (B) CT α enzyme activity in the jejunum and ileum of control and CT α^{IKO} mice 5 days after Cre induction. (C) Representative genotyping of $Pcyt1a^{LoxP/LoxP}$ without Villin-Cre (Control), $Pcyt1a^{LoxP/WT}$ with Villin-Cre (CT α^{Het}) and $Pcyt1a^{LoxP/LoxP}$ with Villin-Cre (CT α^{IKO}). (D) Pcyt1a mRNA in the jejunum of control and CT α^{IKO} mice 50 days after Cre induction (n=5/group). (E) Pcyt1a mRNA in jejunums of vehicle-treated $Pcyt1a^{LoxP/WT}$;Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) mice and CT α^{Het} mice (n=5/group). Values are means ± SEM. *p<.05, ****p<.0001.



Figure 3.2 Metabolic characterization of mice with a heterozygous deletion of intestinal CT α fed either a chow diet or a high fat diet. (A) Growth curves, (B) fasting blood glucose, (C) fasting plasma TG concentrations, (D) fasting plasma cholesterol concentrations, and (E) plasma TG before and 1, 2, 3, 4 h after an oral bolus of olive oil and intraperitoneal injection of Poloxamer-407 in CT α^{Het} mice and vehicle-treated *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/WT};Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) mice fed the chow diet (n=5/group). (F) Growth curves, (G) fasting blood glucose (H) fasting plasma TG concentrations, (I) fasting plasma cholesterol concentrations, and (J) plasma TG before and 1, 2, 3, 4 h after an oral bolus of Poloxamer-407 in CT α^{Het} mice and vehicle-treated *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/WT};Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) of Poloxamer-407 in CT α^{Het} mice and vehicle-treated *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/WT};Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) of Poloxamer-407 in CT α^{Het} mice and vehicle-treated *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/WT};Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) of Poloxamer-407 in CT α^{Het} mice and vehicle-treated *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/WT};Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) of Poloxamer-407 in CT α^{Het} mice and vehicle-treated *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/WT};Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) of Poloxamer-407 in CT α^{Het} mice and vehicle-treated *Pcyt1a*^{LoxP/WT};Villin-CreER^{T2} (control) mice fed the HFD (n=5-6/group). Values are means ± SEM.

Loss of intestinal CT α did not impact survival of the mice fed the chow diet, and body mass of CT α^{IKO} mice was comparable to that of controls after 6 weeks (Figure 3.3A). Furthermore, histological examination of H&E-stained jejunum sections at 6 weeks after Cre induction revealed no overt morphological abnormalities in CT α^{IKO} intestines compared to control intestines (Figure 3.3B). This finding suggests that intestinal CT α activity is not required for maintenance of epithelial cell turnover in adult mice. PC concentrations were lower in the jejunum and ileum of CT α^{IKO} mice compared to controls after an oil challenge (Figure 3.3C). Furthermore, PE concentrations were higher in the jejunum of CT α^{IKO} mice (Figure 3.3D). This resulted in a relatively large decrease in the molar ratio of PC-to-PE in the intestines of CT α^{IKO} mice (Figure 3.3E). Fasting plasma cholesterol concentrations (Figure 3.3F) were significantly lower in CT α^{IKO} mice fed the chow diet, while fasting plasma TG (Figure 3.3G), insulin and blood glucose concentrations (not shown) were unchanged compared to control mice.

Unexpectedly, despite the absence of intestinal CT α activity and a dramatic decrease in the PC/PE ratio of intestinal membranes, TG appearance in plasma was comparable between CT α^{IKO} mice and control mice after an oral bolus of olive oil (Figure 3.3H). This finding suggests that, in contrast to the liver where 'new' PC synthesis is required for VLDL secretion (Jacobs et al., 2004), intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis is dispensable for intestinal TG secretion in the setting of a low-fat diet. These results also suggest that PC supplied to the intestine in bile is sufficient for chylomicron formation and secretion under these conditions.



Figure 3.3. Intestinal PC concentrations are reduced in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a chow diet, but fat absorption capacity is unaltered. Male control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were fed a chow diet for 6 weeks following Cre induction before being fasted for 10 h, intraperitoneal injected with Poloxamer-407, and gavaged with olive oil. (A) Fasting body mass of male control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed the chow diet for 6 weeks (n = 10 or 11 per group). (B) Representative H&E-stained jejunum sections from control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed the chow diet for 6 weeks. (C) PC concentrations in the jejunum and ileum (n = 5 per group). (D) PE concentrations in the jejunum and ileum (n = 5 per group). (D) PE concentrations in the jejunum and ileum (n = 5 per group). Fasting plasma cholesterol (F), fasting plasma TG (G), and plasma TG (H) before and 1, 2, 3, and 4 h following the oral bolus of olive oil in mice fed the chow diet for 6 weeks. All mice were male. Values are means ± SEM, n=5/group. *p<.05, **p<.01, ****p<.0001.

3.3.2 HFD feeding initially induces rapid weight loss, while chronic HFD feeding reduces weight gain, in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice

We hypothesized that feeding mice a HFD would increase demand for lipid droplet and chylomicron PC and therefore induce more pronounced changes to the intestinal epithelium of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. Analysis of 3 independent experiments showed that 26% of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (5 of 19) lost ~25% body weight and displayed steatorrhea between days 4 and 5 following initiation of the HFD, forcing termination of these mice under protocol requirements (Figure 3.4A). Interestingly, the remaining 74% of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice experienced only modest weight loss but had significantly less visceral fat mass and lower plasma leptin concentrations than did control mice on day 6 following initiation of the HFD (Figure 3.4B and 3.4C).Weight loss in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice coincided with reduced food intake (2.76 g ± 0.25 by control mice compared to 1.36 g ± 0.21 by $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice between 48 and 72 h after initiation of the HFD, *P*=0.0009).

The $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a HFD for 50 days gained 20% less body weight and had 40% less visceral fat mass compared to controls (Figure 3.4D and 3.4E). The lower food intake observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to control mice in the first week following initiation of the HFD appeared to be an acute response to the diet, as food intake was similar between $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and control mice by week 6 following HFD initiation (2.257± 0.16 g/day for control mice compared to 2.034 ± 0.17 g/day for $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, *P*=0.36). Nevertheless, fasting blood glucose was significantly lower in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 3.4F). In contrast to liver-specific CT α knockout mice (Jacobs et al., 2004), fasting plasma TG and cholesterol concentrations were not reduced in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice after being fed a HFD for 6 days or 50 days (Figure 3.4G and 3.4H). Taken together, these data show that HFD feeding induces weight loss, while chronic feeding reduces weight gain in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice.



Figure 3.4. HFD feeding initially induces rapid weight loss, while chronic HFD feeding reduces weight gain, in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. (A) Body mass change relative to total body mass at time of initiation of the HFD; graph is representative of 2 independent experiments (n=12 control and 14 $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice). (B) Visceral fat mass, and (C) plasma leptin concentrations of control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice on day 6 following initiation of the HFD (n=6/group). (D) Body mass of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice on day 0 and day 50 after initiation of the HFD (n=5/group). (E) Visceral fat mass, and (F) blood glucose concentrations of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice on day 50 after initiation of the HFD (n=5/group). (E) Visceral fat mass, and (F) blood glucose concentrations of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice on day 50 after initiation of the HFD (n=5/group). (G) Fasting plasma TG, and (H) fasting plasma cholesterol concentrations of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice on day 6 and day 50 after initiation of the HFD (n \geq 5/group). All mice were female. Values are means \pm SEM. *p<.05, ****p<.0001.

3.3. Loss of intestinal CTa reduces chylomicron lipidation during HFD feeding

To determine whether impaired dietary lipid absorption contributed to the acute weight loss in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed the HFD, we assessed postprandial plasma lipid concentrations. Control and CTa^{IKO} mice were fasted overnight on day 3 following initiation of the HFD (prior to onset of severe weight loss) before re-feeding them for 2 h. Food intake was similar between $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and control mice during HFD re-feeding (not shown). Plasma TG concentrations were 60% lower and plasma non-esterified fatty acid concentrations were 30% lower in CTa^{IKO} mice compared to controls after 2 h HFD re-feeding (Figure 3.5A). Furthermore, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had markedly less TG in the largest lipoprotein fraction compared to controls (Figure 3.5B). Interestingly, despite a dramatic difference in plasma TG concentrations between genotypes after re-feeding, plasma ApoB concentrations were not different (Figure 3.5C). This finding strongly suggests that lipidation of the intestine-derived lipoprotein particles was impaired in CTa^{IKO} mice, whereas the number of particles secreted was not reduced. Total plasma cholesterol concentrations were similar between $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and control mice after HFD re-feeding (Figure 3.5A). However, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had less cholesterol in the largest lipoprotein fraction, while high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (Figure 3.5D) and plasma ApoA1 concentrations were not different between genotypes (Figure 3.5C). To determine whether enhanced particle clearance contributed to the low postprandial plasma TG in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, we challenged the mice with an intra-gastric bolus of olive oil after intra-peritoneal injection of Poloxamer-407, an inhibitor of lipoprotein lipase. Intestinal TG secretion remained blunted in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice over the 4 h study period (Figure 3.5E). Lower plasma TG after re-feeding was also observed in CTa^{IKO} mice compared to controls fed a HFD for 6 weeks (1.14 \pm 0.06 mmol/L in control mice compared to 0.83 \pm 0.09 mmol/L in CT α^{IKO} mice, P=0.03). Taken together, these data show that the intestine secretes TG-poor ApoBcontaining particles in the absence of *de novo* PC synthesis.



Figure 3.5. $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a HFD have impaired intestinal TG secretion after a meal. Control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were fasted overnight and re-fed the HFD for 2 h. (A) Plasma TG, non-esterified fatty acids, and cholesterol after re-feeding (n=10/group). (B) FPLC of plasma lipoprotein TG after refeeding (pooled plasma samples from n=5/group). (C) Representative immunoblot of plasma apolipoproteins after re-feeding (ApoB and ApoA1 were run on separate gels). (D) FPLC of plasma lipoprotein cholesterol after re-feeding (pooled plasma samples from n=5/group). (E) Plasma TG before and 1, 2, 3, 4 h following an oral bolus of olive oil and intraperitoneal injection of Poloxamer-407. (n=4/group). All mice were female. Values are means ± SEM. *p<.05, ****p<.0001.

3.3.4 Loss of intestinal CT α impairs fatty acid uptake from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes

We hypothesized that impaired intestinal TG secretion in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice was due to TG accumulation in enterocytes. However, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had significantly lower jejunal TG concentrations than control mice after fasting and re-feeding (Figure 3.6A and 3.6B). To track the spatial distribution of fatty acid uptake in the small intestine, we gavaged mice with [³H]-labeled triolein. The radioactivity in the mid-intestine of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, where fatty acid absorption is typically highest, was strikingly lower than in control mice (Figure 3.6C). As expected, based on

previous results, appearance of $[{}^{3}H]$ -label in plasma was significantly blunted in CT α^{IKO} mice (Figure 3.6D). Taken together, these data indicate that loss of intestinal CT α impairs fatty acid uptake from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes in the setting of a HFD.

Histological examination of jejunal sections 2 h after a bolus of olive oil revealed fewer lipid droplets in enterocytes of CTa^{IKO} mice compared to control mice fed the HFD (Figure 3.6E). We also detected markedly fewer fluorescent lipid droplets in enterocytes of CTa^{IKO} mice gavaged with Bodipy-labeled fatty acids (Figure 3.6F). Moreover, electron microscopy showed a general absence of cytosolic lipid droplets in HFD-fed CTa^{IKO} enterocytes 2 h after an oil challenge (Figure 3.6G). Consistent with lower fatty acid concentrations in enterocytes, the mRNA levels of *monoacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 2 (Mogat2), diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase 2 (Dgat2)* and lipid droplet-associated *abhydrolase domain containing 5 (Abhd5)* and *cell death-inducing DFFAlike effector c (Cidec)* were significantly lower in CTa^{IKO} intestines 2 h after a meal (Figure 3.6H). These data suggest that impairment of intestinal PC synthesis reduces fatty acid uptake from the intestinal lumen and thereby limits fatty acid supply for lipid droplet and chylomicron formation. In further support of impaired fat absorption, non-esterified fatty acids were elevated in feces of CTa^{IKO} mice compared to control mice (Figure 3.6I).



Figure 3.6. $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a HFD have impaired passage of fatty acids from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes. Jejunal TG concentrations of female control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice after (A) fasting or (B) 2 h after re-feeding the HFD (n=5-6/group). Male control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were fasted for 4 h on day 3 following initiation of the HFD before receiving an oral bolus of 5μ Ci [³H]-labeled triolein in 150 μ L olive oil for 2 h (n=5/group). (C) Radiolabel in intestine segments 2 h after [³H]-labeled triolein gavage. (D) Plasma radiolabel before and 30, 60, 90 and 120 mins after a [³H]-labeled triolein gavage. Female control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were fasted for 4 h on day 3 following initiation of the HFD before receiving an oral bolus of Bodipy-labelled olive oil. (E) Representative H&E stained proximal intestine sections of control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice 2 h after oil gavage. (F) Fluorescence microscope images of jejunal sections 2 h after Bodipy-labelled oil gavage. (G) Representative Transmission Electron Micrographs of jejunal enterocytes 2 h after oil gavage. (H) Jejunal mRNA abundance of genes involved in chylomicron and lipid droplet formation (n=≥5/group (I) Fatty acids in fecal samples from female control and CT α^{IKO} mice (n=5/group). Values are means ± SEM. *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001.

3.3.5 Loss of intestinal CTa impairs intestinal cholesterol absorption

Cholesterol concentrations were also significantly higher in feces of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to control mice (Figure 3.8A). To examine cholesterol turnover, control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were administered with an oral gavage of [³H]-cholesterol and an intravenous injection of ¹⁴C]-cholesterol, and the labels were measured in plasma and feces over 72 h. After 24 h, the appearance of [³H]-cholesterol in the circulation of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice was significantly lower than in control mice (Figure 3.8B). Furthermore, cumulative fecal excretion of [³H]-neutral sterols over 72 h was higher in CTa^{IKO} mice (Figure 3.8C). These data suggest that luminal cholesterol absorption is impaired with loss of intestinal $CT\alpha$. The rate of disappearance of radiolabel from plasma after intravenous injection of [¹⁴C]-cholesterol and cumulative [¹⁴C] accumulation in fecal neutral sterols was not different between genotypes (Figure 3.8D and 3.8E) suggesting that hepatic cholesterol uptake was unaltered by loss of intestinal CTa. Furthermore, there was no difference in appearance of $[{}^{3}H]$ or $[{}^{14}C]$ in fecal bile salts between genotypes, suggesting that hepatic bile acid synthesis was not changed in response to reduced intestinal cholesterol absorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 3.8F and 3.8G). Despite impaired cholesterol absorption, jejunal cholesterol and cholesterol ester concentrations were unchanged in CTa^{IKO} mice relative to controls (Figure 3.8H and 3.8I). Accordingly, mRNA abundance of several genes linked to cholesterol biosynthesis, including mevalonate kinase (Mvk), farnesvl diphosphate synthase (Fdps), cvtochrome P450, family 51 (Cyp51) and NAD(P) dependent steroid dehydrogenase-like (Nsdhl), were induced in the jejunum of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls (Figure 3.8J). Induction of intestinal cholesterol biosynthesis in CTa^{IKO} mice might be a compensatory response to impaired cholesterol absorption, or it might be due to altered intestinal phospholipid homeostasis in epithelial cells, as has recently been described (Wang et al., 2018).



Figure 3.8. Loss of intestinal CT α reduces dietary cholesterol absorption. (A) Cholesterol in fecal samples from female control and CT α^{1KO} mice (n = 5 per group). Male control and CT α^{1KO} mice received an oral dose of [³H]-cholesterol (2 µCi) with 6 mg of unlabeled cholesterol in 150 µl of olive oil and an intravenous injection of [¹⁴C]-cholesterol (1 µCi) mixed in Intralipid[®]. Blood and feces were collected at 24, 48, and 72 h after cholesterol administration (n = 4 per group). (B) Plasma [³H]-labeled at 24, 48, and 72 h. (C) Cumulative counts in fecal [3H]-labeled neutral sterols over 72 h. (D) Plasma [¹⁴C]-labeled at 24, 48, and 72 h. (E) Cumulative counts in fecal [¹⁴C]-labeled neutral sterols over 72 h. Cumulative [³H] labeled in bile salts (F) and cumulative [¹⁴C]-labeled in bile salts (G) over 72 h. Non-esterified cholesterol (H), cholesterol esters (I), and mRNA abundance of cholesterol synthetic genes (J) in the jejunum of control and CT α^{1KO} mice refed the HFD (n = 4 or 5 per group). Values are means ± SEM. * P < 0.05; **** P < 0.0001.
Cyp51, cytochrome P450, family 51; Fdft1, farnesyl-diphosphate farnesyltransferase 1; Fdps, farnesyl diphosphate synthase; Hmgcr, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase; Hmgcs, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase; Lss, lanosterol synthase; Mvk, mevalonate kinase; Nsdhl, NAD(P)-dependent steroid dehydrogenase-like; Sqle, squalene epoxidase.

3.3.6 Impaired lipid absorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is linked to reduced expression of plasma membrane lipid transporters

Microvillus length and structure were comparable between genotypes, suggesting that lipid malabsorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is not due to structural damage to the intestinal epithelium (Figure 3.8A). Intestinal *Lpcat3* deletion in mice reduces passive lipid diffusion into enterocytes by reducing the incorporation of polyunsaturated fatty acids into intestinal PC (Wang et al., 2016, Li et al., 2015). The mRNA levels of *Lpcat3* were not altered in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls (Figure 3.8B). As expected, jejunal PC concentrations were significantly lower in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice refed the HFD, while PE concentrations were unchanged compared to controls (Figure 3.8C and 3.8D). However, the relative abundance of PC molecular species as measured by mass spectrometry was only minimally different between genotypes, with small increases in the relative abundance of PC (36:2) and PC (38:3) observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 3.8E). To validate our mass spectrometry results we performed gas-liquid chromatography analysis of the acyl chain constituents of PC and confirmed that the composition of fatty acids acylated to PC in the proximal intestine was comparable between genotypes (Figure 3.8F). Therefore, impaired lipid absorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is not due to changes in the relative abundance of PC molecular species as observed in mice deficient in intestinal Lpcat3. However, altered PC/PE ratio of intestinal membranes may impair passive lipid diffusion into enterocytes of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice.

The membrane lipid transporters *Cluster-determinant 36* (*Cd36*), *Solute Carrier Family 27 Member 4* (*Slc27a4;* Fatty acid transport protein 4) and *NPC1 like intracellular cholesterol transporter 1* (*Npc111*) promote lipid absorption in intestinal epithelial cells (Drover et al., 2005, Stahl et al., 1999, Altmann et al., 2004). The mRNA levels of jejunal *Cd36* were dramatically lower in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to control mice (Figure 3.8G). Furthermore, *Slc27a4* and *Npc111* mRNA levels were modestly lower in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 3.8G). Therefore, reduced expression of membrane transporters involved in intestinal lipid uptake relative to controls may at least partially account for impaired lipid absorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice.



Figure 3.8. $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice do not have damage to the brush border membrane or changes to relative abundance of jejunal PC molecular species but do have reduced jejunal expression of genes encoding proteins involved in lipid uptake. (A) Representative transmission electron micrographs of intestinal microvilli of control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed the HFD. (B) *Lpcat3* mRNA abundance in the jejunum of control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n = 5 per group). PC (C) and PE (D) concentrations in the jejunum of control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice 2 h after HFD refeeding (n = 5 per

group). The relative abundance of jejunal PC molecular species (E) and FA methyl esters (FAMES) (F) in PC of control and CT IKO mice refed the HFD for 2 h (n = 4 or 5 per group). (G) mRNA abundance of *Cd36*, *Slc27a4*, and *Npc111* in the jejunum of control and CT α^{IKO} mice 2 h after HFD refeeding (n ≥ 4 per group). All mice were female. Values are means ± SEM. * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01.

3.3.7 Loss of intestinal CTa enhances postprandial enteroendocrine hormone secretion

Dietary fatty acids in the lumen of the distal intestine stimulate secretion of enteroendocrine hormones including glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and peptide YY (PYY) from L cells to control food intake and satiety (Cummings and Overduin, 2007). Since $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice have impaired fatty acid absorption in the proximal small intestine resulting in increased fatty acid content of feces, we hypothesized that the higher abundance of fatty acids in the distal small intestine of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice would trigger GLP-1 and PYY secretion. $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had strikingly elevated active GLP-1 (~9-fold) and PYY (~9-fold) in plasma 2 h after re-feeding the HFD (Figure 3.9A and 3.9B). A major physiological function of GLP-1 is to promote insulin secretion from the pancreas (Cummings and Overduin, 2007). Accordingly, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had a strong trend towards higher postprandial plasma insulin concentrations compared to controls Figure 3.9C). Fibroblast-like growth factor 21 (FGF21) is a hepatokine with multiple systemic effects on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and is highly responsive to changes in nutrient intake (Fisher and Maratos-Flier, 2016, Badman et al., 2007, Kharitonenkov et al., 2005). Circulating concentrations of FGF21 were 4.5fold higher in CTa^{IKO} mice compared to controls after HFD re-feeding (Figure 3.9D). To test whether the observed changes to circulating hormone concentrations altered postprandial glucose metabolism, we re-fed mice a HFD for 2 h before administering them with an oral glucose

challenge. $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had significantly lower peak blood glucose concentrations compared to controls after the glucose challenge (Figure 3.9E). Importantly, re-fed plasma TG and GLP-1 were not different between tamoxifen-treated floxed controls and mice with a heterozygous deletion of intestinal CT α (Figure 3.10A and 3.10B). These data link impaired lipid uptake in the absence of intestinal CT α to enhanced postprandial enteric and hepatic hormone secretion, likely contributing to reduced body weight in CT α^{IKO} mice relative to control mice.



Figure 3.9. $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice have enhanced GLP-1, PYY and FGF21 secretion after a high-fat meal. Control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were fasted overnight on day 3 following initiation of the HFD before being re-fed for 2 h. (A) Plasma active GLP-1 (n=5/group). (B) Plasma PYY (n=10/group). (C) Plasma insulin (n=10/group). (D) Plasma FGF21 (n=10/group). (E) Blood glucose concentrations in control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice re-fed the HFD for 2 h followed by an oral bolus of glucose. All mice were female. Values are means \pm SEM. **p<.01, ***p<.001, ****p<.0001.



Figure 3.10. Lower plasma TG concentrations and higher plasma GLP-1 after a meal does not occur in $CT\alpha^{HET}$ mice, suggesting that the villin-Cre promoter does not drive this phenotype. (A) Plasma TG and (B) active GLP-1 2 h after HFD re-feeding in tamoxifen-treated floxed controls, $CT\alpha^{HET}$ mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed the HFD (n=5/group). All mice were female. Values are means \pm SEM. *p<.05, **p<.01.

3.3.8 Loss of intestinal CTα alters enterohepatic circulation of bile acids and increases biliary PC secretion into the intestinal lumen

We were initially surprised that $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice can maintain epithelial cell turnover and intestinal viability in the absence of *de novo* PC synthesis. Thus, we hypothesized that increased biliary PC secretion may contribute to the maintenance of intestinal PC concentrations and intestinal epithelial cell viability in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. To examine biliary lipid and bile acid secretion, we cannulated the gallbladders of mice fed the HFD. The rate of bile flow in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice was strikingly higher (~25%) than in control mice (Figure 3.11A), coinciding with a doubling of biliary bile acid secretion, a 1.5-fold increase in phospholipid secretion and a 1.3-fold increase in cholesterol secretion (Figure 3.11B-3.11D). Consistent with increased biliary lyso-PC delivery to the intestinal epithelium, the mRNA levels of jejunal *Lpcat4*, which catalyzes the addition of oleic acid to lyso-PC (Hishikawa et al., 2008), was significantly higher in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice 2 h after HFD re-feeding (Figure 3.11E). Therefore, a higher rate of delivery of biliary PC to the intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice may contribute to their capacity to maintain intestinal epithelial cell viability in the absence of *de novo* intestinal PC synthesis.

While total biliary bile acid concentrations were higher in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, the bile acid species composition was largely unaltered, except for taurodeoxycholic acid, which was reduced (Figure 3.11F). Consequently, the bile acid hydrophobicity index was similar between control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 3.11G). Additionally, a non-significant trend towards higher plasma bile acid concentrations in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed the HFD was observed (Figure 3.11H). There was no change in the hepatic expression of genes involved in bile acid synthesis, and total fecal bile acid concentrations were not different between $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and control mice fed the HFD (Figure 3.11I and 3.11J). These data strongly indicate that enhanced biliary bile acid and lipid secretion in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is not driven by an increase in hepatic bile acid synthesis.

There was a robust increase in mRNA levels of the apical sodium-bile acid transporter, solute carrier family 10 member 2 (Slc10a2/Asbt; mainly restricted to the ileum under normal conditions), in the jejunum of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 3.11K). An increase in jejunal Asbt is predicted to increase bile acid absorption in the proximal small intestine and to accelerate enterohepatic cycling of bile acids (Out et al., 2015). In line with increased Asbt-mediated bile acid uptake in the proximal small intestine, mRNA levels of the bile-acid transporter *Fabp6* had a strong tendency towards an in increase the jejunum of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to controls 2 h after re-feeding. Furthermore, ileal *Slc10a2*, *Fabp6* and *Slc51b* mRNA levels were not different, while ileal *Slc51a* were lower in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice than in ileums from control mice. Thus, loss of intestinal $CT\alpha$ stimulates the secretion of bile acids to the proximal small intestine to promote enterohepatic explicit.



Figure 3.11. Loss of intestinal CTα enhances biliary bile acid secretion. Gallbladders of male control and CTα^{IKO} mice were cannulated, and bile was collected in pre-weighed containers (n = 6–8 per group). (A) Bile flow. (B) Bile salt secretion. (C) Phospholipid secretion. (D) Cholesterol secretion. (E) Jejunal *Lpcat4* expression. (F) Relative biliary bile acid composition. (G) Bile acid hydrophobicity index. (H) Plasma bile acids. (I) mRNA abundance of hepatic genes involved in bile acid synthesis. (J) Fecal bile acids. mRNA abundance of jejunal bile-acid responsive genes (K) (n ≥ 4 per group) and mRNA abundance of ileal bile acid-responsive genes in control and CTa^{IKO} mice 2 h after refeeding the HFD (L) (n = 3 per group). Values are means ± SEM. * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01; *** P < 0.001; **** P < 0.0001. B-MCA, β-muricholic acid; CA, cholic acid; Cyp7a1, cytochrome P450, family 7 subfamily a member 1; Cyp8b1, cytochrome P450, family 8 subfamily b member 1; Cyp27a1, cytochrome P450, family 0 group b member 2; TA-MCA, tauro-α-muricholic acid; TB-MCA, tauro-β-muricholic acid; TCA, taurocholic acid; TCDCA, tauroursodeoxycholic acid; THDCA, taurohyodeoxycholic acid; TUDCA, tauroursodeoxycholic acid.

3.4 Discussion

In this study we show that intestinal PC synthesis *via* CT α plays a crucial role in coordinating the metabolic response of mice to HFD feeding. Our data suggest that the metabolic response to a HFD in CT α^{IKO} mice is driven by a combination of impaired dietary lipid absorption, increased secretion of the fat-induced satiety hormones GLP-1 and PYY, and reduced food intake. Furthermore, a shift in expression of bile-acid responsive genes to the proximal small intestine of CT α^{IKO} mice is linked to accelerated enterohepatic bile acid cycling. Loss of intestinal CT α is not well tolerated by some mice fed a HFD, indicating that *de novo* PC synthesis is specifically required for normal intestinal metabolic function. Furthermore, our data show that re-acylation of lyso-PC from the intestinal lumen cannot compensate for loss of CT α -derived PC in enterocytes.

Mice with intestinal deletion of the gene encoding the PC remodeling enzyme Lpcat3 have reduced chylomicron secretion when fed a chow diet due to failure to incorporate polyunsaturated fatty acids into intestinal PC, which alters membrane dynamics and fatty acid uptake (Li et al., 2015, Wang et al., 2016). In contrast, we found that *de novo* PC synthesis is not required for chylomicron secretion in the setting of a low-fat diet. This observation suggests that the reacylation of lyso-PC derived from bile can fully accommodate chylomicron assembly under these conditions. However, an increase in cellular fatty acid concentrations increases cellular demand for PC to maintain membrane lipid homeostasis and produce the surface monolayer for lipid droplets and lipoproteins (Cornell and Ridgway, 2015). Accordingly, HFD-fed $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice have disrupted intestinal metabolic function (likely due to constant influx of fatty acids into intestinal epithelial cells which increases cellular PC demands) including impaired dietary lipid uptake (despite minimal changes to the relative abundance of polyunsaturated PC species or *Lpcat3* expression in the intestine). Therefore, both pathways for intestinal PC formation (i.e. *de novo* PC synthesis and PC remodeling) are independently required for dietary lipid absorption when consuming a HFD. Furthermore, Lpcat3-deficient mice do not experience changes in bile acid concentrations (Wang et al., 2016), suggesting that the pathways of *de novo* PC synthesis and PC remodeling also control distinct aspects of enterohepatic physiology.

We used a radiolabeled tracer to demonstrate that $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a HFD have impaired jejunal fatty acid uptake, resulting in the production of chylomicrons with lower TG content. Impaired lipid uptake in mice lacking intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis is not due to gross damage to the intestinal epithelium, as electron microscopy revealed an intact brush border membrane. Instead, loss of intestinal CT α is linked to intestinal metabolic dysfunction in the setting of a HFD including reduced expression of genes involved in dietary lipid absorption. Targeted deletion of *Mogat2 (Yen et al., 2009), Cd36* (Drover et al., 2005), *Abhd5* (Xie et al., 2014) and *Npc111* (Altmann et al., 2004), all of which are lower in the intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls, impairs dietary lipid absorption. Therefore, intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis apparently maintains a network of genes involved in dietary lipid uptake.

The intestinal epithelium is highly active in cell division, growth, differentiation, and secretion i.e. processes that require adequate PC supply (Cornell and Ridgway, 2015). Therefore, we were surprised that $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice can maintain epithelial cell turnover and intestinal viability in the absence of *de novo* intestinal PC synthesis. Nevertheless, increased biliary PC secretion may contribute to the maintenance of intestinal PC concentrations in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. We unexpectedly found that deletion of intestinal $CT\alpha$ doubles the rate of biliary bile acid secretion in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to control mice. Because bile acids drive bile flow as well as biliary cholesterol and phospholipid secretion, these parameters were also significantly higher in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Verkade et al., 1995). The higher rate of delivery of bile acids (with similar composition to bile acids in controls) into the intestinal lumen of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice implies that impaired fatty acid absorption with

loss of intestinal CTa is not due to a deficiency of mixed micelles required for efficient fat absorption. Furthermore, since the cholesterol labeling study, the analysis of fecal bile output, and measurement of expression of bile acid-synthetic genes revealed that hepatic bile acid synthesis is not induced by loss of intestinal $CT\alpha$, enterohepatic cycling of bile acids is likely accelerated. This hypothesis is supported by a shift in expression of Slc10a2 and Fabp6 towards more proximal parts of the small intestine. A shift in the expression of bile-acid responsive genes to the proximal intestine has been reported previously in mice lacking intestinal GATA4, a transcription factor that controls jejunal-ileal identity (Bosse et al., 2006, Battle et al., 2008). The change in spatial expression of bile-acid responsive genes in intestinal GATA4 deficient mice is also linked to impaired lipid absorption (Battle et al., 2008) and increased bile flow (Out et al., 2015). Clearly, the molecular mechanisms that regulate crosstalk between the intestine and liver in controlling bile formation in CTa^{IKO} mice require further research. Changes to enterohepatic circulation of bile acids can influence lipid, carbohydrate, and energy metabolism (Cariou et al., 2006). Furthermore, bile acids increase the circulating level of FGF21 (Cyphert et al., 2012), a hepatokine that is increased in CTa^{IKO} mice and that reduces adiposity when administered pharmacologically (Fisher and Maratos-Flier, 2016). Therefore, changes in bile acid metabolism may contribute to metabolic adaptations in the $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice fed a HFD.

GLP-1 and PYY are hormones that can influence energy balance through both the enteric nervous system and peripheral targets after nutrient-induced secretion from L cells (Cummings and Overduin, 2007). Under normal conditions, most dietary fatty acids are absorbed in the proximal small intestine (Fig. 4C). However, if high concentrations of fatty acids reach L cells of the distal intestine they can enhance GLP-1 and PYY secretion (Cummings and Overduin, 2007). Accordingly, mice with intestinal deletion of genes involved in dietary fat absorption, including

Mogat2 (Yen et al., 2009), Dgat1 (Ables et al., 2012) and Lpcat3 (Wang et al., 2016), have relatively high postprandial plasma GLP-1 concentrations. Similarly, impaired HFD absorption in the proximal small intestine of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice allows fatty acids to reach the distal intestine to potentiate enteroendocrine hormone secretion. The stimulation of GLP-1 and PYY secretion by fatty acids in CTa^{IKO} mice likely contributes to their relatively more severe response to a HFD compared to a chow diet, as was observed in intestine-specific Lpcat3-deficient mice (Wang et al., 2016). High postprandial plasma GLP-1 is associated with increased insulin secretion and lower blood glucose concentrations in CTa^{IKO} mice compared to control mice fed a HFD. Furthermore, enhanced GLP-1-mediated insulin secretion might account for the lower plasma free fatty acid concentrations in CTa^{IKO} mice compared to controls by suppressing lipolysis in adipocytes. Additionally, enhanced PYY secretion in CTa^{IKO} mice could contribute to their reduced body weight by interacting with brain regions that control energy balance (Stadlbauer et al., 2013). Taken together, our findings demonstrate that modulation of intestinal phospholipid metabolism can influence whole-body physiology by enhancing the secretion of metabolically active hormones.

3.5 Conclusions

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis plays a central role in dietary lipid absorption during HFD feeding. Loss of intestinal CT α amplifies postprandial GLP-1 and PYY secretion and alters circulating glucose and free fatty acid concentrations, linking gut phospholipid synthesis to whole-body nutrient disposal and metabolism. Our studies also reveal an unexpected role for intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis in the maintenance of normal enterohepatic circulation of bile acids, potentially by governing the spatial expression of the bile-acid transporter *Slc10a2* in the intestine. Therefore, a physiologically normal response to dietary

fat intake depends on *de novo* PC synthesis in the intestinal epithelium, and the re-acylation of PC

derived from extra-intestinal sources cannot fulfill this requirement.

3.6 References

- Ables, G. P., Yang, K. J., Vogel, S., Hernandez-Ono, A., Yu, S., Yuen, J. J., Birtles, S., Buckett, L. K., Turnbull, A. V., Goldberg, I. J., Blaner, W. S., Huang, L. S. & Ginsberg, H. N. 2012. Intestinal Dgat1 Deficiency Reduces Postprandial Triglyceride And Retinyl Ester Excursions By Inhibiting Chylomicron Secretion And Delaying Gastric Emptying. *J Lipid Res*, 53, 2364-79.
- Alnouti, Y., Csanaky, I. L. & Klaassen, C. D. 2008. Quantitative-Profiling Of Bile Acids And Their Conjugates In Mouse Liver, Bile, Plasma, And Urine Using Lc-Ms/Ms. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci, 873, 209-17.
- Altmann, S. W., Davis, H. R., Zhu, L. J., Yao, X., Hoos, L. M., Tetzloff, G., Iyer, S. P., Maguire, M., Golovko, A., Zeng, M., Wang, L., Murgolo, N. & Graziano, M. P. 2004. Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 Protein Is Critical For Intestinal Cholesterol Absorption. *Science*, 303, 1201-4.
- Badman, M. K., Pissios, P., Kennedy, A. R., Koukos, G., Flier, J. S. & Maratos-Flier, E. 2007. Hepatic Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 Is Regulated By Pparalpha And Is A Key Mediator Of Hepatic Lipid Metabolism In Ketotic States. *Cell Metab*, 5, 426-37.
- Battle, M. A., Bondow, B. J., Iverson, M. A., Adams, S. J., Jandacek, R. J., Tso, P. & Duncan, S. A. 2008. Gata4 Is Essential For Jejunal Function In Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 135, 1676-1686.E1.
- Bosse, T., Piaseckyj, C. M., Burghard, E., Fialkovich, J. J., Rajagopal, S., Pu, W. T. & Krasinski, S. D. 2006. Gata4 Is Essential For The Maintenance Of Jejunal-Ileal Identities In The Adult Mouse Small Intestine. *Mol Cell Biol*, 26, 9060-70.
- Cariou, B., Van Harmelen, K., Duran-Sandoval, D., Van Dijk, T. H., Grefhorst, A., Abdelkarim, M., Caron, S., Torpier, G., Fruchart, J. C., Gonzalez, F. J., Kuipers, F. & Staels, B. 2006. The Farnesoid X Receptor Modulates Adiposity And Peripheral Insulin Sensitivity In Mice. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 11039-49.
- Cornell, R. B. & Ridgway, N. D. 2015. Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase: Function, Regulation, And Structure Of An Amphitropic Enzyme Required For Membrane Biogenesis. *Prog Lipid Res*, 59, 147-71.
- Cummings, D. E. & Overduin, J. 2007. Gastrointestinal Regulation Of Food Intake. *J Clin Invest*, 117, 13-23.
- Cyphert, H. A., Ge, X., Kohan, A. B., Salati, L. M., Zhang, Y. & Hillgartner, F. B. 2012. Activation Of The Farnesoid X Receptor Induces Hepatic Expression And Secretion Of Fibroblast Growth Factor 21. *J Biol Chem*, 287, 25123-38.
- Drover, V. A., Ajmal, M., Nassir, F., Davidson, N. O., Nauli, A. M., Sahoo, D., Tso, P. & Abumrad, N. A. 2005. Cd36 Deficiency Impairs Intestinal Lipid Secretion And Clearance Of Chylomicrons From The Blood. J Clin Invest, 115, 1290-7.
- El Marjou, F., Janssen, K. P., Chang, B. H., Li, M., Hindie, V., Chan, L., Louvard, D., Chambon, P., Metzger, D. & Robine, S. 2004. Tissue-Specific And Inducible Cre-Mediated Recombination In The Gut Epithelium. *Genesis*, 39, 186-93.

- Fisher, F. M. & Maratos-Flier, E. 2016. Understanding The Physiology Of Fgf21. Annu Rev Physiol, 78, 223-41.
- Folch, J., Lees, M. & Sloane Stanley, G. H. 1957. A Simple Method For The Isolation And Purification Of Total Lipides From Animal Tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 226, 497-509.
- Heuman, D. M. 1989. Quantitative Estimation Of The Hydrophilic-Hydrophobic Balance Of Mixed Bile Salt Solutions. *J Lipid Res*, 30, 719-30.
- Hishikawa, D., Shindou, H., Kobayashi, S., Nakanishi, H., Taguchi, R. & Shimizu, T. 2008. Discovery Of A Lysophospholipid Acyltransferase Family Essential For Membrane Asymmetry And Diversity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 2830-5.
- Jacobs, R. L., Devlin, C., Tabas, I. & Vance, D. E. 2004. Targeted Deletion Of Hepatic Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha In Mice Decreases Plasma High Density And Very Low Density Lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 47402-10.
- Kharitonenkov, A., Shiyanova, T. L., Koester, A., Ford, A. M., Micanovic, R., Galbreath, E. J., Sandusky, G. E., Hammond, L. J., Moyers, J. S., Owens, R. A., Gromada, J., Brozinick, J. T., Hawkins, E. D., Wroblewski, V. J., Li, D. S., Mehrbod, F., Jaskunas, S. R. & Shanafelt, A. B. 2005. Fgf-21 As A Novel Metabolic Regulator. *J Clin Invest*, 115, 1627-35.
- Li, Z., Jiang, H., Ding, T., Lou, C., Bui, H. H., Kuo, M. S. & Jiang, X. C. 2015. Deficiency In Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase 3 Reduces Plasma Levels Of Lipids By Reducing Lipid Absorption In Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 149, 1519-29.
- Mashige, F., Imai, K. & Osuga, T. 1976. A Simple And Sensitive Assay Of Total Serum Bile Acids. *Clin Chim Acta*, 70, 79-86.
- Myher, J. J. & Kuksis, A. 1984. Determination Of Plasma Total Lipid Profiles By Capillary Gas-Liquid Chromatography. *J Biochem Biophys Methods*, 10, 13-23.
- Nilsson, A. 1968. Intestinal Absorption Of Lecithin And Lysolecithin By Lymph Fistula Rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 152, 379-90.
- Noga, A. A., Zhao, Y. & Vance, D. E. 2002. An Unexpected Requirement For Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase In The Secretion Of Very Low Density Lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 42358-65.
- Out, C., Patankar, J. V., Doktorova, M., Boesjes, M., Bos, T., De Boer, S., Havinga, R., Wolters, H., Boverhof, R., Van Dijk, T. H., Smoczek, A., Bleich, A., Sachdev, V., Kratky, D., Kuipers, F., Verkade, H. J. & Groen, A. K. 2015. Gut Microbiota Inhibit Asbt-Dependent Intestinal Bile Acid Reabsorption Via Gata4. *J Hepatol*, 63, 697-704.
- Parthasarathy, S., Subbaiah, P. V. & Ganguly, J. 1974. The Mechanism Of Intestinal Absorption Of Phosphatidylcholine In Rats. *Biochem J*, 140, 503-8.
- Stadlbauer, U., Arnold, M., Weber, E. & Langhans, W. 2013. Possible Mechanisms Of Circulating Pyy-Induced Satiation In Male Rats. *Endocrinology*, 154, 193-204.
- Stahl, A., Hirsch, D. J., Gimeno, R. E., Punreddy, S., Ge, P., Watson, N., Patel, S., Kotler, M., Raimondi, A., Tartaglia, L. A. & Lodish, H. F. 1999. Identification Of The Major Intestinal Fatty Acid Transport Protein. *Mol Cell*, 4, 299-308.
- Tso, P., Kendrick, H., Balint, J. A. & Simmonds, W. J. 1981. Role Of Biliary Phosphatidylcholine In The Absorption And Transport Of Dietary Triolein In The Rat. *Gastroenterology*, 80, 60-5.
- Van Der Veen, J. N., Kennelly, J. P., Wan, S., Vance, J. E., Vance, D. E. & Jacobs, R. L. 2017. The Critical Role Of Phosphatidylcholine And Phosphatidylethanolamine Metabolism In Health And Disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1859, 1558-1572.

- Verkade, H. J., Vonk, R. J. & Kuipers, F. 1995. New Insights Into The Mechanism Of Bile Acid-Induced Biliary Lipid Secretion. *Hepatology*, 21, 1174-89.
- Voshol, P. J., Minich, D. M., Havinga, R., Elferink, R. P., Verkade, H. J., Groen, A. K. & Kuipers, F. 2000. Postprandial Chylomicron Formation And Fat Absorption In Multidrug Resistance Gene 2 P-Glycoprotein-Deficient Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 118, 173-82.
- Wang, B., Rong, X., Duerr, M. A., Hermanson, D. J., Hedde, P. N., Wong, J. S., Vallim, T. Q., Cravatt, B. F., Gratton, E., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2016. Intestinal Phospholipid Remodeling Is Required For Dietary-Lipid Uptake And Survival On A High-Fat Diet. *Cell Metab*, 23, 492-504.
- Wang, B., Rong, X., Palladino, E. N. D., Wang, J., Fogelman, A. M., Martín, M. G., Alrefai, W. A., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2018. Phospholipid Remodeling And Cholesterol Availability Regulate Intestinal Stemness And Tumorigenesis. *Cell Stem Cell*, 22, 206-220.E4.
- Wang, L., Magdaleno, S., Tabas, I. & Jackowski, S. 2005. Early Embryonic Lethality In Mice With Targeted Deletion Of The Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha Gene (Pcyt1a). *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 3357-63.
- Xie, P., Guo, F., Ma, Y., Zhu, H., Wang, F., Xue, B., Shi, H., Yang, J. & Yu, L. 2014. Intestinal Cgi-58 Deficiency Reduces Postprandial Lipid Absorption. *Plos One*, 9, E91652.
- Yen, C. L., Cheong, M. L., Grueter, C., Zhou, P., Moriwaki, J., Wong, J. S., Hubbard, B., Marmor, S. & Farese, R. V. 2009. Deficiency Of The Intestinal Enzyme Acyl Coa:Monoacylglycerol Acyltransferase-2 Protects Mice From Metabolic Disorders Induced By High-Fat Feeding. *Nat Med*, 15, 442-6.
- Zhou, X. & Arthur, G. 1992. Improved Procedures For The Determination Of Lipid Phosphorus By Malachite Green. *J Lipid Res*, 33, 1233-6.

<u>CHAPTER 4:</u> Spontaneous colitis in mice with intestinal epithelial cell-specific disruption of the phospholipid synthetic enzyme CTP: phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase-α

4.1 Introduction

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), comprising Chron's disease and ulcerative colitis (UC), are increasing in incidence and prevalence worldwide (Molodecky et al., 2012). Evidence from human genetics and animal models suggests that IBD arise from defects in mucosal barrier function or failure to appropriately regulate immune tolerance, epithelial restitution, or inflammation (Khor et al., 2011). The gastrointestinal mucus layer, a critical component of the mucosal barrier, restricts exposure of the intestinal epithelium and underlying immune system to luminal antigens (Johansson and Hansson, 2016). Mucus is largely produced by goblet cells, which secrete heavily O-glycosylated Mucin 2 (MUC2) polymers into the intestinal lumen to form a gellike scaffold containing various molecules including antibacterial peptides and phospholipids (Johansson and Hansson, 2016, Ehehalt et al., 2010). Loss of goblet cell mucus granules is a typical feature of UC, suggesting that defective mucus production might be involved in the development of UC (Johansson et al., 2014) or that loss of granules is a pathological response to the disease. Furthermore, loss of specific components of mucus, including MUC2, trefoil factor 3 (TFF3), or zymogen granulae protein 16 (ZG16), increases susceptibility to intestinal injury in mice (Van der Sluis et al., 2006, Mashimo et al., 1996, Bergström et al., 2016). However, the role that endogenous production of the major lipid component of the mucus layer, phosphatidylcholine (PC) (Ehehalt et al., 2004, Braun et al., 2009), plays in intestinal barrier function, and the factors that control mucus layer PC concentrations, are poorly understood.

Patients with UC have lower PC concentrations in their mucus layer of the distal intestine relative to controls without UC (Braun et al., 2009, Ehehalt et al., 2004). Furthermore, clinical trials have shown that PC delivery to the distal intestine reduces disease severity in patients with

UC (Stremmel et al., 2005, Stremmel et al., 2007, Karner et al., 2014). It has been proposed that exogenous PC is incorporated into the colonic mucus layer and acts to increase mucus hydrophobicity and reduce microbial interaction with the intestinal epithelium (Treede et al., 2007). On the other hand, the addition of exogenous PC to intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) inhibits tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) induced inflammation, suggesting that PC might be incorporated into cellular membranes where it dampens inflammatory processes (Treede et al., 2007). The role that *de novo* PC synthesis plays in maintaining immune homeostasis *in vivo* has not been investigated.

To determine the role of endogenous PC in intestinal barrier function and immune homeostasis, we examined mice with IEC-specific deletion of the rate-limiting enzyme in the major pathway for *de novo* PC synthesis, CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase- α (CT α^{IKO} mice). We hypothesized that CT α^{IKO} mice would have lower mucus PC concentrations leading to impaired mucus barrier integrity. We found that loss of CT α in the intestinal epithelium results in rapid and spontaneous colitis in mice. Colitis development is linked to induction of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in IECs, increased IEC apoptosis, impaired goblet cell differentiation and maturation, and loss of the mucus barrier integrity. These data show that *de novo* PC synthesis and IEC lipid homeostasis is important for maintaining goblet cell abundance and mucosal barrier integrity.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Mice. Generation of $Pcyt1a^{\text{LoxP/WT}}$;villin-CreER^{T2} mice (with the capacity to induce a heterozygous deletion of IEC CT α after tamoxifen treatment) and $Pcyt1a^{\text{LoxP/LoxP}}$;villin-CreER^{T2} mice (with the capacity to induce a homozygous deletion of IEC CT α after tamoxifen treatment) has been described (Kennelly et al., 2018). Genomic DNA was extracted from tail biopsies with a

DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, UK). PCR products were identified on a 3% agarose gel (floxed Pcyt1a band) or a 1.5% agarose gel (Villin Cre-inducible band). Cre was induced in 8-12week-old female mice fed a chow diet (5001, Lab Diet, St. Louis, MO) by intraperitoneal injection of tamoxifen (1mg/day in sunflower oil for 5 days; Sigma, St. Louis, MO), while tamoxifen-treated *Pcvt1a*^{LoxP/LoxP} mice were used as controls. Twenty-four hours after the end of tamoxifen treatment control and CTa^{IKO} mice were placed on a semi-purified diet (40% fat, 20%, protein, 40% carbohydrate; (Kennelly et al., 2018)) until termination. Mice were housed in a temperaturecontrolled room with 12-h light/dark cycle and free access to food and water. Small intestines were excised, flushed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, St. Louis, MO), and kept on ice. The small intestine was divided into 3 portions of length ratio 1:3:2 (corresponding to duodenum: jejunum: ileum) before jejunum and ileum sections were fixed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin for histology. IECs were collected in liquid nitrogen after segments were opened longitudinally. A cross section from the distal colon was fixed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin for histology. Colonic tissue and caecal contents were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. For antibiotic experiments, CTa^{IKO} mice and control mice were given an antibiotic cocktail (bacitracin (500mg/L), neomycin (1g/L) and vancomycin (500mg/L)) in the drinking water or no antibiotics from the time of first tamoxifen injection until termination (10 days), as has been used previously (Out et al., 2015). For 4-phenyl butyric acid experiments, CTa^{IKO} mice and control mice were administered with PBA (500 mg per kg body weight) dissolved in phosphate buffered saline or vehicle twice daily from the time of first tamoxifen injection until termination (10 days). The University of Alberta's Institutional Animal Care Committee approved all animal procedures, which were in accordance with guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

4.2.2 Microscopy. Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue slices (5µm thick) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) or Alcian blue/Period acid-Schiff and visualized with a light microscope. Crypt depth was measured as the distance from the bottom of the crypt unit to the villus junction in at least 20 crypts per intestine segment using ImageJ software (US National Institute of Health, MD, USA). Standard immunofluorescent staining methods were used to visualize crypt PCNA (Ab18197; Abcam) and images were obtained on a fluorescence microscope (Olympus, Markham, ON) equipped with Suveyor and ImagePro Plus software. For electron microscopy, 2cm jejunal rings were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde and 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). Sections were cryo-sectioned with an ultramicrotome (Ultracut E, Reichert-Jung) equipped with an FC4D attachment, and images were obtained using a Philips 410 transmission electron microscope.

4.2.3 mRNA isolation and quantification by PCR. Total RNA was isolated from frozen tissue using Trizol (Invitrogen, CA, USA). RNA was reversed-transcribed using Superscript II (Invitrogen, CA, USA). Quantitative PCR was run on an Applied Biosystems StepOne Plus for 40 cycles using a Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, MA, USA), in triplicate. Relative mRNA expression was normalized to cyclophilin (for small intestine) or Rplp0 (for colon). Quantitation was performed using the standard curves method. Primer sequences and gene names are listed in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1. qPCR primer sets used In Chapter 4

Gene Symbol	Gene name	Forward sequence	Reverse sequence
Pcyt1a	Phosphate cytidylyltransferase 1, choline, alpha	GCT AAA GTC AAT TCG AGG AA	CAT AGG GCT TAC TAA AGT CAA CT
Reg3b	Regenerating islet-derived 3 beta	GACAAGATGCTGCCTCCAA	CGTGCGGAGGGTATATTCTT
Reg3g	Regenerating family member 3 gamma	GCTTCCCCGTATAACCATCA	GCATCTTTCTTGGCAACTTCA
Duox2	Dual oxidase 2	GGACAGCATGCTTCCAACAAGT	GCCTGATAAACACCGTCAGCA
Duoxa2	Dual oxidase maturation factor 2	CCTGTTCATCTTGCCTGGA	CACGAACCAGTCTCCACTGA
Nos2	Nitric oxide synthase 2	GAAGGTCGCCAGTCGTGT	GGAGCCATTTTGGTGACTCTT
Fut2	Fucosyltransferase 2	GCGGTTCGTCCATTCCTA	AAAGGTACCTGGGCACTCG
Oas1g	Oas1g 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase 1G	ATCCGCCTGGTCAAACACT	TACATCCATTCCCCTGTTCC
Muc2	Mucin 2	CCATTGAGTTTGGGAACATGC	TTCGGCTCGGTGTTCAGAG
Tff3	Trefoil factor 3	CTGGGATAGCTGCAGATTACG	CATTTGCCGGCACCATAC
Agr2	anterior gradient 2, protein disulphide isomerase family member	CCTCAACCTGGTCTATGAAACA	ACCGTCAGGGATGGGTCT
Atoh1	Atonal bHLH transcription factor 1	TGCGATCTCCGAGTGAGAG	TCTCTTCTGCAAGGTCTGATTTT
Hes1	Hes family bHLH transcription factor 1	ACACCGGACAAACCAAAGAC	CGCCTCTTCTCCATGATAGG
Gfi1	Growth factor independent 1 transcriptional repressor	ATGTGCGGCAAGACCTTC	ACAGTCAAAGCTGCGTTCCT
Spdef	SAM pointed domain containing ETS transcription factor	GATGTACTGCATGCCCACCT	GGAGGCGCAGTAGTGAAGG
Klf4	Kruppel like factor 4	CCGTCCTTCTCCACGTTC	GAGTTCCTCACGCCAACG

Zbp1	Z-DNA binding protein 1	CAGGAAGGCCAAGACATAGC	GACAAATAATCGCAGGGGACT
Atf6	Activating transcription factor 6	GGACGAGGTGGTGTCAGAG	GACAGCTCTTCGCTTTGGAC
Ddit3	DNA damage inducible transcript 3	GCGACAGAGCCAGAATAACA	GATGCACTTCCTTCTGGAACA
Eif2ak3	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha kinase 3	CCTTGGTTTCATCTAGCCTCA	TTGGTTTCGGATCAACATTCT
Hspa5	Heat shock protein family A (Hsp70) member 5	CTGAGGCGTATTTGGGAAAG	TCATGACATTCAGTCCAGCAA
Ern1	Endoplasmic reticulum to nucleus signaling 1	CAGAGCCTCCAACCACTCC	TCACCATTCTGGTTTCCTCA
Ern2	Endoplasmic reticulum to nucleus signaling 2	CTGCCTCCAGCTACCAAGA	TCCCCACATACAGTGTCATCA
Bcl2	B-cell lymphoma 2	AGTACCTGAACCGGCATCTG	GGGGCCATATAGTTCCACAAA
Rplp0	ribosomal protein lateral stalk subunit PO	ACTGGTCTAGGACCCGAGAAG	CTCCCACCTTGTCTCCAGTC

4.2.4 Cytokines analysis. Sections of the distal colon were homogenized in buffer containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and dithiothreitol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The protein concentration of the supernatant was determined by bicinchoninic acid assay after centrifugation at 10 000 rpm for 10 min to remove debris. Cytokines concentrations were determined using Multiplex LASER Bead Technology (Eve Technology, Calgary, Canada).

4.2.5 Lipid measurements. Total protein concentrations of tissue homogenates were determined by bicinchoninic acid assay before tissue lipids were extracted from homogenates by the method of Folch (FOLCH et al., 1957). PC and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) were separated by thin layer chromatography using the solvent system chloroform: methanol: acetic acid: water (50:30:8:4) as described previously (Kennelly et al., 2018). Plates were exposed to iodine for visualization before being measured by phosphorous assay (Zhou and Arthur, 1992).

4.2.6 Plasma metabolite measurements. Blood glucose was measured from the tail vein with a glucometer (Accu-chek, Roche, Switzerland). Blood was collected by cardiac puncture in tubes containing EDTA, dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitor (EMD Millipore, MA, USA) and Complete[®] general protease inhibitor (Sigma, MO, USA) before being centrifuged at 3000g for 10 minutes to obtain plasma.

4.2.7 Intestinal permeability assay. Mice were fasted for 12 h before, weighed, and orally gavaged with 4 kDA fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-dextran (FD4, Sigma; 0.44mg/g mouse). Blood was collected by cardiac puncture after 2 h before centrifuging at 2000 g for 5 min to obtain plasma. Plasma was diluted in water (1:1) before fluorescence was measured with an excitation of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 528 nm. The appearance of the non-digestible FITC-dextran in plasma after oral administration is a measure of paracellular permeability (Woting and Blaut, 2018).

4.2.8 IEC Microarray data acquisition and analysis. Small intestines were collected, flushed with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, MO, USA), and kept on ice. The small intestine was opened longitudinally and 3 cm from the geometric middle of the intestine (jejunum) was collected and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen. IECs were disrupted in Trizol (Invitrogen, CA, USA), and RNA was isolated and purified using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, UK), according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA concentration and purity were assessed on a NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA), and RNA integrity was confirmed using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer system (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA). RNA was sent to TCAG microarray facility (Sick Kids Hospital, Toronto, Canada). Whole genome expression profiles were obtained using the Affymetrix mouse Gene 2.0 ST chips (Affymetrix, Thermo Fischer Scientific, CA, USA). Differentially expressed genes were identified with Affymetrix Transcriptome Analysis Console (TAC) software using an ANOVA p-value cut-off of 0.05 and fold-change of 1.5. Pathways analysis was conducted with Ingenuity Pathways Analysis (IPA) software (Qiagen Bioinformatics). Gene Ontology enrichment analysis (Biological process) was performed using DAVID (Huang et al., 2009). Significantly changed genes (1.5-fold change, ANOVA P value < 0.05) are listed in Appendix 1.

4.2.9 Statistics. Data are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean using Graphpad Prism (Version 7). Student's t-test or 2-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test was used, where appropriate.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Hyperproliferation of the crypt compartment and activation of the immune system in the small intestines of mice lacking *de novo* PC synthesis in IECs

To delete CT α specifically in murine IECs, mice carrying floxed *Pcyt1a* alleles (encoding the CT α protein) were crossed with mice carrying a tamoxifen-inducible Cre recombinase transgene driven by an villin promotor (el Marjou et al., 2004), as described previously (Kennelly et al., 2018). Induction of Cre recombinase with tamoxifen resulted in the generation of adult CT α^{IKO} mice with lower *Pcyt1a* mRNA abundance in both the small intestine and colon compared with tamoxifen-treated floxed *Pcyt1a* control mice (Figure 1A). CT α^{IKO} mice experienced modest body weight loss (~5%) while *Pcyt1a* floxed controls did not experience body weight loss after tamoxifen treatment (Figure 4.1A). However, CT α^{IKO} mice began to regain body weight at day 5 and were a similar body weight to controls by day 7 (Figure 4.1B).



Figure 4.1. Lower expression of Pcyt1a in the small intestine and colon of CTa^{IKO} mice relative to controls is associated with transient body weight loss. (A) *Pcyt1a* mRNA abundance in the small intestine (n=10/group) and colon (n=5/group) of control and CTa^{IKO} mice 5 days after the end of tamoxifen treatment. (B) Body mass change relative to total body mass at the end of tamoxifen treatment (n=7/group). Values are means ± SEM. ***p<.001, ****p<.0001.

To gain insight into the role of *de novo* PC synthesis in intestinal function, we performed unbiased whole genome expression analysis of IECs isolated from the small intestine of control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. Pathway analysis indicated a significant increase in mRNAs linked to cell cycle progression and cancer (Figure 4.2A and Appendix 1). Accordingly, histological examination of H&E-stained jejunal segments revealed prominent elongation of small intestinal crypts and regions of massive crypt hyperproliferation in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 4.2B and 4.2C). Furthermore, immunofluorescence staining for PCNA, a marker of proliferation, showed increased staining intensity in ileal crypts of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to control crypts (Figure 4.2D). These data implicate *de novo* PC synthesis in control of intestinal proliferation.

Hyperplasia of the intestinal epithelium is a characteristic response to mucosal injury following microbial invasion (Khor et al., 2011, Elinav et al., 2013). The mRNA levels of genes involved in the intestinal defense response, including regenerating islet-derived protein $3-\beta$ (*Reg3b*), regenerating islet-derived protein $3-\gamma$ (*Reg3g*), dual oxidase 2 (*Duox2*), nitric oxide synthase 2 (*Nos2*) were robustly higher in the small intestine of CTa^{IKO} mice compared with controls (Figure 4.2E). Furthermore, the mRNA abundance of interferon-inducible 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase 1G (*Oas1g*) was higher in CTa^{IKO} intestines compared to control intestines (Figure 4.2E). Taken together, these data suggest that loss of IEC CTa increases microbial interaction with the gut epithelium leading to induction of a proliferative and pro-inflammatory gene expression profile.



Figure 4.2. Hyperproliferation of the crypt compartment and activation of the immune system in the small intestines of mice lacking *de novo* PC synthesis in IECs. (A) Gene Ontology enrichment analysis (Biological process) of significantly more abundant mRNAs in the jejunum of control mice compared to $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice according to DAVID (n=5/group). (B) Representative H&E stained jejunal sections (black lines demark crypts), and (C) crypt depth of control mice compared to $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n≥4/group). (D) Representative PCNA staining of ileal crypts from control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. (E) mRNA abundance of genes linked to epithelial immune system activation in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice as determined by qPCR (n≥9/group). Values are means ± SEM.*p<.05, **p<.01.

4.3.2 Spontaneous colitis in mice lacking CTa in IECs

The uncontrolled proliferation and induction of transcripts linked to the intestinal defense response in the small intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice suggested that *de novo* PC synthesis might be involved in intestinal barrier function. Accordingly, the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were opaque and weighed ~30% more than those of control mice 7 days after Cre induction (0.24± 0.01g in control mice compared to 0.30g ± 0.02g in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice P=0.041). Furthermore, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had lighter caeca than controls (0.26±0.01g in control mice compared to 0.19± 0.02g in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice P=0.022). Red blood cells, hemoglobin and hematocrit levels were significantly lower in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to control mice, while blood reticulocyte concentrations were robustly higher, which is indicative of anemia; this suggested that $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice may have lost blood through the injured bowel (Table 4.1). A panel of other blood components remained unchanged between $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and control mice (Table 4.1).

The most striking observation upon assessment of H&E-stained distal colon sections was a profound loss of typical goblet cells in all $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, such that $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice could be easily identified by this feature (Figure 4.3A). Furthermore, there was extensive damage to the colonic epithelium in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice including loss of epithelial morphology, mononuclear cell infiltration, crypt dysplasia and crypt abscesses, which are typical features of murine colitis (Figure 4.3B). These data show that *de novo* PC synthesis plays an important role in protecting the colon against injury.

Complete Blood Cell Count	Control	CT α ^{ικο}
Red blood cells (x10E12 cells/L)	10.38 ± 0.26	9.72 ± 0.11*
Hemoglobin (g/L)	156.7 ± 3.06	147.8 ± 1.8*
Hematocrit (%)	54 ± 1.31	50.32 ± 0.48*
Reticulocytes (x10E09 cells/L)	149.4 ± 20.05	295.8 ± 29.5**
Reticulocytes (%)	1.46 ± 0.22	3.05 ± 0.31**
White blood cell count peroxidase method (x10E09 cells/L)	2.85 ± 0.88	2.33 ± 1.1
White blood cell count basophile method (x10E09 cells/L)	3.21 ± 1.03	2.29 ± 0.99
Mean corpuscular volume (fl)	52.02 ± 0.17	51.78 ± 0.29
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (pg)	15.12 ± 0.1	15.23 ± 0.8
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (g/L)	290.3 ± 1.86	293.8 ± 1.99
Platelets (x10E09 cells/L)	701 ± 11.85	796.2 ± 44.19
Neutrophils (%)	9.9 ± 1.83	11.38 ± 2.51
Lymphocytes (%)	80.32 ± 2.20	79.13 ± 1.86
Monocytes (%)	2.9 ± 0.68	3.32 ± 0.36
Eosinophils (%)	2.55 ± 0.51	3.15 ± 0.61
Large unstained cells (%)	3.95 ± 1.28	2.57 ± 0.71
Basophils (%)	0.47 ± 0.071	0.47 ± 0.1
Neutrophils (x10E09 cells/L)	0.25 ± 0.5	0.21 ± 0.06
Lymphocytes (x10E09 cells/L)	2.65 ± 0.95	1.88 ± 0.87
Monocytes (x10E09 cells/L)	0.07 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.2
Eosinophils (x10E09 cells/L)	0.06 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.11
Large unstained cells (x10E09 cells/L)	0.15 ± 0.07	0.07 ± 0.04
Basophils (x10E09 cells/L)	0.02 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01



Figure 4.3. Spontaneous colitis in mice lacking CT α in IECs. (A) Representative H&E stained colon sections of control mice and CT α^{IKO} mice 4 days after the end of tamoxifen treatment. (B) Representative H&E stained colon sections from control mice and examples of crypt abscesses, cellular infiltration and crypt dysmorphia in CT α^{IKO} mice 4 days after the end of tamoxifen treatment. Arrow indicates goblet cells in crypts, * indicates crypt abscesses and \hat{T} indicates immune cells. (n=6 control mice and 9 CT α^{IKO} mice).

4.3.3 Loss of mucus granules and ultrastructural damage to theca in goblet cells of mice lacking *de novo* PC synthesis

Goblets cells comprise ~15% of cells in the colon and secrete various proteins including mucins and trefoil factors to protect the intestinal epithelium from microbial invasion and tissue damage (Karam, 1999). To further probe the apparent loss of normal goblet cell morphology in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, we stained small intestine and colon sections with Alcian Blue, which identifies acidic glycans on mucin glycoproteins in goblet cells and pre-goblet cells. Alcian Blue/Period Acid Schiff staining showed a marked decrease in abundance of staining in small intestinal sections from $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to controls (Figure 4.4A). Moreover, the mucus staining that was present in the small intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice was largely restricted to the crypt region and reflected small, immature goblet cells (Figure 4.4B). Control mice had abundant Alcian Blue positive cells in the colon (Figure 4.4B). However, very few Alcian Blue positive cells were observed in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 4.4B). These data suggest that *de novo* PC synthesis might be involved in maintaining goblet cell abundance in the intestinal epithelium.

To characterize the subcellular effects of loss of CT α on goblet cells, we conducted electron microscopy. Mucin proteins are synthesized at the rough ER and travel to the Golgi where they are glycosylated and packaged into secretory vacuoles called theca (the major site of Alcian Blue staining) which are bound to the apical membrane (Karam, 1999). As expected, these thecae were abundant in goblet cells of control mice; however, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice lacked typical secretory vacuoles (Figure 4.4C). Instead, the ultra-structural integrity of mucus-containing theca in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice appeared damaged, with loss of mucus granules and infiltration of cellular debris and vacuoles (Figure 4.4C). This atypical appearance of the mucus granules, with unidentified material of variable electron density, has been observed previously in patients with UC and might be due to impaired mucin packaging in the Golgi (Heazlewood et al., 2008). These data provide evidence

that *de novo* PC synthesis is important for maintaining the structure of mucus granules in goblet cells.

The mRNA abundance of *Muc2* was significantly lower in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to control mice (Figure 4.4D). Furthermore, the mRNA abundance of trefoil factor 3 (*Tff3*), encoding a protective trefoil factor, which is secreted from goblet cells into mucus, was lower in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 4.4D). Interestingly, the mRNA abundance of anterior gradient protein 2 homolog (*Agr2*), a component of secreted mucus that is expressed in Paneth cells and enteroendocrine cells in addition to goblet cells, was not different between $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and control mice (Figure 4.4D). The lower mRNA abundance of the protective mucus components *Muc2* and *Tff3*, but not *Agr2*, suggests that there might be a specific defect in goblet cells after loss of intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis.

A hallmark of colon cancer is uncontrolled stem cell proliferation and loss of ability to differentiate into the different intestinal epithelial cell subtypes (Reya and Clevers, 2005). The mRNA levels of *Hes1* and *Atoh1*, which are required for intestinal secretory cell lineage commitment, were lower in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to control mice. (Figure 4.4E). Accordingly, and consistent with the dramatically lower abundance of goblet cells in the intestinal epithelium, the mRNA levels of growth factor independent 1 transcriptional repressor (*Gfi1*), SAM pointed domain containing ETS transcription factor (*Spdef*), and Kruppel like factor 4 (*Klf4*), genes involved in goblet cell maturation, were also lower in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared with control mice (Figure 4.4E). These data suggest that loss of *de novo* PC synthesis in IEC impairs epithelial cell differentiation from progenitor cells *via* transcriptional repression of the intestinal secretory cell differentiation program, as seen during colon cancer progression (Reya and Clevers, 2005).



Figure 4.4. Loss of mucus granules and ultrastructural damage to theca in goblet cells of mice lacking de novo PC synthesis. (A) Alcian Blue/Period acid-Schiff staining of small intestinal sections from control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (black arrows indicate goblet cells). (B) Alcian Blue/Period acid-Schiff staining of colon sections from control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. (C) Transmission electron micrographs of goblet cell theca in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. (D) mRNA abundance of *Muc2*, *Tff3* and *Agr2* in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n=5/group). (E) mRNA abundance of genes linked to intestinal epithelial cell differentiation and goblet cell maturation in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice are means ± SEM.*p<.05, ***p<.001, ****p<.0001.

4.3.4 Increased intestinal permeability and microbial invasion of the colonic epithelium in response to loss of *de novo* PC synthesis in IECs

Carnoy's fixation (preserves the mucus layer) followed by Alcian Blue staining revealed that the mucus layer of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice tended to be thinner than that of control mice (Figure 4.5A). Consistent with a compromised mucus barrier, electron microscopy showed extensive damage to the apical brush border of colonic epithelial cells in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 4.5B). Accordingly, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice had increased intestinal permeability, as assessed by appearance of FITC-labeled dextran in circulation following oral administration (Figure 4.5C).

The mRNA abundance of the bacterial DNA sensor Z DNA binding protein (*Zbp1*), which is activated in response to bacteria in the cytosol of epithelial cells and functions to induce interferon-regulatory factors (Takaoka et al., 2007), was 3-fold higher in colonic tissue of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls (Figure 4.5D). Consistent with increased *Zbp1*, bacterial cells of varying morphology were observed by electron microscopy in individual colonic epithelial cells of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 4.5E), as has been reported in humans with UC (Swidsinski et al., 2002). Cells adjacent to bacteria-colonized cells did not appear to contain bacteria. Taken together, these data suggest that a depleted mucus barrier leads to microbial invasion of the colonic epithelium and activation of the innate immune system in response to impaired *de novo* PC synthesis.



Figure 4.5. Increased intestinal permeability and microbial invasion of the colonic epithelium in response to loss of *de novo* PC synthesis in IECs. (A) Light microscope images of the colonic mucus layer in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice after Carnoy's fixation and Alcian Blue/Period acid-Schiff staining. Arrow indicates mucus layer (B) Electron micrographs of the colonic microvilli in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. * indicates microvilli. (C) Relative fluorescence in plasma of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice 2 hr after an oral gavage of FITC-labelled dextran (n=5/group). (D) mRNA abundance of *Zbp1* in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n=5/group). (E) Electron micrographs of bacteria-free IECs from control mice and bacteria-laden IECs from $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. Arrow indicates bacteria. Values are means ± SEM. **p<.01, ***p<.001.

4.3.5 Antibiotics partially ameliorate colonic inflammatory cytokine secretion but do not reverse loss of goblet cells or colitis in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice

To further characterize the inflammatory response observed in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, and to determine the extent to which bacteria contributed to this inflammation, we profiled inflammatory cytokine concentrations under both normal conditions and broad-spectrum antibiotic-treated conditions Antibiotic treatment induced weight loss in both control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice during tamoxifen treatment; however, both groups re-gained weight at the same rate after tamoxifen treatment (Figure 4.6A). Increased intestinal permeability and exposure of the epithelium to luminal antigens is a major driver of tissue injury (Khor et al., 2011). Granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), primarily produced in the intestinal mucosa by dendritic cells and macrophages in response to tissue injury (Hirata et al., 2010), was ~8-fold higher in the distal colon of CTa^{IKO} mice compared with control mice (Figure 4.6B). Furthermore, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), a chemokine that regulates the migration and infiltration of macrophages to inflamed colonic tissue, tended to be higher in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls (Figure 4.6B). In line with the enhanced proliferation observed in the crypts of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), a member of the interleukin (IL)-6 family of pro-tumorigenic cytokines, was increased 18-fold in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared with control mice (Figure 4.6B). Treatment with antibiotics ameliorated LIF concentrations in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, suggesting that bacteria might play a partial role in inflammatory cytokine secretion (Figure 4.6B). However, antibiotics did not reduce colonic GM-CSF or MCP-1 concentrations, suggesting that exposure of the colonic epithelium to non-bacterial luminal antigens or tissue-intrinsic factors was also causing mucosal damage.



Figure 4.6 Antibiotics ameliorate colonic inflammatory cytokine secretion but do not reverse loss of goblet cells or colitis in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. (A) Body weight relative to body weight at the end of tamoxifen treatment in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with and without antibiotic treatment (n≥4/group). (B) GM-CSF, MCP-1 and LIF protein concentrations in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice either with or without antibiotic treatment (n≥4/group). (C) IL-1 α and IL-1 β protein concentrations in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with and without antibiotic treatment (n≥4/group). (D) IFN- γ protein concentrations in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with and without antibiotic treatment (n≥4/group). (E) Representative H&E stained colon sections from antibiotic-treated control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. Arrows indicate goblet cells. Values are means ± SEM.*p<.05 In Figure 4.6B-4.6D, columns that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. α =0.05.

Protein concentrations of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1 α , IL-1 β and interferon- γ (IFN γ) were robustly higher in the colons of CT α^{IKO} mice compared with control mice (Figure 4.6C and 4.6D). These master inflammatory cytokines are not secreted by colonic epithelial cells and so their increased abundance provides further evidence of immune cell infiltration to a site of tissue injury. Antibiotic treatment partially ameliorated the increase in IL1 α , IL1 β and IFN γ , suggesting that luminal bacteria might exacerbate the inflammatory response observed in the colons of CT α^{IKO} mice (Figure 4.6C and 4.6DC). However, histological assessment of the colonic epithelium showed that there was still extensive loss of goblet cells following antibiotic treatment (Figure 4.6E), and antibiotics did not ameliorate the production of several other cytokines and chemokines in the colons of CT α^{IKO} mice (Table 4.2). Taken together, these data suggest that bacteria exacerbate inflammation in CT α^{IKO} mice by enhancing IFN γ , IL1 α , IL1 β secretion, but that loss of goblet cells and colonic damage occurs independent of bacterial invasion of the epithelium.
Protein name	<u>Control</u>	<u> </u>	<u>Control + Antibiotics</u>	<u>CTα^{ικο} + Antibiotics</u>
Eotaxin	4.47 ± 2.62	3.94 ± 3.47	1.25 ± 0.79	2.10 ± 0.82
G-CSF	0.85 ± 0.09	1.29 ± 0.22	0.96 ± 0.07	1.97 ± 0.52
IL-6	1.37 ± 0.54	1.88 ± 0.54	1.46 ± 0.42	2.29 ± 0.29
IL-9	16.03 ± 8.58	3.23 ± 2.88	0.48 ± 0.15	0.258 ± 0.12
IL-10	3.82 ± 1.42	6.04 ± 1.07	5.27 ± 1.40	7.15 ± 0.94
IL-12 (p40)	6.40 ± 1.18	6.81 ± 2.23	7.12 ± 1.16	12.00 ± 2.94
IL-12 (p70)	2.41 ± 1.29	5.19 ± 1.42	4.08 ± 0.79	6.99 ± 2.15
M-CSF	1.63 ± 0.72	5.78 ± 3.02	1.08 ± 0.26	3.03 ± 1.11
RANTES	1.60 ± 0.77	1.24 ± 0.43	0.93 ± 0.27	0.65 ± 0.10
MIP-2	32.40 ± 4.48	50.31 ± 5.72	38.48 ± 3.14	63.55 ± 16.13
ΜΙΡ-1α	6.75 ± 2.95	12.29 ± 2.04	8.07 ± 1.44	12.95 ± 1.85

Table 4.3. Colonic cytokines and chemokines in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ with and without antibiotics

¹Data are mean ± SEM. A 2-way ANOVA was used.

4.3.6 CHOP is induced in the colon in response to loss of IEC de novo PC synthesis

Electron microscopy showed that the ER in colonic IECs of CTa^{IKO} mice appeared dilated and distended (Figure 4.7A). Furthermore, the ER network contained numerous vacuoles and aggregates of variable size and density (Figure 4.7A), a hallmark of the unfolded protein response and ER stress (Heazlewood et al., 2008). Accordingly, the ER-stress-induced transcription factor C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP; DNA damage inducible transcript 3 Ddit3 gene) was 2-fold higher in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to control mice (Figure 4.7B). Interestingly, the mRNA abundance of other mediators of the ER stress response, including activating transcription factor 6 (Atf6), eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha kinase 3 (Eif2ak3) and heat shock protein family A (Hsp70) member 5 (*Hspa5*), were not increased in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, while the mRNA levels of endoplasmic reticulum to nucleus signaling 1 (Ern1, encoding IRE1 α) and endoplasmic reticulum to nucleus signaling 2 (Ern2, encoding IRE1ß) were significantly lower in the colons of CTα^{IKO} mice compared to controls (Figure 4.7B). IRE1β has been implicated in normal MUC2 biosynthesis, and loss of IRE1a in IECs results in spontaneous colitis in mice due to loss of goblet cells, and so the lower abundance of these transcripts in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice could contribute towards disease progression (Tsuru et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2015). Importantly, it has been reported previously that disruption of $CT\alpha$ in cells specifically induces CHOP, but not other mRNAs linked to ER stress, prior to apoptosis (van der Sanden et al., 2003). Interestingly, the pathological changes that occur the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice were not associated with changes in the total mass of PC or phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) in the colonic epithelium of CTa^{IKO} mice relative to controls (Figure 4.7C and 4.7D). Biliary PC is primarily taken up in the proximal small intestine and so re-acylation of lyso-PC in colonic epithelial cells is unlikely to make a substantial contribution towards total colon PC mass. However, enhanced uptake of lipoproteins from venous circulation could contribute towards maintenance of colon PC concentrations after impairment of

intestinal epithelial cell CT α . Furthermore, the high abundance of muscle and immune cells (that still carry functional CT α) in total colon homogenates could explain the lack of change to total colon PC concentrations in CT α ^{IKO} mice relative to control mice.

If the unfolded protein response fails to sufficiently reduce the burden of ER stress, apoptosis will proceed (Schröder and Kaufman, 2005). CHOP has been shown to induce apoptosis by downregulating B-cell lymphoma 2 (*Bcl2*) (McCullough et al., 2001). The mRNA levels of *Bcl2* were dramatically lower in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls (Figure 4.7E). Furthermore, the proinflammatory cytokine TNF α , which activates death receptor signaling pathways to promote apoptosis in IECs, was significantly higher in colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared with control mice, and this rise in colonic TNF α concentrations was unaffected by antibiotic treatment (Figure 4.7F). Electron microscopy showed that the abundance of mitochondria in intestinal crypts from $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice was greatly reduced (Figure 4.7A), and that the mitochondria that were present were swollen and distended with damaged cristae, suggesting that necrosis of IECs was occurring in addition to apoptosis (Elmore, 2007). Mitochondrial damage in IECs is a feature of both human and murine UC (Heazlewood et al., 2008). Taken together, these data show that loss of CT α promotes ER stress and apoptosis in the intestinal epithelium.



Figure 4.7 CHOP is induced in the colon in response to disruption of IEC CTa. (A) Electron micrographs of the ER in colonic epithelial cells of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. (B) mRNA abundance of genes linked to ER stress and the unfolded protein response in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n=5/group). (C) PC and (D) PE concentrations in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n=9/group). (E) mRNA abundance of *Bcl2* in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n=5/group). (F) TNF- α protein concentrations in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (n=5/group). (F) TNF- α protein concentrations in the colons of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with and without antibiotic treatment (n≥4/group). Values are means ± SEM.***p<.001, ****p<.0001. In Figure 4.7F, columns that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. α =0.05.

4.3.7 Administration of the chemical chaperone 4-phenylbutyrate normalizes colon mass and reduces inflammatory tone in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice

ER stress typically arises due to accumulation of misfolded proteins. However, the preponderance of evidence suggests that alterations to ER membrane lipid composition can indirectly cause misfolded protein accumulation by disrupting the protein folding environment

(Han and Kaufman, 2016). The chemical chaperone 4-phenylbutyrate (PBA) has been used previously to reduce ER stress and improve disease activity in the setting of colitis (Cao et al., 2013). We hypothesized that an altered ER membrane lipid composition was causing misfolded protein accumulation in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (leading to ER stress and inflammation) and that providing the PBA would alleviate ER stress and disease severity. Like antibiotic-treated mice, control mice and CTa^{IKO} mice initially lost weight during PBA and tamoxifen treatment; however, both groups re-gained weight at the same rate after the end of tamoxifen treatment (Figure 4.8A).. Control and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice receiving the vehicle control lost weight at the same rate, likely due to the mild discomfort of twice daily oral gavages (Figure 8A). Treatment with PBA completely reversed the increase in colon weight observed in untreated $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (Figure 4.8B). Consistent with this normalization of colon mass, PBA ameliorated the increase in colonic MCP-1 observed in CTa^{IKO} mice (Figure 4.8C). Importantly, colonic IL-1ß concentrations, which were 10-fold higher in untreated $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to controls, were normalized with PBA treatment (Figure 4.8D). However, PBA treatment failed to maintain goblet cell abundance (Figure 4.8E) or to normalize GM-CSF, TNF α , LIF and several other cytokines and chemokines in the colons of CT α^{IKO} mice (Table 4.3). These data suggest that impaired protein folding contributes to the inflammatory changes observed in response to loss of de novo PC synthesis, but that additional pathogenic factors drive colonic inflammation.



Figure 4.8. Administration of the chemical chaperone 4-phenylbutyrate normalizes colon mass and reduces inflammatory tone in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. (A) Body mass relative to body mass at the end of tamoxifen treatment in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with and without PBA treatment (5 control mice, 5 CT α IKO mice, 3 control mice + PBA and 4 CT α^{IKO} mice + PBA). (B) Colon weights of control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with and without PBA treatment (n \geq 3/group). (C) MCP-1, (D) IL-1 β protein concentrations in the colons of control mice and CT α^{IKO} mice with and without PBA treatment (n \geq 3/group). (E) Representative H&E stained colon sections from PBA-treated control mice and CT α^{IKO} mice. (n \geq 3/group). Values are means ± SEM. In Figure 4.8B, 1.8C, 4.8D. columns that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. α =0.05.

<u>Protein name</u>	<u>Control</u>	<u> CTα^{ικο}</u>	<u>Control + PBA</u>	<u> CTα^{ικο} + PBA</u>
Eotaxin	5.07 ± 2.51	22.15 ± 10.87	0.61 ± 0.26	15.44 ± 4.82
G-CSF	1.23 ± 0.33	1.91 ± 0.43	1.07 ± 0.25	1.50 ± 0.23
IFNγ	0.41 ± 0.08	0.96 ± 0.19	0.77 ± 0.37	0.62 ± 0.10
ΙL-1α	20.14 ± 1.90	26.57 ± 2.89	22.04 ± 7.77	25.99 ± 5.38
IL-2	2.88 ± 0.66	2.11 ± 0.66	1.52 ± 0.68	4.21 ± 0.64
IL-6	0.85 ± 0.41	2.76 ± 1.12	2.18 ± 0.70	1.18 ± 0.33
IL-9	16.91 ± 4.77	8.00 ± 2.83	11.62 ± 9.76	18.17 ± 6.27
IL-10	2.86 ± 0.97	5.46 ± 1.33	6.74 ± 0.44	2.21 ± 0.41
IL-12 (p40)	5.33 ± 2.28	8.31 ± 2.80	12.50 ± 0.78	1.38 ± 0.45
IL-12 (p70)	0.60 ± 0.50	4.17 ± 2.19	6.37 ± 3.21	0.01 ± 0.01
M-CSF	0.41 ± 0.23	1.36 ± 0.33	0.94 ± 0.38	0.52 ± 0.02
RANTES	1.57 ± 0.87	2.60 ± 0.72	1.22 ± 0.21	2.26 ± 0.53
ΜΙΡ-1α	2.92 ± 0.81	4.07 ± 0.92	2.44 ± 1.01	5.36 ± 0.42
MIP-2	28.70 ± 8.55	55.26 ± 9.93	42.53 ± 3.31	41.02 ± 1.86

Table 4.4 Colonic cytokines and chemokines in control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ with and without PBA¹

¹Data are mean ± SEM. A 2-way ANOVA was used.

4.4 Discussion

In this study we show that genetic disruption of $CT\alpha$ in IECs induces spontaneous colitis in mice. Colonic inflammation in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is linked to ER stress, damage to goblet cell mucus granules, and infiltration of the intestinal epithelium by microbes. ER stress, microbial invasion of the colonic epithelium and inflammatory cytokine secretion can independently and collectively contribute to colonic damage in human UC (Heazlewood et al., 2008). Indeed, the phenotype of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice closely mimics that seen in human UC (reduced goblet cell abundance, reduced mucus integrity, immune cell infiltration) and so $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice will provide a useful model for studying aspects IBD pathogenesis. Our initial hypothesis was that $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice would have lower PC in their colonic mucus layer leading to a compromised mucus barrier. We found that there is loss of the entire mucus barrier after loss of intestinal $CT\alpha$, suggesting that *de novo* PC synthesis plays a crucial role in colonic protection.

The ER is the primary site of cellular lipid and protein synthesis. Patients with IBD have elevated markers of ER stress in their distal intestinal epithelium (Shkoda et al., 2007, Hu et al., 2007, Heazlewood et al., 2008). Furthermore, genome-wide association studies have linked abnormalities in *Agr2*, X-box binding protein 1 (*Xbp1*) and ORMDL sphingolipid biosynthesis regulator 3 (*Ormdl3*), genes that encode proteins involved in ER stress, to IBD (Kaser et al., 2008, McGovern et al., 2010). Misfolding of MUC2 induces spontaneous colitis in mice, demonstrating that ER stress induced by the accumulation of misfolded proteins can promote intestinal inflammation (Heazlewood et al., 2008). In addition to protein misfolding, changes to ER membrane lipid composition have been shown to induce ER stress in pancreatic beta cells loaded with saturated fatty acids (Cunha et al., 2008), macrophages exposed to cholesterol (Feng et al., 2003), and the livers of mice fed a high fat diet (Fu et al., 2011b). However, whether disturbed ER

membrane lipid homeostasis can contribute to proinflammatory changes in the gastrointestinal tract had not been investigated. Our data show that impairment of *de novo* PC synthesis in IECs induces the ER stress-associated transcription factor CHOP and promotes intestinal inflammation. Furthermore, we show that reducing ER stress with the chemical chaperone PBA normalizes clinically relevant markers of disease severity (including colon hyperproliferation and inflammatory cytokine secretion). Therefore, our data provide evidence of an important role for *de novo* PC synthesis in maintaining an appropriate ER microenvironment to prevent inflammation in IECs.

Mucus of the colon consists of two distinct layers (an inner microbe-free layer and a less dense outer layer that is colonized by bacteria) that restricts microbial access to host tissues (Johansson et al., 2008). We found that impaired de novo PC synthesis results in ultrastructural damage to theca in goblet cells, loss of mucus granules, and a compromised mucus barrier. Goblet cells are at increased risk of ER stress-induced apoptosis relative to other IEC types due to their high protein folding and secretory demands (Heazlewood et al., 2008, Kaser et al., 2008). The lower abundance of goblet cells mucus granules in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is associated with increased rates of apoptosis in the intestinal epithelium. Furthermore, CTa^{IKO} mice appear to be unable to replace mature goblet cells due to transcriptional repression of the goblet cell maturation factors Gfi1, Klf4 and Spdef. Bacterial infiltration of the intestinal epithelium due to a compromised mucus barrier in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice appears to contribute towards disease severity, since antibiotic treatment reduced colonic IL-1 α , IL-1 β and IFN γ concentrations relative to untreated CT α^{IKO} mice. However, extensive loss of goblet cells and high levels of a range of pro-inflammatory cytokines were still observed in CTa^{IKO} mice following antibiotic treatment and so tissue-intrinsic factors must also play a role in disease pathogenesis.

The mucus layer in the small intestine is discontinuous and thin relative to the large intestine and so secreted antimicrobial peptides such as REGIIIB and REGIIIy play an important role in restricting microbial access to the small intestinal epithelium (Vaishnava et al., 2011). Disruption of CT α in the small intestine induces Reg3b and Reg3g, as well as Duox2, duox2a, Fut2, indicative of impaired mucosal barrier function. Indeed, a FITC-labeled dextran permeability assay revealed a ~75% increase in intestinal permeability in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to control mice. Enhanced microbial interaction with the intestinal epithelium is linked to uncontrolled proliferation and cancer (Reinhardt et al., 2012, Stappenbeck et al., 2002). Furthermore, an intestinal environment with high inflammatory cytokine concentrations is linked to colon cancer initiation and progression (Elinav et al., 2013). The pro-tumorigenic cytokines LIF and MCP-1 (McClellan et al., 2012, Yu et al., 2014) were consistently found to be elevated in the colons of CTa^{IKO} mice. Accordingly, CTa^{IKO} mice have increased expression of genes linked to cell cycle progression, increased abundance of the PCNA protein, and hyperproliferation of intestinal crypts. These results are comparable to those observed in MUC2-deficient mice, as these mice also experience crypt hyperproliferation in both the small intestine and colon (Velcich et al., 2002).

4.5 Conclusions

In conclusion, our results show that endogenous PC synthesis is important for protecting against ER stress in the intestinal epithelium and that disruption of CT α in IECs results in goblet cell depletion and spontaneous colitis in mice. The factors underlying induction of intestinal inflammation in CT α^{IKO} mice include mucus barrier dysfunction, enhanced intestinal permeability, exposure of the intestinal epithelium to luminal antigens, ER stress and inflammatory cytokine secretion. Therefore, our data provide *in vivo* evidence that PC is an important anti-inflammatory component of the intestinal epithelium and provide molecular insight into the clinical benefits observed upon restoration of colonic PC homeostasis in UC patients (Stremmel et al., 2005, Stremmel et al., 2007, Karner et al., 2014).

4.6 References

- Bergström, J. H., Birchenough, G. M., Katona, G., Schroeder, B. O., Schütte, A., Ermund, A., Johansson, M. E. & Hansson, G. C. 2016. Gram-Positive Bacteria Are Held At A Distance In The Colon Mucus By The Lectin-Like Protein Zg16. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A, 113, 13833-13838.
- Braun, A., Treede, I., Gotthardt, D., Tietje, A., Zahn, A., Ruhwald, R., Schoenfeld, U., Welsch, T., Kienle, P., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Fuellekrug, J., Stremmel, W. & Ehehalt, R. 2009. Alterations Of Phospholipid Concentration And Species Composition Of The Intestinal Mucus Barrier In Ulcerative Colitis: A Clue To Pathogenesis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 15, 1705-20.
- Cao, S. S., Zimmermann, E. M., Chuang, B. M., Song, B., Nwokoye, A., Wilkinson, J. E., Eaton, K. A. & Kaufman, R. J. 2013. The Unfolded Protein Response And Chemical Chaperones Reduce Protein Misfolding And Colitis In Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 144, 989-1000.E6.
- Cunha, D. A., Hekerman, P., Ladrière, L., Bazarra-Castro, A., Ortis, F., Wakeham, M. C., Moore, F., Rasschaert, J., Cardozo, A. K., Bellomo, E., Overbergh, L., Mathieu, C., Lupi, R., Hai, T., Herchuelz, A., Marchetti, P., Rutter, G. A., Eizirik, D. L. & Cnop, M. 2008. Initiation And Execution Of Lipotoxic Er Stress In Pancreatic Beta-Cells. *J Cell Sci*, 121, 2308-18.
- Ehehalt, R., Braun, A., Karner, M., Füllekrug, J. & Stremmel, W. 2010. Phosphatidylcholine As A Constituent In The Colonic Mucosal Barrier--Physiological And Clinical Relevance. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1801, 983-93.
- Ehehalt, R., Wagenblast, J., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Hinz, U., Merle, U. & Stremmel, W. 2004. Phosphatidylcholine And Lysophosphatidylcholine In Intestinal Mucus Of Ulcerative Colitis Patients. A Quantitative Approach By Nanoelectrospray-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Scand J Gastroenterol*, 39, 737-42.
- El Marjou, F., Janssen, K. P., Chang, B. H., Li, M., Hindie, V., Chan, L., Louvard, D., Chambon, P., Metzger, D. & Robine, S. 2004. Tissue-Specific And Inducible Cre-Mediated Recombination In The Gut Epithelium. *Genesis*, 39, 186-93.
- Elinav, E., Nowarski, R., Thaiss, C. A., Hu, B., Jin, C. & Flavell, R. A. 2013. Inflammation-Induced Cancer: Crosstalk Between Tumours, Immune Cells And Microorganisms. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 13, 759-71.
- Elmore, S. 2007. Apoptosis: A Review Of Programmed Cell Death. Toxicol Pathol, 35, 495-516.
- Feng, B., Yao, P. M., Li, Y., Devlin, C. M., Zhang, D., Harding, H. P., Sweeney, M., Rong, J. X., Kuriakose, G., Fisher, E. A., Marks, A. R., Ron, D. & Tabas, I. 2003. The Endoplasmic Reticulum Is The Site Of Cholesterol-Induced Cytotoxicity In Macrophages. *Nat Cell Biol*, 5, 781-92.
- Folch, J., Lees, M. & Sloane Stanley, G. H. 1957. A Simple Method For The Isolation And Purification Of Total Lipides From Animal Tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 226, 497-509.
- Fu, S., Yang, L., Li, P., Hofmann, O., Dicker, L., Hide, W., Lin, X., Watkins, S. M., Ivanov, A. R. & Hotamisligil, G. S. 2011. Aberrant Lipid Metabolism Disrupts Calcium Homeostasis Causing Liver Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress In Obesity. *Nature*, 473, 528-31.

- Han, J. & Kaufman, R. J. 2016. The Role Of Er Stress In Lipid Metabolism And Lipotoxicity. J Lipid Res, 57, 1329-38.
- Heazlewood, C. K., Cook, M. C., Eri, R., Price, G. R., Tauro, S. B., Taupin, D., Thornton, D. J., Png, C. W., Crockford, T. L., Cornall, R. J., Adams, R., Kato, M., Nelms, K. A., Hong, N. A., Florin, T. H., Goodnow, C. C. & Mcguckin, M. A. 2008. Aberrant Mucin Assembly In Mice Causes Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress And Spontaneous Inflammation Resembling Ulcerative Colitis. *Plos Med*, 5, E54.
- Hirata, Y., Egea, L., Dann, S. M., Eckmann, L. & Kagnoff, M. F. 2010. Gm-Csf-Facilitated Dendritic Cell Recruitment And Survival Govern The Intestinal Mucosal Response To A Mouse Enteric Bacterial Pathogen. *Cell Host Microbe*, 7, 151-63.
- Hu, S., Ciancio, M. J., Lahav, M., Fujiya, M., Lichtenstein, L., Anant, S., Musch, M. W. & Chang, E. B. 2007. Translational Inhibition Of Colonic Epithelial Heat Shock Proteins By Ifn-Gamma And Tnf-Alpha In Intestinal Inflammation. *Gastroenterology*, 133, 1893-904.
- Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T. & Lempicki, R. A. 2009. Systematic And Integrative Analysis Of Large Gene Lists Using David Bioinformatics Resources. *Nat Protoc*, 4, 44-57.
- Johansson, M. E., Gustafsson, J. K., Holmén-Larsson, J., Jabbar, K. S., Xia, L., Xu, H., Ghishan, F. K., Carvalho, F. A., Gewirtz, A. T., Sjövall, H. & Hansson, G. C. 2014. Bacteria Penetrate The Normally Impenetrable Inner Colon Mucus Layer In Both Murine Colitis Models And Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut*, 63, 281-91.
- Johansson, M. E. & Hansson, G. C. 2016. Immunological Aspects Of Intestinal Mucus And Mucins. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 16, 639-49.
- Johansson, M. E., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L. & Hansson, G. C. 2008. The Inner Of The Two Muc2 Mucin-Dependent Mucus Layers In Colon Is Devoid Of Bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 15064-9.
- Karam, S. M. 1999. Lineage Commitment And Maturation Of Epithelial Cells In The Gut. *Front Biosci*, 4, D286-98.
- Karner, M., Kocjan, A., Stein, J., Schreiber, S., Von Boyen, G., Uebel, P., Schmidt, C., Kupcinskas, L., Dina, I., Zuelch, F., Keilhauer, G. & Stremmel, W. 2014. First Multicenter Study Of Modified Release Phosphatidylcholine "Lt-02" In Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial In Mesalazine-Refractory Courses. Am J Gastroenterol, 109, 1041-51.
- Kaser, A., Lee, A. H., Franke, A., Glickman, J. N., Zeissig, S., Tilg, H., Nieuwenhuis, E. E., Higgins, D. E., Schreiber, S., Glimcher, L. H. & Blumberg, R. S. 2008. Xbp1 Links Er Stress To Intestinal Inflammation And Confers Genetic Risk For Human Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Cell*, 134, 743-56.
- Kennelly, J. P., Van Der Veen, J. N., Nelson, R. C., Leonard, K. A., Havinga, R., Buteau, J., Kuipers, F. & Jacobs, R. L. 2018. Intestinal De Novo Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Is Required For Dietary Lipid Absorption And Metabolic Homeostasis. *J Lipid Res*.
- Khor, B., Gardet, A. & Xavier, R. J. 2011. Genetics And Pathogenesis Of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Nature*, 474, 307-17.
- Mashimo, H., Wu, D. C., Podolsky, D. K. & Fishman, M. C. 1996. Impaired Defense Of Intestinal Mucosa In Mice Lacking Intestinal Trefoil Factor. *Science*, 274, 262-5.
- Mcclellan, J. L., Davis, J. M., Steiner, J. L., Enos, R. T., Jung, S. H., Carson, J. A., Pena, M. M., Carnevale, K. A., Berger, F. G. & Murphy, E. A. 2012. Linking Tumor-Associated

Macrophages, Inflammation, And Intestinal Tumorigenesis: Role Of Mcp-1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 303, G1087-95.

- Mccullough, K. D., Martindale, J. L., Klotz, L. O., Aw, T. Y. & Holbrook, N. J. 2001. Gadd153 Sensitizes Cells To Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress By Down-Regulating Bcl2 And Perturbing The Cellular Redox State. *Mol Cell Biol*, 21, 1249-59.
- Mcgovern, D. P., Gardet, A., Törkvist, L., Goyette, P., Essers, J., Taylor, K. D., Neale, B. M., Ong, R. T., Lagacé, C., Li, C., Green, T., Stevens, C. R., Beauchamp, C., Fleshner, P. R., Carlson, M., D'amato, M., Halfvarson, J., Hibberd, M. L., Lördal, M., Padyukov, L., Andriulli, A., Colombo, E., Latiano, A., Palmieri, O., Bernard, E. J., Deslandres, C., Hommes, D. W., De Jong, D. J., Stokkers, P. C., Weersma, R. K., Sharma, Y., Silverberg, M. S., Cho, J. H., Wu, J., Roeder, K., Brant, S. R., Schumm, L. P., Duerr, R. H., Dubinsky, M. C., Glazer, N. L., Haritunians, T., Ippoliti, A., Melmed, G. Y., Siscovick, D. S., Vasiliauskas, E. A., Targan, S. R., Annese, V., Wijmenga, C., Pettersson, S., Rotter, J. I., Xavier, R. J., Daly, M. J., Rioux, J. D., Seielstad, M. & Consortium, N. I. G. 2010. Genome-Wide Association Identifies Multiple Ulcerative Colitis Susceptibility Loci. *Nat Genet*, 42, 332-7.
- Molodecky, N. A., Soon, I. S., Rabi, D. M., Ghali, W. A., Ferris, M., Chernoff, G., Benchimol, E. I., Panaccione, R., Ghosh, S., Barkema, H. W. & Kaplan, G. G. 2012. Increasing Incidence And Prevalence Of The Inflammatory Bowel Diseases With Time, Based On Systematic Review. *Gastroenterology*, 142, 46-54.E42; Quiz E30.
- Out, C., Patankar, J. V., Doktorova, M., Boesjes, M., Bos, T., De Boer, S., Havinga, R., Wolters, H., Boverhof, R., Van Dijk, T. H., Smoczek, A., Bleich, A., Sachdev, V., Kratky, D., Kuipers, F., Verkade, H. J. & Groen, A. K. 2015. Gut Microbiota Inhibit Asbt-Dependent Intestinal Bile Acid Reabsorption Via Gata4. *J Hepatol*, 63, 697-704.
- Reinhardt, C., Bergentall, M., Greiner, T. U., Schaffner, F., Ostergren-Lundén, G., Petersen, L. C., Ruf, W. & Bäckhed, F. 2012. Tissue Factor And Parl Promote Microbiota-Induced Intestinal Vascular Remodelling. *Nature*, 483, 627-31.
- Reya, T. & Clevers, H. 2005. Wnt Signalling In Stem Cells And Cancer. Nature, 434, 843-50.
- Schröder, M. & Kaufman, R. J. 2005. The Mammalian Unfolded Protein Response. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 74, 739-89.
- Shkoda, A., Ruiz, P. A., Daniel, H., Kim, S. C., Rogler, G., Sartor, R. B. & Haller, D. 2007. Interleukin-10 Blocked Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress In Intestinal Epithelial Cells: Impact On Chronic Inflammation. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 190-207.
- Stappenbeck, T. S., Hooper, L. V. & Gordon, J. I. 2002. Developmental Regulation Of Intestinal Angiogenesis By Indigenous Microbes Via Paneth Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 15451-5.
- Stremmel, W., Ehehalt, R., Autschbach, F. & Karner, M. 2007. Phosphatidylcholine For Steroid-Refractory Chronic Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized Trial. Ann Intern Med, 147, 603-10.
- Stremmel, W., Merle, U., Zahn, A., Autschbach, F., Hinz, U. & Ehehalt, R. 2005. Retarded Release Phosphatidylcholine Benefits Patients With Chronic Active Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut*, 54, 966-71.
- Swidsinski, A., Ladhoff, A., Pernthaler, A., Swidsinski, S., Loening-Baucke, V., Ortner, M., Weber, J., Hoffmann, U., Schreiber, S., Dietel, M. & Lochs, H. 2002. Mucosal Flora In Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Gastroenterology*, 122, 44-54.

- Takaoka, A., Wang, Z., Choi, M. K., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Ban, T., Lu, Y., Miyagishi, M., Kodama, T., Honda, K., Ohba, Y. & Taniguchi, T. 2007. Dai (Dlm-1/Zbp1) Is A Cytosolic Dna Sensor And An Activator Of Innate Immune Response. *Nature*, 448, 501-5.
- Treede, I., Braun, A., Sparla, R., Kühnel, M., Giese, T., Turner, J. R., Anes, E., Kulaksiz, H., Füllekrug, J., Stremmel, W., Griffiths, G. & Ehehalt, R. 2007. Anti-Inflammatory Effects Of Phosphatidylcholine. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 27155-64.
- Tsuru, A., Fujimoto, N., Takahashi, S., Saito, M., Nakamura, D., Iwano, M., Iwawaki, T., Kadokura, H., Ron, D. & Kohno, K. 2013. Negative Feedback By Ire1β Optimizes Mucin Production In Goblet Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 2864-9.
- Vaishnava, S., Yamamoto, M., Severson, K. M., Ruhn, K. A., Yu, X., Koren, O., Ley, R., Wakeland, E. K. & Hooper, L. V. 2011. The Antibacterial Lectin Regiiigamma Promotes The Spatial Segregation Of Microbiota And Host In The Intestine. *Science*, 334, 255-8.
- Van Der Sanden, M. H., Houweling, M., Van Golde, L. M. & Vaandrager, A. B. 2003. Inhibition Of Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Induces Expression Of The Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress And Apoptosis-Related Protein Ccaat/Enhancer-Binding Protein-Homologous Protein (Chop/Gadd153). *Biochem J*, 369, 643-50.
- Van Der Sluis, M., De Koning, B. A., De Bruijn, A. C., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J. P., Van Goudoever, J. B., Büller, H. A., Dekker, J., Van Seuningen, I., Renes, I. B. & Einerhand, A. W. 2006. Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating That Muc2 Is Critical For Colonic Protection. *Gastroenterology*, 131, 117-29.
- Velcich, A., Yang, W., Heyer, J., Fragale, A., Nicholas, C., Viani, S., Kucherlapati, R., Lipkin, M., Yang, K. & Augenlicht, L. 2002. Colorectal Cancer In Mice Genetically Deficient In The Mucin Muc2. *Science*, 295, 1726-9.
- Woting, A. & Blaut, M. 2018. Small Intestinal Permeability And Gut-Transit Time Determined With Low And High Molecular Weight Fluorescein Isothiocyanate-Dextrans In C3h Mice. *Nutrients*, 10.
- Yu, H., Yue, X., Zhao, Y., Li, X., Wu, L., Zhang, C., Liu, Z., Lin, K., Xu-Monette, Z. Y., Young, K. H., Liu, J., Shen, Z., Feng, Z. & Hu, W. 2014. Lif Negatively Regulates Tumour-Suppressor P53 Through Stat3/Id1/Mdm2 In Colorectal Cancers. *Nat Commun*, 5, 5218.
- Zhang, H.-S., Chen, Y., Fan, L., Xi, Q.-L., Wu, G.-H., Li, X.-X., Yuan, T.-L., He, S.-Q., Yu, Y., Shao, M.-L., Liu, Y., Bai, C.-G., Ling, Z.-Q., Li, M., Liu, Y. & Fang, J. 2015. The Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Sensor Ire1α In Intestinal Epithelial Cells Is Essential For Protecting Against Colitis. *The Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 290, 15327-15336.
- Zhou, X. & Arthur, G. 1992. Improved Procedures For The Determination Of Lipid Phosphorus By Malachite Green. *J Lipid Res*, 33, 1233-6.

<u>CHAPTER 5.</u> Insufficient dietary choline aggravates disease severity in a mouse model of Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis

T Ju*, JP Kennelly*, RL Jacobs and BP Willing

5.1 Introduction

The intestinal epithelium and gut-associated lymphoid tissue is spatially separated from luminal microbes by immunoglobulins, antimicrobial peptides, and a protective mucus barrier (Hooper and Macpherson, 2010). Mucus provides a physical barrier to prevent invasion of the epithelium by pathogens and microbial leakage into the lamina propria (Johansson and Hansson, 2016). The colonic mucus barrier is composed of two distinct layers: a sterile inner layer that adheres to the intestinal epithelium and a loose outer layer that contains bacteria (Johansson et al., 2008). Goblet cells establish and maintain the mucus layer by producing the major mucus glycoprotein Mucin 2 (MUC2) (Johansson and Hansson, 2016). Individuals with ulcerative colitis, a form of inflammatory bowel disease, have fewer typical goblet cells and a compromised mucus barrier compared to individuals without ulcerative colitis (McCormick et al., 1990, Pullan et al., 1994, Strugala et al., 2008). Furthermore, loss MUC2 induces spontaneous intestinal inflammation in mice, suggesting that goblet cells and the mucus barrier play an important role in protecting against intestinal injury (Van der Sluis et al., 2006).

Choline is a dietary factor required for the synthesis of membrane phospholipids, formation of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine, and methyl group metabolism (Li and Vance, 2008). After absorption in the intestine *via* active transport, most dietary choline is converted to PC, which accounts for 95% of the total choline pool in mammals (Li and Vance, 2008, van der Veen et al., 2017). PC is abundant in the gastrointestinal mucus layer where its hydrophobic properties are thought to play a role in maintaining mucus integrity (Treede et al., 2007, Stremmel et al., 2005).

Importantly, patients with ulcerative colitis have lower PC concentrations in the mucus layer of their distal intestine compared to non-inflamed controls, suggesting that choline supply or metabolism might be involved in maintaining mucus barrier integrity and intestinal immune homeostasis (Ehehalt et al., 2004). Furthermore, clinical trials have shown beneficial effects of supplying exogenous PC in a modified-release capsule (that prevents absorption in the proximal intestine) to the distal mucosa of ulcerative colitis patients (Stremmel et al., 2005, Stremmel et al., 2007, Karner et al., 2014). While these data suggest that exogenous PC might have anti-inflammatory effects in the setting of colitis, the role that choline, the diet-derived substrate for *de novo* PC synthesis, plays in protecting against colonic infection and inflammation remains poorly understood. It has been demonstrated that insufficient dietary choline leads to impaired liver and muscle function in humans and animals (da Costa et al., 2004, Zeisel et al., 1991). In the current study, we aimed to characterize the role that dietary choline plays in maintaining colonic immune homeostasis in the context of infectious colitis.

In addition to diet, choline availability for physiological processes is impacted by the gut microbiota (Romano et al., 2015). Certain gut microbes, including commensal *E. coli* strains, can convert dietary choline to trimethylamine (TMA) and decrease choline bioavailability to the host (Romano et al., 2017). Conversely, dietary choline levels could modulate gut microbial composition. In a human study in which dietary choline levels were manipulated, the abundance of *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Erysipelotrichia* were changed (Spencer et al., 2011). The microbiota is a diverse and dynamic ecosystem that makes important contributions to host metabolism and innate immunity (Round and Mazmanian, 2009, Nicholson et al., 2012). Commensal microbes prevent the proliferation of gut pathogens (Kamada et al., 2013) and can directly influence intestinal epithelial cell immune function (Cash et al., 2006). Individuals with

inflammatory bowel diseases have broadly different gut microbial compositions compared to healthy individuals, suggesting that microbial factors are involved in the origin or progression of intestinal inflammation (Frank et al., 2007, Willing et al., 2010). Diet is a major determinant of gut microbial composition (Turnbaugh et al., 2009), and defining the changes that occur to the microbiota in response to specific dietary nutrients in the context of intestinal inflammation can provide insight into the microbial factors that initiate or perpetuate disease. Indeed, the abundance of the commensal gut microbes *Gammaproteobacteria* and *Erysipelotrichia* were correlated with dietary choline intake in humans (Spencer et al., 2011). We aimed to clearly define changes to the gut microbial community in response to different levels of dietary choline intake in the setting of intestinal inflammation.

The aim of this study was to determine the effects of dietary choline deficiency on mucosal barrier function and immune responses during infection. We hypothesized mice fed a choline-deficient (CD) diet (i.e. lacking the key dietary substrate for *de novo* PC synthesis), would have increased susceptibility to colitis induced by *C. rodentium*, a murine attaching-effacing pathogen that induces pathological features comparable to those seen in ulcerative colitis (Mundy et al., 2005). We found that mice fed insufficient dietary choline developed more severe colitis following *C. rodentium* infection compared with mice fed diets containing sufficient (CS) or excess (CE) levels of choline. A CD diet was linked to greater loss of goblet cells and increased production of proinflammatory cytokines. Meanwhile, the enrichment of bacterial genera *Allobaculum* and *Turicibacter* have been identified as the indicators of dietary choline depletion. Our data shows that adequate levels of dietary choline are important for maintaining goblet cell abundance and colonic immune function during colitis development.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Mice. Eight-week-old female C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) were housed in a Specific Pathogen Free (SPF) facility at the University of Alberta with a 12-h light/dark cycle and free access to food and water. Mice were randomly grouped into six cages with 4 to 5 mice per cage by a blinded lab animal technician and balanced for average body weight. Cages were allocated to one of three isocaloric diets differing only in their choline content (Table 1): choline deficient (CD; 0 g choline/kg diet), choline sufficient (CS; 1 g choline/kg diet), or excess choline (CE; 4 g choline/kg diet). In the first experimental arm of the study, mice were fed the CD, CS or CE diets for four weeks and were not inoculated with C. rodentium. Body weights were recorded weekly and mice were euthanized by before collection of tissues and gut contents. In the second experimental arm of the study, mice were fed the CD, CS, and CE diets for three weeks and before being inoculated with C. rodentium by oral gavage. Infected mice were euthanized 7 days post infection (DPI) for collection of tissues and gut contents, and for fecal C. rodentium enumeration. The infectious study was repeated twice with the total number of 18 mice in each treatment. The terminal 5 mm piece of the distal colon was collected in 10% neutral buffered formalin for histological analysis. Colon, small intestine and liver tissue was snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Ileal, caecal, and colonic contents were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for microbial composition analysis. The University of Alberta's Institutional Animal Care Committee approved all animal procedures, which were in accordance with guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

bline Chol cient Suffic 2D) (CS) 70 270 70 170 95 193 80 80 19 19 50 50	Eient Excess S) (CE) 0 270 0 170 5 195 0 80
CD) (CS) 70 270 70 170 95 193 80 80 19 19	S) (CE) 0 270 0 170 5 195 0 80
70 270 70 170 95 193 80 80 19 19	0 270 0 170 5 195 0 80
70 170 95 193 80 80 19 19	0 170 5 195 0 80
95 193 80 80 19 19	5 195 9 80
80 80 19 19	80
19 19	
	10
50 50	17
50 50	50
.4 3.4	4 3.4
6.3	6.3
.8 1.8	3 1.8
0 5	19.5
32 32	. 32
10 10) 10
55 15	5 155
.5 1.5	5 1.5
.5 1.5	5 1.5
25 25	5 25
34 34	34
41 41	41
0 1	4
	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 5.1. Composition of the experimental diets

¹Harlan Teklad (Indianapolis, IN, USA)

²Safeway (Edmonton, AB, Canada)

³Crisco J.M. Smucker Company (Orrville, OH, USA)

⁴Mazola ACH Food Companies Inc. (Oakbrook Terraces, IL, USA)

⁵TenderFlake (Chicago, IL, USA)

⁶DSM Nutritional Products Inc. (Heerlen, The Netherlands)

5.2.2 Bacterial strains. *C. rodentium* strain (DBS100) was cultivated in 5 ml of Luria-Bertani (LB) medium (Fisher Scientific, Nepean, ON) at 37°C for 16 h. The culture medium contained approximately 1.0×10^9 colony forming units (CFU)/ml of *C. rodentium* and each mouse received 0.1 ml of culture. Enumeration of *C. rodentium* was conducted by serial dilutions of fecal samples plated on MacConkey agar (BD, Sparks, MD) and total CFUs per gram of feces were then calculated.

5.2.3 Microbial composition analysis. Total DNA was extracted from ileal, caecal, and colonic contents using the QIA stool extraction kit (Qiagen Inc., Valencia, CA) with an additional beadbeating step as described previously (Willing et al., 2011). Amplicon libraries were constructed that amplified the V3-V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene following Illumina 16S metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation protocol. The paired-end sequencing and data analysis were performed using the protocols and pipelines published previously (Ju et al., 2017).

5.2.4 mRNA isolation and quantification by PCR. Total RNA was isolated from colon sections using Trizol (Invitrogen, CA, USA). RNA was reversed-transcribed using Superscript II (Invitrogen, CA, USA). Quantitative PCR was run on an Applied Biosystems StepOne Plus for 40 cycles using a Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, MA, USA), in triplicate. Relative mRNA expression was normalized to Rplp0. Quantitation was performed using the standard curves method.

5.2.5 Microscopy. Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue slices (5µm thick) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Images were obtained using an EVOS FL Auto Imaging System (Thermo Scientific, Nepean, ON). Well-oriented cross sections were assessed for pathology as previous described (Ju et al., 2017).

5.2.6 Measurement of colonic cytokines and chemokines. Colon tissue obtained from the infected mice were subjected to an assay targeting a panel of cytokines and chemokines. Distal colon tissue was homogenized in buffer containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and dithiothreitol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The protein concentration of the supernatant was determined by bicinchoninic acid assay after centrifugation to remove debris. Cytokine concentrations were determined using Multiplex LASER Bead Technology (Eve Technology, Calgary, Canada).

5.2.7 Lipid measurements. Total protein concentrations of tissue homogenates were determined by bicinchoninic acid assay before tissue lipids were extracted from homogenates (1mg/ml) by the method of Folch (FOLCH et al., 1957). PC and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) were separated by thin layer chromatography using the solvent system chloroform: methanol: acetic acid: water (50:30:8:4). Bands were visualized after exposure to iodine and measured by phosphorous assay, as described previously (Zhou and Arthur, 1992)

5.2.8 Statistical analysis and visualization. Body weight and cytokine data were assessed for normality by the Shapiro-Wilk test. To compare differences between treatments, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for parametric data and a Kruskal-Wallis test was used for nonparametric data, followed by a Bonferroni's post-hoc test. For microbial composition analysis, the comparison of individual taxa/OTUs between treatments were performed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. Nonparametric multivariate analysis of variance (NP-MANOVA) was used to identify the difference between groups using the Adonis function in the Vegan package (R v3.4.4). The principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity metric was plotted using the phyloseq package (R v3.4.4)(McMurdie and Holmes, 2013). Correlation of colonic *C. rodentium* load with cytokine levels was analyzed by Spearman Rank Correlation using

SAS. *P* values indicate statistical significance as follows: **, P < 0.01; *, P < 0.05. R (v3.4.4) and GraphPad Prism were used for visualizing the results.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Insufficient dietary choline exacerbates the severity of C. rodentium-induced colitis

To examine the effects of dietary choline on susceptibility to colitis, we fed mice isocaloric diets that differed only in choline content (Table 5.1 and Figure 5.1A): choline deficient (CD; 0 g choline/kg diet), choline sufficient (CS; 1 g choline/kg diet), or excess choline (CE; 4 g choline/kg diet). Three weeks after initiation of the dietary treatment, mice were exposed to *C. rodentium* by oral gavage before continuing the dietary treatment for one week. Three weeks after dietary treatment, there was no significant differences in body weight between treatments (data not shown). Following *C. rodentium* infection, mice fed the CD diet experienced moderate body weight loss (relative to pre-infection weight), while mice fed the CS or CE diets maintained their pre-infection body weight (Figure 5.1B). Seven days post infection, the CD group exhibited significantly higher *C. rodentium* loads in the feces than that in the CE group (P < 0.05, Figure 5.1C).



Figure 5.1. Insufficient dietary choline impairs the ability of mice to defend against *Citrobacter-rodentium* induced colitis. (A) Experimental timeline. Mouse feeding trail (top), mouse *C. rodentium* infection model (bottom) (B) Percent body weight change 7 days after *C. rodentium* infection relative to the time of infection (n = 8/group). (C) Enumeration of *C. rodentium* in the feces 7 days post infection (n = 8/group). (D) PC concentrations in the colon 7 days post infection (n = 8/group). Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Means that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. $\alpha = 0.05$.

Analysis of H&E-stained colon sections after *C. rodentium* infection revealed that mice in all three diet groups displayed a thick colonic mucosa, a typical feature of *C. rodentium* infection (Figure 5.2A)(Mundy et al., 2005). However, there was more extensive damage to the colonic epithelium of mice fed the CD when compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets, as reflected by a significantly higher total pathology score (Figure 5.2B). Specifically, mice fed the CD diet had more damage to the surface epithelium than mice fed the CD or CE diets, as characterized by increased regenerative change, desquamation, and epithelial ulceration (Figure 5.2D). Furthermore, mice fed the CD diet had increased mucosal hyperplasia, as indicated by increased crypt length relative to mice fed the CS diet (Figure 5.2A and 2E). Interestingly, there was a dose response relationship between the level of dietary choline and the loss of goblet cells, with the most dramatic loss of goblet cells observed in the colons of mice fed the CD diet (P < 0.05, Figure 5.2A and 5.2G). Total pathology score was not different between mice fed the CS and CE diets at 7 days post infection (Figure 5.2B).



Figured 5.2 continued on next page.



Figure 5.2. Insufficient dietary choline increases colonic damage relative to mice fed sufficient or excess dietary choline in response to *Citrobacter-rodentium* infection. (A) Distal colon sections from CD, CS, and CE mice 7 days after *C. rodentium* colonization were stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin. Original magnification and bars: Top: x 40, 1000 μ m; Middle: x 200, 500 μ m; Bottom: x 400, 100 μ m. (B) Total pathology score (C) Lumen pathology score (D) Surface epithelium pathology score (E) Mucosa pathology score (F) Submucosa pathology score (G) Goblet cell pathology score 7 days post infection in the colons of mice fed the CD, CS or CE diets . For all the treatment, n = 8/group. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Means that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. $\alpha = 0.05$.

5.3.2 Mice fed a CD diet have enhanced production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in response to *C. rodentium* infection

To determine whether dietary choline intake influences colonic inflammation and the innate immune response after infection, we profiled inflammatory cytokine and chemokine concentrations in the colon seven days after C. rodentium colonization. In general, mice fed a CD diet showed an enhanced production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in response to C. rodentium infection compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets (Table 5.2). In line with greater abundance of fecal C. rodentium at 7 days post infection and more severe damage to the surface epithelium and mucosa, mice fed the CD diet had higher monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) concentrations in colonic tissue compared to mice fed the CE diets (P < 0.05, Table 5.2). Furthermore, Eotaxin and RANTES (also known as CCL5), as well as the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-9 (IL-9), were elevated in the colons of mice fed the CD relative to mice fed the CE diet (P < 0.05, Table 5.2), suggesting an increased colonic inflammation in response to C. rodentium colonization in the CD group. Spearman's rank correlation analysis indicated significant correlations between C. rodentium load and levels of MCP-1 (r = 0.480, P < 0.05) and Macrophage inflammatory protein-2 (MIP-2; r = 0.413, P < 0.05; Figure 5.3). Collectively, there was a clear pattern of increased pro-inflammatory response in the CD mice after C. rodentium colonization. However, we did not observe significant differences in the cytokine and chemokine levels between the CS and CE group, which were consistent with the results from the pathological assessment (Table 5.2).

	Cytokines/chemokines	CD	CS	CE	P value
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1	$25.60\pm8.67^{\mathrm{a}}$	12.41 ± 3.02^{ab}	7.51 ± 1.44^{b}	0.048
Eotaxin-1	Eotaxin-1	43.53 ± 11.37^{a}	33.98 ± 9.68^{ab}	$9.78\pm2.89^{\text{b}}$	0.035
IL-2	Interleukin 2	4.38 ± 0.52^a	1.64 ± 0.44^{b}	2.80 ± 0.75^{ab}	0.017
IL-9	Interleukin 9	12.01 ± 2.39^{a}	7.90 ± 1.59^{ab}	$3.78\pm0.55^{\text{b}}$	0.013
RANTES	C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 5	$3.33\pm0.82^{\rm a}$	1.25 ± 0.16^{ab}	$1.11\pm0.17^{\rm b}$	0.039
MIP-2	Macrophage inflammatory protein 2-alpha	53.14 ± 15.24	19.57 ± 4.48	28.13 ± 5.67	0.068
MIP-1β	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 beta	7.14 ± 1.39	4.26 ± 0.67	4.63 ± 0.58	0.082
IL-17	Interleukin 17	1.39 ± 0.83	0.44 ± 0.17	0.10 ± 0.04	0.043
IL-4	Interleukin 4	0.10 ± 0.02	0.079 ± 0.01	0.08±0.01	0.164
IL-6	Interleukin 6	4.29 ± 2.16	1.31±0.48	1.29±0.45	0.495
IL-10	Interleukin 10	3.72 ± 1.04	3.67±1.03	3.54±0.76	0.990
IL-12 (P40)	The p40 Submit of Interleukin 12	1.37 ± 0.17	2.18±0.63	3.46±1.07	0.381
IL-12 (P70)	The p70 Submit of Interleukin 13	1.61 ± 0.41	1.31±0.42	1.78±0.61	0.796
IL-15	Interleukin 15	6.55 ± 1.12	5.41±0.41	5.28±0.71	0.462
KC	Keratinocyte chemoattractant (CXCL1)	15.54 ± 5.94	5.57±1.24	3.97±1.66	0.297
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor	5.16 ± 1.97	2.71±0.51	3.44±1.02	0.858
M-CSF	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF1)	0.95 ± 0.17	0.93±0.17	0.98±0.17	0.977
MIP-1a	Macrophage inflammatory protein 1-alpha (CCL3)	5.85 ± 2.49	4.61±1.75	3.06±1.38	0.588
TNFALPHA	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha	0.69 ± 0.14	0.54±0.10	0.65±0.20	0.797
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor	0.60 ± 0.10	$0.40{\pm}0.10$	0.39±0.09	0.272

Table 5.2. Concentrations of cytokines/chemokines in the colon tissue 7 DPI C. rodentium infection.

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. N=8/group. Means that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 5.3. Correlation between colonic *C. rodentium* load with (A) MCP-1, (B) Eotaxin-1, and (C) MIP-2 expression levels. Spearman's correlation coefficient (r values) and significance *P* values are shown.

5.3.3 Insufficient dietary choline reduces PC concentrations in the colon following C. *rodentium* infection

In the dietary treatment trial (i.e. without infection), mice fed the CD deficient diet had lower hepatic PC concentrations as compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets, while hepatic PE concentrations were unchanged between groups (Table 5.3). Similarly, PC concentrations were lower in the proximal small intestines of mice fed the CD as compared to mice fed the CS diet (Table 5.3). These data show that feeding mice a CD diet for 4 weeks depletes hepatic and small intestinal PC pools. Interestingly, there was no difference in colonic PC concentrations between CD, CS, or CE groups without *C. rodentium* infection (Figure 5.4). However, after *C. rodentium* colonization, there was a dose-dependent decrease in colonic PC concentrations, with the CD group experiencing the largest decrease in PC concentrations in the setting of dietary choline deficiency (possibly by increasing uptake from circulation); however, under inflammatory conditions these homeostatic systems fail, and colonic PC concentrations drop. The colonic concentrations of PE were not different between groups either before or after *C. rodentium* infection (Figure 5.4).

Table 5.3. Phospholipid concentrations in liver and small intestine

	CD	CS	CE
Liver phospholipids	nmol/mg protein	nmol/mg protein	nmol/mg protein
PC	91.8 ± 9.49^{b}	116.4 ± 7.97^{ab}	$120.6\pm3.54^{\mathrm{a}}$
PE	49.7 ± 3.37	54.5 ± 3.7	55.8 ± 2.21
Jejunal phospholipids			
PC	77.8 ± 2.2^{b}	87.5 ± 3.0^{a}	84.4 ± 2.6^{ab}
PE	55.7 ± 2.9	58.4 ± 2.6	58.6 ± 2.8

4 weeks after dietary treatment (non-infection)

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=8/group) Means that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. $\alpha = 0.05$.



Figure 5.4. Colonic PC (A) and PE (B) concentration without *C. rodentium* infection. Colonic PE (C) concentrations after *C. rodentium* infection 7 DPI. For all treatment groups, n = 8/group. Each point represents an individual mouse. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM.

5.3.4 Changes to dietary choline levels did not alter overall gut microbial structure

The gut microbial composition of the CD, CS, and CE group after 4 weeks of dietary treatment (without infection) was characterized by sequencing 16S rRNA gene amplicons (V3-V4 region) from ileal, caecal, and colonic contents. The sequencing obtained an average of $18,685 \pm$ 6.019 (mean \pm standard deviation) quality-controlled and chimera-checked reads per sample. At different intestinal segments, dietary choline levels did not cause a dramatic shift in gut microbial structure as determined by the PERMANOVA (Figure 5.5A-5.5C). Specifically, there was no difference in microbial structure between CD, CS or CE groups at the caecum (P = 0.226), colon (P = 0.107) or ileum (P = 0.096), as assessed using Bray-Curtis distance matrices with 999 random permutations (Adonis)(Figure 5.5A-5.5C). To evaluate phylogenetic richness and evenness of the microbial community, Chao1 diversity index and Shannon index were calculated in each sample at different intestinal segments. Chao1 and Shannon index did not vary among the treatment groups at each intestinal site, which suggested that dietary choline levels showed minimal effects on the diversity of the microbial community (Figure 5.5D-5.5F). Therefore, enhanced damage to the colonic epithelium of mice fed the CD diet compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets is not linked to broad changes to the structure of the gut microbiota and is instead likely linked to host-intrinsic factors



Figure 5.5 Dietary choline deficiency does not alter overall gut microbial structure compared to sufficient or excess dietary choline Principle component analysis (PCA) plots of the bacterial communities in the (A) ileum (B) caecum and (C) colon of mice fed the CD, CS or CE diets based on the Bray-Curtis distance matrix. Each point represents an individual mouse. Box-plots show the Chaol and Shannon indexes of gut microbiota in the (A) ileum (B) caecum and (C) colon of mice fed the CD, CS or CE diets. For all treatment groups, n = 8/group. Data are shown as mean SEM.

Figure 5.5 Dietary choline deficiency does not alter overall gut microbial structure compared to sufficient or excess dietary choline Principle component analysis (PCA) plots of the bacterial communities in the (A) ileum (B) cecum and (C) colon of mice fed the CD, CS or CE diets based on the Bray-Curtis distance matrix. Each point represents an individual mouse. Box-plots show the Chao1 and Shannon indexes of gut microbiota in the (A) ileum (B) cecum and (C) colon of mice fed the CD, CS or CE diets. For all treatment groups, n = 8/group. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM.

5.5.5 Dietary choline levels altered the relative abundance of certain bacterial taxonomies

To determine how the abundance of specific gut microbes change in response to changes in the level of dietary choline, the sequences were assigned to taxonomy using RDP Classifier. There were notable changes in the abundance of bacterial genera, Allobaculum, Turicubacter, Planococcaeceae, and Oscillospira in mice fed the CD diet compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets (Table 5.4). We observed a consistent increase in the relative abundance of Allobaculum and *Turicibacter* in the CD group at all three intestinal segments (Table 5.4). Specifically, the genus Allobaculum represented an average of 0.1%, 0.01%, and 0.06% of the total microbial community in the ileum, caecum, and colon, respectively, in mice fed the CE diets (Table 5.4). However, the average abundance of Allobaculum reached 1.73%, 0.19%, and 0.91% in the ileum, caecum, and colon, respectively, in mice fed the CD diet (Table 5.4). We were unable to detect the genus of *Turicibacter* in mice fed the CE diet at all three intestinal sites (Table 5.4). However, *Turicibacter* was abundant in mice fed the CD diet, representing 0.83% of total microbiota in the colon. In addition to the significant changes of *Allobaculum* and *Turicibacter* in response to a CD diet, we observed changes to certain bacterial taxonomies at specific intestinal sites. There was a decrease of unclassified *Planococcaceae* in mice fed the CD diet compared to mice fed the CS and CE diets.

Genus	CD (%)	CS (%)	CE (%)	P value	P value (FDR adjusted)
Ileum					
Allobaculum	$1.73\pm0.44^{\text{a}}$	$1.73\pm0.44^{\text{a}}$	$0.10\pm0.03^{\text{b}}$	< 0.01	0.027
Plannococcaceae	$0.03\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$	0.63 ± 0.42^{ab}	$1.83\pm0.42^{\text{a}}$	< 0.01	0.133
Adlercreutzia	$0.06\pm0.03^{\text{b}}$	0.08 ± 0.01^{ab}	$0.14\pm0.01^{\text{a}}$	0.013	0.192
Turicibacter	$0.68\pm0.40^{\text{a}}$	0.46 ± 0.24^{ab}	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm b}$	0.019	0.192
Erysipelotrichaceae_unclassified	$0.10\pm0.03^{\text{b}}$	0.15 ± 0.04^{ab}	$0.46\pm0.15^{\text{a}}$	0.023	0.192
Peptostreptococcaceae_unclassified	6.81 ± 1.40	13.07 ± 3.63	13.96 ± 1.72	0.035	0.194
Ruminococcus	0.05 ± 0.00^{ab}	0.03 ± 0.00^{b}	$0.09\pm0.02^{\rm a}$	0.036	0.194
[Ruminococcus]	0.60 ± 0.14	0.58 ± 0.15	1.38 ± 0.32	0.036	0.194
Caecum					
Allobaculum	$0.19\pm0.06^{\rm a}$	$0.09\pm0.01^{\rm a}$	$0.01\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	< 0.01	0.015
Lactococcus	$0.14\pm0.01^{\rm a}$	0.11 ± 0.02^{ab}	$0.07\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	< 0.01	0.081
Planococcaceae unclassified	$0.03\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$	0.23 ± 0.09^{ab}	$0.47\pm0.14^{\rm a}$	< 0.01	0.081
Ruminococcus	2.49 ± 0.30^{ab}	$1.55\pm0.27^{\text{b}}$	$3.71\pm0.55^{\rm a}$	0.013	0.126
Turcibacter	0.08 ± 0.03^{a}	0.01 ± 0.00^{ab}	$0.00\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	0.028	0.210
Erysipelotrichacese unclassified	0.09 ± 0.03	0.19 ± 0.04	0.21 ± 0.03	0.037	0.210
Clostridiaceae unclassified	0.07 ± 0.02^{ab}	$0.14\pm0.05^{\rm a}$	$0.03\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	0.046	0.221
Colon					
Allobaculum	$0.91\pm0.29^{\rm a}$	$0.32\pm0.08^{\rm a}$	$0.01\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	< 0.01	0.043
Turicibacter	$0.21\pm0.08^{\rm a}$	0.02 ± 0.02^{ab}	$0.00\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	< 0.01	0.043
Oscillospira	5.77 ± 0.59^{b}	8.33 ± 0.62^{ab}	$10.05\pm1.02^{\rm a}$	< 0.01	0.069
Ruminococcus	1.44 ± 0.18^{ab}	$1.18\pm0.19^{\text{b}}$	$2.99\pm0.62^{\text{a}}$	0.011	0.069

Table 5.4. Relative abundance of bacterial taxonomies altered by dietary choline levels (Summarized down to the genus level)

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n = 8). Means that do not share a letter (a or b) are significantly different. $\alpha = 0.05$.

Furthermore, the colonic microbiota of mice fed the CD diet contained substantially less of the genus of *Oscillospira* compared to the colonic microbiota of the other two diet groups (Table 4). Therefore, while dietary choline levels did not significantly shift the overall microbial structure, our results identify specific gut bacteria that respond to changes in dietary choline supply.

5.4 Discussion

In this study we show that mice fed a CD diet have exacerbated severity of *C. rodentium*induced colitis compared to mice fed a CS or CE diet. The enhanced inflammatory response in response to a CD diet was characterized by greater loss of goblet cells, increased production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and greater *C. rodentium* colonization compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets. Our results identify choline as a dietary factor that influences gut mucosal homeostasis and immune response to infection. However, no additional protection against *C. rodentium*-induced colitis was conferred by a CE diet relative to a CS diet. While we identified specific microbial taxonomies that respond to a CD diet, there were minimal changes to the overall structre of the gut microbiota with varying levels of dietary choline.

It was surprising that, in the absence of *C. rodentium* infection, mice fed the CD diet had normal colonic PC concentrations relative to mice fed the CS or CE diets after 4 weeks dietary treatment. It has been shown previously that mice fed a CD diet for 3 weeks maintain normal choline-containing metabolite concentrations in the brain by reducing choline oxidation to betaine and by sustaining the delivery of choline to the brain in blood (Li et al., 2007). Similarly, in the present study we found that mice fed the CD diet had normal colonic PC concentrations relative to mice fed the CS or CE diets after 4 weeks in the absence of *C. rodentium* infection. However, colonic PC concentrations were lower in mice fed the CD diet after *C. rodentium* infection.
indicating a failure of the homeostaic systems required to maintain colon PC concentrations. There is evidence that humans with ulcerative colitis have lower colonic PC concentrations relative to healthy controls (Ehehalt et al., 2004), and that delivering exogenous PC to the distal intestinal epithelium of ulcerative colitis patients reduces some metrics of disease severity (Stremmel et al., 2005, Stremmel et al., 2007, Karner et al., 2014). Our data suggest that low colonic PC concentrations in the setting of intestinal inflammation was associated with adverse effects on the inflammatory disease progression.

Goblet cells produce and secrete critical components of gastrointestinal mucus and therefore function to protect the host from invasion by luminal microbes (Johansson and Hansson, 2016). Disruption of MUC2, a critical component of mucus, leads to microbial infiltration of the colonic epithelium and inflammation due to impaired mucus integrity (Van der Sluis et al., 2006, Heazlewood et al., 2008). In the current study, mice fed the CD diet had more severe loss of mucus granules in goblet cells and enhanced inflammatory cytokine production in response to C. rodentium infection relative to mice fed a CS or CE diet. A compromised mucus barrier has been shown to increase translocation of C. rodentium and lipopolysaccharide to colonic crypts and lamina propria (Khan et al., 2006). Consistent with greater infiltration of the intestinal epithelium by C. rodentium due to a loss of goblet cells and a compromised mucus barrier, mice fed the CD diet had greater colonic damage and enhanced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to C. rodentium infection relative to mice fed adequte levels of dietary choline. It is also conceivable that an inability to produce and maintain PC concentrations of colon mucus due to insufficient dietary choline further compromises the integrity of the mucus layer. Taken together, our data suggest that dietary choline is important for maintaining goblet cell mucus granule abundance in the setting of C. rodentium infection.

Exacerbated colits severity in mice fed a CD diet was linked to impaired ability of the host to control C. rodentium proliferation, as indicated by higher fecal C. rodentium abundance at seven days post infection compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets. An inability to control C. rodentium proliferation suggests that immune function is impaired in mice fed a CD diet. Previous studies have shown that feeding pregnant rats a CD diet impaired immune function in dams (Dellschaft et al., 2015) and lymphocyte development in pups (Lewis et al., 2016). Our data suggest that a CD diet impairs intestinal immune homeostasis and allows uncontrolled proliferation of C. rodentium. Furthermore, *in vitro* experiments show that the PC content of membranes in intestinal epithelial cells influences the ability of the cell to block pro-inflammatory signaling cascades (Treede et al., 2007). Consistent with an inability to control inflammatory signaling and high levels of luminal C. rodentium in mice fed the CD diet, there was enhanced production of pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines in the colon of mice from the CD group. Elevated colonic levels of Eotaxin-1, MIP-2, and MCP-1 have been reported previously in mice infected with C. rodentium and represent increased immune cell recruitment (including neutrophils) to the injured colon mucosa (Khan et al., 2006, Coburn et al., 2013). Therefore, in addition to impairing the ability of mice to control C. rodentium infection, a CD diet exacerbates inflammatory signaling and colonic damage relative to diet containing adequate levels of choline.

Evidence from germ-free mice and antibiotic-treated mice suggests that gut commensal microbes influence the integrity of the gut mucus barrier (Wlodarska et al., 2011, Johansson et al., 2015). Dietary choline did not impact the structure or the diversity of the microbial communities in the ileum, caecum or colon, suggesting that changes to microbial structure are likely not a primary driver of enhanced colonic inflammation in mice fed the CD diet. However, by comparing microbial profiles across the three dietary groups, we identified certain bacterial taxa that

responded to dietary choline levels. The genera *Allobaculum* and *Turicibacter* (both belonging to the class of Erysipelotrichia) were significantly increased in response to a CD diet. The abundance of Erysipelotrichia has been linked to risk of fatty liver development with a choline-depleted diet in humans, suggesting that Erysipelotrichia is a biomarker for choline deficiency in both mice and humans (Spencer et al., 2011). In addition, the genus of *Oscillospira* was reduced in the colonic contents of mice fed the CD diet compared to mice fed the CS or CE diets. Interestingly, it has been shown that *Oscillospira* is a butyrate producer that is suppressed in the setting of inflammatory disease, consistent with its decrease in mice fed the CD diet relative to mice fed the CS or CE diets (Konikoff and Gophna, 2016, Gophna et al., 2017). These results suggest that choline availability influences the niche for specific gut microbes and these gut microbes might subsequently influence the gut mucosal homeostasis.

5.5 Conclusions

In conclusion, this study shows that mice fed a CD diet have exacerbated severity of *C*. *rodentium*-induced colitis compared to mice fed a CS or CE diet. In addition, a CD diet induces changes to speific microbial species in the gut without impacting overall microbial structure. Our results suggests that dietary choline supply is a major determinent of gut health in the setting of C. rodentium-induced inflammtion.

5.6 References

- Cash, H. L., Whitham, C. V., Behrendt, C. L. & Hooper, L. V. 2006. Symbiotic Bacteria Direct Expression Of An Intestinal Bactericidal Lectin. *Science*, 313, 1126-30.
- Coburn, L. A., Horst, S. N., Chaturvedi, R., Brown, C. T., Allaman, M. M., Scull, B. P., Singh, K., Piazuelo, M. B., Chitnavis, M. V., Hodges, M. E., Rosen, M. J., Williams, C. S., Slaughter, J. C., Beaulieu, D. B., Schwartz, D. A. & Wilson, K. T. 2013. High-Throughput Multi-Analyte Luminex Profiling Implicates Eotaxin-1 In Ulcerative Colitis. *Plos One*, 8, E82300.

- Dellschaft, N. S., Ruth, M. R., Goruk, S., Lewis, E. D., Richard, C., Jacobs, R. L., Curtis, J. M. & Field, C. J. 2015. Choline Is Required In The Diet Of Lactating Dams To Maintain Maternal Immune Function. Br J Nutr, 113, 1723-31.
- Ehehalt, R., Wagenblast, J., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Hinz, U., Merle, U. & Stremmel, W. 2004. Phosphatidylcholine And Lysophosphatidylcholine In Intestinal Mucus Of Ulcerative Colitis Patients. A Quantitative Approach By Nanoelectrospray-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Scand J Gastroenterol*, 39, 737-42.
- Folch, J., Lees, M. & Sloane Stanley, G. H. 1957. A Simple Method For The Isolation And Purification Of Total Lipides From Animal Tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 226, 497-509.
- Frank, D. N., St Amand, A. L., Feldman, R. A., Boedeker, E. C., Harpaz, N. & Pace, N. R. 2007. Molecular-Phylogenetic Characterization Of Microbial Community Imbalances In Human Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*, 104, 13780-5.
- Gophna, U., Konikoff, T. & Nielsen, H. B. 2017. Oscillospira And Related Bacteria From Metagenomic Species To Metabolic Features. *Environ Microbiol*, 19, 835-841.
- Heazlewood, C. K., Cook, M. C., Eri, R., Price, G. R., Tauro, S. B., Taupin, D., Thornton, D. J., Png, C. W., Crockford, T. L., Cornall, R. J., Adams, R., Kato, M., Nelms, K. A., Hong, N. A., Florin, T. H., Goodnow, C. C. & Mcguckin, M. A. 2008. Aberrant Mucin Assembly In Mice Causes Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress And Spontaneous Inflammation Resembling Ulcerative Colitis. *Plos Med*, 5, E54.
- Hooper, L. V. & Macpherson, A. J. 2010. Immune Adaptations That Maintain Homeostasis With The Intestinal Microbiota. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 10, 159-69.
- Johansson, M. E. & Hansson, G. C. 2016. Immunological Aspects Of Intestinal Mucus And Mucins. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 16, 639-49.
- Johansson, M. E., Jakobsson, H. E., Holmén-Larsson, J., Schütte, A., Ermund, A., Rodríguez-Piñeiro, A. M., Arike, L., Wising, C., Svensson, F., Bäckhed, F. & Hansson, G. C. 2015. Normalization Of Host Intestinal Mucus Layers Requires Long-Term Microbial Colonization. *Cell Host Microbe*, 18, 582-92.
- Johansson, M. E., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L. & Hansson, G. C. 2008. The Inner Of The Two Muc2 Mucin-Dependent Mucus Layers In Colon Is Devoid Of Bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 15064-9.
- Ju, T., Shoblak, Y., Gao, Y., Yang, K., Fouhse, J., Finlay, B. B., So, Y. W., Stothard, P. & Willing, B. P. 2017. Initial Gut Microbial Composition As A Key Factor Driving Host Response To Antibiotic Treatment, As Exemplified By The Presence Or Absence Of Commensal Escherichia Coli. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 83.
- Kamada, N., Chen, G. Y., Inohara, N. & Núñez, G. 2013. Control Of Pathogens And Pathobionts By The Gut Microbiota. *Nat Immunol*, 14, 685-90.
- Karner, M., Kocjan, A., Stein, J., Schreiber, S., Von Boyen, G., Uebel, P., Schmidt, C., Kupcinskas, L., Dina, I., Zuelch, F., Keilhauer, G. & Stremmel, W. 2014. First Multicenter Study Of Modified Release Phosphatidylcholine "Lt-02" In Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial In Mesalazine-Refractory Courses. Am J Gastroenterol, 109, 1041-51.
- Kennelly, J. P., Van Der Veen, J. N., Nelson, R. C., Leonard, K. A., Havinga, R., Buteau, J., Kuipers, F. & Jacobs, R. L. 2018. Intestinal De Novo Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Is Required For Dietary Lipid Absorption And Metabolic Homeostasis. *J Lipid Res*.
- Khan, M. A., Ma, C., Knodler, L. A., Valdez, Y., Rosenberger, C. M., Deng, W., Finlay, B. B. & Vallance, B. A. 2006. Toll-Like Receptor 4 Contributes To Colitis Development But Not

To Host Defense During Citrobacter Rodentium Infection In Mice. Infection And Immunity, 74, 2522-2536.

- Konikoff, T. & Gophna, U. 2016. Oscillospira: A Central, Enigmatic Component Of The Human Gut Microbiota. *Trends Microbiol*, 24, 523-524.
- Lewis, E. D., Richard, C., Goruk, S., Dellschaft, N. S., Curtis, J. M., Jacobs, R. L. & Field, C. J. 2016. The Form Of Choline In The Maternal Diet Affects Immune Development In Suckled Rat Offspring. J Nutr, 146, 823-30.
- Li, Z., Agellon, L. B. & Vance, D. E. 2007. Choline Redistribution During Adaptation To Choline Deprivation. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 10283-9.
- Li, Z. & Vance, D. E. 2008. Phosphatidylcholine And Choline Homeostasis. *J Lipid Res*, 49, 1187-94.
- Mccormick, D. A., Horton, L. W. & Mee, A. S. 1990. Mucin Depletion In Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *J Clin Pathol*, 43, 143-6.
- Mcmurdie, P. J. & Holmes, S. 2013. Phyloseq: An R Package For Reproducible Interactive Analysis And Graphics Of Microbiome Census Data. *Plos One*, 8, E61217.
- Nicholson, J. K., Holmes, E., Kinross, J., Burcelin, R., Gibson, G., Jia, W. & Pettersson, S. 2012. Host-Gut Microbiota Metabolic Interactions. *Science*, 336, 1262-7.
- Pullan, R. D., Thomas, G. A., Rhodes, M., Newcombe, R. G., Williams, G. T., Allen, A. & Rhodes, J. 1994. Thickness Of Adherent Mucus Gel On Colonic Mucosa In Humans And Its Relevance To Colitis. *Gut*, 35, 353-9.
- Round, J. L. & Mazmanian, S. K. 2009. The Gut Microbiota Shapes Intestinal Immune Responses During Health And Disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9, 313-23.
- Spencer, M. D., Hamp, T. J., Reid, R. W., Fischer, L. M., Zeisel, S. H. & Fodor, A. A. 2011. Association Between Composition Of The Human Gastrointestinal Microbiome And Development Of Fatty Liver With Choline Deficiency. *Gastroenterology*, 140, 976-86.
- Stremmel, W., Ehehalt, R., Autschbach, F. & Karner, M. 2007. Phosphatidylcholine For Steroid-Refractory Chronic Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized Trial. *Ann Intern Med*, 147, 603-10.
- Stremmel, W., Merle, U., Zahn, A., Autschbach, F., Hinz, U. & Ehehalt, R. 2005. Retarded Release Phosphatidylcholine Benefits Patients With Chronic Active Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut*, 54, 966-71.
- Strugala, V., Dettmar, P. W. & Pearson, J. P. 2008. Thickness And Continuity Of The Adherent Colonic Mucus Barrier In Active And Quiescent Ulcerative Colitis And Crohn's Disease. *Int J Clin Pract*, 62, 762-9.
- Treede, I., Braun, A., Sparla, R., Kühnel, M., Giese, T., Turner, J. R., Anes, E., Kulaksiz, H., Füllekrug, J., Stremmel, W., Griffiths, G. & Ehehalt, R. 2007. Anti-Inflammatory Effects Of Phosphatidylcholine. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 27155-64.
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ridaura, V. K., Faith, J. J., Rey, F. E., Knight, R. & Gordon, J. I. 2009. The Effect Of Diet On The Human Gut Microbiome: A Metagenomic Analysis In Humanized Gnotobiotic Mice. Sci Transl Med, 1, 6ra14.
- Van Der Sluis, M., De Koning, B. A., De Bruijn, A. C., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J. P., Van Goudoever, J. B., Büller, H. A., Dekker, J., Van Seuningen, I., Renes, I. B. & Einerhand, A. W. 2006. Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating That Muc2 Is Critical For Colonic Protection. *Gastroenterology*, 131, 117-29.
- Van Der Veen, J. N., Kennelly, J. P., Wan, S., Vance, J. E., Vance, D. E. & Jacobs, R. L. 2017. The Critical Role Of Phosphatidylcholine And Phosphatidylethanolamine Metabolism In Health And Disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1859, 1558-1572.

- Willing, B. P., Dicksved, J., Halfvarson, J., Andersson, A. F., Lucio, M., Zheng, Z., Järnerot, G., Tysk, C., Jansson, J. K. & Engstrand, L. 2010. A Pyrosequencing Study In Twins Shows That Gastrointestinal Microbial Profiles Vary With Inflammatory Bowel Disease Phenotypes. *Gastroenterology*, 139, 1844-1854.E1.
- Willing, B. P., Vacharaksa, A., Croxen, M., Thanachayanont, T. & Finlay, B. B. 2011. Altering Host Resistance To Infections Through Microbial Transplantation. *Plos One*, 6, E26988.
- Wlodarska, M., Willing, B., Keeney, K. M., Menendez, A., Bergstrom, K. S., Gill, N., Russell, S. L., Vallance, B. A. & Finlay, B. B. 2011. Antibiotic Treatment Alters The Colonic Mucus Layer And Predisposes The Host To Exacerbated Citrobacter Rodentium-Induced Colitis. *Infect Immun*, 79, 1536-45.
- Zhou, X. & Arthur, G. 1992. Improved Procedures For The Determination Of Lipid Phosphorus By Malachite Green. *J Lipid Res*, 33, 1233-6.

<u>CHAPTER 6</u>: Overall discussion

6.1 Overall discussion

Mammals store most of their metabolic energy as hydrocarbon-rich TGs in adipose tissue (Frühbeck et al., 2001). Since the intestine absorbs and distributes much of this metabolic fuel, understanding the mechanisms involved in dietary lipid uptake will provide important insight into how mammals regulate whole-body energy balance. A major aim of this thesis was to determine the precise role of intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis in dietary lipid absorption and chylomicron secretion. In addition to defining a critical role for intestinal CT α activity in fatty acid and cholesterol uptake, our experiments revealed an important role for dietary choline supply and intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis in protecting against intestinal inflammation. Taken together, the findings presented in this thesis show that intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis is important for the maintenance of intestinal metabolic function and mucosal integrity.

Chapter 3 identifies CT α as a key enzyme involved in intestinal lipid uptake and shows that, despite large amounts of PC arriving in the intestine in bile (~20mg/day or the equivalent of the liver's entire PC content (Kuipers et al., 1997)), mammals have a specific requirement for 'new' intestinally-formed PC. Our initial hypothesis was that loss of CT α would cause TG accumulation in enterocytes due to insufficient supply of PC for chylomicron formation. This hypothesis was based on evidence that loss of *de novo* PC synthesis in the liver causes TG accumulation in hepatocytes, at least partly due to impaired VLDL secretion (Jacobs et al., 2004). Unexpectedly, when fed a chow diet, CT α^{IKO} mice have normal fat absorption, suggesting that biliary PC can fully support chylomicron secretion under these conditions. However, when acutely fed a HFD, CT α^{IKO} mice have impaired uptake of fatty acids from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes. Interestingly, it has recently been reported that knockdown of CT α in Caco2 cells, an

intestinal epithelial cell line, causes intracellular TG accumulation due to impaired TG secretion (Lee and Ridgway, 2018), as was initially predicted in CTa^{IKO} mice. A potential reason for this difference between models is that CTa-deficient Caco2 cells have detectable CTβ protein levels which might compensate for loss of CTa, while minimal CT activity was detected in the intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. Alternatively, the difference in TG accumulation in the intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and CTa-deficient Caco2 cells could indicate that intestinal epithelial cell-extrinsic factors (e.g. delayed gastric emptying) influence fatty acid uptake from the intestinal lumen into enterocytes in CTa^{IKO} mice. To address whether delayed gastric emptying contributes to the lower postprandial plasma TG concentrations, we recently measured solid phase gastric emptying in control and CTα^{IKO} mice using a standard protocol (Barrachina et al., 1997, Maida et al., 2008). Briefly, individually housed mice were fasted overnight before being fed a pre-weighed food pellet for 2 hr. The stomach was then excised, and the gastric contents were weighed. The rate of gastric emptying was calculated using the following formula: [1-(stomach content wet weight/food intake)] \times 100. Surprisingly, the rate of gastric emptying was 3 times higher in CTa^{IKO} mice compared to control mice. Furthermore, higher lipid concentrations in the feces of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice compared to controls suggests that impaired lipid absorption is the primary reason for low postprandial TG concentrations in CTa^{IKO} mice. Additionally, the observed amplification of GLP-1 and PYY secretion in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice after a meal suggests that higher concentrations of fatty acids are reaching the distal intestine due to malabsorption in the proximal intestine. Therefore, lower postprandial plasma TG concentrations observed in CTa^{IKO} mice is not due to delayed gastric emptying. Instead, our data suggest that impaired fat absorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is mechanistically linked to the repression of genes involved in lipid uptake, including Cd36 and Npc111. While germline deletion of Cd36 in mice does to impair uptake of fatty acids from the intestinal lumen

into enterocytes (Drover et al., 2005), it is conceivable that widespread repression of a program of genes linked to lipid absorption (as observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice by microarray analysis), impairs fat uptake. Nevertheless, other intestinal epithelial cell-extrinsic factors, including imbalances to gut water and ion transport (Tsai et al., 2017) large changes to circulating hormone concentrations (e.g. GLP-1 and PYY; Chapter 3), changes to bile acid metabolism (Chapter 3), altered food intake patterns, and gut microbes could influence fat absorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and warrant future research. To exclude the effects of intestinal epithelial cell-extrinsic factors on fat absorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, future studies should aim to isolate primary enterocytes from control mice and $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice to compare their rates of radiolabeled fatty acids and cholesterol uptake.

In Chapter 3 we report an unexpected role for intestinal *de novo* PC synthesis in maintaining normal enterohepatic circulation of bile acids and the spatial expression of metabolic genes in the small intestine. We undertook extensive experiments to gain insight into the reason for enhanced bile flow in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls: our analysis of hepatic cholesterol uptake and secretion, the analysis of fecal bile output, and measurement of expression of bile acid-synthetic genes showed that the mechanism promoting enterohepatic bile cycling in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is not increased hepatic bile acid synthesis. Instead, our data suggest that a shift in expression of bile acid transporters and bile acid-regulated genes towards more proximal parts of the small intestine is the mechanism mediating crosstalk between the intestine and liver in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. A change in the spatial expression of bile-acid responsive genes to the proximal gut has been reported previously in mice with intestine-specific deletion of a transcription factor that controls jejunal-ileal identity, GATA4 (Bosse et al., 2006, Battle et al., 2008). The shift in expression of bile acid-responsive genes to the proximal intestine of GATA4-deficient mice is also linked to enhanced bile flow (Beuling et al., 2010, Out et al., 2015) and impaired lipid uptake (Battle et al., 2008).

Interestingly, it has recently been shown that microbes influence the expression of GATA4 and its target genes in the intestine (Out et al., 2015) and so it will be interesting in future to determine whether enhanced microbial interaction with the intestinal epithelium influences bile acid metabolism in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. Consistent with a link between $CT\alpha$ and maintenance of normal intestinal gene expression patterns, chapter 4 shows that the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice have transcriptional repression of the goblet cell maturation program, which is associated with lower abundance of mature goblet cells compared to control mice. Furthermore, microarray analysis showed that PPAR α -responsive genes are repressed in the intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, and that SREBP-1c-responsive genes are activated. These findings are consistent with evidence suggesting that endogenous PC synthesis regulates PPAR α and SREBP-1c in mouse liver (Chakravarthy et al., 2009, Walker et al., 2011). The changes to intestinal gene expression patterns in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice (including the repression of PPAR α and HNF4 α and the induction of transcripts linked to the intestinal defense response) are highly comparable to those observed in germ-free mice colonized with microbes for the first time (Camp et al., 2014, Davison et al., 2017, El Aidy et al., 2013). Therefore, it should be investigated in future whether increased microbial interaction with epithelial cells accounts for some of the changes to gene expression observed in the intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice.



Figure 6.1 Consequences of loss of *de novo* PC synthesis in the small intestinal epithelium. Loss of CT α in the small intestinal epithelium induces changes to proximal intestine gene expression profiles, including induction of transcripts linked to bile acid metabolism and repression of transcripts linked to lipid uptake. Invasion of the intestinal epithelium by microbes might contribute to changes to intestinal gene expression. These changes to proximal intestine gene expression are associated with impaired lipid absorption, accelerated enterohepatic bile acid cycling, enhanced enteroendocrine hormone secretion, and body weight loss.

In chapter 4, we used gene expression profiling to establish a link between CT α and intestinal inflammation. IBD is driven by a shift from intestinal immune homeostasis to a state of uncontrolled cytokine and chemokine production (Khor et al., 2011). Evidence suggests that immune system activation leading to IBD occurs due to: (1) breakdown of the mucosal barrier, (2) increase exposure of the intestinal immune system to luminal antigens, and (3) an unrestrained immune response (Khor et al., 2011). We report that *de novo* PC synthesis is an important factor that mediates the interaction between the intestinal epithelium and gut microbes. Like CT α^{IKO} mice, mice lacking B cells (which secrete IgA to restrict bacterial interaction with the epithelium) have enhanced interferon-related immune responses in the gut, which is linked to lipid

malabsorption (Shulzhenko et al., 2011). The similarity in response to loss of intestinal CT α and depletion of IgA, an established component of the mucosal barrier, suggests that intestinal PC synthesis plays a role in maintaining host-microbe commensalism. Identification of *de novo* PC synthesis as a factor that influences microbial interaction with the intestinal epithelium and underlying immune system can provide a basis for future research aimed at preventing or treating IBD and other diseases that involve host-microbe interactions. Indeed, clinical trials have shown beneficial effects of supplying exogenous PC to the gut mucosa of ulcerative colitis patients (Karner et al., 2014). Our data provide insight into some mechanisms by which PC might exert anti-inflammatory effects on the gut epithelium (e.g. by preventing excessive ER stress in intestinal epithelial cells), which could help to guide next-generation therapeutic strategies.

Future studies should aim to understand the contribution of microbial invasion of the intestinal epithelium to the phenotype of intestinal inflammation in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice. While antibiotic treatment partially ameliorated inflammation in the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, they still experienced extensive loss of goblet cells and higher abundance of several inflammatory markers relative to control mice. Antibiotics will reduce a subset of bacteria in the gut but will not eradicate other potential microbial contributors to intestinal inflammation including viruses. In order to fully understand the role of gut microbes in the intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, germ-free mice lacking $CT\alpha$ in intestinal epithelial cells should be generated.

Does restoring PC concentrations in the ER of intestinal epithelial cells prevent or reverse inflammation and associated metabolic complications in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice? Since $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice have impaired lipid uptake and small intestinal hyperproliferation despite enhanced delivery of PC to the small intestine in bile, it is unlikely that additional dietary PC (which would constitute a small amount of PC relative to the large and continuous supply of PC from bile) will reverse these complications. However, providing $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice with injections of CDP-choline (the product of CT α), might allow sufficient endogenous PC production at the ER of intestinal epithelial cells to prevent complications. Under normal physiological conditions, PC metabolism is fundamentally different in the colon compared to the small intestine because the colon does not receive substantial amounts of PC in bile (likely making the colon more dependent on endogenous PC synthesis). Interestingly, the colons of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice appeared more overtly damaged than their small intestines upon histological examination. Therefore, if supplementary PC could be delivered to the large intestine (for example in a pH-dependent delayed-release capsule), it might ameliorate some of the complications (e.g. colonic ER stress and loss of goblet cells) observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice.



Figure 6.2. Consequences of loss of *de novo* PC synthesis in the colon. (1) In the normal colon epithelium, homeostatic systems exist to prevent excessive ER stress and there is a protective mucus barrier over the epithelium. (2) After loss of $CT\alpha$ in the colon epithelium, there is induction of ER stress and apoptosis which is associated with loss of goblet cells and the mucus barrier. Loss of mucus integrity allows microbes to invade the epithelium, causing enhanced inflammatory cytokine secretion. Enhanced inflammatory cytokine may further exacerbate ER stress and loss of goblet cells. These combined pathologies are linked to spontaneous colitis, suggesting that $CT\alpha$ is critical for colonic protection.

Inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract are frequently accompanied by metabolic perturbations including fat malabsorption (Tsai et al., 2017, Shulzhenko et al., 2011). A similar interplay between metabolic function and inflammation occurs in many tissues, including muscle and adipose tissue, where inflammatory cytokine secretion induced by nutrient excess can promote insulin resistance (Hotamisligil, 2017). Enteric infection of mice with Citrobacter rodentium has been shown to induce diarrhea by upregulation of Claudin-2 to promote water efflux and pathogen clearance (Tsai et al., 2017). Interestingly, microarray analysis revealed a significant increase in Claudin-2 mRNA in the intestines of CTa^{IKO} mice compared to control mice. Furthermore, rapid gastric emptying observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice could be an attempt to accelerate pathogen clearance (Tsai et al., 2017). Therefore, it is conceivable that fat malabsorption observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice is related to gut inflammation induced by loss of intestinal CT α . Furthermore, the presence of the microbiota and invasion of the epithelium by bacteria could be another potential reason for the difference between $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and $CT\alpha$ -deficient Caco2 cells. It will be interesting in future to determine whether restoring gut immune homeostasis (potentially by restoring intestinal phospholipid homeostasis) in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice or other models of intestinal immune dysfunction can normalize intestinal nutrient absorption and metabolic homeostasis.

One of the most striking phenotypic effects of loss of intestinal CT α is the massive amplification of GLP-1 and PYY secretion relative to controls after a high fat meal. Both GLP-1 and PYY can reduce food intake at high concentrations, as was observed in CT α^{IKO} mice (Cummings and Overduin, 2007). GLP-1 and PYY are released into portal circulation when fatty acids in the distal intestinal lumen interact with L cells (Hirasawa et al., 2005). Therefore, it is likely that impaired fatty acid uptake in CT α^{IKO} mice contributes to high plasma postprandial GLP-1 and PYY levels. Future work should determine whether enhanced GLP-1 receptor activation is

the primary driver of reduced food intake and body weight in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to controls. This could be achieved by treating $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice and control mice with the GLP-1 receptor antagonist exendin-9 before assessing food intake and body weight. There is also evidence that intestinal inflammation, bacterial products, and cytokines can act as physiological triggers for GLP-1 secretion (Ellingsgaard et al., 2011, Nguyen et al., 2014, Kahles et al., 2014, Lebrun et al., 2017). In chapter 4 we show that disruption of intestinal CT α promotes inflammatory cytokine secretion, increases bacterial interaction with the intestinal epithelium, and a colitis-like phenotype in mice. Therefore, both inflammatory and metabolic signals in the intestines of CT α^{IKO} mice could trigger supra-physiological GLP-1 secretion. Additionally, it will be important to determine whether other hormonal factors (e.g. GLP-2, CCK, somatostatin etc.) influence intestinal function in CT α^{IKO} mice.

Based on the results reported in chapter 4 which show that disruption of the CDP-choline pathway specifically in intestinal epithelial cells induces a colitis-like phenotype in mice, we hypothesized that insufficient dietary choline supply would predispose mice to exacerbated colitis severity. In chapter 5 we show that insufficient dietary choline aggravates the severity of *Citrobacter rodentium*-induced colitis in mice. Intestinal damage in mice fed the choline devoid diet was characterized by greater loss of goblet cells relative to mice fed sufficient dietary choline. These findings are consistent with observations from $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice, which have loss of goblet cell mucus granules. Taken together, chapter 4 and chapter 5 demonstrate an important role for choline metabolism in protecting against intestinal damage induced by luminal antigens. These findings provide a basis for future investigations into phospholipids as a potential therapeutic tool for IBD.

6.2 Conclusions

The research presented in this thesis shows that *de novo* PC synthesis plays a duel metabolic and anti-inflammatory role in the intestine. Loss of CT α in intestinal epithelial cells induces fatty acid and cholesterol malabsorption in the setting of a HFD, while leaving the intestinal epithelium susceptible to invasion by luminal microbes. A role for choline metabolism in intestinal barrier function was further supported by experiments showing that insufficient dietary choline increases susceptibility to *Citrobacter rodentium*-induced colitis in mice. An understanding of the molecular factors that maintain metabolic and immune function in the gut can provide a basis for future work aimed at preventing or treating intestinal disorders.

6.3 Future experiments

Our data support a working model in which loss of intestinal CT α leads to ER stress in intestinal epithelial cells due to lipid disequilibrium. This ER stress results in loss of goblet cells, which are especially susceptible to ER-stress driven apoptosis due to their high protein-folding and secretory demands (Heazlewood et al., 2008, Kaser et al., 2008). Furthermore, there is a failure to replace goblet cells lost to apoptosis due to transcriptional repression of the goblet cell maturation program. Loss of goblet cells allows microbes to access the epithelium, which induces inflammation and widespread changes to gene expression profiles. Some of the metabolic consequences resulting from breakdown of the mucosal barrier include fat malabsorption and body weight loss. Given this background, it will important in future to address the following research questions:

• What contribution does microbial interaction with the intestinal epithelium make to the phenotype of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice? We hypothesize that eliminating microbes in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice will ameliorate inflammatory cytokine secretion and alterations to intestinal gene expression

profiles. Furthermore, we hypothesize that fat malabsorption in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice will be prevented in the absence of gut microbes. These hypotheses can be tested by generating germfree $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ and control mice.

- How do $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice support enhanced intestinal epithelial cell proliferation in the absence of *de novo* PC synthesis? PC is thought to be a key factor in cell cycle progression (Cui et al., 1996, Cornell and Ridgway, 2015); however, $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice have enhanced proliferation in the intestinal epithelium. We hypothesize that this enhanced proliferation is supported by augmented uptake of PC from circulating lipoproteins and from bile. Alternatively, enhanced production of PE (Chapter 3) might be sufficient to support intestinal proliferation in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice.
- Does PC supplementation reverse any of the metabolic or inflammatory complications observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice? We hypothesize that delivery of PC to the distal intestine will reduce colitis severity in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice.
- Is *de novo* PC synthesis required for normal transcription factor activity in the small intestine? PPAR α -responsive genes are repressed in the intestines of CT α^{IKO} mice. Therefore, we hypothesize that a PPAR α agonist will prevent some of the metabolic complications observed in CT α^{IKO} mice.
- Does resolution of ER stress reduce fat malabsorption in CTα^{IKO} mice? We hypothesize that PBA or tauroursodeoxycholate (TUDCA) will partially rescue fat malabsorption in CTα^{IKO} mice.
- Do gut hormones other than GLP-1 and PYY influence fat absorption, food intake and body weight loss in CTα^{IKO} mice?

- Do people with loss-of-function mutations in PCYT1A (Payne et al., 2014) have gastrointestinal abnormalities comparable to those observed in $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice?
- Does impaired production of PC-derived lipid metabolites (e.g. sphingomyelin) contribute to the phenotype of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice? A recent study reported that impaired production of sphingomyelin induces inflammatory bowel disease in mice (Li et al., 2018), suggesting that impaired production of this lipid might be involved in the pathogenesis of inflammation after loss of intestinal CT α .

6.4 References

- Barrachina, M. D., Martínez, V., Wang, L., Wei, J. Y. & Taché, Y. 1997. Synergistic Interaction Between Leptin And Cholecystokinin To Reduce Short-Term Food Intake In Lean Mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 10455-60.
- Battle, M. A., Bondow, B. J., Iverson, M. A., Adams, S. J., Jandacek, R. J., Tso, P. & Duncan, S. A. 2008. Gata4 Is Essential For Jejunal Function In Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 135, 1676-1686.E1.
- Beuling, E., Kerkhof, I. M., Nicksa, G. A., Giuffrida, M. J., Haywood, J., Aan De Kerk, D. J.,
 Piaseckyj, C. M., Pu, W. T., Buchmiller, T. L., Dawson, P. A. & Krasinski, S. D. 2010.
 Conditional Gata4 Deletion In Mice Induces Bile Acid Absorption In The Proximal
 Small Intestine. *Gut*, 59, 888-95.
- Bosse, T., Piaseckyj, C. M., Burghard, E., Fialkovich, J. J., Rajagopal, S., Pu, W. T. & Krasinski, S. D. 2006. Gata4 Is Essential For The Maintenance Of Jejunal-Ileal Identities In The Adult Mouse Small Intestine. *Mol Cell Biol*, 26, 9060-70.
- Camp, J. G., Frank, C. L., Lickwar, C. R., Guturu, H., Rube, T., Wenger, A. M., Chen, J., Bejerano, G., Crawford, G. E. & Rawls, J. F. 2014. Microbiota Modulate Transcription In The Intestinal Epithelium Without Remodeling The Accessible Chromatin Landscape. *Genome Res*, 24, 1504-16.
- Chakravarthy, M. V., Lodhi, I. J., Yin, L., Malapaka, R. R., Xu, H. E., Turk, J. & Semenkovich, C. F. 2009. Identification Of A Physiologically Relevant Endogenous Ligand For Pparalpha In Liver. *Cell*, 138, 476-88.
- Cornell, R. B. & Ridgway, N. D. 2015. Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase: Function, Regulation, And Structure Of An Amphitropic Enzyme Required For Membrane Biogenesis. *Prog Lipid Res*, 59, 147-71.
- Cui, Z., Houweling, M., Chen, M. H., Record, M., Chap, H., Vance, D. E. & Tercé, F. 1996. A Genetic Defect In Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis Triggers Apoptosis In Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells. *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 271, 14668-14671.
- Cummings, D. E. & Overduin, J. 2007. Gastrointestinal Regulation Of Food Intake. *J Clin Invest*, 117, 13-23.

- Davison, J. M., Lickwar, C. R., Song, L., Breton, G., Crawford, G. E. & Rawls, J. F. 2017. Microbiota Regulate Intestinal Epithelial Gene Expression By Suppressing The Transcription Factor Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor 4 Alpha. *Genome Res.*
- Drover, V. A., Ajmal, M., Nassir, F., Davidson, N. O., Nauli, A. M., Sahoo, D., Tso, P. & Abumrad, N. A. 2005. Cd36 Deficiency Impairs Intestinal Lipid Secretion And Clearance Of Chylomicrons From The Blood. J Clin Invest, 115, 1290-7.
- El Aidy, S., Merrifield, C. A., Derrien, M., Van Baarlen, P., Hooiveld, G., Levenez, F., Doré, J., Dekker, J., Holmes, E., Claus, S. P., Reijngoud, D. J. & Kleerebezem, M. 2013. The Gut Microbiota Elicits A Profound Metabolic Reorientation In The Mouse Jejunal Mucosa During Conventionalisation. *Gut*, 62, 1306-14.
- Ellingsgaard, H., Hauselmann, I., Schuler, B., Habib, A. M., Baggio, L. L., Meier, D. T., Eppler,
 E., Bouzakri, K., Wueest, S., Muller, Y. D., Hansen, A. M., Reinecke, M., Konrad, D.,
 Gassmann, M., Reimann, F., Halban, P. A., Gromada, J., Drucker, D. J., Gribble, F. M.,
 Ehses, J. A. & Donath, M. Y. 2011. Interleukin-6 Enhances Insulin Secretion By
 Increasing Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Secretion From L Cells And Alpha Cells. *Nat Med*,
 17, 1481-9.
- Frühbeck, G., Gómez-Ambrosi, J., Muruzábal, F. J. & Burrell, M. A. 2001. The Adipocyte: A Model For Integration Of Endocrine And Metabolic Signaling In Energy Metabolism Regulation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 280, E827-47.
- Heazlewood, C. K., Cook, M. C., Eri, R., Price, G. R., Tauro, S. B., Taupin, D., Thornton, D. J., Png, C. W., Crockford, T. L., Cornall, R. J., Adams, R., Kato, M., Nelms, K. A., Hong, N. A., Florin, T. H., Goodnow, C. C. & Mcguckin, M. A. 2008. Aberrant Mucin Assembly In Mice Causes Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress And Spontaneous Inflammation Resembling Ulcerative Colitis. *Plos Med*, 5, E54.
- Hirasawa, A., Tsumaya, K., Awaji, T., Katsuma, S., Adachi, T., Yamada, M., Sugimoto, Y., Miyazaki, S. & Tsujimoto, G. 2005. Free Fatty Acids Regulate Gut Incretin Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Secretion Through Gpr120. *Nat Med*, 11, 90-4.
- Hotamisligil, G. S. 2017. Inflammation, Metaflammation And Immunometabolic Disorders. *Nature*, 542, 177-185.
- Jacobs, R. L., Devlin, C., Tabas, I. & Vance, D. E. 2004. Targeted Deletion Of Hepatic Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha In Mice Decreases Plasma High Density And Very Low Density Lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 47402-10.
- Kahles, F., Meyer, C., Möllmann, J., Diebold, S., Findeisen, H. M., Lebherz, C., Trautwein, C., Koch, A., Tacke, F., Marx, N. & Lehrke, M. 2014. Glp-1 Secretion Is Increased By Inflammatory Stimuli In An II-6-Dependent Manner, Leading To Hyperinsulinemia And Blood Glucose Lowering. *Diabetes*, 63, 3221-9.
- Karner, M., Kocjan, A., Stein, J., Schreiber, S., Von Boyen, G., Uebel, P., Schmidt, C., Kupcinskas, L., Dina, I., Zuelch, F., Keilhauer, G. & Stremmel, W. 2014. First Multicenter Study Of Modified Release Phosphatidylcholine "Lt-02" In Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial In Mesalazine-Refractory Courses. Am J Gastroenterol, 109, 1041-51.
- Kaser, A., Lee, A. H., Franke, A., Glickman, J. N., Zeissig, S., Tilg, H., Nieuwenhuis, E. E., Higgins, D. E., Schreiber, S., Glimcher, L. H. & Blumberg, R. S. 2008. Xbp1 Links Er Stress To Intestinal Inflammation And Confers Genetic Risk For Human Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Cell*, 134, 743-56.

- Khor, B., Gardet, A. & Xavier, R. J. 2011. Genetics And Pathogenesis Of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Nature*, 474, 307-17.
- Kuipers, F., Oude Elferink, R. P., Verkade, H. J. & Groen, A. K. 1997. Mechanisms And (Patho)Physiological Significance Of Biliary Cholesterol Secretion. *Subcell Biochem*, 28, 295-318.
- Lebrun, L. J., Lenaerts, K., Kiers, D., Pais De Barros, J. P., Le Guern, N., Plesnik, J., Thomas, C., Bourgeois, T., Dejong, C. H. C., Kox, M., Hundscheid, I. H. R., Khan, N. A., Mandard, S., Deckert, V., Pickkers, P., Drucker, D. J., Lagrost, L. & Grober, J. 2017. Enteroendocrine L Cells Sense Lps After Gut Barrier Injury To Enhance Glp-1 Secretion. *Cell Rep*, 21, 1160-1168.
- Lee, J. & Ridgway, N. D. 2018. Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Regulates Triglyceride Storage And Chylomicron Secretion By Caco2 Cells. *J Lipid Res*.
- Li, Z., Kabir, I., Tietelman, G., Huan, C., Fan, J., Worgall, T. & Jiang, X.-C. 2018. Sphingolipid De Novo Biosynthesis Is Essential For Intestine Cell Survival And Barrier Function. *Cell Death & Disease*, 9, 173-173.
- Maida, A., Lovshin, J. A., Baggio, L. L. & Drucker, D. J. 2008. The Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist Oxyntomodulin Enhances Beta-Cell Function But Does Not Inhibit Gastric Emptying In Mice. *Endocrinology*, 149, 5670-8.
- Nguyen, A. T., Mandard, S., Dray, C., Deckert, V., Valet, P., Besnard, P., Drucker, D. J., Lagrost, L. & Grober, J. 2014. Lipopolysaccharides-Mediated Increase In Glucose-Stimulated Insulin Secretion: Involvement Of The Glp-1 Pathway. *Diabetes*, 63, 471-82.
- Out, C., Patankar, J. V., Doktorova, M., Boesjes, M., Bos, T., De Boer, S., Havinga, R., Wolters, H., Boverhof, R., Van Dijk, T. H., Smoczek, A., Bleich, A., Sachdev, V., Kratky, D., Kuipers, F., Verkade, H. J. & Groen, A. K. 2015. Gut Microbiota Inhibit Asbt-Dependent Intestinal Bile Acid Reabsorption Via Gata4. *J Hepatol*, 63, 697-704.
- Payne, F., Lim, K., Girousse, A., Brown, R. J., Kory, N., Robbins, A., Xue, Y., Sleigh, A., Cochran, E., Adams, C., Dev Borman, A., Russel-Jones, D., Gorden, P., Semple, R. K., Saudek, V., O'rahilly, S., Walther, T. C., Barroso, I. & Savage, D. B. 2014. Mutations Disrupting The Kennedy Phosphatidylcholine Pathway In Humans With Congenital Lipodystrophy And Fatty Liver Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 8901-6.
- Shulzhenko, N., Morgun, A., Hsiao, W., Battle, M., Yao, M., Gavrilova, O., Orandle, M., Mayer, L., Macpherson, A. J., Mccoy, K. D., Fraser-Liggett, C. & Matzinger, P. 2011. Crosstalk Between B Lymphocytes, Microbiota And The Intestinal Epithelium Governs Immunity Versus Metabolism In The Gut. *Nat Med*, 17, 1585-93.
- Tsai, P. Y., Zhang, B., He, W. Q., Zha, J. M., Odenwald, M. A., Singh, G., Tamura, A., Shen, L., Sailer, A., Yeruva, S., Kuo, W. T., Fu, Y. X., Tsukita, S. & Turner, J. R. 2017. Il-22 Upregulates Epithelial Claudin-2 To Drive Diarrhea And Enteric Pathogen Clearance. *Cell Host Microbe*, 21, 671-681.E4.
- Walker, A. K., Jacobs, R. L., Watts, J. L., Rottiers, V., Jiang, K., Finnegan, D. M., Shioda, T., Hansen, M., Yang, F., Niebergall, L. J., Vance, D. E., Tzoneva, M., Hart, A. C. & Naar, A. M. 2011. A Conserved Srebp-1/Phosphatidylcholine Feedback Circuit Regulates Lipogenesis In Metazoans. *Cell*, 147, 840-52.

REFERENCES

- Ables, G. P., Yang, K. J., Vogel, S., Hernandez-Ono, A., Yu, S., Yuen, J. J., Birtles, S., Buckett, L. K., Turnbull, A. V., Goldberg, I. J., Blaner, W. S., Huang, L. S. & Ginsberg, H. N. 2012. Intestinal Dgat1 Deficiency Reduces Postprandial Triglyceride And Retinyl Ester Excursions By Inhibiting Chylomicron Secretion And Delaying Gastric Emptying. J Lipid Res, 53, 2364-79.
- Abumrad, N. A. & Davidson, N. O. 2012. Role Of The Gut In Lipid Homeostasis. Physiol Rev, 92, 1061-85.
- Adrian, T. E., Ferri, G. L., Bacarese-Hamilton, A. J., Fuessl, H. S., Polak, J. M. & Bloom, S. R. 1985. Human Distribution And Release Of A Putative New Gut Hormone, Peptide Yy. Gastroenterology, 89, 1070-7.
- Agren, J. J., Kurvinen, J. P. & Kuksis, A. 2005. Isolation Of Very Low Density Lipoprotein Phospholipids Enriched In Ethanolamine Phospholipids From Rats Injected With Triton Wr 1339. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1734, 34-43.
- Aitchison, A. J., Arsenault, D. J. & Ridgway, N. D. 2015. Nuclear-Localized Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase A Regulates Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Required For Lipid Droplet Biogenesis. Mol Biol Cell, 26, 2927-38.
- Alexander, C. A., Hamilton, R. L. & Havel, R. J. 1976. Subcellular Localization Of B Apoprotein Of Plasma Lipoproteins In Rat Liver. The Journal Of Cell Biology, 69, 241-263.
- Alnouti, Y., Csanaky, I. L. & Klaassen, C. D. 2008. Quantitative-Profiling Of Bile Acids And Their Conjugates In Mouse Liver, Bile, Plasma, And Urine Using Lc-Ms/Ms. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci, 873, 209-17.
- Altmann, S. W., Davis, H. R., Zhu, L. J., Yao, X., Hoos, L. M., Tetzloff, G., Iyer, S. P., Maguire, M., Golovko, A., Zeng, M., Wang, L., Murgolo, N. & Graziano, M. P. 2004. Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 Protein Is Critical For Intestinal Cholesterol Absorption. Science, 303, 1201-4.
- An, G., Wei, B., Xia, B., Mcdaniel, J. M., Ju, T., Cummings, R. D., Braun, J. & Xia, L. 2007. Increased Susceptibility To Colitis And Colorectal Tumors In Mice Lacking Core 3-Derived O-Glycans. J Exp Med, 204, 1417-29.
- Aoyama, C., Liao, H. & Ishidate, K. 2004. Structure And Function Of Choline Kinase Isoforms In Mammalian Cells. Prog Lipid Res, 43, 266-81.
- Ayabe, T., Satchell, D. P., Wilson, C. L., Parks, W. C., Selsted, M. E. & Ouellette, A. J. 2000. Secretion Of Microbicidal Alpha-Defensins By Intestinal Paneth Cells In Response To Bacteria. Nat Immunol, 1, 113-8.
- Badman, M. K., Pissios, P., Kennedy, A. R., Koukos, G., Flier, J. S. & Maratos-Flier, E. 2007. Hepatic Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 Is Regulated By Pparalpha And Is A Key Mediator Of Hepatic Lipid Metabolism In Ketotic States. Cell Metab, 5, 426-37.
- Baggio, L. L. & Drucker, D. J. 2007. Biology Of Incretins: Glp-1 And Gip. Gastroenterology, 132, 2131-57.
- Baker, C. D., Basu Ball, W., Pryce, E. N. & Gohil, V. M. 2016. Specific Requirements Of Nonbilayer Phospholipids In Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain Function And Formation. Mol Biol Cell, 27, 2161-71.

- Barker, N., Van Es, J. H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., Van Den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., Haegebarth, A., Korving, J., Begthel, H., Peters, P. J. & Clevers, H. 2007. Identification Of Stem Cells In Small Intestine And Colon By Marker Gene Lgr5. Nature, 449, 1003-7.
- Barrachina, M. D., Martínez, V., Wang, L., Wei, J. Y. & Taché, Y. 1997. Synergistic Interaction Between Leptin And Cholecystokinin To Reduce Short-Term Food Intake In Lean Mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 94, 10455-60.
- Batterham, R. L., Cohen, M. A., Ellis, S. M., Le Roux, C. W., Withers, D. J., Frost, G. S., Ghatei, M. A. & Bloom, S. R. 2003. Inhibition Of Food Intake In Obese Subjects By Peptide Yy3-36. N Engl J Med, 349, 941-8.
- Batterham, R. L., Cowley, M. A., Small, C. J., Herzog, H., Cohen, M. A., Dakin, C. L., Wren, A. M., Brynes, A. E., Low, M. J., Ghatei, M. A., Cone, R. D. & Bloom, S. R. 2002. Gut Hormone Pyy(3-36) Physiologically Inhibits Food Intake. Nature, 418, 650-4.
- Battle, M. A., Bondow, B. J., Iverson, M. A., Adams, S. J., Jandacek, R. J., Tso, P. & Duncan, S. A. 2008. Gata4 Is Essential For Jejunal Function In Mice. Gastroenterology, 135, 1676-1686.E1.
- Baysal, B. E., Ferrell, R. E., Willett-Brozick, J. E., Lawrence, E. C., Myssiorek, D., Bosch, A., Van Der Mey, A., Taschner, P. E., Rubinstein, W. S., Myers, E. N., Richard, C. W., 3rd, Cornelisse, C. J., Devilee, P. & Devlin, B. 2000. Mutations In Sdhd, A Mitochondrial Complex Ii Gene, In Hereditary Paraganglioma. Science, 287, 848-51.
- Ben M'barek, K., Ajjaji, D., Chorlay, A., Vanni, S., Forêt, L. & Thiam, A. R. 2017. Er Membrane Phospholipids And Surface Tension Control Cellular Lipid Droplet Formation. Dev Cell, 41, 591-604.E7.
- Benoist, F. & Grand-Perret, T. 1997. Co-Translational Degradation Of Apolipoprotein B100 By The Proteasome Is Prevented By Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein: Synchronized Translation Studies On Hepg2 Cells Treated With An Inhibitor Of Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 272, 20435-20442.
- Berger, C. N., Crepin, V. F., Roumeliotis, T. I., Wright, J. C., Carson, D., Pevsner-Fischer, M., Furniss, R. C. D., Dougan, G., Dori-Bachash, M., Yu, L., Clements, A., Collins, J. W., Elinav, E., Larrouy-Maumus, G. J., Choudhary, J. S. & Frankel, G. 2017. Citrobacter Rodentium Subverts Atp Flux And Cholesterol Homeostasis In Intestinal Epithelial Cells In Vivo. Cell Metab, 26, 738-752.E6.
- Bergström, J. H., Birchenough, G. M., Katona, G., Schroeder, B. O., Schütte, A., Ermund, A., Johansson, M. E. & Hansson, G. C. 2016. Gram-Positive Bacteria Are Held At A Distance In The Colon Mucus By The Lectin-Like Protein Zg16. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 113, 13833-13838.
- Bernier-Latmani, J., Cisarovsky, C., Demir, C. S., Bruand, M., Jaquet, M., Davanture, S.,
 Ragusa, S., Siegert, S., Dormond, O., Benedito, R., Radtke, F., Luther, S. A. & Petrova,
 T. V. 2015. Dll4 Promotes Continuous Adult Intestinal Lacteal Regeneration And Dietary
 Fat Transport. J Clin Invest, 125, 4572-86.
- Bertolotti, A., Wang, X., Novoa, I., Jungreis, R., Schlessinger, K., Cho, J. H., West, A. B. & Ron, D. 2001. Increased Sensitivity To Dextran Sodium Sulfate Colitis In Ire1beta-Deficient Mice. J Clin Invest, 107, 585-93.
- Best, C. H., Hershey, J. M. & Huntsman, M. E. 1932. The Effect Of Lecithine On Fat Deposition In The Liver Of The Normal Rat. J Physiol, 75, 56-66.

- Best, C. H. & Huntsman, M. E. 1932. The Effects Of The Components Of Lecithine Upon Deposition Of Fat In The Liver. Journal Of Physiology-London, 75, 405-412.
- Beuling, E., Kerkhof, I. M., Nicksa, G. A., Giuffrida, M. J., Haywood, J., Aan De Kerk, D. J., Piaseckyj, C. M., Pu, W. T., Buchmiller, T. L., Dawson, P. A. & Krasinski, S. D. 2010. Conditional Gata4 Deletion In Mice Induces Bile Acid Absorption In The Proximal Small Intestine. Gut, 59, 888-95.
- Bevins, C. L. & Salzman, N. H. 2011. Paneth Cells, Antimicrobial Peptides And Maintenance Of Intestinal Homeostasis. Nat Rev Microbiol, 9, 356-68.
- Birner, R., Burgermeister, M., Schneiter, R. & Daum, G. 2001. Roles Of Phosphatidylethanolamine And Of Its Several Biosynthetic Pathways In Saccharomyces Cerevisiae. Mol Biol Cell, 12, 997-1007.
- Bjerve, K. S. 1984. Phospholipid Substrate-Specificity Of The L-Serine Base-Exchange Enzyme In Rat Liver Microsomal Fraction. Biochem J, 219, 781-4.
- Blackfan, K. D. & Wolbach, S. B. 1933. Vitamin A Deficiency In Infants. The Journal Of Pediatrics, 3, 679-706.
- Bloch, K., Berg, B. N. & Rittenberg, D. 1943. The Biological Conversion Of Cholesterol To Cholic Acid. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 149, 511-517.
- Borén, J., Rustaeus, S. & Olofsson, S. O. 1994. Studies On The Assembly Of Apolipoprotein B-100- And B-48-Containing Very Low Density Lipoproteins In Mca-Rh7777 Cells. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 269, 25879-88.
- Borgstrom, B. & Erlanson, C. 1971. Pancreatic Juice Co-Lipase: Physiological Importance. Biochim Biophys Acta, 242, 509-13.
- Bosse, T., Piaseckyj, C. M., Burghard, E., Fialkovich, J. J., Rajagopal, S., Pu, W. T. & Krasinski, S. D. 2006. Gata4 Is Essential For The Maintenance Of Jejunal-Ileal Identities In The Adult Mouse Small Intestine. Mol Cell Biol, 26, 9060-70.
- Braun, A., Treede, I., Gotthardt, D., Tietje, A., Zahn, A., Ruhwald, R., Schoenfeld, U., Welsch, T., Kienle, P., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Fuellekrug, J., Stremmel, W. & Ehehalt, R. 2009. Alterations Of Phospholipid Concentration And Species Composition Of The Intestinal Mucus Barrier In Ulcerative Colitis: A Clue To Pathogenesis. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 15, 1705-20.
- Bremer, J., Figard, P. H. & Greenberg, D. M. 1960. The Biosynthesis Of Choline And Its Relation To Phospholipid Metabolism. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, 43, 477-488.
- Bremer, J. & Greenberg, D. M. 1959. Mono- And Dimethylethanolamine Isolated From Rat-Liver Phospholipids. Biochim Biophys Acta, 35, 287-8.
- Bremer, J. & Greenberg, D. M. 1961. Methyl Transfering Enzyme System Of Microsomes In The Biosynthesis Of Lecithin (Phosphatidylcholine). Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, 46, 205-216.
- Brennan, P. C., Fritz, T. E., Flynn, R. J. & Poole, C. M. 1965. Citrobacter Freundii Associated With Diarrhea In A Laboratory Mice. Lab Anim Care, 15, 266-75.
- Bridges, J. P., Ikegami, M., Brilli, L. L., Chen, X., Mason, R. J. & Shannon, J. M. 2010. Lpcat1 Regulates Surfactant Phospholipid Synthesis And Is Required For Transitioning To Air Breathing In Mice. J Clin Invest, 120, 1736-48.
- Briggs, M. R., Yokoyama, C., Wang, X., Brown, M. S. & Goldstein, J. L. 1993. Nuclear Protein That Binds Sterol Regulatory Element Of Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Promoter. I. Identification Of The Protein And Delineation Of Its Target Nucleotide Sequence. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 268, 14490-14496.

- Brown, J. C., Dryburgh, J. R., Ross, S. A. & Dupré, J. 1975. Identification And Actions Of Gastric Inhibitory Polypeptide. Recent Prog Horm Res, 31, 487-532.
- Brown, M. S. & Goldstein, J. L. 1997. The Srebp Pathway: Regulation Of Cholesterol Metabolism By Proteolysis Of A Membrane-Bound Transcription Factor. Cell, 89, 331-40.
- Browning, J. D. & Horton, J. D. 2004. Molecular Mediators Of Hepatic Steatosis And Liver Injury. J Clin Invest, 114, 147-52.
- Buchman, A. L., Dubin, M. D., Moukarzel, A. A., Jenden, D. J., Roch, M., Rice, K. M., Gornbein, J. & Ament, M. E. 1995. Choline Deficiency: A Cause Of Hepatic Steatosis During Parenteral Nutrition That Can Be Reversed With Intravenous Choline Supplementation. Hepatology, 22, 1399-403.
- Buhman, K. K., Smith, S. J., Stone, S. J., Repa, J. J., Wong, J. S., Knapp, F. F., Burri, B. J., Hamilton, R. L., Abumrad, N. A. & Farese, R. V. 2002. Dgat1 Is Not Essential For Intestinal Triacylglycerol Absorption Or Chylomicron Synthesis. J Biol Chem, 277, 25474-9.
- Bulbring, E. & Crema, A. 1959. The Action Of 5-Hydroxytryptamine, 5-Hydroxytryptophan And Reserpine On Intestinal Peristalsis In Anaesthetized Guinea-Pigs. J Physiol, 146, 29-53.
- Calzada, E., Onguka, O. & Claypool, S. M. 2016. Phosphatidylethanolamine Metabolism In Health And Disease. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol, 321, 29-88.
- Camp, J. G., Frank, C. L., Lickwar, C. R., Guturu, H., Rube, T., Wenger, A. M., Chen, J., Bejerano, G., Crawford, G. E. & Rawls, J. F. 2014. Microbiota Modulate Transcription In The Intestinal Epithelium Without Remodeling The Accessible Chromatin Landscape. Genome Res, 24, 1504-16.
- Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Peng, H., Huang, X., Stahler, S., Suri, V., Qadri, A., Gareski, T., Jones, J.,
 Hahm, S., Perreault, M., Mckew, J., Shi, M., Xu, X., Tobin, J. F. & Gimeno, R. E. 2011.
 Targeting Acyl-Coa:Diacylglycerol Acyltransferase 1 (Dgat1) With Small Molecule
 Inhibitors For The Treatment Of Metabolic Diseases. J Biol Chem, 286, 41838-51.
- Cao, S. S., Zimmermann, E. M., Chuang, B. M., Song, B., Nwokoye, A., Wilkinson, J. E., Eaton, K. A. & Kaufman, R. J. 2013. The Unfolded Protein Response And Chemical Chaperones Reduce Protein Misfolding And Colitis In Mice. Gastroenterology, 144, 989-1000.E6.
- Cariou, B., Van Harmelen, K., Duran-Sandoval, D., Van Dijk, T. H., Grefhorst, A., Abdelkarim, M., Caron, S., Torpier, G., Fruchart, J. C., Gonzalez, F. J., Kuipers, F. & Staels, B. 2006. The Farnesoid X Receptor Modulates Adiposity And Peripheral Insulin Sensitivity In Mice. J Biol Chem, 281, 11039-49.
- Cartwright, I. J. & Higgins, J. A. 2001. Direct Evidence For A Two-Step Assembly Of Apob48-Containing Lipoproteins In The Lumen Of The Smooth Endoplasmic Reticulum Of Rabbit Enterocytes. J Biol Chem, 276, 48048-57.
- Cash, H. L., Whitham, C. V., Behrendt, C. L. & Hooper, L. V. 2006. Symbiotic Bacteria Direct Expression Of An Intestinal Bactericidal Lectin. Science, 313, 1126-30.
- Chakravarthy, M. V., Lodhi, I. J., Yin, L., Malapaka, R. R., Xu, H. E., Turk, J. & Semenkovich, C. F. 2009. Identification Of A Physiologically Relevant Endogenous Ligand For Pparalpha In Liver. Cell, 138, 476-88.

- Chang, W. W. & Leblond, C. P. 1971. Renewal Of The Epithelium In The Descending Colon Of The Mouse. I. Presence Of Three Cell Populations: Vacuolated-Columnar, Mucous And Argentaffin. Am J Anat, 131, 73-99.
- Cheng, H. & Leblond, C. P. 1974. Origin, Differentiation And Renewal Of The Four Main Epithelial Cell Types In The Mouse Small Intestine V. Unitarian Theory Of The Origin Of The Four Epithelial Cell Types. American Journal Of Anatomy, 141, 537-561.
- Choi, S. Y., Gonzalvez, F., Jenkins, G. M., Slomianny, C., Chretien, D., Arnoult, D., Petit, P. X. & Frohman, M. A. 2007. Cardiolipin Deficiency Releases Cytochrome C From The Inner Mitochondrial Membrane And Accelerates Stimuli-Elicited Apoptosis. Cell Death Differ, 14, 597-606.
- Chong, S. S., Taneva, S. G., Lee, J. M. & Cornell, R. B. 2014. The Curvature Sensitivity Of A Membrane-Binding Amphipathic Helix Can Be Modulated By The Charge On A Flanking Region. Biochemistry, 53, 450-61.
- Chow, S. L. & Hollander, D. 1979. Linoleic Acid Absorption In The Unanesthetized Rat: Mechanism Of Transport And Influence Of Luminal Factors On Absorption. Lipids, 14, 378-85.
- Choy, P. C., Farren, S. B. & Vance, D. E. 1979. Lipid Requirements For The Aggregation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase In Rat Liver Cytosol. Can J Biochem, 57, 605-12.
- Clark, B. & Hubscher, G. 1961. Biosynthesis Of Glycerides In Subcellular Fractions Of Intestinal Mucosa. Biochim Biophys Acta, 46, 479-94.
- Clark, B. & Huebscher, G. 1960. Biosynthesis Of Glycerides In The Mucosa Of The Small Intestine. Nature, 185, 35-7.
- Coburn, L. A., Horst, S. N., Chaturvedi, R., Brown, C. T., Allaman, M. M., Scull, B. P., Singh, K., Piazuelo, M. B., Chitnavis, M. V., Hodges, M. E., Rosen, M. J., Williams, C. S., Slaughter, J. C., Beaulieu, D. B., Schwartz, D. A. & Wilson, K. T. 2013. High-Throughput Multi-Analyte Luminex Profiling Implicates Eotaxin-1 In Ulcerative Colitis. Plos One, 8, E82300.
- Cole, L. K. & Vance, D. E. 2010. A Role For Sp1 In Transcriptional Regulation Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase In Liver And 3t3-L1 Adipocytes. J Biol Chem, 285, 11880-91.
- Cordain, L., Eaton, S. B., Sebastian, A., Mann, N., Lindeberg, S., Watkins, B. A., O'keefe, J. H.
 & Brand-Miller, J. 2005. Origins And Evolution Of The Western Diet: Health Implications For The 21st Century. Am J Clin Nutr, 81, 341-54.
- Cornell, R. & Vance, D. E. 1987. Translocation Of Ctp: Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase From Cytosol To Membranes In Hela Cells: Stimulation By Fatty Acid, Fatty Alcohol, Mono- And Diacylglycerol. Biochim Biophys Acta, 919, 26-36.
- Cornell, R. B. & Northwood, I. C. 2000. Regulation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase By Amphitropism And Relocalization. Trends Biochem Sci, 25, 441-7.
- Cornell, R. B. & Ridgway, N. D. 2015. Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase: Function, Regulation, And Structure Of An Amphitropic Enzyme Required For Membrane Biogenesis. Prog Lipid Res, 59, 147-71.
- Cui, Z., Houweling, M., Chen, M. H., Record, M., Chap, H., Vance, D. E. & Tercé, F. 1996. A Genetic Defect In Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis Triggers Apoptosis In Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 271, 14668-14671.

- Cui, Z., Vance, J. E., Chen, M. H., Voelker, D. R. & Vance, D. E. 1993. Cloning And Expression Of A Novel Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. A Specific Biochemical And Cytological Marker For A Unique Membrane Fraction In Rat Liver. J Biol Chem, 268, 16655-63.
- Cummings, D. E. & Overduin, J. 2007. Gastrointestinal Regulation Of Food Intake. J Clin Invest, 117, 13-23.
- Cunha, D. A., Hekerman, P., Ladrière, L., Bazarra-Castro, A., Ortis, F., Wakeham, M. C., Moore, F., Rasschaert, J., Cardozo, A. K., Bellomo, E., Overbergh, L., Mathieu, C., Lupi, R., Hai, T., Herchuelz, A., Marchetti, P., Rutter, G. A., Eizirik, D. L. & Cnop, M. 2008. Initiation And Execution Of Lipotoxic Er Stress In Pancreatic Beta-Cells. J Cell Sci, 121, 2308-18.
- Cyphert, H. A., Ge, X., Kohan, A. B., Salati, L. M., Zhang, Y. & Hillgartner, F. B. 2012. Activation Of The Farnesoid X Receptor Induces Hepatic Expression And Secretion Of Fibroblast Growth Factor 21. J Biol Chem, 287, 25123-38.
- Da Costa, K. A., Badea, M., Fischer, L. M. & Zeisel, S. H. 2004. Elevated Serum Creatine Phosphokinase In Choline-Deficient Humans: Mechanistic Studies In C2c12 Mouse Myoblasts. Am J Clin Nutr, 80, 163-70.
- Da Silva, R. P., Kelly, K. B., Lewis, E. D., Leonard, K. A., Goruk, S., Curtis, J. M., Vine, D. F., Proctor, S. D., Field, C. J. & Jacobs, R. L. 2015. Choline Deficiency Impairs Intestinal Lipid Metabolism In The Lactating Rat. J Nutr Biochem, 26, 1077-83.
- Damci, T., Yalin, S., Balci, H., Osar, Z., Korugan, U., Ozyazar, M. & Ilkova, H. 2004. Orlistat Augments Postprandial Increases In Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 In Obese Type 2 Diabetic Patients. Diabetes Care, 27, 1077-80.
- Davison, J. M., Lickwar, C. R., Song, L., Breton, G., Crawford, G. E. & Rawls, J. F. 2017. Microbiota Regulate Intestinal Epithelial Gene Expression By Suppressing The Transcription Factor Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor 4 Alpha. Genome Res.
- Dellschaft, N. S., Ruth, M. R., Goruk, S., Lewis, E. D., Richard, C., Jacobs, R. L., Curtis, J. M. & Field, C. J. 2015. Choline Is Required In The Diet Of Lactating Dams To Maintain Maternal Immune Function. Br J Nutr, 113, 1723-31.
- Delong, C. J., Shen, Y. J., Thomas, M. J. & Cui, Z. 1999. Molecular Distinction Of Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Between The Cdp-Choline Pathway And Phosphatidylethanolamine Methylation Pathway. J Biol Chem, 274, 29683-8.
- Denison, H., Nilsson, C., Löfgren, L., Himmelmann, A., Mårtensson, G., Knutsson, M., Al-Shurbaji, A., Tornqvist, H. & Eriksson, J. W. 2014. Diacylglycerol Acyltransferase 1 Inhibition With Azd7687 Alters Lipid Handling And Hormone Secretion In The Gut With Intolerable Side Effects: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Diabetes Obes Metab, 16, 334-43.
- Diagne, A., Fauvel, J., Record, M., Chap, H. & Douste-Blazy, L. 1984. Studies On Ether Phospholipids. Ii. Comparative Composition Of Various Tissues From Human, Rat And Guinea Pig. Biochim Biophys Acta, 793, 221-31.
- Dixon, J. L., Furukawa, S. & Ginsberg, H. N. 1991. Oleate Stimulates Secretion Of Apolipoprotein B-Containing Lipoproteins From Hep G2 Cells By Inhibiting Early Intracellular Degradation Of Apolipoprotein B. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 266, 5080-5086.

- Dobrosotskaya, I. Y., Seegmiller, A. C., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L. & Rawson, R. B. 2002. Regulation Of Srebp Processing And Membrane Lipid Production By Phospholipids In Drosophila. Science, 296, 879-83.
- Drover, V. A., Ajmal, M., Nassir, F., Davidson, N. O., Nauli, A. M., Sahoo, D., Tso, P. & Abumrad, N. A. 2005. Cd36 Deficiency Impairs Intestinal Lipid Secretion And Clearance Of Chylomicrons From The Blood. J Clin Invest, 115, 1290-7.
- Du, H., Heur, M., Duanmu, M., Grabowski, G. A., Hui, D. Y., Witte, D. P. & Mishra, J. 2001. Lysosomal Acid Lipase-Deficient Mice: Depletion Of White And Brown Fat, Severe Hepatosplenomegaly, And Shortened Life Span. J Lipid Res, 42, 489-500.
- Dudkina, N. V., Kudryashev, M., Stahlberg, H. & Boekema, E. J. 2011. Interaction Of Complexes I, Iii, And Iv Within The Bovine Respirasome By Single Particle Cryoelectron Tomography. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 108, 15196-200.
- Duez, H., Lamarche, B., Uffelman, K. D., Valero, R., Cohn, J. S. & Lewis, G. F. 2006. Hyperinsulinemia Is Associated With Increased Production Rate Of Intestinal Apolipoprotein B-48-Containing Lipoproteins In Humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 26, 1357-63.
- Duez, H., Lamarche, B., Valéro, R., Pavlic, M., Proctor, S., Xiao, C., Szeto, L., Patterson, B. W.
 & Lewis, G. F. 2008. Both Intestinal And Hepatic Lipoprotein Production Are Stimulated By An Acute Elevation Of Plasma Free Fatty Acids In Humans. Circulation, 117, 2369-76.
- Ehehalt, R., Braun, A., Karner, M., Füllekrug, J. & Stremmel, W. 2010. Phosphatidylcholine As A Constituent In The Colonic Mucosal Barrier--Physiological And Clinical Relevance. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1801, 983-93.
- Ehehalt, R., Wagenblast, J., Erben, G., Lehmann, W. D., Hinz, U., Merle, U. & Stremmel, W. 2004. Phosphatidylcholine And Lysophosphatidylcholine In Intestinal Mucus Of Ulcerative Colitis Patients. A Quantitative Approach By Nanoelectrospray-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. Scand J Gastroenterol, 39, 737-42.
- El Aidy, S., Merrifield, C. A., Derrien, M., Van Baarlen, P., Hooiveld, G., Levenez, F., Doré, J., Dekker, J., Holmes, E., Claus, S. P., Reijngoud, D. J. & Kleerebezem, M. 2013. The Gut Microbiota Elicits A Profound Metabolic Reorientation In The Mouse Jejunal Mucosa During Conventionalisation. Gut, 62, 1306-14.
- El Marjou, F., Janssen, K. P., Chang, B. H., Li, M., Hindie, V., Chan, L., Louvard, D., Chambon, P., Metzger, D. & Robine, S. 2004. Tissue-Specific And Inducible Cre-Mediated Recombination In The Gut Epithelium. Genesis, 39, 186-93.
- Elinav, E., Nowarski, R., Thaiss, C. A., Hu, B., Jin, C. & Flavell, R. A. 2013. Inflammation-Induced Cancer: Crosstalk Between Tumours, Immune Cells And Microorganisms. Nat Rev Cancer, 13, 759-71.
- Ellingsgaard, H., Hauselmann, I., Schuler, B., Habib, A. M., Baggio, L. L., Meier, D. T., Eppler,
 E., Bouzakri, K., Wueest, S., Muller, Y. D., Hansen, A. M., Reinecke, M., Konrad, D.,
 Gassmann, M., Reimann, F., Halban, P. A., Gromada, J., Drucker, D. J., Gribble, F. M.,
 Ehses, J. A. & Donath, M. Y. 2011. Interleukin-6 Enhances Insulin Secretion By
 Increasing Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Secretion From L Cells And Alpha Cells. Nat Med,
 17, 1481-9.
- Elmore, S. 2007. Apoptosis: A Review Of Programmed Cell Death. Toxicol Pathol, 35, 495-516.
- Epstein, B. & Shapiro, B. 1959. Lecithinase And Lysolecithinase Of Intestinal Mucosa. The Biochemical Journal, 71, 615-619.

- Fadok, V. A., De Cathelineau, A., Daleke, D. L., Henson, P. M. & Bratton, D. L. 2001. Loss Of Phospholipid Asymmetry And Surface Exposure Of Phosphatidylserine Is Required For Phagocytosis Of Apoptotic Cells By Macrophages And Fibroblasts. J Biol Chem, 276, 1071-7.
- Fast, D. G. & Vance, D. E. 1995. Nascent Vldl Phospholipid Composition Is Altered When Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis Is Inhibited: Evidence For A Novel Mechanism That Regulates Vldl Secretion. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1258, 158-168.
- Feng, B., Yao, P. M., Li, Y., Devlin, C. M., Zhang, D., Harding, H. P., Sweeney, M., Rong, J. X., Kuriakose, G., Fisher, E. A., Marks, A. R., Ron, D. & Tabas, I. 2003. The Endoplasmic Reticulum Is The Site Of Cholesterol-Induced Cytotoxicity In Macrophages. Nat Cell Biol, 5, 781-92.
- Figarella, C., Caro, A. D., Leupold, D. & Poley, J. R. 1980. Congenital Pancreatic Lipase Deficiency. The Journal Of Pediatrics, 96, 412-416.
- Fisher, E. A., Zhou, M., Mitchell, D. M., Wu, X., Omura, S., Wang, H., Goldberg, A. L. & Ginsberg, H. N. 1997. The Degradation Of Apolipoprotein B100 Is Mediated By The Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway And Involves Heat Shock Protein 70. J. Biol. Chem., 272, 20427-20434.
- Fisher, F. M. & Maratos-Flier, E. 2016. Understanding The Physiology Of Fgf21. Annu Rev Physiol, 78, 223-41.
- Folch, J., Lees, M. & Sloane Stanley, G. H. 1957. A Simple Method For The Isolation And Purification Of Total Lipides From Animal Tissues. J Biol Chem, 226, 497-509.
- Frank, D. N., Bales, E. S., Monks, J., Jackman, M. J., Maclean, P. S., Ir, D., Robertson, C. E., Orlicky, D. J. & Mcmanaman, J. L. 2015. Perilipin-2 Modulates Lipid Absorption And Microbiome Responses In The Mouse Intestine. Plos One, 10, E0131944.
- Frank, D. N., St Amand, A. L., Feldman, R. A., Boedeker, E. C., Harpaz, N. & Pace, N. R. 2007. Molecular-Phylogenetic Characterization Of Microbial Community Imbalances In Human Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104, 13780-5.
- Fre, S., Huyghe, M., Mourikis, P., Robine, S., Louvard, D. & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. 2005. Notch Signals Control The Fate Of Immature Progenitor Cells In The Intestine. Nature, 435, 964-8.
- Frühbeck, G., Gómez-Ambrosi, J., Muruzábal, F. J. & Burrell, M. A. 2001. The Adipocyte: A Model For Integration Of Endocrine And Metabolic Signaling In Energy Metabolism Regulation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 280, E827-47.
- Fu, J., Wei, B., Wen, T., Johansson, M. E., Liu, X., Bradford, E., Thomsson, K. A., Mcgee, S., Mansour, L., Tong, M., Mcdaniel, J. M., Sferra, T. J., Turner, J. R., Chen, H., Hansson, G. C., Braun, J. & Xia, L. 2011a. Loss Of Intestinal Core 1-Derived O-Glycans Causes Spontaneous Colitis In Mice. J Clin Invest, 121, 1657-66.
- Fu, S., Yang, L., Li, P., Hofmann, O., Dicker, L., Hide, W., Lin, X., Watkins, S. M., Ivanov, A. R. & Hotamisligil, G. S. 2011b. Aberrant Lipid Metabolism Disrupts Calcium Homeostasis Causing Liver Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress In Obesity. Nature, 473, 528-31.
- Fullerton, M. D., Hakimuddin, F. & Bakovic, M. 2007. Developmental And Metabolic Effects Of Disruption Of The Mouse Ctp:Phosphoethanolamine Cytidylyltransferase Gene (Pcyt2). Mol Cell Biol, 27, 3327-36.

- Funai, K., Lodhi, I. J., Spears, L. D., Yin, L., Song, H., Klein, S. & Semenkovich, C. F. 2016. Skeletal Muscle Phospholipid Metabolism Regulates Insulin Sensitivity And Contractile Function. Diabetes, 65, 358-70.
- Funai, K., Song, H., Yin, L., Lodhi, I. J., Wei, X., Yoshino, J., Coleman, T. & Semenkovich, C. F. 2013. Muscle Lipogenesis Balances Insulin Sensitivity And Strength Through Calcium Signaling. J Clin Invest, 123, 1229-40.
- Gao, N., White, P. & Kaestner, K. H. 2009. Establishment Of Intestinal Identity And Epithelial-Mesenchymal Signaling By Cdx2. Dev Cell, 16, 588-99.
- Gao, X., Van Der Veen, J. N., Hermansson, M., Ordonez, M., Gomez-Munoz, A., Vance, D. E. & Jacobs, R. L. 2015. Decreased Lipogenesis In White Adipose Tissue Contributes To The Resistance To High Fat Diet-Induced Obesity In Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-Deficient Mice. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1851, 152-62.
- Gehrig, K. & Ridgway, N. D. 2011. Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase A (Cctα) And Lamins Alter Nuclear Membrane Structure Without Affecting Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1811, 377-85.
- Gilham, D., Labonté, E. D., Rojas, J. C., Jandacek, R. J., Howles, P. N. & Hui, D. Y. 2007. Carboxyl Ester Lipase Deficiency Exacerbates Dietary Lipid Absorption Abnormalities And Resistance To Diet-Induced Obesity In Pancreatic Triglyceride Lipase Knockout Mice. J Biol Chem, 282, 24642-9.
- Giller, T., Buchwald, P., Blum-Kaelin, D. & Hunziker, W. 1992. Two Novel Human Pancreatic Lipase Related Proteins, Hplrp1 And Hplrp2. Differences In Colipase Dependence And In Lipase Activity. J Biol Chem, 267, 16509-16.
- Gophna, U., Konikoff, T. & Nielsen, H. B. 2017. Oscillospira And Related Bacteria From Metagenomic Species To Metabolic Features. Environ Microbiol, 19, 835-841.
- Gordon, D. A., Jamil, H., Gregg, R. E., Olofsson, S. O. & Boren, J. 1996. Inhibition Of The Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein Blocks The First Step Of Apolipoprotein B Lipoprotein Assembly But Not The Addition Of Bulk Core Lipids In The Second Step. J Biol Chem, 271, 33047-53.
- Goudriaan, J. R., Dahlmans, V. E. H., Febbraio, M., Teusink, B., Romijn, J. A., Havekes, L. M.
 & Voshol, P. J. 2002. Intestinal Lipid Absorption Is Not Affected In Cd36 Deficient Mice. Molecular And Cellular Biochemistry, 239, 199-202.
- Gregorieff, A., Stange, D. E., Kujala, P., Begthel, H., Van Den Born, M., Korving, J., Peters, P. J. & Clevers, H. 2009. The Ets-Domain Transcription Factor Spdef Promotes Maturation Of Goblet And Paneth Cells In The Intestinal Epithelium. Gastroenterology, 137, 1333-45.E1-3.
- Guo, Q., Avramoglu, R. K. & Adeli, K. 2005. Intestinal Assembly And Secretion Of Highly Dense/Lipid-Poor Apolipoprotein B48-Containing Lipoprotein Particles In The Fasting State: Evidence For Induction By Insulin Resistance And Exogenous Fatty Acids. Metabolism, 54, 689-97.
- Guo, Y., Walther, T. C., Rao, M., Stuurman, N., Goshima, G., Terayama, K., Wong, J. S., Vale,
 R. D., Walter, P. & Farese, R. V. 2008. Functional Genomic Screen Reveals Genes Involved In Lipid-Droplet Formation And Utilization. Nature, 453, 657-61.
- Gustavsson, M., Traaseth, N. J. & Veglia, G. 2011. Activating And Deactivating Roles Of Lipid Bilayers On The Ca(2+)-Atpase/Phospholamban Complex. Biochemistry, 50, 10367-74.

- Gustin, S. E., Western, P. S., Mcclive, P. J., Harley, V. R., Koopman, P. A. & Sinclair, A. H. 2008. Testis Development, Fertility, And Survival In Ethanolamine Kinase 2-Deficient Mice. Endocrinology, 149, 6176-86.
- Haas, J. T., Winter, H. S., Lim, E., Kirby, A., Blumenstiel, B., Defelice, M., Gabriel, S., Jalas, C., Branski, D., Grueter, C. A., Toporovski, M. S., Walther, T. C., Daly, M. J. & Farese, R. V. 2012. Dgat1 Mutation Is Linked To A Congenital Diarrheal Disorder. J Clin Invest, 122, 4680-4.
- Hailey, D. W., Rambold, A. S., Satpute-Krishnan, P., Mitra, K., Sougrat, R., Kim, P. K. & Lippincott-Schwartz, J. 2010. Mitochondria Supply Membranes For Autophagosome Biogenesis During Starvation. Cell, 141, 656-67.
- Han, J. & Kaufman, R. J. 2016. The Role Of Er Stress In Lipid Metabolism And Lipotoxicity. J Lipid Res, 57, 1329-38.
- Hanahan, D. J., Watts, R. M. & Pappajohn, D. 1960. Some Chemical Characteristics Of The Lipids Of Human And Bovine Erythrocytes And Plasma. Journal Of Lipid Research, 1, 421-432.
- Harayama, T., Eto, M., Shindou, H., Kita, Y., Otsubo, E., Hishikawa, D., Ishii, S., Sakimura, K., Mishina, M. & Shimizu, T. 2014. Lysophospholipid Acyltransferases Mediate Phosphatidylcholine Diversification To Achieve The Physical Properties Required In Vivo. Cell Metab, 20, 295-305.
- Hashidate-Yoshida, T., Harayama, T., Hishikawa, D., Morimoto, R., Hamano, F., Tokuoka, S.
 M., Eto, M., Tamura-Nakano, M., Yanobu-Takanashi, R., Mukumoto, Y., Kiyonari, H., Okamura, T., Kita, Y., Shindou, H. & Shimizu, T. 2015. Fatty Acid Remodeling By Lpcat3 Enriches Arachidonate In Phospholipid Membranes And Regulates Triglyceride Transport. Elife, 4.
- Hauff, K. D. & Hatch, G. M. 2006. Cardiolipin Metabolism And Barth Syndrome. Prog Lipid Res, 45, 91-101.
- Heazlewood, C. K., Cook, M. C., Eri, R., Price, G. R., Tauro, S. B., Taupin, D., Thornton, D. J., Png, C. W., Crockford, T. L., Cornall, R. J., Adams, R., Kato, M., Nelms, K. A., Hong, N. A., Florin, T. H., Goodnow, C. C. & Mcguckin, M. A. 2008. Aberrant Mucin Assembly In Mice Causes Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress And Spontaneous Inflammation Resembling Ulcerative Colitis. Plos Med, 5, E54.
- Hegazy, E. & Schwenk, M. 1984. Choline Uptake By Isolated Enterocytes Of Guinea Pig. The Journal Of Nutrition, 114, 2217-2220.
- Henneberry, A. L. & Mcmaster, C. R. 1999. Cloning And Expression Of A Human Choline/Ethanolaminephosphotransferase: Synthesis Of Phosphatidylcholine And Phosphatidylethanolamine. Biochem J, 339 (Pt 2), 291-8.
- Henneberry, A. L., Wistow, G. & Mcmaster, C. R. 2000. Cloning, Genomic Organization, And Characterization Of A Human Cholinephosphotransferase. J Biol Chem, 275, 29808-15.
- Henneberry, A. L., Wright, M. M. & Mcmaster, C. R. 2002. The Major Sites Of Cellular Phospholipid Synthesis And Molecular Determinants Of Fatty Acid And Lipid Head Group Specificity. Mol Biol Cell, 13, 3148-61.
- Heuman, D. M. 1989. Quantitative Estimation Of The Hydrophilic-Hydrophobic Balance Of Mixed Bile Salt Solutions. J Lipid Res, 30, 719-30.
- Hirasawa, A., Tsumaya, K., Awaji, T., Katsuma, S., Adachi, T., Yamada, M., Sugimoto, Y., Miyazaki, S. & Tsujimoto, G. 2005. Free Fatty Acids Regulate Gut Incretin Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Secretion Through Gpr120. Nat Med, 11, 90-4.

- Hirata, Y., Egea, L., Dann, S. M., Eckmann, L. & Kagnoff, M. F. 2010. Gm-Csf-Facilitated Dendritic Cell Recruitment And Survival Govern The Intestinal Mucosal Response To A Mouse Enteric Bacterial Pathogen. Cell Host Microbe, 7, 151-63.
- Hishikawa, D., Hashidate, T., Shimizu, T. & Shindou, H. 2014. Diversity And Function Of Membrane Glycerophospholipids Generated By The Remodeling Pathway In Mammalian Cells. J Lipid Res, 55, 799-807.
- Hishikawa, D., Shindou, H., Kobayashi, S., Nakanishi, H., Taguchi, R. & Shimizu, T. 2008. Discovery Of A Lysophospholipid Acyltransferase Family Essential For Membrane Asymmetry And Diversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105, 2830-5.
- Ho, S. Y. & Storch, J. 2001. Common Mechanisms Of Monoacylglycerol And Fatty Acid Uptake By Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 281, C1106-17.
- Hogue, J. C., Lamarche, B., Tremblay, A. J., Bergeron, J., Gagné, C. & Couture, P. 2007. Evidence Of Increased Secretion Of Apolipoprotein B-48-Containing Lipoproteins In Subjects With Type 2 Diabetes. J Lipid Res, 48, 1336-42.
- Hökfelt, T., Elde, R., Johansson, O., Luft, R., Nilsson, G. & Arimura, A. 1976.
 Immunohistochemical Evidence For Separate Populations Of Somatostatin-Containing And Substance P-Containing Primary Afferent Neurons In The Rat. Neuroscience, 1, 131-6.
- Holt, J. A., Luo, G., Billin, A. N., Bisi, J., Mcneill, Y. Y., Kozarsky, K. F., Donahee, M., Wang, D. Y., Mansfield, T. A., Kliewer, S. A., Goodwin, B. & Jones, S. A. 2003. Definition Of A Novel Growth Factor-Dependent Signal Cascade For The Suppression Of Bile Acid Biosynthesis. Genes Dev, 17, 1581-91.
- Hooper, L. V. & Macpherson, A. J. 2010. Immune Adaptations That Maintain Homeostasis With The Intestinal Microbiota. Nat Rev Immunol, 10, 159-69.
- Hooper, L. V., Stappenbeck, T. S., Hong, C. V. & Gordon, J. I. 2003. Angiogenins: A New Class Of Microbicidal Proteins Involved In Innate Immunity. Nat Immunol, 4, 269-73.
- Horibata, Y. & Hirabayashi, Y. 2007. Identification And Characterization Of Human Ethanolaminephosphotransferase1. J Lipid Res, 48, 503-8.
- Hörl, G., Wagner, A., Cole, L. K., Malli, R., Reicher, H., Kotzbeck, P., Köfeler, H., Höfler, G., Frank, S., Bogner-Strauss, J. G., Sattler, W., Vance, D. E. & Steyrer, E. 2011. Sequential Synthesis And Methylation Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Promote Lipid Droplet Biosynthesis And Stability In Tissue Culture And In Vivo. J Biol Chem, 286, 17338-50.
- Horton, J. D., Goldstein, J. L. & Brown, M. S. 2002. Srebps: Activators Of The Complete Program Of Cholesterol And Fatty Acid Synthesis In The Liver. J Clin Invest, 109, 1125-31.
- Hotamisligil, G. S. 2017. Inflammation, Metaflammation And Immunometabolic Disorders. Nature, 542, 177-185.
- Houweling, M., Jamil, H., Hatch, G. M. & Vance, D. E. 1994. Dephosphorylation Of Ctp-Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Is Not Required For Binding To Membranes. J Biol Chem, 269, 7544-51.
- Hsieh, J., Longuet, C., Maida, A., Bahrami, J., Xu, E., Baker, C. L., Brubaker, P. L., Drucker, D. J. & Adeli, K. 2009. Glucagon-Like Peptide-2 Increases Intestinal Lipid Absorption And Chylomicron Production Via Cd36. Gastroenterology, 137, 997-1005, 1005.E1-4.
- Hu, S., Ciancio, M. J., Lahav, M., Fujiya, M., Lichtenstein, L., Anant, S., Musch, M. W. & Chang, E. B. 2007. Translational Inhibition Of Colonic Epithelial Heat Shock Proteins

By Ifn-Gamma And Tnf-Alpha In Intestinal Inflammation. Gastroenterology, 133, 1893-904.

- Huang, C.-H. 2001. Mixed-Chain Phospholipids: Structures And Chain-Melting Behavior. Lipids, 36, 1077-1097.
- Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T. & Lempicki, R. A. 2009. Systematic And Integrative Analysis Of Large Gene Lists Using David Bioinformatics Resources. Nat Protoc, 4, 44-57.
- Hubscher, G., Dils, R. R. & Pover, W. F. 1959. Studies On The Biosynthesis Of Phosphatidyl Serine. Biochim Biophys Acta, 36, 518-28.
- Huijghebaert, S. M. & Hofmann, A. F. 1986. Influence Of The Amino Acid Moiety On Deconjugation Of Bile Acid Amidates By Cholylglycine Hydrolase Or Human Fecal Cultures. Journal Of Lipid Research, 27, 742-52.
- Inagaki, T., Choi, M., Moschetta, A., Peng, L., Cummins, C. L., Mcdonald, J. G., Luo, G., Jones, S. A., Goodwin, B., Richardson, J. A., Gerard, R. D., Repa, J. J., Mangelsdorf, D. J. & Kliewer, S. A. 2005. Fibroblast Growth Factor 15 Functions As An Enterohepatic Signal To Regulate Bile Acid Homeostasis. Cell Metab, 2, 217-25.
- Jackowski, S., Rehg, J. E., Zhang, Y. M., Wang, J., Miller, K., Jackson, P. & Karim, M. A. 2004. Disruption Of Cctbeta2 Expression Leads To Gonadal Dysfunction. Mol Cell Biol, 24, 4720-33.
- Jacobs, R. L., Devlin, C., Tabas, I. & Vance, D. E. 2004. Targeted Deletion Of Hepatic Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha In Mice Decreases Plasma High Density And Very Low Density Lipoproteins. J Biol Chem, 279, 47402-10.
- Jacobs, R. L., Lingrell, S., Zhao, Y., Francis, G. A. & Vance, D. E. 2008. Hepatic Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase-Alpha Is A Critical Predictor Of Plasma High Density Lipoprotein And Very Low Density Lipoprotein. J Biol Chem, 283, 2147-55.
- Jacobs, R. L., Zhao, Y., Koonen, D. P., Sletten, T., Su, B., Lingrell, S., Cao, G., Peake, D. A., Kuo, M. S., Proctor, S. D., Kennedy, B. P., Dyck, J. R. & Vance, D. E. 2010. Impaired De Novo Choline Synthesis Explains Why Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-Deficient Mice Are Protected From Diet-Induced Obesity. J Biol Chem, 285, 22403-13.
- Jakulj, L., Van Dijk, T. H., De Boer, J. F., Kootte, R. S., Schonewille, M., Paalvast, Y., Boer, T., Bloks, V. W., Boverhof, R., Nieuwdorp, M., Beuers, U. H., Stroes, E. S. & Groen, A. K. 2016. Transintestinal Cholesterol Transport Is Active In Mice And Humans And Controls Ezetimibe-Induced Fecal Neutral Sterol Excretion. Cell Metab, 24, 783-794.
- Jamil, H., Dickson, J. K., Chu, C.-H., Lago, M. W., Rinehart, J. K., Biller, S. A., Gregg, R. E. & Wetterau, J. R. 1995. Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein: Specificity Of Lipid Binding And Transport. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 270, 6549-6554.
- Jensen, J., Pedersen, E. E., Galante, P., Hald, J., Heller, R. S., Ishibashi, M., Kageyama, R., Guillemot, F., Serup, P. & Madsen, O. D. 2000. Control Of Endodermal Endocrine Development By Hes-1. Nat Genet, 24, 36-44.
- Johansson, M. E., Gustafsson, J. K., Holmén-Larsson, J., Jabbar, K. S., Xia, L., Xu, H., Ghishan, F. K., Carvalho, F. A., Gewirtz, A. T., Sjövall, H. & Hansson, G. C. 2014. Bacteria Penetrate The Normally Impenetrable Inner Colon Mucus Layer In Both Murine Colitis Models And Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. Gut, 63, 281-91.
- Johansson, M. E. & Hansson, G. C. 2016. Immunological Aspects Of Intestinal Mucus And Mucins. Nat Rev Immunol, 16, 639-49.

- Johansson, M. E., Jakobsson, H. E., Holmén-Larsson, J., Schütte, A., Ermund, A., Rodríguez-Piñeiro, A. M., Arike, L., Wising, C., Svensson, F., Bäckhed, F. & Hansson, G. C. 2015. Normalization Of Host Intestinal Mucus Layers Requires Long-Term Microbial Colonization. Cell Host Microbe, 18, 582-92.
- Johansson, M. E., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L. & Hansson, G. C. 2008. The Inner Of The Two Muc2 Mucin-Dependent Mucus Layers In Colon Is Devoid Of Bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105, 15064-9.
- Johnson, J. E., Xie, M., Singh, L. M., Edge, R. & Cornell, R. B. 2003. Both Acidic And Basic Amino Acids In An Amphitropic Enzyme, Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase, Dictate Its Selectivity For Anionic Membranes. J Biol Chem, 278, 514-22.
- Johnston, J. M., Rao, G. A. & Lowe, P. A. 1967. The Separation Of The Alpha-Glycerophosphate And Monoglyceride Pathways In The Intestinal Biosynthesis Of Triglycerides. Biochim Biophys Acta, 137, 578-80.
- Johri, A. & Beal, M. F. 2012. Mitochondrial Dysfunction In Neurodegenerative Diseases. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 342, 619-30.
- Ju, T., Shoblak, Y., Gao, Y., Yang, K., Fouhse, J., Finlay, B. B., So, Y. W., Stothard, P. & Willing, B. P. 2017. Initial Gut Microbial Composition As A Key Factor Driving Host Response To Antibiotic Treatment, As Exemplified By The Presence Or Absence Of Commensal Escherichia Coli. Appl Environ Microbiol, 83.
- Kahles, F., Meyer, C., Möllmann, J., Diebold, S., Findeisen, H. M., Lebherz, C., Trautwein, C., Koch, A., Tacke, F., Marx, N. & Lehrke, M. 2014. Glp-1 Secretion Is Increased By Inflammatory Stimuli In An II-6-Dependent Manner, Leading To Hyperinsulinemia And Blood Glucose Lowering. Diabetes, 63, 3221-9.
- Kainu, V., Hermansson, M., Hanninen, S., Hokynar, K. & Somerharju, P. 2012. Import Of Phosphatidylserine To And Export Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Molecular Species From Mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1831, 429-437.
- Kainu, V., Hermansson, M., Hänninen, S., Hokynar, K. & Somerharju, P. 2013. Import Of Phosphatidylserine To And Export Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Molecular Species From Mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1831, 429-37.
- Kalmar, G. B., Kay, R. J., Lachance, A., Aebersold, R. & Cornell, R. B. 1990. Cloning And Expression Of Rat Liver Ctp: Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase: An Amphipathic Protein That Controls Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis. Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences, 87, 6029-6033.
- Kamada, N., Chen, G. Y., Inohara, N. & Núñez, G. 2013. Control Of Pathogens And Pathobionts By The Gut Microbiota. Nat Immunol, 14, 685-90.
- Karam, S. M. 1999. Lineage Commitment And Maturation Of Epithelial Cells In The Gut. Front Biosci, 4, D286-98.
- Karim, M., Jackson, P. & Jackowski, S. 2003. Gene Structure, Expression And Identification Of A New Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Beta Isoform. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1633, 1-12.
- Karner, M., Kocjan, A., Stein, J., Schreiber, S., Von Boyen, G., Uebel, P., Schmidt, C., Kupcinskas, L., Dina, I., Zuelch, F., Keilhauer, G. & Stremmel, W. 2014. First Multicenter Study Of Modified Release Phosphatidylcholine "Lt-02" In Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial In Mesalazine-Refractory Courses. Am J Gastroenterol, 109, 1041-51.

- Kaser, A., Lee, A. H., Franke, A., Glickman, J. N., Zeissig, S., Tilg, H., Nieuwenhuis, E. E., Higgins, D. E., Schreiber, S., Glimcher, L. H. & Blumberg, R. S. 2008. Xbp1 Links Er Stress To Intestinal Inflammation And Confers Genetic Risk For Human Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Cell, 134, 743-56.
- Katz, J. P., Perreault, N., Goldstein, B. G., Lee, C. S., Labosky, P. A., Yang, V. W. & Kaestner, K. H. 2002. The Zinc-Finger Transcription Factor Klf4 Is Required For Terminal Differentiation Of Goblet Cells In The Colon. Development, 129, 2619-28.
- Kayden, H. J., Senior, J. R. & Mattson, F. H. 1967. The Monoglyceride Pathway Of Fat Absorption In Man. J Clin Invest, 46, 1695-703.
- Keenan, T. W. & Morré, D. J. 1970. Phospholipid Class And Fatty Acid Composition Of Golgi Apparatus Isolated From Rat Liver And Comparison With Other Cell Fractions. Biochemistry, 9, 19-25.
- Kennedy, E., P. 1957. Metabolism Of Lipides. Ann. Rev. Biochem., 26, 119-148.
- Kennedy, E., P. & Weiss, S., B. 1956. The Function Of Cytidine Coenzymes In The Biosynthesis Of Phospholipides. J. Biol. Chem., 222, 193-214.
- Kennelly, J. P., Van Der Veen, J. N., Nelson, R. C., Leonard, K. A., Havinga, R., Buteau, J., Kuipers, F. & Jacobs, R. L. 2018. Intestinal De Novo Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Is Required For Dietary Lipid Absorption And Metabolic Homeostasis. J Lipid Res.
- Kern, F. & Borgström, B. 1965. Quantitative Study Of The Pathways Of Triglyceride Synthesis By Hamster Intestinal Mucosa. Biochim Biophys Acta, 98, 520-31.
- Khan, M. A., Ma, C., Knodler, L. A., Valdez, Y., Rosenberger, C. M., Deng, W., Finlay, B. B. & Vallance, B. A. 2006. Toll-Like Receptor 4 Contributes To Colitis Development But Not To Host Defense During Citrobacter Rodentium Infection In Mice. Infection And Immunity, 74, 2522-2536.
- Kharitonenkov, A., Shiyanova, T. L., Koester, A., Ford, A. M., Micanovic, R., Galbreath, E. J., Sandusky, G. E., Hammond, L. J., Moyers, J. S., Owens, R. A., Gromada, J., Brozinick, J. T., Hawkins, E. D., Wroblewski, V. J., Li, D. S., Mehrbod, F., Jaskunas, S. R. & Shanafelt, A. B. 2005. Fgf-21 As A Novel Metabolic Regulator. J Clin Invest, 115, 1627-35.
- Khatun, I., Clark, R. W., Vera, N. B., Kou, K., Erion, D. M., Coskran, T., Bobrowski, W. F., Okerberg, C. & Goodwin, B. 2016. Characterization Of A Novel Intestinal Glycerol-3-Phosphate Acyltransferase Pathway And Its Role In Lipid Homeostasis. J Biol Chem, 291, 2602-15.
- Khor, B., Gardet, A. & Xavier, R. J. 2011. Genetics And Pathogenesis Of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Nature, 474, 307-17.
- King, E. J. 1931. The Enzymic Hydrolysis Of Lecithin. The Biochemical Journal, 25, 799-811.
- Kohan, A. B., Wang, F., Li, X., Bradshaw, S., Yang, Q., Caldwell, J. L., Bullock, T. M. & Tso,
 P. 2012. Apolipoprotein A-Iv Regulates Chylomicron Metabolism-Mechanism And
 Function. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 302, G628-36.
- Kohan, A. B., Wang, F., Li, X., Vandersall, A. E., Huesman, S., Xu, M., Yang, Q., Lou, D. & Tso, P. 2013. Is Apolipoprotein A-Iv Rate Limiting In The Intestinal Transport And Absorption Of Triglyceride? Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 304, G1128-35.
- Konikoff, T. & Gophna, U. 2016. Oscillospira: A Central, Enigmatic Component Of The Human Gut Microbiota. Trends Microbiol, 24, 523-524.
- Krahmer, N., Guo, Y., Wilfling, F., Hilger, M., Lingrell, S., Heger, K., Newman, H. W., Schmidt-Supprian, M., Vance, D. E., Mann, M., Farese, R. V. & Walther, T. C. 2011.

Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis For Lipid Droplet Expansion Is Mediated By Localized Activation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. Cell Metab, 14, 504-15.

- Kreymann, B., Williams, G., Ghatei, M. A. & Bloom, S. R. 1987. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 7-36: A Physiological Incretin In Man. Lancet, 2, 1300-4.
- Kruit, J. K., Plösch, T., Havinga, R., Boverhof, R., Groot, P. H. E., Groen, A. K. & Kuipers, F. 2005. Increased Fecal Neutral Sterol Loss Upon Liver X Receptor Activation Is Independent Of Biliary Sterol Secretion In Mice. Gastroenterology, 128, 147-156.
- Kuge, O., Saito, K. & Nishijima, M. 1997. Cloning Of A Chinese Hamster Ovary (Cho) Cdna Encoding Phosphatidylserine Synthase (Pss) Ii, Overexpression Of Which Suppresses The Phosphatidylserine Biosynthetic Defect Of A Pss I-Lacking Mutant Of Cho-K1 Cells. J Biol Chem, 272, 19133-9.
- Kuipers, F., Bloks, V. W. & Groen, A. K. 2014. Beyond Intestinal Soap--Bile Acids In Metabolic Control. Nat Rev Endocrinol, 10, 488-98.
- Kuipers, F., Oude Elferink, R. P., Verkade, H. J. & Groen, A. K. 1997. Mechanisms And (Patho)Physiological Significance Of Biliary Cholesterol Secretion. Subcell Biochem, 28, 295-318.
- Labarre, J. 1932. Sur Les Possibilites D'un Traitement Du Diabete Par l'incretine. Bull Acad R Med Belg, 12, 620-634.
- Lands, W. E. 1958. Metabolism Of Glycerolipides; A Comparison Of Lecithin And Triglyceride Synthesis. J Biol Chem, 231, 883-8.
- Lands, W. E. M. 1960. Metabolism Of Glycerolipids: Ii. The Enzymatic Acylation Of Lysolecithin. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 235, 2233-2237.
- Larsson, L. I., Goltermann, N., De Magistris, L., Rehfeld, J. F. & Schwartz, T. W. 1979. Somatostatin Cell Processes As Pathways For Paracrine Secretion. Science, 205, 1393-5.
- Lauritsen, K. B., Moody, A. J., Christensen, K. C. & Lindkaer Jensen, S. 1980. Gastric Inhibitory Polypeptide (Gip) And Insulin Release After Small-Bowel Resection In Man. Scand J Gastroenterol, 15, 833-40.
- Lazaridis, K. N., Pham, L., Tietz, P., Marinelli, R. A., Degroen, P. C., Levine, S., Dawson, P. A. & Larusso, N. F. 1997. Rat Cholangiocytes Absorb Bile Acids At Their Apical Domain Via The Ileal Sodium-Dependent Bile Acid Transporter. J Clin Invest, 100, 2714-21.
- Lebeis, S. L., Bommarius, B., Parkos, C. A., Sherman, M. A. & Kalman, D. 2007. Tlr Signaling Mediated By Myd88 Is Required For A Protective Innate Immune Response By Neutrophils To Citrobacter Rodentium. J Immunol, 179, 566-77.
- Lebrun, L. J., Lenaerts, K., Kiers, D., Pais De Barros, J. P., Le Guern, N., Plesnik, J., Thomas, C., Bourgeois, T., Dejong, C. H. C., Kox, M., Hundscheid, I. H. R., Khan, N. A., Mandard, S., Deckert, V., Pickkers, P., Drucker, D. J., Lagrost, L. & Grober, J. 2017. Enteroendocrine L Cells Sense Lps After Gut Barrier Injury To Enhance Glp-1 Secretion. Cell Rep, 21, 1160-1168.
- Lee, J. & Ridgway, N. D. 2018. Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Regulates Triglyceride Storage And Chylomicron Secretion By Caco2 Cells. J Lipid Res.
- Leonardi, R., Frank, M. W., Jackson, P. D., Rock, C. O. & Jackowski, S. 2009. Elimination Of The Cdp-Ethanolamine Pathway Disrupts Hepatic Lipid Homeostasis. J Biol Chem, 284, 27077-89.
- Lewis, E. D., Richard, C., Goruk, S., Dellschaft, N. S., Curtis, J. M., Jacobs, R. L. & Field, C. J. 2016. The Form Of Choline In The Maternal Diet Affects Immune Development In Suckled Rat Offspring. J Nutr, 146, 823-30.

- Li, Z., Agellon, L. B., Allen, T. M., Umeda, M., Jewell, L., Mason, A. & Vance, D. E. 2006. The Ratio Of Phosphatidylcholine To Phosphatidylethanolamine Influences Membrane Integrity And Steatohepatitis. Cell Metab, 3, 321-31.
- Li, Z., Agellon, L. B. & Vance, D. E. 2007. Choline Redistribution During Adaptation To Choline Deprivation. J Biol Chem, 282, 10283-9.
- Li, Z., Jiang, H., Ding, T., Lou, C., Bui, H. H., Kuo, M. S. & Jiang, X. C. 2015. Deficiency In Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase 3 Reduces Plasma Levels Of Lipids By Reducing Lipid Absorption In Mice. Gastroenterology, 149, 1519-29.
- Li, Z., Kabir, I., Tietelman, G., Huan, C., Fan, J., Worgall, T. & Jiang, X.-C. 2018. Sphingolipid De Novo Biosynthesis Is Essential For Intestine Cell Survival And Barrier Function. Cell Death & Disease, 9, 173-173.
- Li, Z. & Vance, D. E. 2008. Phosphatidylcholine And Choline Homeostasis. J Lipid Res, 49, 1187-94.
- Liao, T. H., Hamosh, P. & Hamosh, M. 1984. Fat Digestion By Lingual Lipase: Mechanism Of Lipolysis In The Stomach And Upper Small Intestine. Pediatr Res, 18, 402-9.
- Liao, W. & Chan, L. 2000. Apolipoprotein B, A Paradigm For Proteins Regulated By Intracellular Degradation, Does Not Undergo Intracellular Degradation In Caco2 Cells. J Biol Chem, 275, 3950-6.
- Lim, H. Y., Wang, W., Wessells, R. J., Ocorr, K. & Bodmer, R. 2011. Phospholipid Homeostasis Regulates Lipid Metabolism And Cardiac Function Through Srebp Signaling In Drosophila. Genes Dev, 25, 189-200.
- Ling, J., Chaba, T., Zhu, L. F., Jacobs, R. L. & Vance, D. E. 2012. Hepatic Ratio Of Phosphatidylcholine To Phosphatidylethanolamine Predicts Survival After Partial Hepatectomy In Mice. Hepatology, 55, 1094-102.
- Ling, K. Y., Lee, H. Y. & Hollander, D. 1989. Mechanisms Of Linoleic Acid Uptake By Rabbit Small Intestinal Brush Border Membrane Vesicles. Lipids, 24, 51-5.
- Listenberger, L. L., Han, X., Lewis, S. E., Cases, S., Farese, R. V., Jr., Ory, D. S. & Schaffer, J. E. 2003. Triglyceride Accumulation Protects Against Fatty Acid-Induced Lipotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 3077-82.
- Liu, J., Gorski, J. N., Gold, S. J., Chen, D., Chen, S., Forrest, G., Itoh, Y., Marsh, D. J., Mclaren, D. G., Shen, Z., Sonatore, L., Carballo-Jane, E., Craw, S., Guan, X., Karanam, B., Sakaki, J., Szeto, D., Tong, X., Xiao, J., Yoshimoto, R., Yu, H., Roddy, T. P., Balkovec, J. & Pinto, S. 2013. Pharmacological Inhibition Of Diacylglycerol Acyltransferase 1 Reduces Body Weight And Modulates Gut Peptide Release--Potential Insight Into Mechanism Of Action. Obesity (Silver Spring), 21, 1406-15.
- Liu, T., Zhang, X., So, C. K., Wang, S., Wang, P., Yan, L., Myers, R., Chen, Z., Patterson, A. P., Yang, C. S. & Chen, X. 2007. Regulation Of Cdx2 Expression By Promoter Methylation, And Effects Of Cdx2 Transfection On Morphology And Gene Expression Of Human Esophageal Epithelial Cells. Carcinogenesis, 28, 488-96.
- Lopez-Candales, A., Bosner, M. S., Spilburg, C. A. & Lange, L. G. 1993. Cholesterol Transport Function Of Pancreatic Cholesterol Esterase: Directed Sterol Uptake And Esterification In Enterocytes. Biochemistry, 32, 12085-9.
- Luo, H., Jiang, M., Lian, G., Liu, Q., Shi, M., Li, T. Y., Song, L., Ye, J., He, Y., Yao, L., Zhang, C., Lin, Z. Z., Zhang, C. S., Zhao, T. J., Jia, W. P., Li, P., Lin, S. Y. & Lin, S. C. 2018. Aida Selectively Mediates Downregulation Of Fat Synthesis Enzymes By Erad To Retard Intestinal Fat Absorption And Prevent Obesity. Cell Metab, 27, 843-853.E6.
- Lykidis, A., Baburina, I. & Jackowski, S. 1999. Distribution Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase (Cct) Isoforms. Identification Of A New Cctbeta Splice Variant. J Biol Chem, 274, 26992-7001.
- Lykidis, A., Murti, K. G. & Jackowski, S. 1998. Cloning And Characterization Of A Second Human Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 273, 14022-14029.
- Lykidis, A., Wang, J., Karim, M. A. & Jackowski, S. 2001. Overexpression Of A Mammalian Ethanolamine-Specific Kinase Accelerates The Cdp-Ethanolamine Pathway. J Biol Chem, 276, 2174-9.
- Maida, A., Lovshin, J. A., Baggio, L. L. & Drucker, D. J. 2008. The Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist Oxyntomodulin Enhances Beta-Cell Function But Does Not Inhibit Gastric Emptying In Mice. Endocrinology, 149, 5670-8.
- Makishima, M., Okamoto, A. Y., Repa, J. J., Tu, H., Learned, R. M., Luk, A., Hull, M. V., Lustig, K. D., Mangelsdorf, D. J. & Shan, B. 1999. Identification Of A Nuclear Receptor For Bile Acids. Science, 284, 1362-5.
- Martinez-Una, M., Varela-Rey, M., Cano, A., Fernandez-Ares, L., Beraza, N., Aurrekoetxea, I., Martinez-Arranz, I., Garcia-Rodriguez, J. L., Buque, X., Mestre, D., Luka, Z., Wagner, C., Alonso, C., Finnell, R. H., Lu, S. C., Martinez-Chantar, M. L., Aspichueta, P. & Mato, J. M. 2013. Excess S-Adenosylmethionine Reroutes Phosphatidylethanolamine Towards Phosphatidylcholine And Triglyceride Synthesis. Hepatology.
- Martinez-Una, M., Varela-Rey, M., Mestre, D., Fernandez-Ares, L., Fresnedo, O., Fernandez-Ramos, D., Gutierrez-De Juan, V., Martin-Guerrero, I., Garcia-Orad, A., Luka, Z., Wagner, C., Lu, S. C., Garcia-Monzon, C., Finnell, R. H., Aurrekoetxea, I., Buque, X., Martinez-Chantar, M. L., Mato, J. M. & Aspichueta, P. 2015. S-Adenosylmethionine Increases Circulating Very-Low Density Lipoprotein Clearance In Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. J Hepatol, 62, 673-81.
- Mashige, F., Imai, K. & Osuga, T. 1976. A Simple And Sensitive Assay Of Total Serum Bile Acids. Clin Chim Acta, 70, 79-86.
- Mashimo, H., Wu, D. C., Podolsky, D. K. & Fishman, M. C. 1996. Impaired Defense Of Intestinal Mucosa In Mice Lacking Intestinal Trefoil Factor. Science, 274, 262-5.
- Mattes, R. D. 2002. Oral Fat Exposure Increases The First Phase Triacylglycerol Concentration Due To Release Of Stored Lipid In Humans. J Nutr, 132, 3656-62.
- Mcclellan, J. L., Davis, J. M., Steiner, J. L., Enos, R. T., Jung, S. H., Carson, J. A., Pena, M. M., Carnevale, K. A., Berger, F. G. & Murphy, E. A. 2012. Linking Tumor-Associated Macrophages, Inflammation, And Intestinal Tumorigenesis: Role Of Mcp-1. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 303, G1087-95.
- Mccormick, D. A., Horton, L. W. & Mee, A. S. 1990. Mucin Depletion In Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Clin Pathol, 43, 143-6.
- Mccullough, K. D., Martindale, J. L., Klotz, L. O., Aw, T. Y. & Holbrook, N. J. 2001. Gadd153 Sensitizes Cells To Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress By Down-Regulating Bcl2 And Perturbing The Cellular Redox State. Mol Cell Biol, 21, 1249-59.
- Mcgovern, D. P., Gardet, A., Törkvist, L., Goyette, P., Essers, J., Taylor, K. D., Neale, B. M.,
 Ong, R. T., Lagacé, C., Li, C., Green, T., Stevens, C. R., Beauchamp, C., Fleshner, P. R.,
 Carlson, M., D'amato, M., Halfvarson, J., Hibberd, M. L., Lördal, M., Padyukov, L.,
 Andriulli, A., Colombo, E., Latiano, A., Palmieri, O., Bernard, E. J., Deslandres, C.,
 Hommes, D. W., De Jong, D. J., Stokkers, P. C., Weersma, R. K., Sharma, Y.,

Silverberg, M. S., Cho, J. H., Wu, J., Roeder, K., Brant, S. R., Schumm, L. P., Duerr, R. H., Dubinsky, M. C., Glazer, N. L., Haritunians, T., Ippoliti, A., Melmed, G. Y., Siscovick, D. S., Vasiliauskas, E. A., Targan, S. R., Annese, V., Wijmenga, C., Pettersson, S., Rotter, J. I., Xavier, R. J., Daly, M. J., Rioux, J. D., Seielstad, M. & Consortium, N. I. G. 2010. Genome-Wide Association Identifies Multiple Ulcerative Colitis Susceptibility Loci. Nat Genet, 42, 332-7.

- Mckenzie, M., Lazarou, M., Thorburn, D. R. & Ryan, M. T. 2006. Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain Supercomplexes Are Destabilized In Barth Syndrome Patients. J Mol Biol, 361, 462-9.
- Mcmurdie, P. J. & Holmes, S. 2013. Phyloseq: An R Package For Reproducible Interactive Analysis And Graphics Of Microbiome Census Data. Plos One, 8, E61217.
- Metidji, A., Omenetti, S., Crotta, S., Li, Y., Nye, E., Ross, E., Li, V., Maradana, M. R., Schiering, C. & Stockinger, B. 2018. The Environmental Sensor Ahr Protects From Inflammatory Damage By Maintaining Intestinal Stem Cell Homeostasis And Barrier Integrity. Immunity, 49, 353-362.E5.
- Meyer, E. M., Jr., Engel, D. A. & Cooper, J. R. 1982. Acetylation And Phosphorylation Of Choline Following High Or Low Affinity Uptake By Rat Cortical Synaptosomes. Neurochem Res, 7, 749-59.
- Mojsov, S., Weir, G. C. & Habener, J. F. 1987. Insulinotropin: Glucagon-Like Peptide I (7-37) Co-Encoded In The Glucagon Gene Is A Potent Stimulator Of Insulin Release In The Perfused Rat Pancreas. J Clin Invest, 79, 616-9.
- Molodecky, N. A., Soon, I. S., Rabi, D. M., Ghali, W. A., Ferris, M., Chernoff, G., Benchimol, E. I., Panaccione, R., Ghosh, S., Barkema, H. W. & Kaplan, G. G. 2012. Increasing Incidence And Prevalence Of The Inflammatory Bowel Diseases With Time, Based On Systematic Review. Gastroenterology, 142, 46-54.E42; Quiz E30.
- Morgan, R. G. & Borgström, B. 1969. The Mechanism Of Fat Absorption In The Bile Fistula Rat. Q J Exp Physiol Cogn Med Sci, 54, 228-43.
- Mundy, R., Macdonald, T. T., Dougan, G., Frankel, G. & Wiles, S. 2005. Citrobacter Rodentium Of Mice And Man. Cell Microbiol, 7, 1697-706.
- Murota, K. & Storch, J. 2005. Uptake Of Micellar Long-Chain Fatty Acid And Sn-2-Monoacylglycerol Into Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cells Exhibits Characteristics Of Protein-Mediated Transport. J Nutr, 135, 1626-30.
- Myher, J. J. & Kuksis, A. 1984. Determination Of Plasma Total Lipid Profiles By Capillary Gas-Liquid Chromatography. J Biochem Biophys Methods, 10, 13-23.
- Nakahara, M., Furuya, N., Takagaki, K., Sugaya, T., Hirota, K., Fukamizu, A., Kanda, T., Fujii, H. & Sato, R. 2005. Ileal Bile Acid-Binding Protein, Functionally Associated With The Farnesoid X Receptor Or The Ileal Bile Acid Transporter, Regulates Bile Acid Activity In The Small Intestine. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 280, 42283-42289.
- Nakashima, A., Hosaka, K. & Nikawa, J. 1997. Cloning Of A Human Cdna For Ctp-Phosphoethanolamine Cytidylyltransferase By Complementation In Vivo Of A Yeast Mutant. J Biol Chem, 272, 9567-72.
- Nauli, A. M., Nassir, F., Zheng, S., Yang, Q., Lo, C. M., Vonlehmden, S. B., Lee, D., Jandacek, R. J., Abumrad, N. A. & Tso, P. 2006. Cd36 Is Important For Chylomicron Formation And Secretion And May Mediate Cholesterol Uptake In The Proximal Intestine. Gastroenterology, 131, 1197-207.

- Nguyen, A. T., Mandard, S., Dray, C., Deckert, V., Valet, P., Besnard, P., Drucker, D. J., Lagrost, L. & Grober, J. 2014. Lipopolysaccharides-Mediated Increase In Glucose-Stimulated Insulin Secretion: Involvement Of The Glp-1 Pathway. Diabetes, 63, 471-82.
- Nicholson, J. K., Holmes, E., Kinross, J., Burcelin, R., Gibson, G., Jia, W. & Pettersson, S. 2012. Host-Gut Microbiota Metabolic Interactions. Science, 336, 1262-7.
- Niebergall, L. J., Jacobs, R. L., Chaba, T. & Vance, D. E. 2011. Phosphatidylcholine Protects Against Steatosis In Mice But Not Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1811, 1177-85.
- Nilsson, A. 1968. Intestinal Absorption Of Lecithin And Lysolecithin By Lymph Fistula Rats. Biochim Biophys Acta, 152, 379-90.
- Noah, T. K., Kazanjian, A., Whitsett, J. & Shroyer, N. F. 2010. Sam Pointed Domain Ets Factor (Spdef) Regulates Terminal Differentiation And Maturation Of Intestinal Goblet Cells. Exp Cell Res, 316, 452-65.
- Noga, A. A. & Vance, D. E. 2003. A Gender-Specific Role For Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-Derived Phosphatidylcholine In The Regulation Of Plasma High Density And Very Low Density Lipoproteins In Mice. J Biol Chem, 278, 21851-9.
- Noga, A. A., Zhao, Y. & Vance, D. E. 2002. An Unexpected Requirement For Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase In The Secretion Of Very Low Density Lipoproteins. J Biol Chem, 277, 42358-65.
- Northwood, I. C., Tong, A. H., Crawford, B., Drobnies, A. E. & Cornell, R. B. 1999. Shuttling Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Between The Nucleus And Endoplasmic Reticulum Accompanies The Wave Of Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis During The G(0) --> G(1) Transition. J Biol Chem, 274, 26240-8.
- Nurmi, H., Saharinen, P., Zarkada, G., Zheng, W., Robciuc, M. R. & Alitalo, K. 2015. Vegf-C Is Required For Intestinal Lymphatic Vessel Maintenance And Lipid Absorption. Embo Mol Med, 7, 1418-25.
- O'neill, H. M., Holloway, G. P. & Steinberg, G. R. 2013. Ampk Regulation Of Fatty Acid Metabolism And Mitochondrial Biogenesis: Implications For Obesity. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 366, 135-51.
- Obrowsky, S., Chandak, P. G., Patankar, J. V., Povoden, S., Schlager, S., Kershaw, E. E., Bogner-Strauss, J. G., Hoefler, G., Levak-Frank, S. & Kratky, D. 2013. Adipose Triglyceride Lipase Is A Tg Hydrolase Of The Small Intestine And Regulates Intestinal Pparα Signaling. J Lipid Res, 54, 425-35.
- Otokozawa, S., Ai, M., Diffenderfer, M. R., Asztalos, B. F., Tanaka, A., Lamon-Fava, S. & Schaefer, E. J. 2009. Fasting And Postprandial Apolipoprotein B-48 Levels In Healthy, Obese, And Hyperlipidemic Subjects. Metabolism, 58, 1536-42.
- Out, C., Patankar, J. V., Doktorova, M., Boesjes, M., Bos, T., De Boer, S., Havinga, R., Wolters, H., Boverhof, R., Van Dijk, T. H., Smoczek, A., Bleich, A., Sachdev, V., Kratky, D., Kuipers, F., Verkade, H. J. & Groen, A. K. 2015. Gut Microbiota Inhibit Asbt-Dependent Intestinal Bile Acid Reabsorption Via Gata4. J Hepatol, 63, 697-704.
- Paddon, H. B. & Vance, D. E. 1980. Tetradecanoyl-Phorbol Acetate Stimulates Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis In Hela Cells By An Increase In The Rate Of The Reaction Catalyzed By Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. Biochim Biophys Acta, 620, 636-40.

- Paltauf, F., Esfandi, F. & Holasek, A. 1974. Stereospecificity Of Lipases. Enzymic Hydrolysis Of Enantiomeric Alkyl Diacylglycerols By Lipoprotein Lipase, Lingual Lipase And Pancreatic Lipase. Febs Letters, 40, 119-123.
- Park, S. W., Zhen, G., Verhaeghe, C., Nakagami, Y., Nguyenvu, L. T., Barczak, A. J., Killeen, N. & Erle, D. J. 2009. The Protein Disulfide Isomerase Agr2 Is Essential For Production Of Intestinal Mucus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106, 6950-5.
- Parthasarathy, S., Subbaiah, P. V. & Ganguly, J. 1974. The Mechanism Of Intestinal Absorption Of Phosphatidylcholine In Rats. Biochem J, 140, 503-8.
- Pavlic, M., Xiao, C., Szeto, L., Patterson, B. W. & Lewis, G. F. 2010. Insulin Acutely Inhibits Intestinal Lipoprotein Secretion In Humans In Part By Suppressing Plasma Free Fatty Acids. Diabetes, 59, 580-7.
- Payne, F., Lim, K., Girousse, A., Brown, R. J., Kory, N., Robbins, A., Xue, Y., Sleigh, A., Cochran, E., Adams, C., Dev Borman, A., Russel-Jones, D., Gorden, P., Semple, R. K., Saudek, V., O'rahilly, S., Walther, T. C., Barroso, I. & Savage, D. B. 2014. Mutations Disrupting The Kennedy Phosphatidylcholine Pathway In Humans With Congenital Lipodystrophy And Fatty Liver Disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 111, 8901-6.
- Pelech, S. L., Pritchard, P. H., Brindley, D. N. & Vance, D. E. 1983. Fatty Acids Promote Translocation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase To The Endoplasmic Reticulum And Stimulate Rat Hepatic Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis. J Biol Chem, 258, 6782-8.
- Pelech, S. L. & Vance, D. E. 1984. Regulation Of Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis. Biochim Biophys Acta, 779, 217-51.
- Percy, A. K., Moore, J. F., Carson, M. A. & Waechter, C. J. 1983. Characterization Of Brain Phosphatidylserine Decarboxylase: Localization In The Mitochondrial Inner Membrane. Arch Biochem Biophys, 223, 484-94.
- Pfeiffer, K., Gohil, V., Stuart, R. A., Hunte, C., Brandt, U., Greenberg, M. L. & Schagger, H. 2003. Cardiolipin Stabilizes Respiratory Chain Supercomplexes. J Biol Chem, 278, 52873-80.
- Pol, A., Gross, S. P. & Parton, R. G. 2014. Review: Biogenesis Of The Multifunctional Lipid Droplet: Lipids, Proteins, And Sites. J Cell Biol, 204, 635-46.
- Poloumienko, A., Coté, A., Quee, A. T., Zhu, L. & Bakovic, M. 2004. Genomic Organization And Differential Splicing Of The Mouse And Human Pcyt2 Genes. Gene, 325, 145-55.
- Porto, A. F. 2014. Lysosomal Acid Lipase Deficiency: Diagnosis And Treatment Of Wolman And Cholesteryl Ester Storage Diseases. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev, 12 Suppl 1, 125-32.
- Potten, C. S., Kellett, M., Roberts, S. A., Rew, D. A. & Wilson, G. D. 1992. Measurement Of In Vivo Proliferation In Human Colorectal Mucosa Using Bromodeoxyuridine. Gut, 33, 71-78.
- Pullan, R. D., Thomas, G. A., Rhodes, M., Newcombe, R. G., Williams, G. T., Allen, A. & Rhodes, J. 1994. Thickness Of Adherent Mucus Gel On Colonic Mucosa In Humans And Its Relevance To Colitis. Gut, 35, 353-9.
- Pullinger, C. R., North, J. D., Teng, B. B., Rifici, V. A., Ronhild De Brito, A. E. & Scott, J. 1989. The Apolipoprotein B Gene Is Constitutively Expressed In Hepg2 Cells: Regulation Of Secretion By Oleic Acid, Albumin, And Insulin, And Measurement Of The Mrna Half-Life. Journal Of Lipid Research, 30, 1065-77.

- Rajavashisth, T. B., Taylor, A. K., Andalibi, A., Svenson, K. L. & Lusis, A. J. 1989. Identification Of A Zinc Finger Protein That Binds To The Sterol Regulatory Element. Science, 245, 640-3.
- Rawicz, W., Olbrich, K. C., Mcintosh, T., Needham, D. & Evans, E. 2000. Effect Of Chain Length And Unsaturation On Elasticity Of Lipid Bilayers. Biophys J, 79, 328-39.
- Reinhardt, C., Bergentall, M., Greiner, T. U., Schaffner, F., Ostergren-Lundén, G., Petersen, L. C., Ruf, W. & Bäckhed, F. 2012. Tissue Factor And Parl Promote Microbiota-Induced Intestinal Vascular Remodelling. Nature, 483, 627-31.
- Ren, J., Pulakat, L., Whaley-Connell, A. & Sowers, J. R. 2010. Mitochondrial Biogenesis In The Metabolic Syndrome And Cardiovascular Disease. J Mol Med (Berl), 88, 993-1001.
- Reya, T. & Clevers, H. 2005. Wnt Signalling In Stem Cells And Cancer. Nature, 434, 843-50.
- Ridgway, N. D. & Vance, D. E. 1987. Purification Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase From Rat Liver. J Biol Chem, 262, 17231-9.
- Ridgway, N. D. & Vance, D. E. 1988. Kinetic Mechanism Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. J Biol Chem, 263, 16864-71.
- Romano, K. A., Martinez-Del Campo, A., Kasahara, K., Chittim, C. L., Vivas, E. I., Amador-Noguez, D., Balskus, E. P. & Rey, F. E. 2017. Metabolic, Epigenetic, And Transgenerational Effects Of Gut Bacterial Choline Consumption. Cell Host & Microbe, 22, 279-290.E7.
- Romano, K. A., Vivas, E. I., Amador-Noguez, D. & Rey, F. E. 2015. Intestinal Microbiota Composition Modulates Choline Bioavailability From Diet And Accumulation Of The Proatherogenic Metabolite Trimethylamine-N-Oxide. Mbio, 6, E02481-14.
- Rong, X., Wang, B., Dunham, M. M., Hedde, P. N., Wong, J. S., Gratton, E., Young, S. G., Ford,
 D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2015. Lpcat3-Dependent Production Of Arachidonoyl
 Phospholipids Is A Key Determinant Of Triglyceride Secretion. Elife, 4.
- Rong, X., Wang, B., Palladino, E. N., De Aguiar Vallim, T. Q., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2017. Er Phospholipid Composition Modulates Lipogenesis During Feeding And In Obesity. J Clin Invest, 127, 3640-3651.
- Ross, C. A. 1955. Fat Absorption Studies In The Diagnosis And Treatment Of Pancreatic Fibrosis. Archives Of Disease In Childhood, 30, 316-321.
- Round, J. L. & Mazmanian, S. K. 2009. The Gut Microbiota Shapes Intestinal Immune Responses During Health And Disease. Nat Rev Immunol, 9, 313-23.
- San Roman, A. K., Aronson, B. E., Krasinski, S. D., Shivdasani, R. A. & Verzi, M. P. 2015. Transcription Factors Gata4 And Hnf4a Control Distinct Aspects Of Intestinal Homeostasis In Conjunction With Transcription Factor Cdx2. J Biol Chem, 290, 1850-60.
- Schröder, M. & Kaufman, R. J. 2005. The Mammalian Unfolded Protein Response. Annu Rev Biochem, 74, 739-89.
- Seegmiller, A. C., Dobrosotskaya, I., Goldstein, J. L., Ho, Y. K., Brown, M. S. & Rawson, R. B. 2002. The Srebp Pathway In Drosophila: Regulation By Palmitate, Not Sterols. Dev Cell, 2, 229-38.
- Sharma, N. K., Langberg, K. A., Mondal, A. K. & Das, S. K. 2013. Phospholipid Biosynthesis Genes And Susceptibility To Obesity: Analysis Of Expression And Polymorphisms. Plos One, 8, E65303.
- Shiao, Y. J., Lupo, G. & Vance, J. E. 1995. Evidence That Phosphatidylserine Is Imported Into Mitochondria Via A Mitochondria-Associated Membrane And That The Majority Of

Mitochondrial Phosphatidylethanolamine Is Derived From Decarboxylation Of Phosphatidylserine. J Biol Chem, 270, 11190-8.

- Shields, D. J., Lehner, R., Agellon, L. B. & Vance, D. E. 2003. Membrane Topography Of Human Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. J Biol Chem, 278, 2956-62.
- Shim, J., Moulson, C. L., Newberry, E. P., Lin, M. H., Xie, Y., Kennedy, S. M., Miner, J. H. & Davidson, N. O. 2009. Fatty Acid Transport Protein 4 Is Dispensable For Intestinal Lipid Absorption In Mice. J Lipid Res, 50, 491-500.
- Shkoda, A., Ruiz, P. A., Daniel, H., Kim, S. C., Rogler, G., Sartor, R. B. & Haller, D. 2007. Interleukin-10 Blocked Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress In Intestinal Epithelial Cells: Impact On Chronic Inflammation. Gastroenterology, 132, 190-207.
- Shojaee-Moradie, F., Ma, Y., Lou, S., Hovorka, R. & Umpleby, A. M. 2013. Prandial Hypertriglyceridemia In Metabolic Syndrome Is Due To An Overproduction Of Both Chylomicron And Vldl Triacylglycerol. Diabetes, 62, 4063-9.
- Shroyer, N. F., Wallis, D., Venken, K. J., Bellen, H. J. & Zoghbi, H. Y. 2005. Gfi1 Functions Downstream Of Math1 To Control Intestinal Secretory Cell Subtype Allocation And Differentiation. Genes Dev, 19, 2412-7.
- Shulzhenko, N., Morgun, A., Hsiao, W., Battle, M., Yao, M., Gavrilova, O., Orandle, M., Mayer, L., Macpherson, A. J., Mccoy, K. D., Fraser-Liggett, C. & Matzinger, P. 2011. Crosstalk Between B Lymphocytes, Microbiota And The Intestinal Epithelium Governs Immunity Versus Metabolism In The Gut. Nat Med, 17, 1585-93.
- Siddiqi, S. & Mansbach, C. M. 2015. Dietary And Biliary Phosphatidylcholine Activates Pkcζ In Rat Intestine. J Lipid Res, 56, 859-70.
- Silberg, D. G., Sullivan, J., Kang, E., Swain, G. P., Moffett, J., Sund, N. J., Sackett, S. D. & Kaestner, K. H. 2002. Cdx2 Ectopic Expression Induces Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia In Transgenic Mice. Gastroenterology, 122, 689-96.
- Skipski, V. P., Barclay, M., Barclay, R. K., Fetzer, V. A., Good, J. J. & Archibald, F. M. 1967. Lipid Composition Of Human Serum Lipoproteins. Biochem J, 104, 340-52.
- Smith, S. J., Cases, S., Jensen, D. R., Chen, H. C., Sande, E., Tow, B., Sanan, D. A., Raber, J., Eckel, R. H. & Farese, R. V. 2000. Obesity Resistance And Multiple Mechanisms Of Triglyceride Synthesis In Mice Lacking Dgat. Nat Genet, 25, 87-90.
- Smulan, L. J., Ding, W., Freinkman, E., Gujja, S., Edwards, Y. J. & Walker, A. K. 2016. Cholesterol-Independent Srebp-1 Maturation Is Linked To Arf1 Inactivation. Cell Rep, 16, 9-18.
- Spehlmann, M. E., Begun, A. Z., Burghardt, J., Lepage, P., Raedler, A. & Schreiber, S. 2008. Epidemiology Of Inflammatory Bowel Disease In A German Twin Cohort: Results Of A Nationwide Study. Inflamm Bowel Dis, 14, 968-76.
- Spencer, M. D., Hamp, T. J., Reid, R. W., Fischer, L. M., Zeisel, S. H. & Fodor, A. A. 2011. Association Between Composition Of The Human Gastrointestinal Microbiome And Development Of Fatty Liver With Choline Deficiency. Gastroenterology, 140, 976-86.
- Stadlbauer, U., Arnold, M., Weber, E. & Langhans, W. 2013. Possible Mechanisms Of Circulating Pyy-Induced Satiation In Male Rats. Endocrinology, 154, 193-204.
- Stahl, A., Hirsch, D. J., Gimeno, R. E., Punreddy, S., Ge, P., Watson, N., Patel, S., Kotler, M., Raimondi, A., Tartaglia, L. A. & Lodish, H. F. 1999. Identification Of The Major Intestinal Fatty Acid Transport Protein. Mol Cell, 4, 299-308.
- Ståhlman, M., Pham, H. T., Adiels, M., Mitchell, T. W., Blanksby, S. J., Fagerberg, B., Ekroos, K. & Borén, J. 2012. Clinical Dyslipidaemia Is Associated With Changes In The Lipid

Composition And Inflammatory Properties Of Apolipoprotein-B-Containing Lipoproteins From Women With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetologia, 55, 1156-1166.

- Stappenbeck, T. S., Hooper, L. V. & Gordon, J. I. 2002. Developmental Regulation Of Intestinal Angiogenesis By Indigenous Microbes Via Paneth Cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 99, 15451-5.
- Steenbergen, R., Nanowski, T. S., Beigneux, A., Kulinski, A., Young, S. G. & Vance, J. E. 2005. Disruption Of The Phosphatidylserine Decarboxylase Gene In Mice Causes Embryonic Lethality And Mitochondrial Defects. J Biol Chem, 280, 40032-40.
- Stone, S. J., Myers, H. M., Watkins, S. M., Brown, B. E., Feingold, K. R., Elias, P. M. & Farese, R. V. 2004. Lipopenia And Skin Barrier Abnormalities In Dgat2-Deficient Mice. J Biol Chem, 279, 11767-76.
- Stone, S. J. & Vance, J. E. 2000. Phosphatidylserine Synthase-1 And -2 Are Localized To Mitochondria-Associated Membranes. J Biol Chem, 275, 34534-40.
- Storch, J., Zhou, Y. X. & Lagakos, W. S. 2008. Metabolism Of Apical Versus Basolateral Sn-2-Monoacylglycerol And Fatty Acids In Rodent Small Intestine. J Lipid Res, 49, 1762-9.
- Strakova, J., Demizieux, L., Campenot, R. B., Vance, D. E. & Vance, J. E. 2011. Involvement Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase-B2 In Axonal Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis And Branching Of Neurons. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1811, 617-25.
- Stremmel, W., Ehehalt, R., Autschbach, F. & Karner, M. 2007. Phosphatidylcholine For Steroid-Refractory Chronic Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized Trial. Ann Intern Med, 147, 603-10.
- Stremmel, W., Merle, U., Zahn, A., Autschbach, F., Hinz, U. & Ehehalt, R. 2005. Retarded Release Phosphatidylcholine Benefits Patients With Chronic Active Ulcerative Colitis. Gut, 54, 966-71.
- Strugala, V., Dettmar, P. W. & Pearson, J. P. 2008. Thickness And Continuity Of The Adherent Colonic Mucus Barrier In Active And Quiescent Ulcerative Colitis And Crohn's Disease. Int J Clin Pract, 62, 762-9.
- Sudhop, T., Lütjohann, D., Kodal, A., Igel, M., Tribble, D. L., Shah, S., Perevozskaya, I. & Von Bergmann, K. 2002. Inhibition Of Intestinal Cholesterol Absorption By Ezetimibe In Humans. Circulation, 106, 1943-8.
- Sundler, R. 1975. Ethanolaminephosphate Cytidylyltransferase. Purification And Characterization Of The Enzyme From Rat Liver. J Biol Chem, 250, 8585-90.
- Sundler, R. & Akesson, B. 1975. Biosynthesis Of Phosphatidylethanolamines And Phosphatidylcholines From Ethanolamine And Choline In Rat Liver. Biochem J, 146, 309-15.
- Sundler, R., Akesson, B. & Nilsson, A. 1974. Quantitative Role Of Base Exchange In Phosphatidylethanolamine Synthesis In Isolated Rat Hepatocytes. Febs Lett, 43, 303-7.
- Sundler, R., Arvidson, G. & Akesson, B. 1972. Pathways For The Incorporation Of Choline Into Rat Liver Phosphatidylcholines In Vivo. Biochim Biophys Acta, 280, 559-68.
- Supale, S., Li, N., Brun, T. & Maechler, P. 2012. Mitochondrial Dysfunction In Pancreatic Beta Cells. Trends Endocrinol Metab, 23, 477-87.
- Suzuki, T. T. & Kanfer, J. N. 1985. Purification And Properties Of An Ethanolamine-Serine Base Exchange Enzyme Of Rat Brain Microsomes. J Biol Chem, 260, 1394-9.
- Swidsinski, A., Ladhoff, A., Pernthaler, A., Swidsinski, S., Loening-Baucke, V., Ortner, M., Weber, J., Hoffmann, U., Schreiber, S., Dietel, M. & Lochs, H. 2002. Mucosal Flora In Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology, 122, 44-54.

- Tadokoro, K., Ishidate, K. & Nakazawa, Y. 1985. Evidence For The Existence Of Isozymes Of Choline Kinase And Their Selective Induction In 3-Methylcholanthrene- Or Carbon Tetrachloride-Treated Rat Liver. Biochim Biophys Acta, 835, 501-13.
- Takaoka, A., Wang, Z., Choi, M. K., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Ban, T., Lu, Y., Miyagishi, M., Kodama, T., Honda, K., Ohba, Y. & Taniguchi, T. 2007. Dai (Dlm-1/Zbp1) Is A Cytosolic Dna Sensor And An Activator Of Innate Immune Response. Nature, 448, 501-5.
- Tasseva, G., Bai, H. D., Davidescu, M., Haromy, A., Michelakis, E. & Vance, J. E. 2013. Phosphatidylethanolamine Deficiency In Mammalian Mitochondria Impairs Oxidative Phosphorylation And Alters Mitochondrial Morphology. J Biol Chem, 288, 4158-73.
- Thomas, C., Gioiello, A., Noriega, L., Strehle, A., Oury, J., Rizzo, G., Macchiarulo, A., Yamamoto, H., Mataki, C., Pruzanski, M., Pellicciari, R., Auwerx, J. & Schoonjans, K. 2009. Tgr5-Mediated Bile Acid Sensing Controls Glucose Homeostasis. Cell Metab, 10, 167-77.
- Thumser, A. E. A. & Storch, J. 2000. Liver And Intestinal Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins Obtain Fatty Acids From Phospholipid Membranes By Different Mechanisms. Journal Of Lipid Research, 41, 647-656.
- Tian, Y., Jackson, P., Gunter, C., Wang, J., Rock, C. O. & Jackowski, S. 2006. Placental Thrombosis And Spontaneous Fetal Death In Mice Deficient In Ethanolamine Kinase 2. J Biol Chem, 281, 28438-49.
- Tian, Y., Zhou, R., Rehg, J. E. & Jackowski, S. 2007. Role Of Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha In Lung Development. Mol Cell Biol, 27, 975-82.
- Tie, A. & Bakovic, M. 2007. Alternative Splicing Of Ctp:Phosphoethanolamine Cytidylyltransferase Produces Two Isoforms That Differ In Catalytic Properties. J Lipid Res, 48, 2172-81.
- Tijburg, L. B., Houweling, M., Geelen, J. H. & Van Golde, L. M. 1987. Stimulation Of Phosphatidylethanolamine Synthesis In Isolated Rat Hepatocytes By Phorbol 12-Myristate 13-Acetate. Biochim Biophys Acta, 922, 184-90.
- Traiffort, E., O'regan, S. & Ruat, M. 2013. The Choline Transporter-Like Family Slc44: Properties And Roles In Human Diseases. Mol Aspects Med, 34, 646-54.
- Treede, I., Braun, A., Sparla, R., Kühnel, M., Giese, T., Turner, J. R., Anes, E., Kulaksiz, H., Füllekrug, J., Stremmel, W., Griffiths, G. & Ehehalt, R. 2007. Anti-Inflammatory Effects Of Phosphatidylcholine. J Biol Chem, 282, 27155-64.
- Trotter, P. J., Ho, S. Y. & Storch, J. 1996. Fatty Acid Uptake By Caco-2 Human Intestinal Cells. J Lipid Res, 37, 336-46.
- Tsai, P. Y., Zhang, B., He, W. Q., Zha, J. M., Odenwald, M. A., Singh, G., Tamura, A., Shen, L., Sailer, A., Yeruva, S., Kuo, W. T., Fu, Y. X., Tsukita, S. & Turner, J. R. 2017. Il-22 Upregulates Epithelial Claudin-2 To Drive Diarrhea And Enteric Pathogen Clearance. Cell Host Microbe, 21, 671-681.E4.
- Tso, P., Kendrick, H., Balint, J. A. & Simmonds, W. J. 1981. Role Of Biliary Phosphatidylcholine In The Absorption And Transport Of Dietary Triolein In The Rat. Gastroenterology, 80, 60-5.
- Tso, P., Nauli, A. & Lo, C. M. 2004. Enterocyte Fatty Acid Uptake And Intestinal Fatty Acid-Binding Protein. Biochem Soc Trans, 32, 75-8.

- Tsuru, A., Fujimoto, N., Takahashi, S., Saito, M., Nakamura, D., Iwano, M., Iwawaki, T., Kadokura, H., Ron, D. & Kohno, K. 2013. Negative Feedback By Ire1β Optimizes Mucin Production In Goblet Cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 110, 2864-9.
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ridaura, V. K., Faith, J. J., Rey, F. E., Knight, R. & Gordon, J. I. 2009. The Effect Of Diet On The Human Gut Microbiome: A Metagenomic Analysis In Humanized Gnotobiotic Mice. Sci Transl Med, 1, 6ra14.
- Turner, J. R. 2009. Intestinal Mucosal Barrier Function In Health And Disease. Nat Rev Immunol, 9, 799-809.
- Turton, M. D., O'shea, D., Gunn, I., Beak, S. A., Edwards, C. M., Meeran, K., Choi, S. J., Taylor, G. M., Heath, M. M., Lambert, P. D., Wilding, J. P., Smith, D. M., Ghatei, M. A., Herbert, J. & Bloom, S. R. 1996. A Role For Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 In The Central Regulation Of Feeding. Nature, 379, 69-72.
- Vaishnava, S., Behrendt, C. L., Ismail, A. S., Eckmann, L. & Hooper, L. V. 2008. Paneth Cells Directly Sense Gut Commensals And Maintain Homeostasis At The Intestinal Host-Microbial Interface. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105, 20858-63.
- Vaishnava, S., Yamamoto, M., Severson, K. M., Ruhn, K. A., Yu, X., Koren, O., Ley, R., Wakeland, E. K. & Hooper, L. V. 2011. The Antibacterial Lectin Regiiigamma Promotes The Spatial Segregation Of Microbiota And Host In The Intestine. Science, 334, 255-8.
- Van Der Sanden, M. H., Houweling, M., Van Golde, L. M. & Vaandrager, A. B. 2003. Inhibition Of Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis Induces Expression Of The Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress And Apoptosis-Related Protein Ccaat/Enhancer-Binding Protein-Homologous Protein (Chop/Gadd153). Biochem J, 369, 643-50.
- Van Der Sluis, M., De Koning, B. A., De Bruijn, A. C., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J. P., Van Goudoever, J. B., Büller, H. A., Dekker, J., Van Seuningen, I., Renes, I. B. & Einerhand, A. W. 2006. Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating That Muc2 Is Critical For Colonic Protection. Gastroenterology, 131, 117-29.
- Van Der Veen, J. N., Kennelly, J. P., Wan, S., Vance, J. E., Vance, D. E. & Jacobs, R. L. 2017. The Critical Role Of Phosphatidylcholine And Phosphatidylethanolamine Metabolism In Health And Disease. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1859, 1558-1572.
- Van Der Veen, J. N., Lingrell, S., Da Silva, R. P., Jacobs, R. L. & Vance, D. E. 2014. The Concentration Of Phosphatidylethanolamine In Mitochondria Can Modulate Atp Production And Glucose Metabolism In Mice. Diabetes, 63, 2620-30.
- Van Der Veen, J. N., Lingrell, S., Gao, X., Quiroga, A. D., Takawale, A., Armstrong, E. A., Yager, J. Y., Kassiri, Z., Lehner, R., Vance, D. E. & Jacobs, R. L. 2016. Pioglitazone Attenuates Hepatic Inflammation And Fibrosis In Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase-(Pemt) Deficient Mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, Ajpgi 00243 2015.
- Van Es, J. H., Van Gijn, M. E., Riccio, O., Van Den Born, M., Vooijs, M., Begthel, H., Cozijnsen, M., Robine, S., Winton, D. J., Radtke, F. & Clevers, H. 2005. Notch/Gamma-Secretase Inhibition Turns Proliferative Cells In Intestinal Crypts And Adenomas Into Goblet Cells. Nature, 435, 959-63.
- Van Golde, L. M., Fleischer, B. & Fleischer, S. 1971. Some Studies On The Metabolism Of Phospholipids In Golgi Complex From Bovine And Rat Liver In Comparison To Other Subcellular Fractions. Biochim Biophys Acta, 249, 318-30.
- Vance, D. E. 2013. Physiological Roles Of Phosphatidylethanolamine N-Methyltransferase. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1831, 626-32.

- Vance, D. E. 2014a. Phospholipid Methylation In Mammals: From Biochemistry To Physiological Function. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1838, 1477-87.
- Vance, J. E. 1990. Phospholipid Synthesis In A Membrane Fraction Associated With Mitochondria. J Biol Chem, 265, 7248-56.
- Vance, J. E. 2014b. Mam (Mitochondria-Associated Membranes) In Mammalian Cells: Lipids And Beyond. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1841, 595-609.
- Vance, J. E., Aasman, E. J. & Szarka, R. 1991. Brefeldin A Does Not Inhibit The Movement Of Phosphatidylethanolamine From Its Sites For Synthesis To The Cell Surface. J Biol Chem, 266, 8241-7.
- Vance, J. E. & Vance, D. E. 1988. Does Rat Liver Golgi Have The Capacity To Synthesize Phospholipids For Lipoprotein Secretion? J Biol Chem, 263, 5898-909.
- Velcich, A., Yang, W., Heyer, J., Fragale, A., Nicholas, C., Viani, S., Kucherlapati, R., Lipkin, M., Yang, K. & Augenlicht, L. 2002. Colorectal Cancer In Mice Genetically Deficient In The Mucin Muc2. Science, 295, 1726-9.
- Verkade, H. J., Fast, D. G., Rusiñol, A. E., Scraba, D. G. & Vance, D. E. 1993. Impaired Biosynthesis Of Phosphatidylcholine Causes A Decrease In The Number Of Very Low Density Lipoprotein Particles In The Golgi But Not In The Endoplasmic Reticulum Of Rat Liver. J. Biol. Chem., 268, 24990-24996.
- Verkade, H. J., Vonk, R. J. & Kuipers, F. 1995. New Insights Into The Mechanism Of Bile Acid-Induced Biliary Lipid Secretion. Hepatology, 21, 1174-89.
- Verkleij, A. J., Zwaal, R. F., Roelofsen, B., Comfurius, P., Kastelijn, D. & Van Deenen, L. L. 1973. The Asymmetric Distribution Of Phospholipids In The Human Red Cell Membrane. A Combined Study Using Phospholipases And Freeze-Etch Electron Microscopy. Biochim Biophys Acta, 323, 178-93.
- Voelker, D. R. 1989. Phosphatidylserine Translocation To The Mitochondrion Is An Atp-Dependent Process In Permeabilized Animal Cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 86, 9921-5.
- Voshol, P. J., Minich, D. M., Havinga, R., Elferink, R. P., Verkade, H. J., Groen, A. K. & Kuipers, F. 2000. Postprandial Chylomicron Formation And Fat Absorption In Multidrug Resistance Gene 2 P-Glycoprotein-Deficient Mice. Gastroenterology, 118, 173-82.
- Vreken, P., Valianpour, F., Nijtmans, L. G., Grivell, L. A., Plecko, B., Wanders, R. J. & Barth, P. G. 2000. Defective Remodeling Of Cardiolipin And Phosphatidylglycerol In Barth Syndrome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 279, 378-82.
- Walker, A. K., Jacobs, R. L., Watts, J. L., Rottiers, V., Jiang, K., Finnegan, D. M., Shioda, T., Hansen, M., Yang, F., Niebergall, L. J., Vance, D. E., Tzoneva, M., Hart, A. C. & Naar, A. M. 2011. A Conserved Srebp-1/Phosphatidylcholine Feedback Circuit Regulates Lipogenesis In Metazoans. Cell, 147, 840-52.
- Wang, B., Rong, X., Duerr, M. A., Hermanson, D. J., Hedde, P. N., Wong, J. S., Vallim, T. Q., Cravatt, B. F., Gratton, E., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2016. Intestinal Phospholipid Remodeling Is Required For Dietary-Lipid Uptake And Survival On A High-Fat Diet. Cell Metab, 23, 492-504.
- Wang, B., Rong, X., Palladino, E. N. D., Wang, J., Fogelman, A. M., Martín, M. G., Alrefai, W. A., Ford, D. A. & Tontonoz, P. 2018. Phospholipid Remodeling And Cholesterol Availability Regulate Intestinal Stemness And Tumorigenesis. Cell Stem Cell, 22, 206-220.E4.

- Wang, L., Magdaleno, S., Tabas, I. & Jackowski, S. 2005. Early Embryonic Lethality In Mice With Targeted Deletion Of The Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase Alpha Gene (Pcyt1a). Mol Cell Biol, 25, 3357-63.
- Wang, X., Sato, R., Brown, M. S., Hua, X. & Goldstein, J. L. 1994. Srebp-1, A Membrane-Bound Transcription Factor Released By Sterol-Regulated Proteolysis. Cell, 77, 53-62.
- Wang, Y., Macdonald, J. I. & Kent, C. 1993a. Regulation Of Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase In Hela Cells. Effect Of Oleate On Phosphorylation And Intracellular Localization. J Biol Chem, 268, 5512-8.
- Wang, Y., Sweitzer, T. D., Weinhold, P. A. & Kent, C. 1993b. Nuclear Localization Of Soluble Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase. J Biol Chem, 268, 5899-904.
- Watanabe, M., Houten, S. M., Mataki, C., Christoffolete, M. A., Kim, B. W., Sato, H., Messaddeq, N., Harney, J. W., Ezaki, O., Kodama, T., Schoonjans, K., Bianco, A. C. & Auwerx, J. 2006. Bile Acids Induce Energy Expenditure By Promoting Intracellular Thyroid Hormone Activation. Nature, 439, 484-9.
- Weng, W., Li, L., Van Bennekum, A. M., Potter, S. H., Harrison, E. H., Blaner, W. S., Breslow, J. L. & Fisher, E. A. 1999. Intestinal Absorption Of Dietary Cholesteryl Ester Is Decreased But Retinyl Ester Absorption Is Normal In Carboxyl Ester Lipase Knockout Mice. Biochemistry, 38, 4143-9.
- Wetterau, Aggerbeck, L., Bouma, M., Eisenberg, C., Munck, A., Hermier, M., Schmitz, J., Gay, G., Rader, D. & Gregg, R. 1992. Absence Of Microsomal Triglyceride Transfer Protein In Individuals With Abetalipoproteinemia. Science, 258, 999-1001.
- Whited, K. L., Thao, D., Lloyd, K. C., Kopin, A. S. & Raybould, H. E. 2006. Targeted Disruption Of The Murine Cck1 Receptor Gene Reduces Intestinal Lipid-Induced Feedback Inhibition Of Gastric Function. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 291, G156-62.
- Wiles, S., Clare, S., Harker, J., Huett, A., Young, D., Dougan, G. & Frankel, G. 2004. Organ Specificity, Colonization And Clearance Dynamics In Vivo Following Oral Challenges With The Murine Pathogen Citrobacter Rodentium. Cell Microbiol, 6, 963-72.
- Willing, B. P., Dicksved, J., Halfvarson, J., Andersson, A. F., Lucio, M., Zheng, Z., Järnerot, G., Tysk, C., Jansson, J. K. & Engstrand, L. 2010. A Pyrosequencing Study In Twins Shows That Gastrointestinal Microbial Profiles Vary With Inflammatory Bowel Disease Phenotypes. Gastroenterology, 139, 1844-1854.E1.
- Willing, B. P., Vacharaksa, A., Croxen, M., Thanachayanont, T. & Finlay, B. B. 2011. Altering Host Resistance To Infections Through Microbial Transplantation. Plos One, 6, E26988.
- Wittenberg, J. & Kornberg, A. 1953. Choline Phosphokinase. Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 202, 431-444.
- Wlodarska, M., Willing, B., Keeney, K. M., Menendez, A., Bergstrom, K. S., Gill, N., Russell, S. L., Vallance, B. A. & Finlay, B. B. 2011. Antibiotic Treatment Alters The Colonic Mucus Layer And Predisposes The Host To Exacerbated Citrobacter Rodentium-Induced Colitis. Infect Immun, 79, 1536-45.
- Woollett, L. A., Buckley, D. D., Yao, L., Jones, P. J., Granholm, N. A., Tolley, E. A., Tso, P. & Heubi, J. E. 2004. Cholic Acid Supplementation Enhances Cholesterol Absorption In Humans. Gastroenterology, 126, 724-31.
- Woollett, L. A., Wang, Y., Buckley, D. D., Yao, L., Chin, S., Granholm, N., Jones, P. J., Setchell, K. D., Tso, P. & Heubi, J. E. 2006. Micellar Solubilisation Of Cholesterol Is Essential For Absorption In Humans. Gut, 55, 197-204.

- Woting, A. & Blaut, M. 2018. Small Intestinal Permeability And Gut-Transit Time Determined With Low And High Molecular Weight Fluorescein Isothiocyanate-Dextrans In C3h Mice. Nutrients, 10.
- Xiao, C., Bandsma, R. H., Dash, S., Szeto, L. & Lewis, G. F. 2012. Exenatide, A Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist, Acutely Inhibits Intestinal Lipoprotein Production In Healthy Humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 32, 1513-9.
- Xiao, C., Dash, S., Morgantini, C. & Lewis, G. F. 2013. Novel Role Of Enteral Monosaccharides In Intestinal Lipoprotein Production In Healthy Humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 33, 1056-62.
- Xiao, C., Dash, S., Morgantini, C. & Lewis, G. F. 2016. Intravenous Glucose Acutely Stimulates Intestinal Lipoprotein Secretion In Healthy Humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 36, 1457-63.
- Xiao, C., Dash, S., Morgantini, C., Patterson, B. W. & Lewis, G. F. 2014. Sitagliptin, A Dpp-4 Inhibitor, Acutely Inhibits Intestinal Lipoprotein Particle Secretion In Healthy Humans. Diabetes, 63, 2394-401.
- Xiao, X., Mukherjee, A., Ross, L. E. & Lowe, M. E. 2011. Pancreatic Lipase-Related Protein-2 (Plrp2) Can Contribute To Dietary Fat Digestion In Human Newborns. J Biol Chem, 286, 26353-63.
- Xie, P., Guo, F., Ma, Y., Zhu, H., Wang, F., Xue, B., Shi, H., Yang, J. & Yu, L. 2014. Intestinal Cgi-58 Deficiency Reduces Postprandial Lipid Absorption. Plos One, 9, E91652.
- Xie, Y., Newberry, E. P., Young, S. G., Robine, S., Hamilton, R. L., Wong, J. S., Luo, J., Kennedy, S. & Davidson, N. O. 2006. Compensatory Increase In Hepatic Lipogenesis In Mice With Conditional Intestine-Specific Mttp Deficiency. J Biol Chem, 281, 4075-86.
- Yamashita, A., Hayashi, Y., Nemoto-Sasaki, Y., Ito, M., Oka, S., Tanikawa, T., Waku, K. & Sugiura, T. 2014. Acyltransferases And Transacylases That Determine The Fatty Acid Composition Of Glycerolipids And The Metabolism Of Bioactive Lipid Mediators In Mammalian Cells And Model Organisms. Prog Lipid Res, 53, 18-81.
- Yamashita, A., Sugiura, T. & Waku, K. 1997. Acyltransferases And Transacylases Involved In Fatty Acid Remodeling Of Phospholipids And Metabolism Of Bioactive Lipids In Mammalian Cells. J Biochem, 122, 1-16.
- Yang, Q., Bermingham, N. A., Finegold, M. J. & Zoghbi, H. Y. 2001. Requirement Of Math1 For Secretory Cell Lineage Commitment In The Mouse Intestine. Science, 294, 2155-8.
- Yao, Z. & Vance, D. E. 1988. The Active Synthesis Of Phosphatidylcholine Is Required For Very Low Density Lipoprotein Secretion From Rat Hepatocytes. J. Biol. Chem., 263, 2998-3004.
- Yao, Z. M. & Vance, D. E. 1990. Reduction In Vldl, But Not Hdl, In Plasma Of Rats Deficient In Choline. Biochem Cell Biol, 68, 552-8.
- Yen, C. L., Cheong, M. L., Grueter, C., Zhou, P., Moriwaki, J., Wong, J. S., Hubbard, B., Marmor, S. & Farese, R. V. 2009. Deficiency Of The Intestinal Enzyme Acyl Coa:Monoacylglycerol Acyltransferase-2 Protects Mice From Metabolic Disorders Induced By High-Fat Feeding. Nat Med, 15, 442-6.
- Yen, C. L. & Farese, R. V., Jr. 2003. Mgat2, A Monoacylglycerol Acyltransferase Expressed In The Small Intestine. J Biol Chem, 278, 18532-7.
- Young, S. G., Cham, C. M., Pitas, R. E., Burri, B. J., Connolly, A., Flynn, L., Pappu, A. S., Wong, J. S., Hamilton, R. L. & Farese, R. V. 1995. A Genetic Model For Absent

Chylomicron Formation: Mice Producing Apolipoprotein B In The Liver, But Not In The Intestine. J Clin Invest, 96, 2932-46.

- Yu, H., Yue, X., Zhao, Y., Li, X., Wu, L., Zhang, C., Liu, Z., Lin, K., Xu-Monette, Z. Y., Young, K. H., Liu, J., Shen, Z., Feng, Z. & Hu, W. 2014. Lif Negatively Regulates Tumour-Suppressor P53 Through Stat3/Id1/Mdm2 In Colorectal Cancers. Nat Commun, 5, 5218.
- Zborowski, J., Dygas, A. & Wojtczak, L. 1983. Phosphatidylserine Decarboxylase Is Located On The External Side Of The Inner Mitochondrial Membrane. Febs Lett, 157, 179-82.
- Zeisel, S. H., Da Costa, K. A., Franklin, P. D., Alexander, E. A., Lamont, J. T., Sheard, N. F. & Beiser, A. 1991. Choline, An Essential Nutrient For Humans. Faseb J, 5, 2093-8.
- Zhang, D., Tang, W., Yao, P. M., Yang, C., Xie, B., Jackowski, S. & Tabas, I. 2000. Macrophages Deficient In Ctp:Phosphocholine Cytidylyltransferase-Alpha Are Viable Under Normal Culture Conditions But Are Highly Susceptible To Free Cholesterol-Induced Death. Molecular Genetic Evidence That The Induction Of Phosphatidylcholine Biosynthesis In Free Cholesterol-Loaded Macrophages Is An Adaptive Response. J Biol Chem, 275, 35368-76.
- Zhang, F., Zarkada, G., Han, J., Li, J., Dubrac, A., Ola, R., Genet, G., Boyé, K., Michon, P., Künzel, S. E., Camporez, J. P., Singh, A. K., Fong, G. H., Simons, M., Tso, P., Fernández-Hernando, C., Shulman, G. I., Sessa, W. C. & Eichmann, A. 2018. Lacteal Junction Zippering Protects Against Diet-Induced Obesity. Science, 361, 599-603.
- Zhang, H.-S., Chen, Y., Fan, L., Xi, Q.-L., Wu, G.-H., Li, X.-X., Yuan, T.-L., He, S.-Q., Yu, Y., Shao, M.-L., Liu, Y., Bai, C.-G., Ling, Z.-Q., Li, M., Liu, Y. & Fang, J. 2015. The Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Sensor Ire1α In Intestinal Epithelial Cells Is Essential For Protecting Against Colitis. The Journal Of Biological Chemistry, 290, 15327-15336.
- Zhang, L. J., Wang, C., Yuan, Y., Wang, H., Wu, J., Liu, F., Li, L., Gao, X., Zhao, Y. L., Hu, P. Z., Li, P. & Ye, J. 2014. Cideb Facilitates The Lipidation Of Chylomicrons In The Small Intestine. J Lipid Res, 55, 1279-87.
- Zhang, M., Mileykovskaya, E. & Dowhan, W. 2005. Cardiolipin Is Essential For Organization Of Complexes Iii And Iv Into A Supercomplex In Intact Yeast Mitochondria. J Biol Chem, 280, 29403-8.
- Zhao, G., Souers, A. J., Voorbach, M., Falls, H. D., Droz, B., Brodjian, S., Lau, Y. Y., Iyengar, R. R., Gao, J., Judd, A. S., Wagaw, S. H., Ravn, M. M., Engstrom, K. M., Lynch, J. K., Mulhern, M. M., Freeman, J., Dayton, B. D., Wang, X., Grihalde, N., Fry, D., Beno, D. W., Marsh, K. C., Su, Z., Diaz, G. J., Collins, C. A., Sham, H., Reilly, R. M., Brune, M. E. & Kym, P. R. 2008a. Validation Of Diacyl Glycerolacyltransferase I As A Novel Target For The Treatment Of Obesity And Dyslipidemia Using A Potent And Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor. J Med Chem, 51, 380-3.
- Zhao, Y., Chen, Y. Q., Bonacci, T. M., Bredt, D. S., Li, S., Bensch, W. R., Moller, D. E., Kowala, M., Konrad, R. J. & Cao, G. 2008b. Identification And Characterization Of A Major Liver Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase. J Biol Chem, 283, 8258-65.
- Zhou, X. & Arthur, G. 1992. Improved Procedures For The Determination Of Lipid Phosphorus By Malachite Green. J Lipid Res, 33, 1233-6.

Appendix 1 Gene symbol, description, fold change and ANOVA P Value for genes found to be changed in the small intestines of $CT\alpha^{IKO}$ mice relative to control mice by microarray

		Fold Change (linear) (Fasted KO vs. Fasted	ANOVA p- value (Fasted KO vs. Fasted
Gene Symbol	Description	Control)	Control)
lgkv6-23	immunoglobulin kappa variable 6-23	8.29	0.00694
lgkv6-25	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 6-25	8.22	0.04462
lgkv14-100	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 14-100	5.97	0.04549
lghv5-17; lghg; Igh-V7183	immunoglobulin heavy variable 5-17; Immunoglobulin heavy chain (gamma polypeptide); immunoglobulin heavy chain (V7183 family)	4.83	0.03081
Scd2; Mir5114	stearoyl-Coenzyme A desaturase 2; microRNA 5114	4.64	0.00083
lfi44	interferon-induced protein 44	3.94	0.00257
lgkv1-117	immunoglobulin kappa variable 1-117	3.9	0.03409
lgkv5-45; lgkv5-43	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 5-45; immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 5-43	3.79	0.03736
lghv6-3	immunoglobulin heavy variable 6-3	3.61	0.00634
lgk-V1; lgkv1-110; lgk-V5	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 1 (V1); immunoglobulin kappa variable 1- 110; immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 5 (V5 family)	3.47	0.03292
lgkv4-57	immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-57	3.25	0.03676
Mboat1	membrane bound O-acyltransferase domain containing 1	3.22	0.00881
lgkv4-61; lgkv4-68	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 4-61; immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-68	3.22	0.02264
lgkv6-17	immunoglobulin kappa variable 6-17	3.21	0.04032
lgkv6-15; lgkv6-14	immunoglobulin kappa variable 6-15; immunoglobulin kappa variable 6-14	3.11	0.04972
lgkv14-111	immunoglobulin kappa variable 14-111	3.03	0.02698
Igkv4-78	immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-78	3.02	0.04096
Igkv6-20	immunoglobulin kappa variable 6-20	2.98	0.01978
lgkv4-73	immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-73	2.83	0.03746

lgkv4-70	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 4-70	2.82	0.03215
Clca3b	chloride channel accessory 3B	2.78	0.00788
lgkv12-41	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 12-41	2.77	0.03937
ll1rl1	interleukin 1 receptor-like 1	2.73	0.0028
lgkv4-68	immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-68	2.73	0.03286
Reg3g	regenerating islet-derived 3 gamma	2.72	0.03486
Ddah1	dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase 1	2.71	0.04713
Oas1g	2-5 oligoadenylate synthetase 1G	2.67	0.00165
lgkv4-69	immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-69	2.66	0.0297
Bmp4	bone morphogenetic protein 4	2.65	0.01594
lghv3-2	immunoglobulin heavy variable 3-2	2.64	0.02518
lghv1-20	immunoglobulin heavy variable V1-20	2.5	0.03521
Aqp4	aquaporin 4	2.45	0.00202
Clca3a1; Clca1	chloride channel accessory 3A1; chloride channel accessory 1	2.42	0.00888
Ccna2	cyclin A2	2.4	0.0083
Asf1b	anti-silencing function 1B histone chaperone	2.37	0.00749
Igkv4-50	immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-50	2.37	0.04356
lghv5-9-1	immunoglobulin heavy variable 5-9-1	2.36	0.02995
Ccnb1	cyclin B1	2.35	0.00258
Psat1	phosphoserine aminotransferase 1	2.35	0.00564
Ighv14-4	immunoglobulin heavy variable 14-4	2.35	0.00716
Bgn	biglycan	2.35	0.01489
lgkv17-121	immunoglobulin kappa variable 17-121	2.32	0.0291
Cldn2	claudin 2	2.3	0.00036
AI506816	expressed sequence AI506816	2.3	0.00308
Hist1h2ab	histone cluster 1, H2ab	2.29	0.04287
Hist1h1b	histone cluster 1, H1b	2.28	0.00982
Ighv5-6; Igh-			
V7183	immunoglobulin heavy variable 5-6; immunoglobulin heavy chain (V7183 family)	2.27	0.02672
Mmrn1	multimerin 1	2.24	0.00227

lgh-VJ558; lghv14-			
3	immunoglobulin heavy chain (J558 family); immunoglobulin heavy variable V14-3	2.24	0.03766
lgkv12-38	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 12-38	2.23	0.01653
Plk1	polo-like kinase 1	2.22	0.00693
Hist1h2ag	histone cluster 1, H2ag	2.22	0.02316
Nipal2	NIPA-like domain containing 2	2.21	0.00016
Ednrb	endothelin receptor type B	2.2	0.0103
Nuf2	NUF2, NDC80 kinetochore complex component, homolog (S. cerevisiae)	2.19	0.0018
Rrm1	ribonucleotide reductase M1	2.16	0.00668
Ube2c	ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2C	2.16	0.0104
Akr1b8	aldo-keto reductase family 1, member B8	2.15	0.00138
Scd1	stearoyl-Coenzyme A desaturase 1	2.15	0.00536
Dbf4	DBF4 homolog (S. cerevisiae)	2.14	0.00182
Gm13139	predicted gene 13139	2.13	0.00765
lghv1-76	immunoglobulin heavy variable 1-76	2.13	0.04859
Gm5154	predicted gene 5154	2.12	0.00062
Pbk	PDZ binding kinase	2.11	0.0112
Hist2h2ac	histone cluster 2, H2ac	2.1	0.00835
Tubb5	tubulin, beta 5 class I	2.1	0.01187
Trip13	thyroid hormone receptor interactor 13	2.07	0.00875
Dmbt1	deleted in malignant brain tumors 1	2.07	0.04388
Bub1	budding uninhibited by benzimidazoles 1 homolog (S. cerevisiae)	2.06	0.00548
Mir1949	microRNA 1949	2.06	0.02379
Hmmr	hyaluronan mediated motility receptor (RHAMM)	2.04	0.00299
Pole	polymerase (DNA directed), epsilon	2.04	0.02759
Oas2	2-5 oligoadenylate synthetase 2	2.03	0.00373
Kif11	kinesin family member 11	2.01	0.00296
Melk	maternal embryonic leucine zipper kinase	2.01	0.00425
Ighv3-4; Ighv3-5	immunoglobulin heavy variable V3-4; immunoglobulin heavy variable 3-5	2.01	0.00643

Hist1h2bk	histone cluster 1, H2bk	2	0.00265
Aurka	aurora kinase A	2	0.00646
Mecom	MDS1 and EVI1 complex locus	2	0.00759
Mcm5	minichromosome maintenance deficient 5, cell division cycle 46 (S. cerevisiae)	2	0.03227
Shmt2	serine hydroxymethyltransferase 2 (mitochondrial)	1.99	0.00385
Ly6c2	lymphocyte antigen 6 complex, locus C2	1.99	0.00577
Snord93	small nucleolar RNA, C/D box 93	1.97	0.00016
Nrg1	neuregulin 1	1.97	0.00369
Kif20b	kinesin family member 20B	1.96	0.00164
Myef2	myelin basic protein expression factor 2, repressor	1.96	0.01255
Eng	endoglin	1.95	0.00978
lgkv4-79	immunoglobulin kappa variable 4-79	1.95	0.03491
Hist1h4i	histone cluster 1, H4i	1.95	0.04466
Fads1	fatty acid desaturase 1	1.95	0.05
Birc5	baculoviral IAP repeat-containing 5	1.94	0.01222
Ly6a	lymphocyte antigen 6 complex, locus A	1.94	0.01634
Prmt1	protein arginine N-methyltransferase 1	1.94	0.0199
Ndc1	NDC1 transmembrane nucleoporin	1.92	0.01232
Cdk1	cyclin-dependent kinase 1	1.92	0.03241
Kif15	kinesin family member 15	1.9	0.00069
Hist1h2af	histone cluster 1, H2af	1.9	0.04056
Трх2	TPX2, microtubule-associated protein homolog (Xenopus laevis)	1.89	0.0019
Nmur1	neuromedin U receptor 1	1.89	0.02628
Reg3b	regenerating islet-derived 3 beta	1.89	0.03618
Rrm2	ribonucleotide reductase M2	1.88	0.01003
Gm16494	predicted gene 16494 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3641930]	1.88	0.02243
Nup43	nucleoporin 43	1.87	0.00039
Shcbp1	Shc SH2-domain binding protein 1	1.87	0.00582
Dna2	DNA replication helicase 2 homolog (yeast)	1.87	0.01522
Nsl1	NSL1, MIND kinetochore complex component, homolog (S. cerevisiae)	1.87	0.01977

Col3a1	collagen, type III, alpha 1	1.87	0.02412
Ttk	Ttk protein kinase	1.86	0.00641
Zwilch	zwilch kinetochore protein	1.86	0.00669
Kif20a	kinesin family member 20A	1.86	0.00885
Prc1	protein regulator of cytokinesis 1	1.85	0.00183
Tacc3	transforming, acidic coiled-coil containing protein 3	1.85	0.00549
Pcsk9	proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9	1.85	0.0057
Adamdec1	ADAM-like, decysin 1	1.85	0.02338
Duox2	dual oxidase 2	1.85	0.04602
Htr4	5 hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) receptor 4	1.84	0.0097
Racgap1	Rac GTPase-activating protein 1	1.84	0.01575
Tmem176a	transmembrane protein 176A	1.84	0.02075
Aurkb	aurora kinase B	1.84	0.03151
Nop56	NOP56 ribonucleoprotein	1.84	0.0411
Ccnb2	cyclin B2	1.84	0.04442
Utp14a	UTP14, U3 small nucleolar ribonucleoprotein, homolog A (yeast)	1.83	0.00504
Ncapg	non-SMC condensin I complex, subunit G	1.83	0.00783
Ska3	spindle and kinetochore associated complex subunit 3	1.83	0.00897
Fads3	fatty acid desaturase 3	1.83	0.01665
Brca1	breast cancer 1, early onset	1.83	0.02111
lpo5	importin 5	1.83	0.0226
n-R5s85	nuclear encoded rRNA 5S 85 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:4421933]	1.82	0.00373
Ticrr	TOPBP1-interacting checkpoint and replication regulator	1.82	0.0108
Fam57a	family with sequence similarity 57, member A	1.82	0.01899
Tspan1	tetraspanin 1	1.82	0.02144
Ccl9	chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 9	1.82	0.02343
Chaf1b	chromatin assembly factor 1, subunit B (p60)	1.82	0.03847
Pik3r3	phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase, regulatory subunit, polypeptide 3 (p55)	1.81	0.00228
Gm5593	predicted gene 5593	1.81	0.00346
Kif14	kinesin family member 14	1.81	0.00458
Mad2l1	MAD2 mitotic arrest deficient-like 1	1.81	0.00473

Nusap1	nucleolar and spindle associated protein 1	1.81	0.01615
Taf1d	TATA box binding protein (Tbp)-associated factor, RNA polymerase I, D	1.8	0.00173
lqgap3	IQ motif containing GTPase activating protein 3	1.8	0.00533
1810065E05Rik	RIKEN cDNA 1810065E05 gene	1.8	0.00786
lghv5-9	immunoglobulin heavy variable 5-9	1.8	0.013
Lipg	lipase, endothelial	1.8	0.01317
Rad18	RAD18 E3 ubiquitin protein ligase	1.79	0.00093
Fdps	farnesyl diphosphate synthetase	1.79	0.00147
Wdr75	WD repeat domain 75	1.79	0.00365
LOC105244345; Gm14277	small nuclear ribonucleoprotein Sm D1-like; predicted gene 14277 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3650350]	1.79	0.00436
Parpbp	PARP1 binding protein	1.79	0.0057
Tfrc	transferrin receptor	1.79	0.01122
Dtl	denticleless homolog (Drosophila)	1.79	0.01929
Hist2h2ab	histone cluster 2, H2ab	1.79	0.03485
Snora2b	small nucleolar RNA, H/ACA box 2B	1.78	0.00491
Ncaph	non-SMC condensin I complex, subunit H	1.78	0.01822
Kif2c	kinesin family member 2C	1.78	0.02396
Mybbp1a	MYB binding protein (P160) 1a	1.78	0.0277
Slc7a5	solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino acid transporter, y+ system), member 5	1.78	0.04043
Kif23	kinesin family member 23	1.77	0.00527
Anln	anillin, actin binding protein	1.77	0.01793
Snora20	small nucleolar RNA, H/ACA box 20	1.77	0.03315
Top2a	topoisomerase (DNA) II alpha	1.77	0.03595
Cd44	CD44 antigen	1.76	0.00143
Rpf2	ribosome production factor 2 homolog (S. cerevisiae)	1.76	0.00441
Oasl2	2-5 oligoadenylate synthetase-like 2	1.76	0.0046
Ripk3	receptor-interacting serine-threonine kinase 3	1.76	0.00471
Cenpu	centromere protein U	1.76	0.00641
Mcm3	minichromosome maintenance deficient 3 (S. cerevisiae)	1.76	0.00729
Bcap29	B cell receptor associated protein 29	1.76	0.01559

Rad54l	RAD54 like (S. cerevisiae)	1.76	0.01845
Npm1	nucleophosmin 1	1.76	0.01963
Hhip	Hedgehog-interacting protein	1.76	0.03553
Ccnd1	cyclin D1	1.76	0.03987
Nudcd2	NudC domain containing 2	1.75	0.00164
Sgol1	shugoshin-like 1 (S. pombe)	1.75	0.00492
Hist1h2bf	histone cluster 1, H2bf	1.75	0.00622
Rad51	RAD51 homolog	1.75	0.0068
Pla2g4a	phospholipase A2, group IVA (cytosolic, calcium-dependent)	1.75	0.00932
Foxm1	forkhead box M1	1.75	0.01706
Mmp10	matrix metallopeptidase 10	1.75	0.02833
Cenpe	centromere protein E	1.74	0.00266
Trim37	tripartite motif-containing 37	1.74	0.00397
Slc7a1	solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino acid transporter, y+ system), member 1	1.74	0.00813
Rfc4	replication factor C (activator 1) 4	1.74	0.02065
Gtpbp4	GTP binding protein 4	1.73	0.00093
Lamb1	laminin B1	1.73	0.01492
Fignl1	fidgetin-like 1	1.73	0.0269
Mcm4	minichromosome maintenance deficient 4 homolog (S. cerevisiae)	1.73	0.02958
Cenpp	centromere protein P	1.72	0.00922
C1qbp	complement component 1, q subcomponent binding protein	1.72	0.01357
Gm5611	predicted gene 5611 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3647121]	1.72	0.01958
Car12	carbonic anyhydrase 12	1.72	0.0347
Gm1987; Ccl21a	predicted gene 1987; chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 21A (serine)	1.72	0.03969
Mastl	microtubule associated serine/threonine kinase-like	1.71	0.00261
D17H6S56E-5	DNA segment, Chr 17, human D6S56E 5	1.71	0.0044
Cep55	centrosomal protein 55	1.71	0.00974
Exosc1	exosome component 1	1.71	0.02501
lgkj1; lgk-V28	immunoglobulin kappa joining 1; immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 28 (V28)	1.71	0.03002
H2afx	H2A histone family, member X	1.71	0.03183
Gm17430	predicted gene, 17430 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:4937064]	1.71	0.03611

Smc2	structural maintenance of chromosomes 2	1.7	0.00096
Cenpi	centromere protein l	1.7	0.00363
Kif22	kinesin family member 22	1.7	0.00405
Hells	helicase, lymphoid specific	1.7	0.00639
lsg15	ISG15 ubiquitin-like modifier	1.7	0.03111
Fbn1	fibrillin 1	1.7	0.04032
Mthfd2	methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase (NAD+ dependent), methenyltetrahydrofolate cyclohydrolase	1.7	0.04545
Ddx60	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box polypeptide 60	1.7	0.04936
Mif	macrophage migration inhibitory factor	1.69	0.00869
Pno1	partner of NOB1 homolog (S. cerevisiae)	1.69	0.0087
Ddx21	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box polypeptide 21	1.69	0.01836
Cdca5	cell division cycle associated 5	1.69	0.0218
Gnl3	guanine nucleotide binding protein-like 3 (nucleolar)	1.69	0.02379
Ecm1	extracellular matrix protein 1	1.69	0.02652
C330027C09Rik	RIKEN cDNA C330027C09 gene	1.68	0.00441
Dlgap5	discs, large (Drosophila) homolog-associated protein 5	1.68	0.00447
Lyar	Ly1 antibody reactive clone	1.68	0.00999
Bub1b	budding uninhibited by benzimidazoles 1 homolog, beta (S. cerevisiae)	1.68	0.0121
Cdkn3	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 3	1.68	0.01394
Mis18bp1	MIS18 binding protein 1	1.68	0.02639
Ddx20	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box polypeptide 20	1.67	0.00368
Timm9	translocase of inner mitochondrial membrane 9	1.67	0.00636
Cdca8	cell division cycle associated 8	1.67	0.00934
Mki67	antigen identified by monoclonal antibody Ki 67	1.67	0.01584
Gm5263	predicted gene 5263 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3647343]	1.66	0.00018
Kif4	kinesin family member 4	1.66	0.00164
Steap2	six transmembrane epithelial antigen of prostate 2	1.66	0.00418
Mcm7	minichromosome maintenance deficient 7 (S. cerevisiae)	1.66	0.00445
Blm	Bloom syndrome, RecQ helicase-like	1.66	0.00714
Gm17783	predicted gene, 17783	1.66	0.0295

Lrrc32	leucine rich repeat containing 32	1.66	0.03335
Incenp	inner centromere protein	1.65	0.00171
Cks2	CDC28 protein kinase regulatory subunit 2	1.65	0.00565
Gm12891	predicted gene 12891 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3649646]	1.65	0.00565
Cks2	CDC28 protein kinase regulatory subunit 2	1.65	0.00565
Mmp2	matrix metallopeptidase 2	1.65	0.00925
Rbmxl1	RNA binding motif protein, X-linked like-1	1.65	0.00943
E2f2	E2F transcription factor 2	1.65	0.01257
Slc16a12	solute carrier family 16 (monocarboxylic acid transporters), member 12	1.65	0.01291
Fabp4	fatty acid binding protein 4, adipocyte	1.65	0.02033
Kif18a	kinesin family member 18A	1.65	0.0254
Sox4	SRY (sex determining region Y)-box 4	1.65	0.02963
	1-acylglycerol-3-phosphate O-acyltransferase 4 (lysophosphatidic acid		
Agpat4	acyltransferase, delta)	1.65	0.03164
Ndc80	NDC80 homolog, kinetochore complex component (S. cerevisiae)	1.64	0.00201
	Alport syndrome, mental retardation, midface hypoplasia and elliptocytosis		
Ammecr1	chromosomal region gene 1	1.64	0.0041
Nol8	nucleolar protein 8	1.64	0.02091
Plvap	plasmalemma vesicle associated protein	1.64	0.02107
C1qb	complement component 1, q subcomponent, beta polypeptide	1.64	0.03379
Ect2	ect2 oncogene	1.63	0.00312
Wdr55	WD repeat domain 55	1.63	0.00503
lsyna1	myo-inositol 1-phosphate synthase A1	1.63	0.01602
Prim2	DNA primase, p58 subunit	1.63	0.02169
Pla2g5	phospholipase A2, group V	1.63	0.02392
Uhrf1	ubiquitin-like, containing PHD and RING finger domains, 1	1.63	0.02526
Ran	RAN, member RAS oncogene family	1.63	0.02584
Nifk	nucleolar protein interacting with the FHA domain of MKI67	1.63	0.03304
Trav16d-dv11	T cell receptor alpha variable 16D-DV11	1.63	0.04691
Atr	ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related	1.62	0.0155
Snhg6	small nucleolar RNA host gene 6	1.62	0.02368

Dkc1	dyskeratosis congenita 1, dyskerin	1.62	0.02837
Gart	phosphoribosylglycinamide formyltransferase	1.62	0.03606
Gm9312	predicted gene 9312 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3647775]	1.61	0.00261
Chek1	checkpoint kinase 1	1.61	0.00357
Suv39h2	suppressor of variegation 3-9 homolog 2 (Drosophila)	1.61	0.00376
Haus6	HAUS augmin-like complex, subunit 6	1.61	0.00426
Gar1	GAR1 ribonucleoprotein homolog (yeast)	1.61	0.0077
Casc5	cancer susceptibility candidate 5	1.61	0.0083
Dtymk	deoxythymidylate kinase	1.61	0.01517
Cdc25c	cell division cycle 25C	1.61	0.02318
Shmt1	serine hydroxymethyltransferase 1 (soluble)	1.61	0.02443
Slitrk6	SLIT and NTRK-like family, member 6	1.61	0.03379
Gm22973	predicted gene, 22973 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5452750]	1.61	0.04905
Rcc2	regulator of chromosome condensation 2	1.61	0.04937
Gusb	glucuronidase, beta	1.6	0.00044
Gm9797	predicted pseudogene 9797 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3704349]	1.6	0.00791
Rbbp7	retinoblastoma binding protein 7	1.6	0.0088
Ccdc34	coiled-coil domain containing 34	1.6	0.01121
Exo1	exonuclease 1	1.6	0.0163
Dnmt1	DNA methyltransferase (cytosine-5) 1	1.6	0.0193
Diaph3	diaphanous related formin 3	1.6	0.02866
Mcm6	minichromosome maintenance deficient 6 (MIS5 homolog, S. pombe) (S. cerevisiae)	1.6	0.03772
Fads2	fatty acid desaturase 2	1.6	0.04321
Fcgr4	Fc receptor, IgG, low affinity IV	1.6	0.04648
Rad51b	RAD51 homolog B	1.59	0.00016
Arhgap11a	Rho GTPase activating protein 11A	1.59	0.00243
Hpse2	heparanase 2	1.59	0.00273
lgkv1-35	immunoglobulin kappa variable 1-35	1.59	0.0028
2810417H13Rik	RIKEN cDNA 2810417H13 gene	1.59	0.00907
Gm24588	predicted gene, 24588 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454365]	1.59	0.02402

Havcr2	hepatitis A virus cellular receptor 2	1.59	0.02805
Cyp51	cytochrome P450, family 51	1.59	0.02813
1700025G04Rik	RIKEN cDNA 1700025G04 gene	1.59	0.02817
1830077J02Rik	RIKEN cDNA 1830077J02 gene	1.59	0.04682
Abcc4	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family C (CFTR/MRP), member 4	1.58	5.1E-05
Nr2c2ap	nuclear receptor 2C2-associated protein	1.58	0.00508
Oas1a	2-5 oligoadenylate synthetase 1A	1.58	0.00752
Gtse1	G two S phase expressed protein 1	1.58	0.00787
Suv39h1	suppressor of variegation 3-9 homolog 1 (Drosophila)	1.58	0.00956
Atad2	ATPase family, AAA domain containing 2	1.58	0.01389
Zgrf1	zinc finger, GRF-type containing 1	1.58	0.01391
Alg8	asparagine-linked glycosylation 8 (alpha-1,3-glucosyltransferase)	1.58	0.01464
Nup133	nucleoporin 133	1.58	0.01637
Apobec3	apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide 3	1.58	0.01997
Wdr12	WD repeat domain 12	1.58	0.02421
Col6a3	collagen, type VI, alpha 3	1.58	0.02443
Ncapg2	non-SMC condensin II complex, subunit G2	1.58	0.03011
Anp32b-ps1	Bacidic (leucine-rich) nuclear phosphoprotein 32 family, member B, pseudogene 1	1.58	0.03279
Cdc20	cell division cycle 20	1.58	0.04007
Tipin	timeless interacting protein	1.58	0.04429
Cd4	CD4 antigen	1.58	0.04727
Atic	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide formyltransferase/IMP cyclohydrolase	1.58	0.04924
Ccnjl	cyclin J-like	1.57	0.00306
Hist4h4	histone cluster 4, H4	1.57	0.01199
2610318N02Rik	RIKEN cDNA 2610318N02 gene	1.57	0.02346
Rsl1d1	ribosomal L1 domain containing 1	1.57	0.02719
LOC105243690; Gm14681	nucleophosmin-like; predicted gene 14681 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3705734]	1.57	0.03045
Phlda2	pleckstrin homology-like domain, family A, member 2	1.57	0.03265
5730507C01Rik	RIKEN cDNA 5730507C01 gene	1.57	0.03344

Dis3	DIS3 mitotic control homolog (S. cerevisiae)	1.57	0.03764
Lbr	lamin B receptor	1.57	0.04003
Rtp4	receptor transporter protein 4	1.57	0.04248
Col14a1	collagen, type XIV, alpha 1	1.57	0.04974
Pdia5	protein disulfide isomerase associated 5	1.56	0.00146
Nupl2	nucleoporin like 2	1.56	0.00579
Oit1	oncoprotein induced transcript 1	1.56	0.00737
Oxct1	3-oxoacid CoA transferase 1	1.56	0.01617
Kif18b	kinesin family member 18B	1.56	0.01676
Gm6736	predicted gene 6736 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3643048]	1.56	0.02079
Lsm2	LSM2 homolog, U6 small nuclear RNA associated (S. cerevisiae)	1.56	0.02098
Snord52	small nucleolar RNA, C/D box 52	1.56	0.02129
Acot1	acyl-CoA thioesterase 1	1.56	0.02169
Eif4ebp1	eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein 1	1.56	0.0246
Gm25432	predicted gene, 25432	1.56	0.02964
Mb21d1	Mab-21 domain containing 1	1.56	0.03185
Hmga1-rs1	high mobility group AT-hook I, related sequence 1	1.56	0.03236
Plk4	polo-like kinase 4	1.56	0.03297
E2f8	E2F transcription factor 8	1.56	0.0354
Mrto4	mRNA turnover 4, homolog (S. cerevisiae)	1.56	0.03544
Nutf2-ps1; Nutf2-			
ps2	nuclear transport factor 2, pseudogene 1; nuclear transport factor 2, pseudogene 2	1.56	0.03609
Asns	asparagine synthetase	1.56	0.03761
Nop58	NOP58 ribonucleoprotein	1.56	0.0397
Mcm2	minichromosome maintenance deficient 2 mitotin (S. cerevisiae)	1.55	0.00211
1500012F01Rik	RIKEN cDNA 1500012F01 gene	1.55	0.00422
Fanca	Fanconi anemia, complementation group A	1.55	0.00719
Nasp	nuclear autoantigenic sperm protein (histone-binding)	1.55	0.00978
Cdh5	cadherin 5	1.55	0.01322
Stil	Scl/Tal1 interrupting locus	1.55	0.01837
lgkv8-30	immunoglobulin kappa chain variable 8-30	1.55	0.04747

Nudcd1	NudC domain containing 1	1.54	0.00149
Gm10384	predicted gene 10384	1.54	0.00498
Tmem209	transmembrane protein 209	1.54	0.00516
Erh	enhancer of rudimentary homolog (Drosophila)	1.54	0.00571
Lsm5	LSM5 homolog, U6 small nuclear RNA associated (S. cerevisiae)	1.54	0.00692
	carbamoyl-phosphate synthetase 2, aspartate transcarbamylase, and		
Cad	dihydroorotase	1.54	0.00826
Ola1	Obg-like ATPase 1	1.54	0.00867
Utp15	UTP15, U3 small nucleolar ribonucleoprotein, homolog (yeast)	1.54	0.01296
Plpp3	phospholipid phosphatase 3	1.54	0.01777
Ddx18	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box polypeptide 18	1.54	0.02087
Cdk4	cyclin-dependent kinase 4	1.54	0.0317
9930014A18Rik	RIKEN cDNA 9930014A18 gene	1.54	0.03178
Lmnb1	lamin B1	1.54	0.03535
Dpy19l1	dpy-19-like 1 (C. elegans)	1.53	0.00048
Cep192	centrosomal protein 192	1.53	0.00286
Haus7	HAUS augmin-like complex, subunit 7	1.53	0.00426
BC055324	cDNA sequence BC055324	1.53	0.0045
Arntl	aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like	1.53	0.00678
Tdp1	tyrosyl-DNA phosphodiesterase 1	1.53	0.01152
Ftsj3	FtsJ homolog 3 (E. coli)	1.53	0.01201
Nde1	nuclear distribution gene E homolog 1 (A nidulans)	1.53	0.01268
Chek2	checkpoint kinase 2	1.53	0.01668
Exosc8	exosome component 8	1.53	0.01687
Olfr917	olfactory receptor 917	1.53	0.01722
Fkbp3	FK506 binding protein 3	1.53	0.01892
lfi27l2a	interferon, alpha-inducible protein 27 like 2A	1.53	0.02259
Spc24	SPC24, NDC80 kinetochore complex component, homolog (S. cerevisiae)	1.53	0.03095
Ppt1	palmitoyl-protein thioesterase 1	1.53	0.03132
Ncl	nucleolin	1.53	0.03186
Amd1	S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase 1	1.53	0.03295

Dph6	diphthamine biosynthesis 6	1.53	0.04263
Nubp2	nucleotide binding protein 2	1.52	0.00121
Usp14	ubiquitin specific peptidase 14	1.52	0.00131
Papln	papilin, proteoglycan-like sulfated glycoprotein	1.52	0.00213
Mtbp	Mdm2, transformed 3T3 cell double minute p53 binding protein	1.52	0.00239
Hspd1	heat shock protein 1 (chaperonin)	1.52	0.00763
Gmds	GDP-mannose 4, 6-dehydratase	1.52	0.01062
Rsad2	radical S-adenosyl methionine domain containing 2	1.52	0.01284
Cirh1a	cirrhosis, autosomal recessive 1A (human)	1.52	0.02053
Snhg1	small nucleolar RNA host gene 1	1.52	0.02423
Ephb2	Eph receptor B2	1.52	0.02656
Vars	valyl-tRNA synthetase	1.52	0.02715
Ranbp1	RAN binding protein 1	1.52	0.03517
Pgap1	post-GPI attachment to proteins 1	1.51	0.00065
Lyve1	lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor 1	1.51	0.00094
Gm25203	predicted gene, 25203 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454980]	1.51	0.00331
Cps1	carbamoyl-phosphate synthetase 1	1.51	0.00344
Thg1l	tRNA-histidine guanylyltransferase 1-like (S. cerevisiae)	1.51	0.00376
Mbnl3	muscleblind-like 3 (Drosophila)	1.51	0.00417
Alg3	asparagine-linked glycosylation 3 (alpha-1,3-mannosyltransferase)	1.51	0.00429
Nutf2-ps2	nuclear transport factor 2, pseudogene 2	1.51	0.00439
Fam206a	family with sequence similarity 206, member A	1.51	0.00934
Vrk1	vaccinia related kinase 1	1.51	0.01091
n-R5s71	nuclear encoded rRNA 5S 71 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:4421916]	1.51	0.01976
Nhp2	NHP2 ribonucleoprotein	1.51	0.02014
Adgrl4	adhesion G protein-coupled receptor L4	1.51	0.0215
Prmt5	protein arginine N-methyltransferase 5	1.51	0.02471
Nop2	NOP2 nucleolar protein	1.51	0.02632
lghv2-6-8	immunoglobulin heavy variable 2-6-8	1.51	0.03007
Col1a1	collagen, type I, alpha 1	1.51	0.03755
Hist1h1a	histone cluster 1, H1a	1.51	0.03876

Cd34	CD34 antigen	1.51	0.0468
Snhg5	small nucleolar RNA host gene 5	1.51	0.04728
Pramef25	PRAME family member 25	-1.51	0.00016
Sh2d6	SH2 domain containing 6	-1.51	0.00208
Bhlhe40	basic helix-loop-helix family, member e40	-1.51	0.00418
Gm22009	predicted gene, 22009 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5451786]	-1.51	0.00518
Gm11346	X-linked lymphocyte-regulated 5 pseudogene	-1.51	0.0095
Stmn3	stathmin-like 3	-1.51	0.00962
Capn9	calpain 9	-1.52	0.00372
Atf7ip	activating transcription factor 7 interacting protein	-1.52	0.00462
Olfr777	olfactory receptor 777	-1.52	0.00912
Gm5441	predicted gene 5441	-1.52	0.00948
Gm24806	predicted gene, 24806 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454583]	-1.52	0.00986
Mfhas1	malignant fibrous histiocytoma amplified sequence 1	-1.52	0.01106
4930443O20Rik	RIKEN cDNA 4930443O20 gene	-1.52	0.01177
Lrp12	low density lipoprotein-related protein 12	-1.52	0.02335
Ptpn21	protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 21	-1.52	0.03814
Otud1	OTU domain containing 1	-1.53	0.0046
Olfr170	olfactory receptor 170	-1.53	0.03195
Srd5a2	steroid 5 alpha-reductase 2	-1.53	0.03477
Gm14147	predicted gene 14147	-1.53	0.03692
Scarna10; Ncapd2	small Cajal body-specific RNA 10; non-SMC condensin I complex, subunit D2	-1.54	1.7E-05
Olfr1018	olfactory receptor 1018	-1.54	0.00289
Срт	carboxypeptidase M	-1.54	0.00321
Gm23226	predicted gene, 23226 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453003]	-1.54	0.00446
Lpar3	lysophosphatidic acid receptor 3	-1.54	0.00837
Cish	cytokine inducible SH2-containing protein	-1.54	0.01552
Trav6-4	T cell receptor alpha variable 6-4	-1.54	0.01733
Gm23977	predicted gene, 23977 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453754]	-1.54	0.01793
Gm26065	predicted gene, 26065 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455842]	-1.54	0.02051
Zfp467	zinc finger protein 467	-1.54	0.02555

Smad7	SMAD family member 7	-1.54	0.02907
Gm13763	predicted gene 13763 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3650763]	-1.54	0.03226
Rb1	retinoblastoma 1	-1.54	0.03787
Olfr1446	olfactory receptor 1446	-1.55	0.00688
Gm23738	predicted gene, 23738 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453515]	-1.55	0.00791
Lrrn1	leucine rich repeat protein 1, neuronal	-1.55	0.02547
Gm26437	predicted gene, 26437 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5456214]	-1.55	0.02954
Gm24128	predicted gene, 24128 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453905]	-1.55	0.03018
Gm22485	predicted gene, 22485 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5452262]	-1.55	0.03517
Ces2a	carboxylesterase 2A	-1.56	0.00107
Gm25860	predicted gene, 25860 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455637]	-1.56	0.002
Gm25185	predicted gene, 25185 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454962]	-1.56	0.00714
Dusp23	dual specificity phosphatase 23	-1.56	0.01265
Stxbp5l	syntaxin binding protein 5-like	-1.56	0.01728
Rab6b	RAB6B, member RAS oncogene family	-1.56	0.02303
Olfr1230	olfactory receptor 1230	-1.56	0.02399
St3gal1	ST3 beta-galactoside alpha-2,3-sialyltransferase 1	-1.56	0.02906
Gm25429	predicted gene, 25429 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455206]	-1.56	0.04295
Snord89	small nucleolar RNA, C/D box 89	-1.57	8.1E-05
Olfr1126	olfactory receptor 1126	-1.57	0.00652
Ces1d	carboxylesterase 1D	-1.57	0.01965
Gm23803	predicted gene, 23803 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453580]	-1.57	0.02533
Gm24796	predicted gene, 24796 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454573]	-1.57	0.04952
Olfr846	olfactory receptor 846	-1.58	0.00037
Olfr1504	olfactory receptor 1504	-1.58	0.01195
Gas6	growth arrest specific 6	-1.59	0.00044
Gm26226	predicted gene, 26226 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5456003]	-1.59	0.01961
Rpph1	ribonuclease P RNA component H1	-1.59	0.02494
Gm25334	predicted gene, 25334 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455111]	-1.6	0.00594
Tpsg1	tryptase gamma 1	-1.6	0.01248
Gm22850	predicted gene, 22850 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5452627]	-1.6	0.0232

Ube2dnl2	ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2D N-terminal like 2	-1.6	0.02783
Cyp2b10	cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily b, polypeptide 10	-1.6	0.03945
Gm25804	predicted gene, 25804 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455581]	-1.6	0.04414
Gm22975	predicted gene, 22975 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5452752]	-1.61	0.00662
Bend5	BEN domain containing 5	-1.61	0.02027
LOC101055995;	putative E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase UNKL pseudogene; predicted gene 5819		
Gm5819	[Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3643122]	-1.61	0.02282
Gm25637	predicted gene, 25637 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455414]	-1.61	0.02571
Bmp1	bone morphogenetic protein 1	-1.61	0.04968
Gm22284	predicted gene, 22284 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5452061]	-1.62	0.00087
Plekhb1	pleckstrin homology domain containing, family B (evectins) member 1	-1.62	0.01514
Naip5	NLR family, apoptosis inhibitory protein 5	-1.62	0.02671
Gm23860	predicted gene, 23860 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453637]	-1.63	4.6E-05
Trav6-3; Traj4	T cell receptor alpha variable 6-3; T cell receptor alpha joining 4	-1.63	0.00079
lgkv1-115	immunoglobulin kappa variable 1-115	-1.63	0.0336
Dusp1	dual specificity phosphatase 1	-1.64	0.04418
Ghr	growth hormone receptor	-1.65	0.00035
Gm25121	predicted gene, 25121 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454898]	-1.65	0.00108
Gm22019	predicted gene, 22019 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5451796]	-1.65	0.00594
Olfr1109	olfactory receptor 1109	-1.65	0.01032
Lama3	laminin, alpha 3	-1.65	0.01275
Nrg4	neuregulin 4	-1.65	0.02181
Gm5705	predicted gene 5705 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3643224]	-1.65	0.02252
Rdh19	retinol dehydrogenase 19	-1.65	0.02285
Slc25a23	solute carrier family 25 (mitochondrial carrier; phosphate carrier), member 23	-1.65	0.03512
Gm25602	predicted gene, 25602 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455379]	-1.65	0.04566
Gm11300	predicted gene 11300 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3651398]	-1.66	0.02026
Traj29	T cell receptor alpha joining 29	-1.66	0.03226
Gm26038	predicted gene, 26038 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455815]	-1.67	0.00022
Gm23899	predicted gene, 23899 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453676]	-1.68	0.00209
Scg3	secretogranin III	-1.68	0.00598

Bmp3	bone morphogenetic protein 3	-1.68	0.00959
Jun	jun proto-oncogene	-1.69	0.00456
Olfr165	olfactory receptor 165	-1.69	0.03097
Ano7	anoctamin 7	-1.7	0.00084
Snord116l1; Snord116l2	small nucleolar RNA, C/D box 116-like 1; small nucleolar RNA, C/D box 116-like 2	-1.7	0.01176
Dao	D-amino acid oxidase	-1.7	0.01189
Gm22500	predicted gene, 22500 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5452277]	-1.7	0.01365
Zfp677	zinc finger protein 677	-1.7	0.01961
Olfr390	olfactory receptor 390	-1.72	9.8E-05
Nrn1	neuritin 1	-1.72	0.00735
BC094916	cDNA sequence BC094916	-1.72	0.01281
Hlf	hepatic leukemia factor	-1.73	0.00633
Calcb	calcitonin-related polypeptide, beta	-1.73	0.01112
Gm25520	predicted gene, 25520 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455297]	-1.73	0.03916
Pcdh19	protocadherin 19	-1.75	0.00363
Gm13270	predicted gene 13270	-1.76	0.00625
Gm24960	predicted gene, 24960 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454737]	-1.76	0.02626
Gm11360	predicted gene 11360 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3649916]	-1.76	0.04116
1700016G22Rik	RIKEN cDNA 1700016G22 gene	-1.77	0.01395
Gip	gastric inhibitory polypeptide	-1.78	0.00045
Fer1l6	fer-1-like 6 (C. elegans)	-1.78	0.00959
Crp	C-reactive protein, pentraxin-related	-1.78	0.04224
Gm24805	predicted gene, 24805 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454582]	-1.78	0.04632
Cldn34c3	claudin 34C3	-1.79	0.00196
Ntn4	netrin 4	-1.79	0.0029
Gm27177	predicted gene 27177	-1.79	0.01499
Tns4	tensin 4	-1.8	0.02262
Phxr4	per-hexamer repeat gene 4	-1.8	0.03268
Dio1	deiodinase, iodothyronine, type I	-1.81	0.00331

Per2;			
9830107B12Rik	period circadian clock 2; RIKEN cDNA 9830107B12 gene	-1.81	0.00407
Gm26611	predicted gene, 26611 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5477105]	-1.81	0.03638
Gm24465	predicted gene, 24465 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5454242]	-1.82	0.00404
Сур2ј9	cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily j, polypeptide 9	-1.82	0.01028
Klkb1; Cyp4v3	kallikrein B, plasma 1; cytochrome P450, family 4, subfamily v, polypeptide 3	-1.82	0.03018
A930033H14Rik	RIKEN cDNA A930033H14 gene	-1.83	0.0053
Acsm5	acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 5	-1.84	0.01402
Akr1c14	aldo-keto reductase family 1, member C14	-1.85	0.02745
Cym	chymosin	-1.85	0.03335
Vmn1r227	vomeronasal 1 receptor 227	-1.86	0.00371
lgkv1-132	immunoglobulin kappa variable 1-132	-1.86	0.01409
Spib	Spi-B transcription factor (Spi-1/PU.1 related)	-1.87	0.01273
Gm27177;			
Gm21464	predicted gene 27177; predicted gene, 21464	-1.88	0.00911
Gm23523	predicted gene, 23523 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453300]	-1.88	0.02747
Mir669a-3	microRNA 669a-3	-1.88	0.03648
Kcnu1	potassium channel, subfamily U, member 1	-1.89	0.00012
Lect2	leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2	-1.92	0.00304
lyd	iodotyrosine deiodinase	-1.92	0.03984
Gm17268	predicted gene, 17268 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:4936902]	-1.96	0.01091
Gm23260	predicted gene, 23260 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453037]	-1.99	0.04054
Per3	period circadian clock 3	-2.02	0.01336
Cubn	cubilin (intrinsic factor-cobalamin receptor)	-2.07	0.01104
ldo1	indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1	-2.08	0.00184
Gm26081	predicted gene, 26081 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455858]	-2.09	0.00506
Gm38463;			
Gm27177	predicted gene, 38463; predicted gene 27177	-2.09	0.00732
Gm5423	predicted gene 5423 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3643175]	-2.14	0.03456
Gm24170	predicted gene, 24170 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5453947]	-2.17	0.02411

Sst	somatostatin	-2.27	4.87E-07
Gm26034	predicted gene, 26034 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:5455811]	-2.27	0.00663
Bco1	beta-carotene oxygenase 1	-2.3	0.00014
Cyp2c66	cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily c, polypeptide 66	-2.35	0.02392
Plscr4	phospholipid scramblase 4	-2.4	0.02097
Gm15963	predicted gene 15963 [Source:MGI Symbol;Acc:MGI:3802140]	-2.46	0.00906
Clu	clusterin	-2.57	0.00502
Fras1	Fraser syndrome 1 homolog (human)	-2.69	0.00258
Dbp	D site albumin promoter binding protein	-2.86	0.02974
Pcyt1a	phosphate cytidylyltransferase 1, choline, alpha isoform	-3.99	5.55E-07